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THE AIM OF THIS BOOK is twofold: first, that due
credit be given to a gallant body of men, the United States Marine
Corps, who in their path across the Pacific were faithful to their
traditions and to their country; second, to point out the errors that
were committed in World War II in such a manner that they will
not be repeated in World War III—-God forbid.

This is a personalized account of over forty years in the serv-
ice of my country, culminating in the greatest war in our history.
I never kept a diary. I had no official historian at my elbow record-
ing in detail the battles I fought. I was too busy fighting those
battles to set down anything in chronological form. Therefore, I
find myself largely relying on my memory to compile the story of
those forty years. If I have erred in facts, it is due to the momen-
tous times through which I have lived and served.

I bear no malice toward any man or any Service. Any criti-
cism in this book is made only for constructive purposes in the
light of national defense needs. I am sure that a grateful country
will not forget the magnificent efforts made by the Marines in the
Pacific for the successful prosecution of the war against Japan.

I fully realize that all branches of the Marine Corps and the
other Services that helped us are not mentioned in the brief com-
pass of this book. But I wish here to pay tribute to those I may
have omitted—the Marine Women Reserves, the commanders of
the small craft in the Pacific who got us ashore and supplied us,
the Medical Service who cared for our wounded, the Seabees who
never let us down, and those units of the Army who fought
alongside of us.
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I am grateful to the many friends, in and out of the Service,
who inspired and helped me write this book. Lieutenant Colonel
C. Robert Payne, usMcr, who served on my staff, suggested the
title. Among those who helped to fill it were Andrew Higgins,
Robert Sherrod, Mac Asbill, Jr., my former aide, Vice Admiral
Charles A. Lockwood, Jr., who assisted me in the preparation of
the submarine chapter, and my faithful orderly, Platoon Sergeant
William L. Bradley.

I also had the assistance of Percy Finch as my collaborator.
Finch, a veteran war correspondent, came to the Pacific with a
long record from other wars, and by accompanying me on my
major operations, he followed the Central Pacific drive which I
had the honor to command.

Hovrranp M. Smrra.
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THIS IS ASTORY ABOUT A MAN, a Corps, and a war.
The accomplishments of the man and his Corps profoundly in-
fluenced the outcome of the war.

The man, of course, is Holland Smith, who, although he was
in the public eye continuously throughout the late war, is actually
little known to the average reader of this book. I say little known
because to most of them he is the nickname ‘“Howlin’ Mad” or
a tough General who got results at the expense of human life, or
perhaps just a typical Marine. None of these newspaper charac-
terizations portray the man. Nor am [ so presumptuous as to
claim either the knowledge or the ability to transmit to those who
do not know him the essence of Holland Smith. For over two
years, however, I was privileged, as his aide, to know him as in-
timately as any man ever did. Perhaps I can explain some of the
aspects of the man which would otherwise be lost in the turmoil
of this book.

On the surface, of course, he is a famous Marine whose
successes against the Japanese enemy are legendary. Recipient of
four Distinguished Service Medals, he initiated and supervised
the training of our soldiers and Marines in the art of amphibious
warfare and then led them across the Pacific in one of the most
phenomenal military advances of all times. On many occasions,
as the reader will see, he was forced to fight in order to be allowed
to fight. _

Beneath the surface a different pattern appears. Like that of
most men General Smith’s personality is complicated. Its many
facets are presented in this book, but some of them may be over-
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looked by the reader whose attention is drawn from the man to
the many conflicts in which he was embroiled. Perhaps few who
lay down this book will realize that it was written by a man
whose tenderness was scarcely exceeded by his courage. Few will
know that he spent hours during this war in hospital wards imn-
parting to the wounded and often the dying some of the courage
with which he was possessed. I have seen him reprimand a
Marine officer as severely for failing to demonstrate warmth,
understanding and appreciation to a wounded veteran on whom
he was bestowing the Purple Heart as he often did a Naval
officer for attempting to usurp the functions of the landing force
commander.

On the eve of every Pacific battle in which he participated
I have heard him say with unutterable sadness but unflinching
courage, and with profound regret that the objective required
the sacrifice, ‘“I'herc will be a lot of dead Marines on that beach
tomorrow.” Much of his greatness lay in his ability to lead so
courageously when he felt so deeply.

Few will know that he often threw the protcctive cloak of
his authority and position around an erring subordinate whom
he knew to be capable of rising above his mistakes. Yct hie always
tempered justice with mercy in dealing with his subordinates,
cven when reason alone indicated that the sword of justice
should fall. Small wonder that every enlisted man and officer who
was ever closely associated with Holland Smith felt the most
profound adiniration, loyalty and devotion toward his General.

Perhaps none who did not see the drama enacted will realize
that the vehemence with which he fought his equals and superiors
in the chain of command was manufactured by a man who
sought to protect his corps and vindicate his convictions at the
expense of his own reputation and position. Often during the
hectic months in the Pacific I have heard him say, “No one can
cast strictures upon my Marines and get away with it.” No onc
ever did. Herein lics the genesis of the inter-service conflicts for
which he has become famous. Always his battle was directed
toward securing for a small and oft neglected Corps the dignity
and recognition which it so richly deserves. Often a fight was
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necessary, and when it was, Holland Smith was cver available.

First, last and always he is a Marine. His love for and loyalty
to his Corps are born of a conviction that the Marine Corps is
the finest body of fighting men on earth. His conviction is shared
by every other Marine, but few have fought for it as he did. This
book is, in part, a continuation of that fight. The glorification
which the reader will find herein is a glorification of the Marine
Corps, not of Iolland Smith.

The other purpose of the book, and perhaps the principal
one, is to criticize constructively many of the things which were
done during the war and which the writer thinks could have
been done better or should have been left undone. This criticism
is as frank as thc man from which it comes. Many, perhaps, who
feel its sting will grow bitter and resentful. It was not wrilten
for them. It is directed at those who some day may profit from
lessons Iearned the hard way. If the reader would read this book
in the spirit in which it was written, let him scrutinize carcfully
the facts which support the contentions herein advanced and
decide for himself whether those contentions have merit. Let
the mothers who learn that their sons were lost through some
fault of preparation or organization or planning glean strength
from the knowledge that someone has the courage to cxposc
these faults in the hope that those to whom future decisions will
be intrusted shall not fall prey to them again.

Mac AssiLt, Jr.
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SAN FRANCISCO fog smelled good when 1 stepped
off the plane at Hamilton Field early on that gray morning of
July 5, 1945, after almost two years of blistering heat and blind-
ing sun in the Pacific: two years of corroding, soul-destroying
war. The first thing I did when the crewmen swung open the
cabin door was to take a deep gulp of cold, moist air. Only
twelve hours before 1 had left behind the roaring surf of Waikiki
Beach and the fragrant green valleys of Hawaii. Beyond this de-
ceptive peace lay the road to Tokyo—the chain of blasted coral
islands won from Japan at such bitter cost in young American
lives.

The City not only smelled good but looked good that mom-
ing. I knew that under the fog lay the Golden Gate, the symbol
of home to every American in the Pacific, the Bay Bridges, the
Ferry Building, Market Street, the cable cars, Nob Hill, smart
women wcaring fur coats in July as they bought nosegays at
corner stands; all the rich panorama of a warm-hcarted city
typifying the America we were fighting for.

During the war, I had passed through San Francisco several
times on my way to Washington to confer with General
Alexander A. Vandegrift, Commandant of the United States
Marine Corps, but this time I was back to stay. I felt that for
me, a Marine, the war was over and, perhaps alone in this con-
viction, I also felt that the war was over in the Pacific.

The Fleet Marine Force, Pacific, of which I had been Com-
manding General until two days before, had carried the Stars and
Stripes from Pearl Harbor to Iwo Jima and Okinawa and was
kicking open Japan'’s front door. I had come home with. the con-
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sciousness of duty well done: the only worth while reward to a
man who serves his country.

San Francisco was a triumphant homecoming in my mind
only. Wartime security still veiled all military movements and
not even my wife knew I was arriving. As the pilot set down my
converted B-24 Liberator on the ficld and taxied up the runway
among hundreds of other planes, my arrival was merely a detail
of daily routine at this busy Army terminal.

Reluctantly, I had discarded the faded Marine green utility
suit I had wom all over the:Pacific in favor of tropical worsteds.
My “dungarees” had been through the wash half a dozen times
and weren’t presentable. As the Japanese (and the baffled war
correspondents) discovered, you can’t tell a Pfc from a General
in this working outfit, and that’s exactly why it was adopted. No
amount of pressing will transform our utility clothing into any
semblance of a well-tailored uniform. But that morning 1 was
particularly proud of my “dungarees” and regretted I wasn’t
wearing them. What was good cnough for Iwo Jima was good
enough for San Francisco.

Major General Julian C. Smith, of the Department of the
Pacific, was waiting at the terminal, surprised by our quick trip
of 12 hours and 20 minutes from Honolulu. I had known Julian
Smith for many years. He was my chief of staff in the Caribbean,
my second in command in the Pacific, and he commanded the
Second Marine Division at Tarawa. Captain Mac Asbill, Jr,, my
aide, and Platoon Secrgeant William L. Bradley, who had been
with me all through the Pacific cainpaign, were with me on the
plane. Outside of General Smith, the “welcome committee” was
made up of a ground crew and they weren’t too impressed.

Bradley told me later he heard onc of the men remark, “A
Marine? That old buzzard looks prctty ancient for a Marine.
He'd sure have to hit the beach in a wheel chairl”

He was correct in one respect. I was getting pretty ancient.
After forty years in the Marine Corps, I was within a year of the
retircment age, sixty-four. At my own request, I had been relieved
as Commanding General of the I'lect Marine Force and my suc-
cessor, Licutenant General Roy S. Geiger, had been named. 1
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was ordered to take charge of the Marine Training and Replace-
ment Command at Camp Pendleton, California.

My reasons for seeking rclief were twofold. The difference
between success and failure in the Marine Corps is the oppor-
tunity to show ability and since opportunity is so often linked
with higher command, 1 felt I should wot stand in the way of
promotion. Furthermore, I knew that future amphibious opera-
tions in the Pacific, due to the size of command, would be
directed by Army officers. It never has been the policy of the
War Department to permit a Marine to command an Amecrican
army and I had no desire to settle down as an administrative
officer at a desk in Pearl Harbor.

At his headquarters in Manila, General Douglas MacArthur,
Supreme Commander-in-Chicf, was working on plans for the
grand assault on the home islands of Japan. ‘T'hese plans involved
two landings at intervals of scveral months. orymric, the
code name given the first phase of the operation, provided for a
landing on the southern coast of Kyushu, Japan’s southernmost
island, in November, 1945. Nagasaki, target of the second atomic
bomb, is the principal city on Kyushu. coroner, the sccond
phase, involved a landing on Honshu, the main island, in Febru-
ary, 1940.

These landings would be joint Army, Navy and Marine
operations under General MacArthur. The Fleet Marine Force,
Pacific, which I had trained and commanded, was to spcarhcad
both assaults, and plans entailed employment of the largest force
of Marines ever used. From two divisions at the timne of the
attack on Pearl Harbor, the Corps had expanded to six divisions
with all ancillary troops, organized into two amphibious corps,
the V and the 111, and sizable contingents of these two corps
had proved their mettle all over the Pacific. Marine Corps avia-
tion had also expanded and by August, 1945, the Fleet Marine
Force Air had rcached a top total of 78 tactical squadrons.

The V Amphibious Corps, consisting of the Sccond, Third
and Fifth Divisions and including veterans of Tarawa, Bougain-
ville, Kwajalein, Guam, Saipan, Tinian and Iwo Jima, was car-
marked for Kyushu. The 111, consisting of the First, Fourth and
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Sixth Divisions of Guadalcanal, Saipan, Iwo Jima and Okinawa
fame, was to land on Honshu at the necarest point to Tokyo.

General MacArthur insisted that a large scale invasion ap-
proximating the magnitude of the Europcan invasion was ncces-
sary to reduce Japan. The Joint Chiefs of Staff in Washington
and our Allies were of the same opinion and all plans were based
upon this strategical assumption. But despite these grandiose
preparations I refused to believe that we would have to fight
our way into the country. Japan was licked and it was only a
matter of a very short time before the enemy would throw in
the sponge. In fact, I was so sure that I told San Francisco news-
papermen the war would be over by September 1, 194s.

I met reporters at a press conference at the St. Francis
Hotel on the day of my arrival and I sct that date in answer to a
direct question. I don’t claim any gift of prophecy and I never
gazed into a crystal ball but I did know the war was due to end
soon. My knowledge was founded on the cold facts as I saw them.

Some of the reporters at the conference smiled respectfully.
Scveral looked dubious and one intimated that he had heard the
same line from the big brass before, including Admiral Williamn
F. Halsey's asscrtion in 1942 that we would be in Tokyo by the
end of 1943. Looking over the newspapers the morning after the
conference, 1 noled one skeptical journal ignored my prediction
completely.

The interview was given national prominence and from
New York one of my war correspondent friends, a man of excep-
tional discernment and shrewdness, telegraphed expressing pro-
found disagrecement. Ilis telegram offered:

THREE BETS OF FIVE DOLLARS FACH: FIRST, JAPAN WILL NOT
QUIT FIGHTING UNTIL WE HAVE KILLED AT LEAST FIVE MILLION
OF THEIR SOLDIERS: SECOND, NO AMOUNT OF BOMBING WILL
INDUCE JAPAN TO SURRENDER: TIIRD, JAPAN CANNOT BE
BEATEN WITHOUT INVASION,

Ie lost all three bets and paid up. Six weceks after the press
conference in San I'rancisco my prediction was borne out. The
war ended on August 14, when Japan surrendered uncondition-
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ally, and so far as the Marinc invasion was concerned the Sccond
Division:did land at Nagasaki and the Fifth Division at Sasehn
but -only as temporary occupation forces until Army garnson
troops could be organized.

Since that interview I've been asked the same questions
dozens of times: IHow did you know the war would be over so
soon? Why did you differ with military experts who predicted
another ycar of fighting and a costly landing against a fanatical -
enemy rcsisting every yard and dying to the last man? Was it
because you knew about the atomic bomb that was to be dropped
on Iiroshima and Nagasaki?

Everyone inferred that as Comunanding General of the
Ileet Marine Force I must have been informed about the bomb,
that I must have known thc sccrct of thc Manhattan Engincer-
g project and the terrible weapon it was evolving for use against
Japan.

To such questions I can reply quite honestly: No. The atom
bomb was kept a complete sceret from me. 1 never heard of it
until I read in the papers here in the United States that the first
bomb had becn dropped on Japan at Hiroshima.

Then how did T know? The question persists. T knew be-
cause the back of Japan’s resistance had been broken. Japan was
licked when the Marines captured Saipan. Iwo Jima and Okinawa
were the knockout blows. The atom bomb did not win the war;
it only completed the job already done and hastcned surrender.
From conversations with fapanese officers taken prisoner at
Saipan and Iwo, I was convinced that Japan was exhausted. The
losses suffcred during our ampliibious offensive and the pressure
we were able to bring to bear on her from naval and air bases
capturcd in the Marine drive across the Pacific had knocked
Japan to her knees.

Surface, submarine and air action had destroyed the Japa-
ncse Combined Fleet, wrecked her air force and sunk her mer-
chant marine. She was crippled by a grave shortage of war mate-
rials and was denied by the U. S. Navy the use of rubber, oil and
rice from the Netherlands East Indies, Bornco, Burma and other
parts of her looted empire. Raids by vast flects of B-2q’s and
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other craft had smashed her war potential and razed entire indus-
trial areas. It was impossible for her to hold out any lounger.

The United States Marine Corps played a major part in the
victory over Japan. Before the tumult and the shouting dics
among a complacent, short-memoried people, who take so much
for granted, let me have the honor of describing the Marine
contribution to victory.

When I commanded the landing forces at the sixth of our
prewar amphibious exercises on the island of Culebra, off Puerto
Rico, in the spring of 1940, the strength of the Marine Corps
was 1,410 officers and 25,070 enlisted men; equipment included
five tanks you could kick your foot through. The total Marine
strength during World War II was 599,693, of which 528,479,
or ncarly go pereent, served abroad. IExtensive and diversificd
armament included all the latest weapons, amphibious tanks
and tractors and thousands of landing craft, all types of mecha-
nized equipment, improved artillery, rockets and flame throwers,
as well as carrier-based and shore-based air units that made the
Marines the best equipped troops in the world. '

The Corps mounted two separate offensives, distinctive in
character and objective, and fought on different terrain. The
first, launched in the South Pacific with landings in the Solomons
Islands in August, 1942, pointed north toward the Philippines.
The second started in the Gilbert Islands in the Central Pacific
in November, 1943, and struck west.

In the South Pacific, the operation was at first a holding
move to check the Japanese advance through the Solomons and
South Pacific islands to Australia. It involved treachcrous jungle
fighting, in which large forces could not be employed. Here
was a casc of individual survival, that brought out the best quali-
ties of the Marine. Once the long Japanesc flank was turned at
Guadalcanal and the southern march halted, the opcration in
that theater became offensive. One by one, Japan’s bases in those
tropical, mountainous and denscly vegetated islands were cap-
tured or bypassed, and American forces advanced 3,000 miles up
the New Guinea-Netherlands East Indies axis for the reconquest
of the Philippines.
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In the Central Pacific, where I commanded the V. Amphibi-
ous Corps and later the Fleet Marine Iorce, the operation was
offensive from the very beginning. It was here that the amphibious
doctrinc I had preached for years, and had made the basis of
Marine training since we realized the inevitability of the Pacific
war, was fully justified.

"The Central Pacific campaign had as its objcctive the cap-
ture of a number of fortified points in the Japancse mandated
atolls and the home islands, strctching from the Gilberts to the
Volcano and Ryukyu Islands, the outer and inner dcfenses of
Japan. In such a campaign among small, low lying coral islands,
there could be ncither guile nor surprise and few tactical ad-
vantages could be exploited. The only type of warfare possible
was plain and open assault on strongly fortified positions which,
according to a theory propounded before World War 11, enjoyed
unassailablc superiority because the strength of modern defensive
weapons was considered too decisive to permit a successful assault
from the sca.

The experience of the British in their ill-fated Dardancllcs
campaign in 1916 was quotcd as textbook authority by sup-
porters of this school. The Turks prevented the British seizure
of Gallipoli Peninsula and, it was argued, the Japanesc would be
equally successful in resisting us.

But in the twenty-five ycars between Gallipoli and Guadal-
canal, the Marines had developed amphibious warfare to a point
where it became a primary offensive tactic, not only in the Pacific
but in every other theater where a major force had to land on a
hostile and defended shore. In the Central Pacific, the Marincs
landed where they were assigned and captured every objective,
no matter how strongly it was held.

The relentless Marine drive across the Pacific from Tarawa
to Iwo Jima and Okinawa was the greatest operation of its kind
in rccorded history. ‘Fhere is nothing to compare with it in
magnitude, extent and distance covered.

Napoleon in 1812 marched his men to Moscow, 1,530 miles
from Paris, but actually the staging base for the Grande Armée
was the Niemen River in Poland, making his advance only 550
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miles. Genghis Khan in the 13th Century more nearly approached
the Marine performance in mobility. The Khan’s horde ad-
vanced 4,000 miles from the shores of Lake Baikal in Mongolia
on its conquest of Central Asia, North India and Eastern Eu-
rope, reaching the banks of the Dnicper River in Armenia and
almost touching the shores of the Meditcrranean.

Both thesc military movements collapsed through clearly
discernible causes. Napolcon, like Hitler, was defeated by the
Russian winter, a stubborn Russian anny and what we today
would call poor logistics. The Mongol conquest disintcgrated
when the organizing brain behind this vast enterprise disap-
peared with the death of Genghis Khan.

Consider the record of the Marines in the Central Pacific.
First and forcmost, the campaign was successful. In their advance
from Tarawa to Okinawa, via Kwajalein, Saipan, Guam, the
Palaus and Iwo Jima, they moved 8ooo miles. This is more than
twice the distance from New York to San Francisco. Taking it
another way, if the Marines had started in Seattle and travelled
south, they would have overshot Buenos Aires by a thousand
miles.

Actually, the distance covercd by the Marines was far
greater. Each operation necessitated the assembly of an assault
force at a basc thousands of miles from the objective, its trans-
port to the scene of the operation and its return to base. This
factor of distance illustrates the fundamental difference betwcen
the war in Europe and the war in the Pacific. After the capture
of cach Central Pacific island the Marincs had to return to bascs
like the Hawaiian Islands to rchabilitate and prepare for the next
operation. Troops fighting in Europe did not have to come back
to New York after each operation. ‘The British Isles, the major
staging arca for the European invasion, was no farther from the
French coast than 100 miles, the widest point in the English
Channel.

As a result, the Marines became the most travelled troops
the world has ever known. Take the Kwajalcin operation as an
example. This involved a 5,000-mile round trip between Pearl
Harbor and the Marshall Islands. Iwo Jima, only a few hundred
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miles off the coast of Japan, necessitated a 7,000-mile round trip,
an incredible distance considering the huge amount of cquipment
and supplies we had to transport to the black lava island.

At first we had no convenient ncarby bases in the Pacific.
As we advanced, we annexed bases nearer our objectives, but the
‘Tarawa operation actually was staged on the other side of the
world, in New Zcaland. On D-Day in Nonnandy, Arny troops
had been in landing boats from 24 to 48 hours before they
rcached the beaches. Marines frequently travelled five or six
weceks before they set eyes on their objective.

The closer you examine the Marine drive across the Pacific,
the more magnificent it becomes as a military achievement. Be-
tween our first engagement at New Providence, in the Bahamas,
i 1776, until the outbreak of World War 11, the Marines made
180 landings in various parts of the world. During the war the
Marine score in the Pacific was approximately onc hundred suc-
cessful landings. Never has there been such a succession of vie-
torics unmarred by a single defeat or even a sctback—and God
knows there were moments when the issue secemed in doubt, al-
though never once did I lose confidence in our final success. By
this string of victories, the Marines showed beyond question that
they were capable of taking any objective assigned to them, how-
ever difficult, thus confounding all the defense-vs.-offense doc-
trincs and upsetting military theory, especially among the Japa-
nese, who belicved their Pacific bases impregnable.

My Marines were the best fighting men in the world and I
never hesitated to tell them so. 'm not going to hesitate now.
They might die but they were unconquerable. The Japanese
Gencral Staff recognized this fact. Their own troops, made fana-
tical by semi-divine indoctrination and brutally trained, were
taught to live and dic like animals. They were tough. But my
Marines were tougher.

One of the highest tributes ever paid to the Marines came
from the enciny, from Major Yoshida, a Japanese staff officer
captured at Saipan. Yoshida was the man who wrote the plan
for the final desperate banzai attack on Saipan. 1le was hand-
some by Oriental standards, intellectual and a graduate of the
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Army staft school. 1le surrendered to us because he admitted
frankly Japan had lost the war and he wanted to go home when
pecace came and live with his family. Immortalization at Yasakuni
Shrine had no appeal for him.

“I'he Japanese can ncver hope to defeat a nation that pro-
duces soldicrs like your Marines,” he told our intelligence offi-
cers. “In the Japanese anny, we revere the spirit of Yamato
Damuashii, which mcans the Spirit of Old Japan, and our soldicrs

will die for it. We have learned that the American Marine also
reveres the spirit of his country and is just as willing to dic as the
Japancse soldicr. Morcover, the Marine is a better soldicr than
the Japanese. His individuality is stronger, his training and fight-
ing technique better. I1e has arms, ammunition and engineering
equipment far supcrior to ours. Had I not belicved this, T would
not have surrendered.”

This unsolicited tribute to the American Marine stirred me
because the author was no ordinary buck-toothed Japanese officer.
He was personal representative at Saipan of the Supreme General
Staft in 'Tokyo and belonged to a different military catcgory than
Licutenant General Saito, commanding general of all the Japa-
nese forces on the island.

Yoshida’s name was mentioned frequently in Japanese dis-
patches we seized. His tribute to the Marine as a fighting man
so moved e that I alinost relented and told him somecthing
about his own affairs that he did not know. One intercepted dis-
patch announced that Tokyo had promoted him to Licutenant
Coloncel but T finally decided to keep the news to myself since
the war was over for him.

Coming from a represgntative of the Japanese high com-
mand, Yoshida’s tribute carried weight. Who should know better
the qualitics of the Marine than the man fighting him? The
Japanese General Staff had only to count their losses in men and
bases to make the proper assessient of the Marines.

Unfortunately, the American high command occasionally
allowed recognition of Marine efforts to get lost in headquarters
files. Few Pacific battles were fought without Marine support.
Marines participated in General MacArthur’s recapture of the
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Philippines. The bulk of the Corps Attillery of the V Amphibious
Corps, commanded by Brigadier General Thomas E. Bourke, and
the Air Liaison Sections of two Marine Assault Signal Companies
were part of the assault force at Leyte. Later, four Marine
fighter squadrons operating from Tacloban airficld helped pro-
vide close air support. A Marine night fighter squadron, urgently
requested by General George C. Kenney, commanding the [Far
Eastern Army Air I'orce, to replace slower, outranged Army night
fighters, also operated from ‘Tacloban. Ultimately, two full
Marine Air Groups provided support for the Army in this opera-
tion. All performed their dutics with bravery and distinction,
according to independent reports.

You can search MacArthur’s communiques describing the
Philippines fighting and you will be unable to find a single refer-
ence to the Marines. The average American can be cexcused for
believing the Philippines exclusively an Army show. I wager
that not one newspaper reader in a thousand knows there were
Marines at Leyte and Luzon unless hie had a Marine in the
family who was there. Granted that Marine numbers were small
in comparison with the Army, nevertheless, the Marines were
there when the Philippines were recaptured. Seventeen squadrons
of Marine planes were employed in the Philippines—and that’s
quite a few plancs to cloak in anonymity.

I met one of our young Marincs who was being flown back
from Leyte. Ile was in great pain but it was not the physical
suffering that worricd him. “I don’t mind losing a lcg, sir,” he
told me bitterly, “but at least Doug might have mentioned that
Marines were therel”

Being omitted from MacArthur’s communiques was no new
experience for Marines. In 1941 and 1942, during the heroic and
tragic defense of Bataan and Corregidor, although MacArthur's
command included the veteran 4th Marines, evacuated from
China in the nick of time, the public was kept in ignorance of
their presence. After a period of the MacArthur silent treatiment,
the Navy Dcpartment became somewhat nettled to read of the
exploits and presence of virtually every Army and Philippine
unit, while secing nothing of the Marince regiment on Corregidor.
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Finally, after tactful representations had fallen on deaf cars, the
Navy in Washington began issuing its own communiques in
simple justice to the Marines who were silently sharing the perils
and privations of Bataan and Corregidor beside much-publicized
Army comrades. '

Even after this inter-Service brush—which never should
have happened—-MacArthur had his innings again: the Marine
regiment was absent from the General’s list of units awarded the
Army’s Distinguished Unit Citation. Since this list was otherwise
as inclusive as God’s forgiveness, it came as a rclicf to me and to
most Marines that General Jonathan M. (“Skinny”) Wain-
wright, noted for his fairness and generosity, rectified this omis-
sion after MacArthur departed for Australia and left him to
continue the forlorn defensc of the Philippines.

A strange sidelight on the amorphous American command
in the Pacific during World War II was the fact that Mac-
Arthur and I never met. By fate or circumstance, our paths
never crossed during the war or before the war. We both were
leaders of victorious troops moving toward the same goal but we
were total strangers. My superior was Fleet Admiral Chester
W. Nimitz, cinceac  (Commander-in-Chicf, Pacific) and
cincroA  (Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Occan Areas). Our
commands never overlapped and the first time more than two
Army divisions were employed jointly with Marines, command
went to the Army. This was at Okinawa.

There have been widespread charges that the Marines re-
sented serving under Army leadership. Nothing is farther from
the truth. As Licutecnant General Roy S. Geiger told the Scnate
Military Affairs Committce on December 7, 1945:

In our 170 years we [the Marine Corps] have ncver acquired
the view that to support another arm or branch in the perform-
ance of a scrvice to the country was to sulfer cither an indignity
or a loss of prestige.

I was not invited to attend the surrender ceremony on the
deck of the USS Missouri in Tokyo Bay on September 1, 1945.
This was a great personal disappointment after fighting all those
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weary miles from Tarawa. However, the Marines are a tcan, not
a collection of individuals, and our team was ably rcpresented by
Gencral Geiger, who succeeded me as Commanding General of
the Fleet Marine IForce.

From our entry into the war until the Japancse surrender,
ncarly cevery major offensive launched by the United States was
initiated by an amphibious assault. This specialized form of op-
eration put Ammy troops ashore in North Africa, Sicily, Nor-
mandy, the Philippines and the Aleutians, and penetrated Japan’s
powerful defense perimeter running from the Aleutians almost
to Australia. This type of warfare represented a unique achicve-
ment of the Marine Corps, although it later was adopted by the
Army. Perfected amphibious warfare was a gift of the Marincs
to the Armmy and was cssential in solving the new probleins World
War I brought in its train.

The success of its modern application dates back to the
early 1920’s. While most of the world’s military leaders were
studying and analyzing World War I, just ended, and were
still thinking in terms of trench fighting and great continental
wars of position, the Marines were applying themselves to the
problems of assaulting fortified beaches. Between Gallipoli and
Guadalcanal, the Marines developed the doctrine, organization,
tactics and cquipment necessary to wage this difficult and com-
plex warfare because we knew it was the answer to the conditions
future wars would create.

The doctrine also led to the reorganization of the Marine
Corps and from this forward thinking emerged the Fleet Marine
Force, a revolutionary offensive unit.

In the years before the war we made amphibious technique
the keynote of all Marine training. In my opinion, this was the
most significant development in the art of war ever conceived
and all our mancuvers took the form of simulated landings on
heavily defended beaches, attacking the impossible positions that
the old school of military opinion, drawing on World War 1
and earlier conflicts for analogics, declared would not yicld to
assault.

We laid the foundation for our belief in mancuvers and
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proved our doctrine sound in combat. Marines trained in this
type of warfarc could assault and capture positions which were
decined impregnable. It sounded startling but it was truc. Given
adequate naval and air support, they could go ashore on any
beach and take any objective. I could have landed themn in the
mouth of hiell if the Joint Chiefs of Staff had picked that target.
(Iwo Jima was a fair substitutc.) Success was a question of
proper planning and co-ordination. The training and the spirit
were there. Tested in actual combat on the tough road from
Guadalcanal to Tokyo, the doctrine stood firm. T'rue, we pro-
gressed by trial and error - many crrors in some cascs—but cach
crror was converted into a lesson applied to the next operation.
The Marines were committed to a novel principle of war, the
principle of doing the impossible well. In fact the way they cap-
tured some of the most heavily fortificd positions in the world
mmade amphibious warfare appear easy.

Back home, when pcople picked up the paper to read of an-
other Marine landing, they accepted victory as the natural
corollary and paid no further attention beyond scanning develop-
ments. In the public mind, victory became mecrely a question of
when, not how, and the public lost sight of the difficultics we
had to overcome. The deceptive case with which we gained our
victories, due to a combination of training, morale and equip-
ment all functioning like parts of a perfectly adjusted machine,
even blurred the Navy perspective and made it increasingly
dificult for us to obtain the amount of naval gunfirc necessary
to insure the success of our landings.

In this conncction, the reader must realize how essential to
a landing is the prior naval and air bombardment of enemy posi-
tions, which destroys defenses and softens up opposition before
the assault waves hit the beach. The stronger the defenses the
heavier, more prolonged and more effective should be the bom-
bardment, over periods as short as three days and as long as ten
days. During the war our old battleships, including some of the
revitalized ghosts of Pearl IHarbor, were invaluable in this work.
They were able to stand close inshore and use their heavy arma-
ment with terrific cffect.
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"T'he Navy reaction to our successful landings was to wonder
if they were giving us too much gunfire and prejudicing their
primary mission, which was to protect us against possible Japa-
nese naval action. Perhaps, the Navy reasoncd, the Marines
could get along with less gunfire. As if a few rounds of ammuni-
tion mattercd when it was a question of reducing casualtics! The
way I have always reckoned, shells are cheaper than lives. One
of my biggest and most hopeless fights with Admiral Nimitz and
with almost cvery othier Admiral associated with e on an opera-
tion, was to get them to sce my viewpoint on naval gunfire,

At Iwo Jima, 1 asked for ten days’ bombardment and had
to compromise on only three days’ firc to prepare for the Marine
landing on perhaps the strongest fortified island in the world,
where every yard of volcanic terrain was covered by Japanese
guns. The Navy idea of battle economy often reached unbelicv-
able proportions.

The big colored map in Admiral Nimitz’s planning room at
Pearl Harbor showed our advance toward Japan but he could not
have recorded that progress unless the Marines had taken those
islands for him. The Marines made it possible and instcad of
enjoying easy victorics, as they appeared to the supcrficial ob-
server, the battles were bloody and hard fought.

I have been blamed for the relatively high casualtics suf-
fered by the Marines under my command in the Central Iacific.
I have been called “butcher,” ““cold blooded murderer” and “in-
discriminate waster of hwnan life.” One mother wrote Scerctary
of the Navy James Forrestal (now Defense Secretary) during
the Iwo Jima opcration as follows: “Please, for God's sake, stop
sending our finest youth to be murdered on places like Iwo
Jima. Why can’t objectives be accomplishied some other way?”
T'o which the Scerctary replicd: “There is no short or easy way.”

This is not an attempt to cxcuse the Marine casualtics. T'o
do so would insult the memory of the brave men who dicd so
willingly for their country. The total U. S. Marine Corps casual-
ties from Dccember 7, 1941, to August 31, 1945, in all theaters,
including the Central Pacific, were 89,585, Excluding wounded,
these are the details:
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Killed inaction. . ... ... i i e 15,130

Died of wounds reccived in action...................... 3,392
Missing, presumed dead. ... oL go1
Total ... 19,423

In addition, 100 officers and 1,841 enlisted men were taken
prisoncrs of war. These included the 4th Marines in China and
the Philippines; survivors of the Marine detachment aboard the
USS Iouston sunk off Java; personnel of the Marine barracks
at Guam and the Marine dctachment commanded by Colonel
James Devercux, responsible for the heroic defense of Wake
Island, ncarly all captured in the carly days of the war when the
Japanese overran the Pacific.

Compared with Army casualties the Marine percentage was
higher. ITowever, statistical comparisons fail to give the complete
picture. 'T'he proportionately higher Marine ratio is accounted
for by these facts:

1. A larger pereentage of Marines served overseas. (Marines
go pereent, Army 70 pereent.)

2. 'The Marines were fighting a different type of war.

3. The Marines were assaulting more diflicult objectives.

Former Seccrctary of War Ienry L. Stimnson recently stated:
“Troop transport and assault landings are traditionally the most
difficult and most dangerous of all military operations.” Every
time the Marines landed it was a Normandy on a smaller but
more intensc scale. In two wars I have fought Germans and
Japancse. Throw a hand grenade into a German pillbox and
they come out with hands reaching for the sky and shouting
“Kamerad!” Throw a hand grenade into a Japanese pillbox and
they throw it right back at you.

It has been said that the Army is long on strategy and short
on tactics while in the Marine Corps we are short on strategy and
long on tactics. Perhaps so; but one point must not be overlooked,
particularly in any comparative assessment of the Pacific war.
Our two converging drives on Tokyo had two. distinctly different
command set-ups. MacArthur was in supreme command in his
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own theater and could pick his own targets. He picked the casicst.
Mine were picked for me by the Joint Chiefs of Staff in Washing-
ton, who indicated the objectives and left me the task of cap-
turing them.

I have no desire to belittle the Army’s contribution to our
common victory but in defense of the Marines I must put on
record the fact that when the Army had a difficult amphibious
objective at Okinawa, the operation took three times as long as
any Marine operation with the exception of Guadalcanal.
When the First and Sixth Marine Divisions finally were thrown
in, momcntum was added. Total casualties were higher at
Okinawa than in any Marine operation, although the Army en-
joyed the initial advantage of landing unopposed. My Pacific
experience was that the first half mile from the beach took the
heaviest toll in lives.

Since I first joined the Marines, 1 have advocated aggressive-
ness in the field and constant offensive action. I1it quickly, hit
hard and keep right on hitting. Give the enemy no rest, no op-
portunity to consolidate his forces and hit back at you. This is
the shortest road to victory in the type of island war the Marincs
had to fight and is most economical of lives in the long run,

In the words of Frederick the Great, “By making your battle
short, you will deprive it of time, so to speak, to rob you of men.
The soldier who is led by you in this manner will gain confidence
in you and cxposc himself gladly to all danger.”

Marines were trained along thesc lincs for their job in the
Pacific and they responded to leadership of officers indoctrinated
in the principle of short, lively, intense campaigns. We took the
Pacific islands the only possible way. Any other method would
have prolonged operations and cost more lives.

War is a costly undertaking and the Marines paid the bill.
The Duke of Wellington once said, “Nothing except a battle
lost can be so melancholy as a battle won.” This is the summa-
tion I must make on the Pacific war: If the Marines had re-
ceived better co-operation from the Navy our casualties would
have been lower. More naval gunfire would have saved many lives.
I had to beg for gunfire and I rarely reccived what the situation
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demanded. I had to fight not only for gunfire but for aviation,
for the requisite number of staff officers to accompany me on
operations and against Navy intcrference. The Navy transported
us, landed us and protected us against Japanesc naval and air
attack. We could not have reached the islands without the Navy,
but at that point their duties should have ended. Instcad, they
tricd to continue running the show.

The Navy's mental arteriosclerosis made it hard for me in
other ways. Procurement of cquipment was a source of trouble.
This difficulty dates back to long before the war but it was ecm-
phasized in operational planning. In 1939, when I was given
command of the Iirst Marine Brigade in the Caribbean, 1 con-
centrated on the amphibious aspect of training because it was
obvious war was coming and therefore imperative that the
Marincs be ready. ITowever, it was not simply a question of train-
ing men. Equally important were the development of cquipment
and weapons for use in amphibious warfare and the task of
bludgeoning Washington into providing money and materiel.

It was a long and continuous fight to get what T wanted. 1
was constantly being slapped down by the Navy Departinent
for what they dismissed as “grandiloquent representations.”
When I did convince the top Navy brass of the practical nature
of my requircments, opposition took a different form. The new
weapons 1 asked for suddenly presented insurmountable pro-
curement or manufacturing difficulties. During this phase there
was no nmmediate or overt opposition to my ideas. They were
always well received but somewhere in the corporate mind of the
naval oligarchy these ideas often vanished until I dragged them
out again and got them on the planning table.

'The ramp boat was typical. In China, the Japanese had
been using ramp boats along the coast and up the shallow crecks
for years. We did not possess a single boat of this type. Yet, with-
out it, the Marines never could have landed on a Japanese island
and the Army would have been crippled in Europe. To get the
boat, we went straight to the builder, Andrew Iliggins, discussed
plans with him and he built the ramp boat while the Bureau of
Ships was still dazed by the temerity of the suggestion.
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With World War 1I in Europe spurring preparedncess
efforts, my private war for weapons and equipment began to bear
fruit and in command of the First Brigade in the Caribbean 1
intensified Marine training for the amphibious task ahead since
I was convinced the United States would join the battle against
Fascism on two continents. 1f the Battle of Waterloo was won
on the playing ficlds of Iton, the Japanesc bascs in the Pacific
were captured on the beaches of the Caribbean, where the prob-
lems involved were worked out in Marine mancuvers.

Certain strategic Japanese islands were captured by plans
drawn up as carly as 1920—so0 surc were we of the course of his-
tory. On the beaches of Culebra, an island off the Puerto Rican
coast which was the principal Marine training basc, we super-
imposed maps of Japanecse bases and made trial assaults which
became reality a fecw ycars later. Thesc dress rehearsals for
the Pacific war were the most vivid 1 ever witnessed. 1 often
remembered them against a background of smoking Japanesc
islands.

These Marine cxercises were no scerct from the Japancsc.
When we attacked Guam in 1944, I was convinced by the Japa-
nese commander’s disposition of his forces and the location of
his defenses that the enciny had obtained a copy of our original
plan for the recapture of Guam, rehearsed years before.

Unfortunately for the Japancse, the plan had been altered
since it was first written. Originally we intended landing on the
cast coast of the island but this was changed to beaches on the
west coast—north and south of Apra IHarbor. Strong forces
waited for us on the cast coast, obviously misled by the discarded
plan, and we went ashore on the west coast without too much
opposition, although the main enemy strength was concentrated
there. Typically, the Japanese military failed to take into con-
sideration the possibility that our plan might have been altered
in subsequent years.

A Japanesc agent would have had no difficulty in obtaining
the plan. Before the war we had a childish habit of broadcasting
our military activitics by publishing themn in service journals avail-
able on the news stands, but we circumvenled Japancse intelli-
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gence by neglecting to reveal that the original plan for Guam
had been scrapped.

Marine operations in the Pacific underscored the nation’s
growing understanding of the functions of the Corps in relation
to national dcfense. In prewar days, the Corps was popularly
associated with the idea of an .international police force. When
missionaries were threatened in China or businessmen got into
trouble in Central America, the cry went up, “Send for the
Marines!” We were regarded as an international riot squad, in-
stantly available to handle any disturbance involving Americans
ou the strect corners of the world. In a larger sense, the dispatch
of Marines to the Mediterrancan, the new danger spot in the
world picture, was another instance of this peacetime employ-
ment.

To be sure, this is a part of our duty and has taken us all
over the globe, but it is a limitation of our basic program. The
Marines always have been an integrated, well organized military
unit, very advanced in tactical thought. Ten years before it
started Marine Corps planners were forecasting the character of
the Pacific campaign in World War I1. That was a period when
acceptance of the inevitability of World War II was just as un-
popular as mention of World War 111 is today.

While we were envisaging World War I, we could not fore-
sce the mental climate in which the war would be fought. World
War 11, although the most completely successful in our history,
was also the most peculiar. Generals who lost battles and Cap-
tains who.lost ships were promoted and decorated. A General
took his wifc and family to war with him. Generals competed
with Admirals to acquire the largest number of stars. Generals,
both Army and Marine, who were rclieved from command for
inefhiciency, were continued on active duty in important com-
mands. The correct disposition of top echelon insignia was as
careful a staff study as the correct disposition of troops in our
operations. Never in our history did gold braid sweep so high up
naval sleeves mor so many stars adorn Army and Marine
shoulders.

When I served in China I met a curious personage holding
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the rank of Admiral-General. This Oriental package show, pre-
sented with suitable fanfare, shook me, but the height of our
fantasy in high command was cven morce theatrical. We had
Generals who were Admirals and Admirals who wanted to be
Gencrals. Generals acting as Adwirals are bad enough but it was
the Admirals who wanted to be Generals who imperilled victory
among the coral islands.

Coral was a great ally of the Amecrican forces in the Pacific.
With coral we built airstrips, roads, piers and breakwaters and
saved thousands of tons of shipping that would have been ncces-
sary to transport matcrial from the United States if this natural
product had not been abundantly and rcadily available. Coral is
a living organism. After being blasted from the reefs that impeded
our landing and utilized in military construction, it continued to
work for us instead of against us. I would hesitate to placc in the
same useful category a lot of our brass in the Pacific.
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I

ORTY YEARS of military scrvice climaxed by the
greatest war the world has cver known covers a gencrous slice of
history. Before 1 proceed to the events of that war as scen through
the eyes of the Commanding Gencral of the Fleet Marine Forcee,
Pacific, 1 think I should tell something about mysclf, because
those forty years were the crucial period of Marine Corps devel-
opment.

How I got the name “Howlin’ Mad” I don’t know but it
was pinncd on me while I was stationed on Luzon, the main
island in the Philippines. After being commissioned Second
Lieutenant in 1906, I was assigned to Olongapo, our naval base
on Subic Bay, which indents the northwestern cxtremity of
Bataan Peninsula, later immortalized in American history. Olon-
gapo wasu’t much of a basc at that time but it had a garrison,
and here Marines were introduced to the Philippines.

For my first command I inherited “A” Company, 2nd
Regiment, from Captain “Iliking Iliram” Bearss. This was a
grecat honor for a young officer just out of training school. Com-
mand of a company usually was assigned to a Caplain, not a
Sccond Licutenant and, besides, “A” Company and its com-
manding officer were famous in Marine circles. Hiking IHiram
was one of the grealest travelers on foot in the Corps. e spent
all hiis leisurc time tramping and on his own two feet had been
everywlicre a man could go, cxcept perhaps to the top of Mount
Everest.

Samar, in the castern Philippines, was his favorite proving
ground and he had hiked all over the island, taking mountains,
carabao trails and swamp paths in his stride. He always hiked
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with his shirt tail flapping outside his pants and the Samar
natives must have derived their first amused impressions of the
mad Americano as they watched him swinging along the
trails.

Hiking Iliram infected his company with his own cn-
thusiasm and it held the record for the toughest training march
in the Philippines—Olongapo to Dinalupihan, 65 miles of the
worst foot-blistering, back-breaking terrain to be found anywhere.
Insect life and the damp heat of Northern Luzon helped take
every ounce of stamina out of a man tramping under compcti-
tive conditions, which were heavy marching order, consisting of
rifle, ammunition, five days’ rations and extra clothing weighing
forty-five pounds.

Naturally, “A” Company’s performance was a challenging
reputation to pass on to me straight from the States but | wasn't
abashed. At school I was a sprinter and I knew what training
meant. I started hiking and worked up an enthusiasm that soon
led me on long treks all over the island. While my buddies spent
their weckends absorbing night life in Manila, I was hiking along
mountain trails and hacking through the jungles. When the
right inoment arrived, I paraded my company of 98 men and told
them I was going to attack and beat Captain Bearss’ record.
Probably the men thought I was presumptuous but we started
out. It was a day and a night trip, with a camp in the jungle, and
I beat Hiram’s record by three hours.

I suppose I did use tempestuous language to keep the men
moving because I was determined to break the record. Some-
where along the line, or perhaps in the telling of the story after-
wards, the name “Howlin” Mad” was coined. Despite the repu-
tation it has given me, I protest that I am not given to sudden,
uncontrollable outbursts of temper or to bawling out without
cause. I would rather reason with a man than try to browbeat
him. However, 1 do speak frankly, freely and emphatically when
injustices occur, when official stupidity obstructs plans, or when
the brass, big or small, trics to take liberties with my Marincs.
My vehemence has been nagnificd into habitual irreverence,
which is incorrect.
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“ITowlin’ Mad” stuck to me through my carcer but when 1
was born on April 20, 1882, at ITatchechubbee in Russcll County,
Alabama, a village twenty-seven miles from the Georgia border,
I was named Holland McTycire Smith after my great-uncle,
Holland Nimmons McI'yeire, who was a Bishop in the Mecthodist
Episcopal Church, South. My great-uncle not ouly was a dis-
tinguished divine but a notable scholar and writcr on religious
subjects. Chinese Methodists in Shanghai named a girls’ school
after him, which Madame Sun Yat-sen and Madamme Chiang
Kai-shek attended. He was the first president of Vanderbilt
University, which he helped to establish by talking Commodore
Cornelius Vanderbilt into financing the project.

My father and mother hoped that by naming me after this
ancestor I would follow in his footsteps. It was a great disappoint-
ment to them when their son showed no inclination to enter the
Methodist ministry. Both my father, John Wesley Smith, Jr,,
and my mother, who was born Comelia Carolinc McTyeire,
were very religious and my early years were strictly disciplined
along Methodist lines, but my carcer must have been preordained
by the character of other forebears.

My paternal grandfather, Jolin Wesley Smith, was a [ome
. Guard captain in the Confederacy. My grandimother on the
paternal side was Martha Patrick, a direct descendant of Patrick
Henry. My malernal grandfather, Williamm C. McT'ycire, was a
sharpshooter in the Confederate Army. Ilis proud possession
was one of the new rifles obtained from England. This weapon
was greatly supcrior to the old smooth bore gun, but as the Con-
federates had only a few, they were distributed only to the best
shots and averaged about one rifle to a thousand men, which
made my grandfather an outstanding soldicr, indecd.

I don’t know whether it was juvenile skepticism or just
bloodthirsty curiosity that prompted me to ask him onc day,
“Grandpa, are you sutc you cver killed a man in the war?”

He looked at me with an eamestness I had seldom scen in
his face and said, “Ilolland, I'll tell you a story.”

Settling back in his chair he began, “One evening in De-
cember we were in the Shenandoah Valley and from my position
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on the south bank of the river T heard a Yankee soldier call out,
‘Johnny Reb! Got any tobacco?””

“I yelled back, ‘Yes! You got any coffee?” Ie called back
to say hc had.

“We both agreed to leave our weapons behind and come
down to the stream to exchange tobacco for coftee and return
to our posts without shooting at each other. We made the ex-
change all right but the Yankee got back to his post before 1
reached mine and whizz! a bullet almost clipped my car. I ducked
behind a rock and grabbed my new English rifle and shot the
Yankee before he could take cover.”

Then Grandfather added, “One of his comrades ran out to
drag him in and I was so damn mad I shot him, too. Son, I've
always been ashamed of that second shot.”

My father was born in Harris County, Georgia. lis family
had been greatly influcnced by the visit to the United States of
John Wesley, the great LEnglish preacher, and the cvent was
perpetuated by the family use of the two names, John Wesley.
This custom caused some confusion in my father’s life because
my grandfather frequently received iy father's letters. T'o avoid
further blurring of his identity my father changed his name to
John V. Smith.

The War of Sccession impoverished the Smiths like many
other Southern familics. My father was able to attend the Ala-
bama Polytechnic Institute at Auburn for only onec ycar. His
ambition was to becomc a lawycr. Diligence and perscverance
overcamc the handicaps the war created and in 1881 he was ad-
mitted to the Alabama Bar. In 1890 he was clected to the office
of Court Solicitor for the Statc of Alabama and later was ap-
pointed President of the Railtoad Commission, where he served
four years. 1le practised law in Montgomery County and was a
member of the State Legislature. My father died in 1913.

My mother was a remarkable woman. Alabama born, she
died in Montgomery on August 7, 1946, at the age of 83. My
father left her a meager estate but she possessed a keen business
sense and by careful inanagement developed the property to such
proportions that her two children were comfortably off. My
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younger sister, Corrie Caroline, shortened by the family to
Corrie C., married Robert Platt Boyd, an engineer employed by
the State of Alabama, and dicd in Monroe, Louisiana, in 19z0.

My mother took an active part in the Mcthodist Church.
She was a woman of strong character. When 1 was three, the
family moved from Hatchechubbee to Seale, in the samc county.
Seale is the Russell County seat, twenty miles from Columbus,
Georgia, and thereforc a place of considerable local importance.

The Central Georgia Railroad runs through Scale where the
town marshal was notorious for his toughness in dealing with
tramps who rode the freights. Generally, the tramps gave the
town a wide berth, jumping off the trains outside the town and
picking them up on the other side. During the interval they
harassed the villagers with petty thefts.

One tramp tried to foree his way into our house. My mother
picked up the revolver that my father had taught her to use and
fired at the tramp, who disappeared down the dusty road as fast
as he could in his broken shocs. I don’t think my mother hit
him but the word got around and we had no more visits from
unwclcome vagrants.

My childhood was brightened by a Negro servant who came
into our life under unusual circumstances. One day when I was
six an old Negro, driving a wagon pulled by a jack and a jenny,
passed our house in Scale. The house was a squarc whitc build-
ing standing on a hill overlooking the town, surrounded by five
acres of land on which was raised cverything we ate. ‘T'here was
a parlor, living room, dining room, kitchen, four bedrooms and
a large room with a tin bath.

The Negro's name was Uncle John Milby. 11c was a former
slave and had been a jockey in his youth. As he drove his wagon
down the road, my mother noticed blood streaming from a
wound in his forchcad. She hailed him and asked what had hap-
pened. Uncle John answered rather shamefacedly that lis wife
had hit him with a flat iron.

My mother invited him to the back door and, bringing a
basin of warm water, in which she threw a handful of salt, she
bathed the old man’s wound and bandaged his head. While she
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was busy, Uncle John noticed the servant house in the back
yard.

“Missey,” he began shyly, “who lives in dat housc?”

“Why, nobody now, Joln,” my mother replicd.

“Yes'm, they docs,” the old man said, “cos I’sec movin’ in.”

Uncle John did move right in and he lived with us twelve
years. Ile taught me how to ride, to hunt, to fish, to make bows
and arrows, to sct traps—and how to chew tobacco at the age of
twelve. A little stream called Silver Run meandered near the
house and here we caught catfish and perch. We shot quail and
doves in the ncarby woods.

My father always prided himself on possessing a fast horse
and during Uncle John’s stay with us he purchascd a beautiful
Hambletonian which, strange to say, was named Henry Ward
Beecher. Uncle Johin, being a former jockey, made that horse
the fastest in the county and together we travelled the roads,
challenging any horse we met. Ilenry Ward Beecher invariably
left every other animal far behind.

In all my life, I have never loved anyone more than I loved
Uncle John. The formative years of my boyhood were in his
capable, tircless and cheerful care and he taught me things about
humanity that I never found in books. Our house was built in
an “L” and my room was on the ground floor. On cold nights in
winter—and it does get cold in Alabama—Uncle John used to
climb through my bedroom window and curl up on the Brussels
carpet in my room, which was much warmer than the scrvant
house across the back yard. My mother and father never knew.

About the time Uncle Johin joined our houschold 1 started
to school. Though Scale was the county seat, it boasted only onc
small school and onc teachier, who taught all subjects to all ages
from six to sixteen. 1le was expected to know Latin, geography,
arithinctic, geometry, English literature, algebra—in fact, the
complete curriculum of a wellstaffed scholastic institution—and
also to maintain discipline among unruly youngsters in a school
averaging forty students.

The school, a dingy frame building the size of a good barn,
was equipped with wooden benches and desks, with a few maps
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and pictures on the walls. 'I'he six-year-olds sat on the front
benches and worked their way up, as I did, to the rear benches
by the time they reachied the age of sixteen. Ten ycars in that
school Icft an indelible impression on the minds of the pupils.
The room was heated by an old iron stove, wood-burning, which
meant that the older you got the farther you moved from the
stove and the more inured to cold you had to become to survive.

With such a pedagogic repertoire, it was only natural that
in a small town like Seale, the tcacher entrusted with the re-
sponsibility of moulding the lives of its youth was grecatly re-
spected. Ie was always addressed as Professor. I reincimber Pro-
fessor Conycrs, Professor Bass and Professor Dill. Tnmy last years
at Seale, from 18906 to 1893, the school board got expansive and
added a lady teacher as assistant. Iler name was Miss Annctte
Howard and she was an old maid, stern in expression but liked by
all her pupils. She was free with the switch but she applicd it with
equal justice to all.

I was now sixtcen and the old school at Scale had nothing
more to offer, so in 1898 1 entered Alabama Polytechnic Insti-
tute as a sophomore. T'he Institute is a military school at Aubum,
in Lee County, next to Russcll County, and that time the military .
commandant was Coloncl B. S. Patrick. The rank was purely
honorary but the school had a definite military flavor. We wore
the Confederate gray uniform and followed a dull routine of
parades, drills and rifle excreises which scemed pucrile to me. I
objected to cvery military detail. Everything military about the
place offended me and the fact that I barcly graduated is a pretty
good indication of my interest in the preponderantly military
side. But still I loved my Alma Mater.

However, two cxtra-curricular activities justificd my three
years at the Polytechnic. I became a good sprinter and a student
of Napolcon.

It was purely by accident that 1 discovered T could sprint.
As a ilitary school, Alabama DPolytechnic was ruled by the
seniors, to whom was delegated considerable disciplinary author-
ity. Onc night while on unauthorized liberty, I was dctected by
the seniors and I made a dash back to college to cscape them.
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One of the upperclassmen was the 100-yard champion and he
chased me. I beat him back to the campus and when 1 told my
upperclass fraternity brothers at the Alpha Tau Omega house
about it, they ordered me to go out for track. Without any spe-
cial training I did quite well and later at the University of Ala-
bama 1 lost only one race in two years. At one mcet 1 won the
100-, 220- and 44o-yard dashes as well as the mile. Not a bad
record for a single day.

While my grades were not very high at Aubum, 1 did well
in history. Before I went to Auburn, I had fallen under the magic
of Napolcon’s genius and read everything about him I could get
my hands on. In Scale, [ had to buy books out of my allowance
and conscquently my rcading was limited. Furthermore, my
father strongly disapproved of this hero worship and promptly
confiscated any book he found dealing with Napolcon. To
counteract what I considered an unrcasonable prcjudice, T took
to hiding my books under the house, which stood off the ground.

At Auburn things were different. The college had an excel-
lent library and I read everything it offered on Napoleon, to the
detriment of other studies. The Corsican’s character fascinated
me, his prowess awed me, and his rapid marches and counter-
marches across the map of Lurope, defeating one adversary after
another, implanted in my mind military principles that scrved
me well later, althougl paradoxically the Auburn military atmos-
phere nauscated mc.

The trait that counted most heavily in my youthful assess-
ment of Napoleon was lhis offensive spirit. Inevitably, later in
my life the halo I had visioned around his head began to tarnish
when I appreciated the tyrant, the unscrupulous plotter, the
enemy of frcedom he became. It never occurred to me at that
time that ycars later I would be wearing the Croix de Guerre
awarded me by the French Government for fighting to save the
land of Napolcon from her traditional enciny.

While T was at Auburn the most momentous decision of
my life was made. Iad the decision gone otherwise, this book
never would have been written.

Shortly after I entered the Polytechnic I was offered a desig-
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nation to take the examinations for entrance to the Naval
Academy at Annapolis. Bored as I was by the pscudo-military air
of Auburn, I still was an adventurous youngster, yearning to do
and sce things, and 1 was attraced by the Navy. Thercfore, when
Congressman Henry D. Clayton, representing our congressional
district, offered me the designation I was delighted. Why it was
offered I lcarned later. My father was a prominent man and there
was some question of his entering the race for Congress against
Clayton. The Congressman got wind of this and the designation
to the Naval Academy, which he knew I wanted, was a discreet
bribe to head off father’s possible opposition.

[ never aceepted the designation or sat for examinations be-
cause my father and mother would not hear of it. They werc
both born during the Civil War period and they carricd the
mental scars of the conflict deep in their beings. They were still
unreconstructed and would not permit me to accept an offer
which, in their minds, would be a surrender to Yaunkee ideology.

Such an attitude would appear unreasonable today but
when I was a boy in the South these ideas were live, glowing
embers of a fire that had not been extinguished, remuants of a
pride that could yicld but not surrender. Unforgettable associa-
tions hclped prescrve this attitude. It was in Montgomery, where
my parents spent many years of their lives, that the congress of
delegates from the seceding States adopted the Confederate Con-
stitution and inaugurated Jelterson Davis as President in 1801.

Destiny hangs by a slender thread. Instead of joining the
Navy 1 became a Marine, following a brief and undistinguished
flirtation with the law which convinced me I was not destined
to become a John Marshall or an Oliver Wendcll IHolmes. In
1901, at my father’s insistence, 1 entered the University of Ala-
bama law school. My father had a comfortable practice and he
figured his son would make a satisfactory partner but I never had
the slightest interest in law.

‘T'wo years at the University, except for my sprinting which
gained me campus popularity, were practically wasted and I
barely graduated in 19o3. After graduation I entered my father’s
office and the firn became Smith and Smith, with the junior

30



member disliking his job more intensely every day. I suffered a
further impediment to any chance of a successful carecr. Ac-
quaintances always introduced me as John Smith’s son and this
made me realize that as long as I practised law I would be only
John Smith's son. Like most young men, I had independent
ambitions and they were far removed from the musty labyrinths
of law.

My few appecarances in court only emphasized my uufitness
as a lawyer. The last time was in Montgomery, when [ appeared
as assistant to the County Solicitor in the prosccution of a Negro
charged with attacking another Negro with a knife. T did what
I considered a furst class piece of work and made (1 thought) a
fine argumcent. The judge looked at me pityingly and the defense
lawyer rested his case and sat down, almost unable to believe
that anybody could present a casc as badly as I did. "The defend-
ant was acquitted immediately and I walked out of the court
room, vowing ncver to cnter again.

That humiliating experience finally decided me: T would
abandon law, whicli obviously was not my metier, and join the
Army. This plan had been slowly forming in my restless mind
ever since youthful aversion to uniformed drudgery at Aubum
started to wear off. My inclinations were definitely toward a
military carcer and I had already worked up to first sergeant in a
cavalry troop of the Alabama National Guard.

I was now 21 and rcady to make somcthing out of life that
the law couldn’t offer. My father was reluctant to sce me desert
the family profession but he didn’t stand in my way when I an-
nounced my plans. Instead, he gave me his paternal blessing and
I went off to Washington to sce our Congressman, Licutenant
Colonel Ariosto A. Wiley, who had scrved in the Army in Cuba
during the Spanish-American War. Colonel Wiley heartily ap-
proved of my intentions but it was not casy to realize them. At
the War Department he introduced me to Secretary Mills, who
was cordial and sympathctic but wrecked my plans for an Army
carcer by saying that no examinations for Sccond Licutcnants
would be held until November, 19os. That was more than a year
away and I couldn’t wait.
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As we were leaving the War Department Coloncl Wiley,
fully appreciating my disappointment, suddenly had an idea.
“How would you like to join the Marines?” he asked. I know it
sounds odd today but I answered, “What are the Marines?”
Honestly, 1 didn’t know. Nobody ever mentioncd that branch
of the service to me and even in wy reading I never encountered
the Corps. No attractive recruiting posters showing Marine life
overseas plastered the country in the carly years of this century.

Coloncl Wiley explained to me the organization of the
United States Marine Corps, its history and its functions. Ilis
little lecturc on the street outside the War Departiment was the
most convincing I have ever heard. 1 am sorry T can’t recall it
exactly because it could be usefully incorporated in Marine
archives as a gem of extemporancous lucidity and conviction. Ilis
talk immediately won e over and we went to sce Scerctary of
the Navy William H. Moody. Mr. Moody told me he was look-
ing for some boys from the South to complete the proper geo-
graphical distribution of commissions in the Marine Corps and
said he would give me a chance. I was overwhehned and thanked
him profusely.

In Washington a school run by a Mr. Swaverly prepared
candidates for Army, Navy and Marine examinations. T cnrolled
in a class of about forty young men studying for service carcers.
Looking back I remember among my classinates, who became
lifelong fricnds, were Major General Ralph S. Keyser, Licutenant
Colonel Edward W. Sturdivant, Colonel Andrew B. Drum,
Colonel Victor 1. Morrison, Coloncl David M. Randall, and
Brigadier General M. E. Shearer, all stalwarts of the Marine
Corps.

Examinations for entrance to the Corps were held in Febru-
ary, 19os, at the Marine Barracks in Washington and [ passed
successfully. It was the proudcst day of my life, cven prouder than
the day when, with Secretary of the Navy Forrestal standing at
my side, I watched my men raise the Stars and Stripes on Suri-
bachi, the climax of my years in the service of my country. At
last I was starting a career I felt would satisfy all my longings
and ambitions.
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I received a commnission as Second Lieutenant and was as-
signed to the School of Application, known today as the Basic
School, at the Marine Barracks, Annapolis, Maryland. Then
came another proud day—the day I first wore my Marine uni-
form. At that time the Corps uniform consisted of a dark blue
blouse with elaborate frogs across the chest and braid around the
hem. The pants were sky blue, with a broad red stripe running
down. A blue cap completed the outfit. Aftcrwards this uniform
was discarded for one more practical but I was deeply thrilled
when [ first wore it. To me, it represented adinission to an old,
honored and distinguished company of men who had helped
shape our country’s history.

It was an intense, thrilling year at the School of Application.
I began, as never before, to appreciate the qualities of my fellow
men as we drilled on the parade ground, attended classes and
studicd or yarncd far into the night.

In my class were fifty embryo Marine officers. The Com-
mandant of the School was Colonel Lincoln Karmany, a magnifi-
cent man, the very embodiment of the ideal Marine officer. Ile
had a long military record and was a strict disciplinarian but he
was essentially kind and sympathetic. We all left school inspired
to emulate him.

After graduation I had time only for a hasty lcavetaking be-
cause I was assigned to my first station: the Philippincs. Leaving
Washington in April, 1906, with other officers of my class, I
entrained for San Francisco where 1 boarded the USS Sheridan,
an old transport employed to carry Marines to our most distant
station. The Sheridan sailed on April 16, 1906, and as wc passed
through the Golden Gate and saw the buildings vanish in the
fog around Telegraph Hill and the deep, blue Pacific heaving
ahead I never dreamed what tragedy was in store for the unique
California city I always loved.

Two days later an carthquake rocked San Francisco, fol-
lowed by the terrible fire that killed so many pcople and ncarly
wiped out one of the most beautiful, glamorous cities in the
world. We knew nothing about all this at sea. Radio telegraphy
was in its infancy and few ships were equipped with this new
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system of communications. We heard nothing of the disaster
until the ship was within visual signalling distance of Ilonolulu.
Once ashore, we bought up all the newspapers and read the
tragic news. Sitting at a table in a local hotel rcading the
papers, the fatalistic implications of the San I'rancisco disaster
set me thinking. As I have said, destiny hangs by a slender
thread. 11ad our ship been delayed a few days my life might have
taken a totally diffcrent course—had I escaped death in the flames.

The Sheridan eventually docked in Manila and we trans-
shipped to a small freighter that carried us out of Manila Bay
and around Bataan Peninsula to the naval basc at Olongapo in
Subic Bay. Olongapo was only a small naval station on the east
coast of the Bay and Olongapo itsclf a small native village of
straw huts and wooden shacks. ‘The basc had repair facilitics
for small ships but later the drydock Dewey arrived and handled
destroyers and light cruisers.

"The Marine barracks was a group of old Spanish buildings
of whitewashed brick and wood capturcd during the Spanish-
Amecrican War. It had wide, airy rooms and accommodated
about 1,100 men, who slept on cots and enjoyed a clean and
sanitary cxistence. This is more than can be said of some of the
officers, including mysclf. T shared a single room in the officers’
mess, a scparate building standing away {rom the barracks, and
I've never been so pestered with bedbugs in my life. My iron
cot was covered only with a light bamboo matting but despite
this starvation dict the bedbugs thrived. Some of the other offi-
cers occupicd mat sheds in the barracks arca, no better than my
quarters. Proper service buildings were not crected until later.

Living conditions didn’t bother me too much. I was young,
this was my first station and my new carcer was opening satis-
factorily. Discipline was scvere in those days of the Marine
Corps. Senior Caplains presided over thic mess and a Captain
in those days was only once removed from a king. In our mess
were eleven Sccond Licutenants and the only time we were al-
lowed to open our mouths was to put food in. All our conversa-
tions were confined to whispered asides among oursclves. Direct
communication with the mess president was unthinkable.
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Still, looking back, I realize that such discipline was good
for us. We were young and inexperienced and needed to be kept
in line. I didn’t object to the discipline though I am naturally
gregarious and usually chafe under restrictions. Also, 1 was for-
tunate in my command. “A” Company, 2nd Regiment, that
came to me from Captain Bearss, had an old time noncommis-
sioned officer in I'irst Sergeant Joscph J. Jackson, who was later
commissioned and promoted to Captain in World War 1. Jack-
son was a godsend to a shavetail. His advice saved e from lots
of trouble.

Olongapo eventually became so crowded that with my com-
pany I was sent to the old barracks on the rifle range at Santa
Rita, two and a half miles away. Here we had plenty of room
and excellent training facilities. At Santa Rita I lcarned a lesson
that stayed with me all my life. One night I mct two Marines
who were in the last stages of a drinking bout. They had been
drinking vino, not just ordinary wine but a fearful native drink
that robbed men of their scnses. It was a white liquor distilled
from rice and nipa leaves. I tried to take the bottle of vino away
from the two men but they lunged at me. As they converged on
me from two sides I stepped back, grabbed them by their collars
and banged their heads together.

‘T'he concussion, plus the drink, knocked both men out and
I had them thrown into the brig and put in double irons. Vino
is violent stuff and in those days both wrist and leg irons were
used on violent prisoners.

I jummped on my horse—all Marines had horses—and rode
into Olongapo to report the incident to Licutenant Colonel
Lli K. Cole, Commanding Officer of the 2nd Regiment. I shall
never forget that interview. What he said to me about an officer
laying hands on a Marine bumed in my memory and I left his
presence a subdued and wiser young man.

Yet it was not a completely unpleasant incident. Later,
while hiking along the trail with my company, we ran into a
heavy rainstorm. I ordered camp made and rolled up on the
ground in my poncho and single blanket. When I woke up in the
morning I found mysclf snugly covered with two extra blankets.
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"They belonged to the men whose heads I banged together. ‘The
two were never punished after they sobered up and became the
best couple in my company. However, I am not rclating this
aftermath in an attempt to disprove Colonel Cole’s well-deserved
lecture. It just happened that way.

A welcome break in my life at Olongapo came when I left
for Cavite Naval Base, in Manila Bay, to manage the Marine
baseball tcam playing in the Manila League. The tcam did fairly
well but after the scason I got into trouble with the Command-
ing Officer at the Marine Barracks. For the first and only time
in my carecr I received an unfavorable fitness report and for my
sins T was transfered to McManny Point, on thie cast coast of
Subic Bay off Grande Island. The report was quite justified al-
though somecthing was to be said in extenuation. I had too many
jobs. I commanded a special duty detachment and also served
as Post Quarterinaster, Post Iixchange Officer, Post Mess Officer
and manager of the bascball team. It was too much for a young
officer of my brief expericence.

At McManay Point T had my fust experience of violent
death in scrvice. We were cmplacing guns for the defense of
Subic Bay against possible Japanese action. The Treaty of Ports-.
mouth cuding the Russo-Japancse War only two years carlier
left the Japanese indignant against the Americans who, they
claimed, had robbed them of the fruits of victory. They were
cocky after defeating Russia and thought they could take on
the United States, or anybody.

The guns were not large, 4.7 inches. They had been removed
from the USS Albany, an old cruiser that had been deconunis-
sioncd and broken up. Marine gun crews were assigned to test
the anmament but when we fired the first gun it exploded, killing
onc man and seriously wounding scveral others.

Even at that time, Japancse intelligence was following our
defense program. On a weekend hike around McManny Point,
I discovered a scrics of wooden pegs leading from Lingayen
Gulf, on the northwest coast of Luzon, to our baltcrics at Mc-
Manny Point. 'The pegs were definitely identificd as Japanese
markers but we took no notice of them.
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However, it wasn't the Japanese threat that took me away
from McManny Point. It was malaria carried by the clouds of
mosquitocs over this marshy spot. With 85 percent of my com-
mand, 1 contracted the disease and was invalided home in
September, 19o8.

Shortly after my rccovery 1 embarked upon another cnter-
prise. I got marricd and, like the couple in the fairy tale, we have
lived happily ever after. My wife tells the story somewhat dif-
ferently but I stick to my version. After graduation from the
Schiool of Application, I was invited to a dinner party at the
Annapolis home of Mrs. Karmany, wife of Coloncl Karmany,
and there mct Miss Ada Wilkinson, of Phoenixville, Pennsyl-
vania,

At a convenicnt opportunity, 1 seized her with both hands,
backed her into a corner and said to her, “You've never seen me
before in your lifc but you've met your future husband.” 'This
Marine approach was a new experience for this lovely Yankee
girl and she was more or less impressed. I saw her three more
times before 1 sailed for the Philippines and our relationship
improved steadily.

On my return three years later, we were married at her home
in Phoenixville on April 12, 1909. A man’s first duly to the
woman hie marries is to provide a home {or her. 1 started married
life by ignoring this principle. Instead, the Yankec girl T married,
who had never been away from her own hearth except to attend
boarding school, started a nomadic life with me and did not have
a real home until thirty-cight ycars later when I retired from the
Marine Corps and we settled in La Jolla, California, i a house
overlooking the sea.

In the first year of our marriage Ada moved fourteen times.
At the dictates of duty and accompanying her husband around
the world she has sct up home with Japanese amahs, Chincse
cooks, I'ilipino houscboys and Dominican and IHaitian scrvants.
I can assure those who think only the Marinc’s lifc is hard that
actually it is the Marine wives who are the sturdy pioncers.

President Jose Santos Zelaya of Nicaragua opened the next
chapter in my life. Two Americans were shot after being tortured

37

-



by the so-called Liberal head of Nicaragua and in December,
1909, I left with the Marine expeditionary force ordered to
Nicaragua and Panama. Zelaya was ousted by the Conscrvatives
and Adolfo Diaz was elected president in 1910, a choice satis-
factory to our State Department. Therecupon the Marines re-
turned to the United States in April, 1910, without firing a shot.

This was my first experience with the Marines as an instru-
ment of international order but the expanding functions of the
Marine Corps, so far as I was concerned, left far less an impres-
sion on my mind than the revelation of the status of the Corps
in the cyes of the other two branches of the armed scrvice. The
initial trip to Corinto, Nicaragua, and the way the Marines were
treated on board ship aroused in me a deep resentment against
the attitude of the Navy and sired a dctermination that above all
elsc I would devote my encrgics to obtaining recognition for the
Marines as an integral part of our armed forces. The impression
I got of our status was something like Kipling's:

While it’s Tommy this an’ Tommy that, an’ “Tommy fall
be'ind”;

But it's “Please to walk in front, sir,” when there’s trouble in the
wind.

On the Nicaraguan cxpcedition and, in fact, on all other trips
made by Marines abroad, except to the Philippines, no regular
transports were provided. Men piled on board any ship assigned
to them and slept anywhere they could find a place to spread their
blankets. I have often bedded down on deck. This is all part of a
Marine’s life. Ile is trained not to expect luxuries and he takes
things as they come. A foxhole in the jungle is as good as a cot
in the barracks.

What burned me up on this expedition, and on others
later, was how unwelcome we were on board ship. Instead of
being treatcd like comrades going abroad to protect our country’s
interests, we were regarded by the Navy as interlopers, unneces-
sary passcngers who caused trouble, disrupted routine because we
happened to be aboard, and debarked with the ship’s personnel
thanking God they had got rid of us at last.
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Not that all Navy personnel was glad to sce us go. Marines
were always fair game for blucjackets. At that tiinc the Marine
had no access to ships’ scrvice stations or canteens. Ile had to buy
his little extras through the bluejackets. On the Nicaragua trip
bluejackets corncred the market in tobacco and candy. Bull
Durham seclling in the canteen at five cents a package was resold
to the Marincs at fifty cents and one dollar. Candy was sky high.

With my regiment, I was on board the USS Buffalo and
this discrimination extended to the officers. The junior mess
charged us $45 a month when the actual cost to Navy officers
was less than $25. 'This profiteering so outraged me that [ sworce
a solemn oath to my Maker that if 1 ever rcached a position
where 1 could do it I would fight to the bitter end this injustice
against the Marincs, officers and mcen.

In 1939, when I took the First Marine Brigade to Culebra,
the opportunity occurred to make good on this oath. Similar
attempts to squecze Marines were made but at this time I was a
Brigadicr General and the schieine failed. I threatened to prefer
charges against any naval officer, regardless of rank, who at-
tempted to charge my officers more than the mess bill paid by
naval officers, plus a ten percent charge for laundry and general
wear and tear. The result was Marine officers were no longer im-
posed upon and the fight was taken to Washington, which con-
ceded the justice of the issue.

This was a great victory for the prestige of the Marine Corps,
the first of many. Thereafter my officers were placed in the same
category as the Army and their mess bills were paid by the Gov-
ernment. A point like this might appear to be a minor onc in the
administration of a huge military organization but it helped make
the Marine Corps an cqual partner with the other two branches
of the armed services.

After Nicaragua and Panama I was ordered to P'uget Sound
and was soon off with another cxpeditionary force—potential
rather than active. A Marine dctachment was dispatched to
North Island, Coronado, California, where we were ready for
the revolution against Porfirio Diaz, dictator-president of Mexico.
Fighting involved Tia Juana, the Mexican city just over the
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California border, but the Marines sat out the revolution at
North Island, about fiftcen miles away. Diaz abdicated and fled
to I'rance on May 4, 1911. Francisco Madcro succeeded him as
president and our job was ended before it started.

Back in Scattle, Washington, a happy event occurred in my
family life. My son, John Victor Smith, was born and I had time
to sce him through the toddling age before 1 was assigned once
again to the Philippincs, and later to sca duty on the USS Gal-
veston with the rank of First Licutenant. In the fiftcen months
with this cruiser I visited China and trained with the Marines at
Chicfoo, the American summner station on the Shantung Penin-
sula.

While I was in China watcers in 1914, World War I broke
out in ILurope and the Japanese attacked Kiaochow, the German
basc on the south coast of Shantung. 'Uhe base had been con-
structed over many years as one of the Kaiser's pet projects and
its powcerful 1o-inch guns, rising from almost impenetrable con-
crete walls, had given Kiaochow the reputation of impregnability.
The Japancse landed a few miles away up the coast in Septem-
ber, 1914, and took the fortress by flank attack just as they cap-
tured the great Singapore base from the British carly in 1942.

Upon returning to the United States in 1916, 1 found
trouble brewing in the Caribbean. A revolution had broken out
in Santo Domingo, where a procession of presidents had brought
no peacc and Desiderio Arias, War Minister, was the latest con-
tender for power, revolting against President Jimincz.

In the expeditionary force ordered to Santo Domingo to
“maintain order’—and that mecant suppressing the revolution—
I commanded the 8th Company, sth Marincs. A force of Marines
had already Janded at Monte Cristo, a small port on the north
coast, and, in modcrn patlance, had sccured a beachhcad with
somc opposition. We camec along later with orders to march—or
fight our way—south to Santiago de los Caballeros, a town sixty
miles inland.

This was my first amphibious landing. Sandy Dbeaches, shel-
tered by thick woods, strctched along the coast but we never
uscd them. Instead, we landed in ordinary ships’ boats at a small
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jctty outside the town. Only a poor dirt road ran inland to Santi-
ago, passing through heavily wooded country, and it took us
several days to reach our destination.

The rebels had dug deep trenches in the road to impede
our progress and when we passed these obstacles we had to re-
move trees cut down to block our march. The rebels kept up a
sharp fire from the woods. At one point, fire was so heavy that
I took a small party of Marincs and headed for the source. What
followed was the most dangerous incident in my lifc up to that
moment, almost as dangcrous as some experiences in the Pacific
when the Japanese were throwing cverything around. Our party
was cut oft and we found oursclves surrounded by about a hun-
dred Dominicans, who outnumbered us at least ten to one. We
had to fight our way out and only sound Marine training saved
our lives.

Once we reached Santiago the revolution ended and Arias
was defeated. American forces garrisoned the island and 1 was
given command of the Marine garrison at Puerto Plata, in the
southeastern corner of the island. Our action had assumed the
status of formal intcrvention. Dr. Henriquez y Carvajal was
elected president. Because he required American military strength
to maintain him in position, the Military Government of the
United States in Santo Domingo was cstablished on November
20, 1910.

The next few months were spent in routine garrison duty
but while I was at Pucrto Plata the news came through that the
United States had declared war on Gennany. One day [ received
a code message I was unable to decipher. The message came
from the USS Charleston, which was en route to Santo Do-
mingo, and was relayed from the ship to me at Pucrto Plata. My
commanding- officer also was unable to decode the message, so
it was forwarded to the headquarters of General John 1. Pendle-
ton, commandcr of the Marine Iixpeditionary Torce, at Santo
Domingo, the capital city now known as Ciudad T'rujillo.

Although I had no way of knowing it, I had a pretty good
idca that the message ordered me and iy company back to the
United States. While headquartters were decoding 1 ordered my
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first sergeant to pack up 8th Company and be prepared to move
at once. My guess was correct. It was war and we were ordered to
get ready to go to France. Never in my career did things move
so quickly as in the ncxt twenty-four hours. My relief arrived
from Santiago and when the Charleston, the ship that received
and relayed the message, reached Puerto Plata, I was packed up
and rcady to move on board with my company.

'The United States declared war on Germany on April 6,
1917. T'wo months later I was with the First Division en route to
France, where we landed at St. Nazaire on June 206, 1917. My
company was on board the USS Ilenderson on the transport’s
maiden voyage. As the Henderson sailed out of New York Ilarbor
the ship bringing my wife home from Santo Domingo entered.
She had been very ill when I left the island but I didn’t know
how desperate was her condition. She had been carried to the
coast on a truck, strapped to a stretcher, then rowed out two
miles to sea and slung aboard ship. Our baby was with ler.

Not until the following August did I learn that she had
undergone a scrious opcration and barely recovered. “Throughout
our married life, my wife has contrived to save me from the
knowledge of possible disaster until afterwards. With her, the
Marine Corps has come first, personal considerations sccond.
My transport passed her ship in New York’s lower bay as the
largest convoy that had ever left an American port sailed for
France.
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CHAPTER 111
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I 11E ATLANTIC can be very pleasant in Junc, and

it was on its best tourist behavior for the benefit of our convoy,
which took fourteen days to reach St. Nazaire from New York,
dodging Gennan submarines we never sighted. The trip on board
the USS Henderson gave me ample opportunity to review life
as it had unfolded behind me and to take stock of the unforesce-
able future.

I had been eleven years in the Marine Corps; cleven active,
exciting years that had taken me from Russcll County, Alabama,
half way across the world to the Philippines and China and back
again to the jungles of the Caribbean islands. Leaning on the
rail of the transport watching the green Atlantic swell, sur-
rounded by cruisers, destroyers and all the panoply of American
might on its first anned venture into the European sphere in
World War I, I began to realize that I was better fitted for serv-
ice lifc than for any other carecr.

Eleven years in Marine uniform had given me counfidence
in my own judgment and in my ability to deal with men and to
handle troops under fire. On the day we were trapped in the
Dominican jungle and fought our way out against dangerous
odds, I became a fatalist. I am not superstitious; the black magic
of the Haitian hills never intercsted me; but I have complete
faith in my own destiny. To me, France was just another tour
of duty.

Returning from Santo Domingo, my company was desig-
nated the 8th Machine Gun Company, attached to the 3rd
Battalion of the sth Regiment. I had been promoted to Captain
and my battalion commander was Lieutenant Colonel Charles
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T. Westcott, Jr. Commanding the sth Regiment was Colonel
Charles A. Doyen who, with his staff, was on the Ilenderson.
This regiment was the Marine contribution to the first Amecrican
expeditionary force.

Off the coast of France, the American escort turned us
over to I'rench destroyers, which took us into St. Nazaire with
an air cover of I'rench plancs. The entire coast was littered with
wreckage as we stcammed up the English Channel. Apparently,
the European battleficld ended only at the water’s edge.

“Vive I'Amerique!” roared the huge crowd waiting for us
in the French port. We were the first American troops to land
and the French went wild, as every man in the vanguard of the
Amecrican Expeditionary Force will remember.

My regiment went into camp outside St. Nazaire and later
moved up to a position in the French line. I got my first taste
of Irench Army life when 1 was sent to train with the 7oth
Battalion of Chasscurs—French light infantry. The American
soldat-marin evidently became popular. I was the first of our
Marines the French troops had cver scen, and cither my novelty
or camaraderie impressed them, for they honored me by making
me honorary private, first class, French Chasscurs, a rank I always
have been proud to hold. Many years afterwards, when 1 was a
Brigadier Genceral in the Marines, I was promoted to honorary
sergeant in the 3oth Battalion.

My stay with the Chasscurs was bricf. The American mili-
tary effort was expanding daily and I was seat back with my
company to St. Nazaire to help in the job of unloading trans-
ports which filled the harbor. When a regular port debarkation
staff was organized, 1 was withdrawn from this duty, detached
from the 3rd Battalion and ordered to the Anny General Staff
College, which had just been cstablished at Langres. 1 was the
only Marine officer to complete the first course and thenceforth
my sphere of activity broadencd.

The months that followed until the Armistice of November
11, 1918, were busy and significant. They were months of hard
work when fresh American strength was turning the tide for the
weary Allies, and American troops showed their caliber in some
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of the ficrcest battles of the war. 'The Marines did their share
and addcd luster to their reputation as fighting men.

By the addition of the 6th Regiment, the original Marine
contingent was incrcascd to a brigade and our official designation
became the 4th Marine Brigade, Second Division. Colonel Doyen
was promoted to Brigadier General and 1T was made Brigade
Adjutant. The Allics were fighting for their lives in the Verdun
scctor and along the Aisnc and the Marne against the massed
attacks of the Kaiser’s armics, which had been reinforced from
the Eastern IFront by the collapse of Russia.

Brigadicr General Doyen was relieved and was succeeded by
Brigadicr General James G. Iarbord. Major Harry 'I'. Lay rc-
placed mc as Brigade Adjutant and I was rctained on General
Harbord’s staff as administrative officer.

Harbord was onc of America’s great soldicrs. A veteran
cavalryman and a hard fighter who had risen from the rank of
private, he had been sclected by Pershing, another of the same
soldicrly breed, to come to I'rance as first Chicf of Staff of the
AEL. Subscquently, Pershing gave him our Marine Brigade (then
attached to the Army), a finc command, as the Commander-in-
Chicf explained, a reward for Harbord’s good work on the staff.
Harbord understood Marines and respected them. We recipro-
cated his feelings, with the result that the 2nd Division’s Atmny-
Marine tcam created by Harbord carricd out some of the most
distinguished combat operations of the first war. I always took
Harbord as a model, and was proud to cnjoy his good opinion.

After the battle of Bellcau Wood, the Anny claimed my
services from the Marines. In June, 1918, T was transferred to
the 1st Corps, First Ariny, and scrved as Assistant Operations
Officer in charge of communications in the Aisne-Marne scctor
and the great Allied offensives of St. Mihicl, the Oise, the Mcusc
and the Argonne.

Then came the Armistice and the march to the Rhine.
I'rom the First Anny I was transferred to the Third Army, also
as Assistant Operations Officer, and three wecks later T was offi-
cially dctailed to the Army General Staff, one of the few Marines
ever admitted to the rolls of this vaunted group. My only notable
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accomplishment with the Army of Occupation was at Coblenz,
where I graduated from the Anny School of Equitation among
cynical Army horsemen who thought that a Marine was a sailor
and couldn’t manage a horse. A

“All Marines are good riders,” 1 told them. “If you don’t
believe me, drop in at our equitation school at Quantico and we'll
show you our trophics.”

My rank was now Major and it was plain that a Marine’s
job on the Army staff was finished. 1 wanted desperately to go
home, so I started the channels humming but there didn’t secin
much hope of success, at Icast for some months. Too many other
men had the same idea.

My orders came through in March, 1919, and T went to
Paris, where one day I had a stroke of luck. I met Captain James
J. Raby, in command of a battleship, the USS Georgia, and I
shared with him iy nostalgic yearnings.

“Look here, Smith,” he said, when I had finished sobbing
my heart out, “I'm sailing for the States tomorrow from Brest.
If you can make it by sailing time, I'll give you the Admiral’s
cabin.”

Here was a chance I could not miss. The life of a lone
Marine, swamped by Army echelons, was getting me down now
that the fighting was over. Home ncver looked swecter and this
was a way to get there. I called on General Iarbord, iy former
chicf in the Fourth Brigade, now commanding the all-powerful
“SOS” or Service of Supply, and he expedited my orders. The
next day I was on board the Georgia. As I came up on deck with
the battleship hcading for Norfolk, I pulled off my spurs and
heaved them over the side. I was back with my own pcople, going
home.

I slipped into the United States as discrectly as possible be-
cause I needed a rest and wanted to scc my family at Phocenix-
ville. Time had passed so quickly in France that it hardly seemed
possible ncarly two years had clapsed since 1 had scen my wife
and our boy Victor. ‘I'hat Icave was a perfect domestic interlude
between my tours of duty.

With World War I degenerating into a battle around the
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peace table, my first assignment at home was to the Marine
Barracks at the Norfolk Navy Yard, where later I took charge of
the Officers’ School for Service Afloat. Despite its namc, this
didn’t mean going to sca. The school indoctrinated new Corps
officers in sea duties and naval practice and administration so that
they could march on board ship and feel as much at home as
naval ofhcers.

For some time, ideas had been slowly taking shape in my
mind on the changing concept of modern warfare and the new
role thus created for the Marines. My first big chance to develop
this line of thought came in December, 1920, when I was ordered
to the Naval War College at Newport, Rhode Island, with Major
Lauren S. (Pop) Willis, now Licutenant Colonel, Retired. Be-
tween fifty and sixty officers attended, ranging from Admirals
downward. A number of Army officers also were taking the
course, but Pop Willis and I were the only Marines. Naturally,
the two of us saw cye to cyc, particularly on matters rclating to
the Marinc Corps.

The reputation of the College is very high: through its
halls have passcd our greatest naval leaders. Traditionally, it has
molded American naval stratcgy and affected other spheres of
our national defense policy. As a laboratory of germinating idcas,
the College could be expected to exercise a profound influcnce
upon the approach to our war problems, yet I found it bogged
down in obsolescence. The lessons learned from World War |
appeared to point backward instead of forward and the mass of
pertinent, timely information furnished by the war just concluded
had been ignored in favor of long established principles which
a novice could see would never apply successfully to futurc
problems. Despite the war that drew the European and Asiatic
continents closcr to the United States, the thinking at the War
Collcge was as static as that of the I'rench when they built the
Maginot Line.

President of the College was Rear Admiral William S. Sims,
who was Amcrica’s Special Representative and Naval Observer
in Great Britain during the early years of World War 1 and
commandcd the U. S. Flect in European waters upon our decla-
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ration of war on Germany. e had been promoted to Admiral,
but after the war, in the middle of 1919, he was dctached from
his command and reverted to his former rank after appointment
to head the War College. Ilis Chief of Staff at the College was
Rear Admiral C. P. Plunkett, who was in command of American
railroad artillery in France when we mounted 14-inch ships’ guns
on spccially constructed cars and added mobility and power to
Allied artillery.

I have never met two men so utterly dissimilar in person-
ality, ideas and perception. Adiniral Sims was an old line sailor,
well salted in tradition, hidebound and inelastic in his belief in
naval sufficiency and supcriority. In his own particular ficld he
was a brilliant man. e had revolutionized naval gunnery and
put our flect on a higher level of cfficiency than ever before in
its history but lus perspective was completely and narrowly naval.

On the other hand, Rear Admiral Plunkett, who had seen
service ashore with land units, realized the limitations of naval
power. IHe could appreciate situations where naval power would
be important as it had been in the past but would not suffice. In
other words, a new type of warfare, definitely planned and cutting
through precedent by employing spccialized troops working with
the close support of the Navy but independent of the Navy.

The point at issue, which I introduced into all discussions,
was the employment of Marines in an amphibious form of war-
fare. Sims and Plunkett were diametrically opposcd in their ideas
on the subject. The senior Admiral—like many Navy ofhcers
before and since—insisted this was a function of Army troops
or blucjackets. The junior Admiral agreed with me that Marines
were the logical choice.

At the War College we studied naval plans tnvolving prob-
lems both in the Pacific and the Atlantic. We sclected islands
and continental bases and studied their assault operationally
from a naval viewpoint but it was my constant endeavor to write
into these opcrations a Marine plan of attack. This had never
been done before and I believed that the time had come when
the Navy should recognize this necessity.

Under the old Navy doctrine, a landing was a simple and
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haphazard affair, involving no planning and very little prepara-
tion. Assault forces were stowed in boats 5,000 yards off the
beach and given a pat on the back, with the hope that all would
go well. Warships threw a few shells into the beach and that was
all. Nobody took these landings scriously, because the mere
appearance of a large naval force off shore was supposed to inac-
tivate the encmy. Naturally, if an encmy fleet appeared, the Navy
would engage it, but this contingency always could be calculated
in advance and a safe supcriority of strength provided.

Most naval minds refused to contemplate the endless new
problems that must be solved to make a landing successful. It
scarcely occurrcd to them that the encmy might resist and fire
back, undaunted by the naval demonstration. Even the bitter
lessons the British learned at Gallipoli had little effect on the
War College.

Let us consider the primary conditions involved. No special
troops existed which had been trained for this task. Not a single
boat in the naval service was equipped for putting troops ashore
and retracting under its own power. The practice was to use
so-foot motor sailers, cramn them with Marines or bluejackets,
and tow additional men in ordinary ships’ boats. This method
restricted the choice of landing beaches, because the boats could
turn only in a wide circle and had difficulty getting back to their
mother ships after landing the men.

Determination to put my ideas across resulted in a long and
acrimonious struggle with the Navy. When [ voiced objections
to the accepted naval doctrine I was brushed off with the re-
minder that the Marines were only a sccondary branch of the
scrvice anyway. 'The Marines, it was conceded, could be employed
for landings chosen as the progress of operations dictated but
only when commanded by a naval officer and reinforced with
bluejackets.

To the men who captured the most heavily defended posi-
tions in the Pacific, this sounds fantastic, but it was the Sims doc-
trine at the War College when I was there. I1ad the controversy
remained on a purcly theoretical level, I would not have ob-
jected so strongly. But Sims had an unflattering opinion of the
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Marine Corps and was not hesitant in expressing it. Ile con-
sidered the Marines the lowest form of naval life, much inferior
to the lowest rating of bluejackets. He did not dismiss the Marines
as uscless. They could be employed on minor landings only in
cooperation with bluejackets, for Sims considered his men ca-
pable of performing their dutics as well ashore as they did afloat,
disregarding the fact that they were not trained for shore dutics.

The Marines came second in his thinking and he never
overlooked an opportunity to say so. Ile coldly dismissed them
as orderlies, messengers, drivers, naval guards on shore establish-
ments and suitable for employment on minor expeditionary
duties only. Borrowing his thinking from British Navy usage,
where Marines arc sometimes employed in this capacity, he also
considered us a lot of flunkics.

The truth is—and I sav this in all comradely respect for
the Royal Marines—the British Marine represents every adiniral’s
embodied ideal of the perfect Marine: hecl-clicking, loyal,
immaculately turned out, wise in his way like a graying family
retainer—and, like a family retainer, carefully restricted in latitude
of opinion and activity. 1Jow the Royal Marines reached their
present status is another story, and properly one for their own
chroniclers, but I must say that their present existence on suffer-
ancc and condition that they be limited to minor odd jobs,
custodial dutics and ceremonies, is a sad commentary on what
unthinking admirals and scheming generals can do to stop a
courageous corps from developing its own capabilities. It is only
good luck and the grace of God which has so far saved the U. S.
Marine Corps from a similar inter-service “bum’s rush”’—as a
leading member of Congress put it during the rccent merger
debates.

Sims’ viewpoint was a relic of the peculiar form of snobbery
regarding the Marines cominon in the Navy at that period and
occasionally surviving until the beginning of World War II. It
was the same spirit I encountered on board ship en route to
Nicaragua and it was dangerous because such a prejudice can
sway a man’s judgment. Sims could never see a fighting man in
a Marine.
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Naturally these slighting references annoyed Willis and me
and finally aroused my resentment. They did not, however, deter
me from my determination to push the Marine argument. I
knew my idcas on planned and supported landings were sound,
and an additional incentive to drive them home was the desire
to obtain the recognition of the Marine Corps as brothers in
arms with the other two branches of the fighting scrviccs.

Given the opportunity to plan and fight, the Marines werce
qualified by experience and training to undertake these special
landing tasks, for which the Navy was unfitted. When the big
opportunity did come in the Pacific the Marines demonstrably
proved their fitness. Back in 1920 the struggle for the acceptance
of these principles, for which I fought during the intervening
years and cven in the dark, early days of war with Japan, was only
just beginning.

Even at that time Marine planners had a far more realistic
view of amphibious probabilities thau the Navy. Sims’ insistence
on the employment of blucjackets dates back to old Navy days
when the men swarmed ashore with cutlasses and rifles and
bayonets, and the enemy automatically surrendered. The new
landing technique upon which we were working, and which was
absolutely essential to reduce Japanese positions in the Pacific,
emphasized the necessity for careful preparation, for communi-
cations, for logistics and closc support from naval ships to cover
the progress of the assault forces ashore.

I am no airman, but the widening scope and increasing
effectiveness of air power made me realize the value of this
weapon in the support of ground troops. 1 foresaw the day when
the Marines would land according to a coordinaled, carcfully
prepared plan of action, assisted by naval and air arms, and
assault strongly fortified positions with no possibility of failure
instead of going ashore in a haphazard, extemporaneous swarm,
trusting to hit or miss mcthods.

Here I ran hcad on into what happily is today discarded
naval doctrine. The use of warships in the way 1 advocated
brought strong objections. All arguments produced the same
answer: warships could not stand up to fire from heavier shore
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batteries and, simultaneously, engage in an effective bomnbard-
ment of shore positions. The advantage always lay with the
shore batterics.

In my efforts to write into these naval operation studies a
Marine plan of attack, I stresscd the need for heavy and con-
centrated support from naval gunfire, a subject I cannot refrain
from mentioning time and time again because of its vital bear-
ing on the success of amphibious warfarc. The original Navy re-
action was that such a proposal was impracticable. Warstips
would be required to carry two types of ammunition: high ex-
plosive for land bombardinent and armor-piercing for action
with an enciny flect. Such a double load would tax magazine
capacity.

This view had not been abandoned entircly twenty-three
years later at T'arawa, when indecision between the job in hand
and the anticipation of the Japancse Fleet resulted in ineffective
naval support for the Marines.

I had to mass all the argument and illustration I could to
overcomc thesc technical objections but I disposcd of them and
then progressed to the rcal battle—the status of the Marines in
amphibious opcrations.

“Holland, you'rc walking on eggst” warncd Pop Willis.
“Don’t ever forget that. We've gone a long way in getting the
Navy to sce things our way but don’t push them too hard.”

But I was a bad boy. I always have been a bad boy in inter-
Service arguments and I often ain amazed that I lasted so long
in the Marine Corps. In this instance, I knew my arguments
were sinking in and to have stopped fighting would have been
like quitting the beach when you're dug in.

"The Marine Corps at that time was so small that our troops
were insuflicient for a major landing, but at least the men we
had werc trained aud disciplined. Now, 1 have great admiration
for the Amecrican blucjacket. Ie is one of the finest sailors in
the world, but you can’t expect him to cxcel on board ship and
then go ashore as an cqually excellent infantryman. Most bluc-
jackets arc 11l trained in small arms and can use neither rifles nor
machine guns with efficiency. To throw them into a Marine
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force without adcquate training is dangerous. This statement
proved correct during the landing at Vera Cruz, Mexico, when
wild fire from the bluejackets killed as many Marines as did the
Mexicans.

In my defense of the Marines, I found an unexpectedly
staunch ally in Rear Admiral Plunkett. Plunkctt also was a
veteran sailor but had profited by his experience in land opera-
tions in I'rance with his railroad artillery. ITe was tough, too,
like a Marine. Plunkett had seen Marines in action in France
and knew what they could do.

One day during a discussion the dogmatic Sims remarked,
“Marinc officers arc not qualified by precept and military educa-
tion to command large forces in war. They are suitable for minor
operations but they cannot be entrusted with major operations.”

This smug dismissal made my blood boil, especially after
being in action in [France with the Marinces, but Plunkett came
to the rescue. “I'm afraid you're wrong there, sir,” he said. “In
France, Marine officers commanded divisions and brigades and
unquestionably proved their ability as leaders. The Sccond Divi-
sion was onc of the best outfits we sent over and the 4th Brigade
the equal of any brigade in the wholc war.”

Plunkett was referring to the Second Division commanded
by Major Gencral John A. Lejeune, subscquently Commandant
of the Corps, and the 4th Brigade, commanded by Brigadicr
General Wendell C. Neville, also Commandant in later years.
We both had seen these Marinces in action against the Germans,
who were acclaimed the world’s best soldiers.

To any fair-minded person, the Marine record in France
spoke for itself, but an Army representative at the College shared
Sims’ view. Strangely enough, although Marines are part of the
Naval establishment and family, this similarity of viewpoint by
Army and Navy brass is often found when Marines are involved,
and persists to this day, even in the so-called amphibious scc-
tions of the Navy Departinent, where the smooth counscls of
Aty “cxperts” will often override the more blunt but down-to-
carth views of Marinc advisers.

I realized my proposal hit not only at established policy but
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at naval tradition. Never in the long history of the Marine
Corps had a Marine commanded an operation. Command had
always becen given to a naval officer. My contention was that
naval officers, while fully qualificd to fight at sea, were not
traincd to command troops ashore, a task that required intimate
knowledge of the intricacies of land warfare. Not only was 1
pressing for acceptance of new mihtary principles but also for
recognition of the ability of the Marines, as an independent and
co-equal branch of the service, to command operations on the
beach.

In spite of the Sims doctrine, 1 felt T had made a favorable
impression on the War College. The principle of Marine partici-
pation on equal terms had never been recognized before. Most
naval officers were incapable of envisioning a large Marine force
operating without naval guidance, although the history of
the Pacific campaign subsequently showed how shortsighted
they were. I won my point. I'or the first time, within my knowl-
cdge, a complete plan for the employment of Marincs ashore
under their own command was written into a naval operation,
and I am proud that I wrote it!

The plan itsclf was a departure from ordinary naval tech-
niquc. On a higher plane was the satisfaction the Marines gained.
From that day forward, the status of the Corps improved and
we were no longer regarded as a “sccondary force.”

Perhaps it was the outspoken advocacy of Marine doctrines
at the Naval War College that was responsible, after the com-
pletion of the course, for my transfer to the Washington Office
of Naval Operations, War Plans Department, and my appoint-
ment to the Joint Army-Navy Planning Committee. ‘I'his was in
November, 1921, and for the next cighteen months T was the
first and only Marine to serve on the Committee. It was a great
honor. I was a Major and junior officer on the Commitice but
I considered the appointment a tribute to the Corps. At long
last our ideas were penctrating the thick upper crust of what we
in the Corps considered the obsolescent overlay of national
defense policy.

The Committee was headed by the Army Chicf of Staff and
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the Chict of Naval Operations and members, drawn from their
staffs, were: Army: Colonel Edgar T Collins, Colonel John L. De
Witt, Licutenant Colonel John W. Gulick and Major John
J. Kinginan. Navy: Captain Luther M. Overstrect, Captain Sin-
clair Gannon, Commander Gilbert Rowcliffe, Commander Wil-
son Brown, Commander Russcll Willson and mysclf. The
Marines definitely had sccured a beachhead in high defense
councils.

In 1923, our insistence on intensive training of the Marines
in their new role led us to look around for suitable training sites.
Nothing on the coast of the United States offered the conditions
we nceded. The solution to our problem was found in the Car-
ribcan, where the terrain approximates that of Japancse islands
beyond IHawaii.

I was assigned to find the neccssary areas and I was happy
to sce our idcas begin to take on reality. T'wo areas were sclected
on the Puerto Rican islands of Vicques and Culebra. Vicques is
nine milcs off the cast coast of Puerto Rico and has an area of
fifty-seven square miles, largely lowland, with a small range of
hills running down the center. Culcbra, cight miles north of
Vieques, has an arca of eleven square miles—slightly larger than
Iwo Jima. I rented the whole of Culebra and suitable beach
territory on the arid, sandy castern tip of Vieques. Owners were
pleased to rent land to the U. S. Government, and I arranged
yearly tenancics based on local conditions. Marines still go down
to Culebra for training but the government pays only for the
period we actually use the land. These arcas fell into disuse dur-
ing the war while we were using the beaches of Hawaii.

After sclecting the arcas and arranging the financial details
I went to Panama and reported to Adwmiral Robert E. Coontz,
Commander-in-Chicf, U. S. Flect, and rcturned with liim on
the USS Seattle to inspect the sites and get his approval. There-
after, we had modified terrain needed for specialized amphibious
training and for the development of new amphibious weapons.

The two islands are tropical and the beaches suitable for
landing purposes. There is little coral but otherwise conditions
are very similar to the Pacific. We didn’t require any permanent
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installations beyond the airfield we built on Culebra. As training
simulated actual combat, we put up tents instead of barracks.
The men received useful embarkation and debarking practice,
leaving their home bases in the United States in transports and
unloading at Culcbra and Viequcs, under physical conditions not
greatly different from the real thing, These two islands played a
vital part in preparing the Marines for the Pacific.

About this time the Marine Corps was baflled by a mystery
that was the rumble of a distant gun in my cars. One of our most
brilliant strategists was Licutenant Colonel Earl I1. (Pete) Ellis,
with whom I had served with the 4th Brigade in I'rance. Like
mysclf, Pete returned to the United States with forebodings and
directed his analytical attention to the Pacific, where Japan was
fortifying her mandated islands.

The product of his studics was onc of the most prophetic
war plans ever drafted, based on the anticipation of a acific
conflict. Tt was Wellsian in its grasp of the shape of things to
come and many of its salicnt points served as a blueprint for the
actual campaign after Pearl Harbor.

As an example of his calculations, in 1923 Pcte Flhis pre-
dicted that only onc reinforced regiment would be needed to
capture Eniwetok atoll in the Marshalls, now one of our atomic
experimentation bases. Only one reinforced regiment—the 22nd
Marines—was used when we took Isniwetok in 1944.

Pete Ellis’ plan illustrated the close attention Marine plan-
ners were devoting to the Pacific. To test the soundness of his
views, he obtained “lcave” and roained around the Pacific among
the former German islands to which the Japanese denied access
to other nationals. e succeeded in getting ashore at Palay, in
the Carolines, but there he “disappeared.” We never learned the
manucr of his death. The Japancse gave out the story that he
drank himsclf to death and they probably were right: concciva-
bly, he was poisoned because the Japanese knew his purpose.

The mystery of Ellis” death deepened when a young chicf
pharmacist’s mate from the U. S. Naval Tlospital in Yokohama
voluntecred to go to Palau and recover the body. Tle cremated
the body but returned to Yokohama a mental case, unable to
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give a coherent story of his trip or any intelligent information
about Ellis. His condition improved, and it seemed possible he
would regain enough mental cquilibrium to tell his story, but
both he and his wifc died in the ruins when the 1923 Japanese
carthquake demolished the hospital.

Onc thing the Japanese could not kill was the spirit of in-
quiry that led Pete Ellis to sacrifice bis life, although not all
Marinc thinking was as advanced as his. Assigned in 1926 to the
ficld officers” course at the Marine Corps School, 1 was appalled
to encountcer there almost the same degree of outmoded military
thought as I had found at the Naval War College.

The school was commanded by Coloncel Robert 11, Dunlap,
with Major W. W, Buckley as Chicf of Staft. Most of the offi-
cers on the staff had no battle experience. 'They were execllent
theorists, could quote chapter and verse, but had never been in
action and thercfore could not handle situations which refused
to squarc with theory. 'They were on the conservative side, no
morc capable of grasping reality than some of the officers at the
Naval War College, and still floundered among the outdated
doctrines of World War L.

From the first day of the course, I found mysclf deep in
diflicultics because I objected to the emphasis placed upon de-
fensive tactics. ‘The mission of the Marine Corps is primarily
offensive. Any other role deprives us of our cffectivencss. TFor a
small, well trained force, capable of great mobility, the best cm-
ployment is offensive, not defensive. "T'his is a sound military
principle.

At the Marine School in Quantico, as well as at the Army
Schiool in Leavenworth, the classroom strategists preached that
the principles of altack were confined to a superiority of num-
bers, which is contrary to the opinion of the world’s greatest
soldicrs. Mobile, well trained troops, imbucd with esprit de corps,
should not be confined to a defensive position if there is the
possibility of a successful offensive.

Napolcon proved this a century ago. e fought most of his
battles with numcrically inferior forces but Iie moved them so
rapidly and used them so boldly that he compensated for this
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initial handicap. One of his greatest maxims was, “The art of
war (with inferior forces) consists in having larger forces than
the enemy at the point of attack or defense.” Stonewall Jackson
could not have succeeded had he fought his battles on the theory
that he must have numerical superiority before he attacked.

I completed the course, but so wide was the divergence be-
tween workable theory and fact that I almost flunked communi-
cations. In France I wrote every plan of communications for the
First Army Corps and my plans worked successfully in the un-
certainties and changing conditions of battle. IFor this service I
received the Meritorious Service Citation from General Pershing.
At school 1 had trouble in obtaining a satisfactory mark in com-
munications. The staff was dealing in textbooks and my experi-
ence had been in the practical problems of maintaining com-
munications under fire. Textbooks proved far more formidable
than combat obstacles.

I had two reasons for spending the next four years as Post
Quartermaster at the Marine Barracks in the Philadelphia Navy
Yard. First, I wanted to send my son to the Penn Charter School
in the Quaker City, which enjoyed a high reputation both for
scholarship and character building. Secondly, I was eager to learn
something about logistics—the military science of transport and
supply—to round out my background for the war I knew was
coming. -
A Quartermaster’s job isn’t very exciting but these four years
proved invaluable to me. They gave me an insight into the great
problems of equipping an army, problems that magnified in
scope when we had to assault islands thousands of miles from
our bases. At Philadelphia I learned, as I never learned before,
the complicated system of planned supplies, food, clothing,
ammunition, equipment—from gas masks to shovels—all wrapped
up in that comprehensive word logistics. This expericnce helped
strengthen my insistence on planning as the basis of amphibious
warfare.

We still lacked equipment. I got a pretty good illustration
of our deficiencies in 1932 when I went to sea again as Battle
IForce Marine Officer. I was transferred to the USS California
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as FMo on the staff of the Commander Battle Force, U. S. IFlect.
Our home station was Long Beach, California. Incidentally, in
two years I had the unique experience of serving under four four-
star Admirals. They were Admirals Frank H. Schofield, Richard
H. Leigh, Luke McNamee and William H. Standley.

That year we held combined exercises off the coast of Oahuy,
the main Hawaiian island on which Honolulu stands. Joint Army
and Navy exercises on a smaller scale had been held off Hawaii
before and the 1925 operations actually were based upon Galli-
‘poli and its related problems, but in 1932 we were engaged in the
first large scale operation held so close to Japanese bases. It was
a test of our strength and of our knowledge of amphibious war-
fare, with Japan actually in mind. A lot of big brass came along
to watch the show.

Supported by the Fleet, the Marines went ashore, waded
through the surf, secured a beachhead and carried out all the de-
tails of the plan. But what a dismal exhibition! I realized that we
had a great deal to learn before we approached anything like
efficicncy in amphibious warfare.

The Marines landed in standard ships’ boats, which were
unsuitable for crossing reefs and riding the surf. It was obvious
that our clementary need was more efficient landing craft, a re-
tractable type that could get in and out of the surf. Moreover,
we didn’t have sufficient boats to get enough men ashore at one
time to constitute an effective assault force. So small was tne
number of men we were able to land that the suppositional
enemy would have wiped us out in'a few minutes.

The Oahu operation revealed our total lack of equipment
for such an undertaking, our inadequate training, and the lack of
coordination between the assault forces and the simulated naval
gunfire and air protection.

“If the Japs had been holding that island, we couldn’t have
captured it,” I told mysclf. “In fact, we couldn’t have landed at
all.” I realized how badly prepared we were and how urgent was
our need for further study and improvement of our methods.
The doctrine of amphibious warfare was still in the theorctical
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Major General Jobn I. Russell, Commandant of the Marine
~ Corps at that time, was keenly alive to the realitics of the situa-
tion. In the autumn of 1933, he produced a solution to our or-
ganizational problem by fathering the idca, which the Chicf of
Naval Opcrations approved, of the Flect Marine FForce. The crea-
.tion of the FMr was the most important advance in the history
of the Cotps, for it firmly established the Marine Corps as a part
of the regular organization of the U. S. Ileet, available for opcra-
tions with the IFlect ashore or alloat.

I shall deal later with the history of the rmr, Pacific, which
I commanded during World War 11, but at the present stage
the FMmr can be best described by quoting Navy Department
Order 245, dated November 27, 1946, which states:

A fleet marine force is dehined as a balanced force of land, air
and service elements of the U. S. Marine Corps which is integral
with the U. S. Pacific and/or Atlantic Fleet. It has the status of
a full type command and is organized, traincd and equipped for
the seizure or defense of advance naval bascs and for the conduct
of limited amphibious or land opcrations essential to the prosc-
cution of a naval campaign.

In a nutshell, everything we had striven for was realized in
its creation—recognition, independent command ashore, special-
ized dutics. For the first time, a permancnt organization for the
study and practice of amphibious warfarc was brought into exist-
cnce. The force comprised only 3,000 officers and men in the be-
ginning, with the major clements stationed at Quantico. When
I commanded the vmr, Pacific, it was 204,565 strong and its
creation paid off during the war,

A year after the birth of the rmr its code for living was
written. On General Russell’s direction, the new doctrine of
landing operations—the Marine Corps School “I'entative Land-
ing Operations Manual”—was formulated, and it has governed
the conduct of cvery amphibious excrcise and cimpaign since
1935, mcludlug the war from North Africa to Okinawa. FThe
Navy manual in use up to that datc had been a dead letter for
thirty years and bore no relation to modern conditions.

Completed in 1934, after years of intense study by Marine
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officers, “Tentative Landing Operations Manual” broke ground
for a new science in the realin of warfare, a means for carrying
an assault from the sca directly into the tceth of the most
strongly dcfended shore. By 1938, after the I'lect Marine IForce
had thoroughly tested these doctrines, the Navy adopted the en-
tire “Tentative” mauual, put a new cover on it, and re-issucd it
to the Scrvice under title of “rrr-167, Landing Operations Doc-
trine, U. S. Navy.” Thrce years later still, in 1941, when the Army
suddenly realized that the forthcoming war must of necessity be
amphibious, General Marshall in turn adopted the “Navy” text
of rrp-1067, put it between Army covers as “Ficld Manual 31-5,”
and promulgated it to the Army as their own doctrine on landing
operations. "I'he foreword to Fm 31-5, however, does state that it
was taken en bloc from Frp-167—which is perhaps as good a way
as any for the Army to admit that, seven years after Marine Corps
Schools had definitively covered a subject, the War Department
General Staff was now foreed to copy verbatim what Marines had
long ago originated.

An inlcresting footnote to the Marine Corps School's
manual is that it was based almost cntirely on failures. The entire
previous record of amphibious warfare had been spotted with
fiasco and disaster, culminating in Gallipoli, during World
War [, which convinced most professional heavy thinkers that
assault of a defended beach was another of the “impossibilitics.”
In spite of all this, however, our officers went to work on what
they could find, dissecting every failure and locating the weak
spots and failurc-factors. After almost fifteen years of trouble-
shooting and expcrimentation, in 1934 they could write the
“T'entative Landing Opcrations Manual” with confidence. It
demonstrates the caliber of their work that those 1934 doctrines
not only carricd us through Tarawa, Normandy and lwo Jima,
but still stind, to this very day, as the basic amphibious mecthods
of the United States.

Passage of a badly needed Sclection Bill also helped stream-
line the Corps. This too was inspired by General Russcll and, in
my mind, did more for the Marines than any other legislative
act. The Corps was overloaded with officers who had been pro-
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moted by seniority. Many were too old for their grades and others
were non-progressive and out of line with the new trend of
Marinc thought. 'The Sclection Bill made possible a clean sweep
of the higher ranks and prepared the way for a healthy list of
promotions in which merit was recognized.

During this period I could not keep my eyes off Japan. The
ominous portents became clearer when I served as Chicf of Staff
to the Dcpartment of the Pacific in 1935. Japan had invaded
the Asiatic mainland and overrun Manchuria into North China.
I'rom my post in San Francisco, I observed the huge cargoces of
scrap iron and oil going from West Coast ports to Japan. The
war in China did not require such preparations. The stockpile
was being built for war against the United States.

I wrote to General Russell insisting that cvery cffort should
be made to intensify our training program in amphibious war-
farc and to modernize our equipment. The Japanese, I pointed
out, had attaincd a high degree of cfficiency in this particular
type of warfare along the coasts and rivers of China.

During World War II at Saipan, I read a monitored broad-
cast in which Tojo and Company complained bitterly that we had
copied the technique of amphibious warfare from Japan, cven to
landing boats and cquipment.

My letters to the Commandant served. their purpose and
accorded with the widening conviction in Marine Corps councils
of the nearncss of war and the nccessity for accelerating our pro-
gram. The strength of the Corps at this period was 1,224 officers
and 16,014 men, limited by Congressional action to twenty per-
cent of the strength of the Navy.

Out of a blue sky in March, 1937, came orders transferring
me to Marine Headquarters in Washington and later to thc post
of assistant to the new Commandant, Major General ‘Thomas
Holcomb. I was now a Colonel but I had never served with Gen-
eral Ilolcomb before, except in the same brigade in Irance,
where he was battalion commander and afterwards regimental
commander.

My furst post in Washington was Director of Opcrations and
Training. I now was in a position to supervise the building of a
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modern amphibious force along the lines we had developed for
years and to obtain the neccssary equipment to insure its succcss.
The amphibious force was the Marinc answer to the new concept
of war being accepted by the world and the Marines were in train-
ing on both the Atlantic and the Pacific coasts to emphasize that
answecr.

We didn’t have long to wait. The Nazis marched into
Poland. On September 3, 1939, Great Britain and France de-
clared war on Germany. The United States had been in World
War I and it was my honest belicf that we could not stay out
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IIIE OUTBREAK of war in Europe causcd httle

surprise in Washington military and naval circles. For months
the signs had been plain to read. The only question in my mind
was: Ilow long will it be before the United States gets into the
war? We were drawn into World War I, and it scemed incvitable
that we would be involved in World War 11, first in Europe and
ultimately in the Pacific, if and when Japan joined the Axis and
started casting covctous cycs across the Pacific after she was
firmly established on the Asiatic mainland. T'he stockpiles I had
obscrved being accumulated on the West Coast for shipment to
Japan could have only one purpose.

Nobody could honestly say that in Washington we did not
appreciate the danger of the situation. The prospect of this
country’s being involved in the Iluropcan war was readily ad-
mitted but, ironically, there was little realization of the nccessity
for full preparations for that war. It was another casc of cvery-
body knowing what was going to happen but nobody doing
much about it.

Irankly, we were not prepared for war—not by a long shot.
The armed scrvices had long been starved for funds and the
country’s defenses were operating on a shocstring because the
Army, Navy and Marine Corps were hogticd and hobbled by the
insane refusal of the American people cven to consider the
possibility of having to fight another war. We, as a grateful
people, build magnificent memorials to our war dead but we be-
grudge spending a nickel for defenses strong cnough to insure
that we shall have no more dead herocs.

I'roof of the common attitude toward our defense needs
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came in 1938 when Rear Admiral Arthur J. Hepbum was ap-
pointed by Congress to head a board to study and recommend
additional naval bases in the Atlantic and the Pacific. Congress
then proceeded to wreck the report by rejecting, among other
things, a plan for fortifying Guam, the Mid-Pacific island that
was to cost us 7,90z casualtics, dead and wounded, to rccap-
ture.

Rear Admiral Joseph K. Taussig appeared before a Congres-
sional committee and predicted a war with Japan as the basis
for the Navy’s nceds for additional facilitics. So horrificd was
official and public reaction to his frank speaking that, as a reward
for his patriotic services, Taussig was threatencd with a court mar-
tial and transfer to inactive duty. Such was the American ostrich
that required a Pcarl Iarbor to blast its head out of the sand.
Unfortunatcly, the explosion came ton late to save the Pacific
Flect.

In addition to public inertia, the Marine Corps had its own
troubles, not stemming from lack of foresight or inability to
assess military neccessities. Despite ample waring, it was not until
the fall of 1942, three years after the Nazis marched into Poland
and ninc months after the Japancsc attacked Pearl Narbor, that
we were able to place a fully tramced but only partially equipped
Marine division in the ficld although we had two divisions or-
ganized.

The Marine Corps has always suflered from the difficulties
inherent in a younger brother relationship; a small unit attached
to a large force like the Navy which, crippled by its own mecager
appropriations, tossed us the crinbs. '} his scant ration was not
always doled out intelligently or sympathetically.

Let me explain to the reader our re ationship with the Navy.
Although Marines primarnily are land troops and perform most
dutics ashore, we are part of the naval cstablishment. We have
our own Commandant but opcrationally we are commanded by
the Commander-in-Chief of the U. § Fleet in the particular
theater where we are serving. We derive vur being from the Navy.
All Marine procurements come through the Navy. A Navy
Budget Officer scrutinizes and passes o1 rejects all recommenda-
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tions. This officer is generally a senior captain, frequently a com-
petent sailor familiar with his duties on board ship but certainly
not qualified to pass on equipment and supplics needed for an
amphibious force like the Marines.

I have objected to this Navy Budget Officer systen for years.
Surely a sclf-contained force like the Marine Corps, which can
be trusted to conduct a war ashore, also can be trusted to budget
for its own needs. We could do it more efficiently than the Navy
because we know what we want. I'he Navy has its own particular
supply problems to handle. Iowever, this is the system and it
survives to this very day. The Marines cannot obtain the most
insignificant item without naval approval. Every pair of socks,
every pair of shoes, cvery undershirt, every round of ammunition,
every gun, every tank must be passed on by the Budget Officer,
whose mind is thousands of milcs away with a broad deck under
his feet, the rolling ocean around him, and an efficicnt executive
officer to run his ship.

As Director of Operations and Training in Washington, 1
included in onc of our appropriations schedules an item for half
a dozen artillery trucks to haul ammunition. The Budget Officer
at that time was a captain who later achicved dubious renown
at Pcarl Harbor. When lis eye encountered this item he paused
and asked, “Why don’t you do like the Atmy and use mnules and
wagons to haul ammunition?”

I choked back the obvious riposte, “There are enough
jackasses in the Navy to do the pulling but where would we get
the wagons?”

On the credit side of our budgctary mcthods—and whether
it stems from the Navy or Marine Corps, I don’t know—it is a
matter of record that, dollar for dollar, the taxpayer derives more
return fromn his Marine Corps than from any other anmed scrvice.
In 1940, for examnple, we had the world’s premier Marine Corps,
which cost the country approximately $1,800.00 per individual
Marine, whereas we then had the world’s cighteenth army, at a
cost of almost twice as much per soldier. In all fairness, it must
be added that an army is bound to be somewhat more cxpensive,
because as you get increased size, you lose efficiency and accumnu-
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latc overhead. If in no other sense, though, the Marine Corps
will continue to be a national asset simply as a yardstick to cn-
able the public to assess the efficiency (both professional and
budgetary) of the Anny.

On my way down to Culebra in the spring of 1940, mulling
over the responsibilities of new dutics assigned me in the West
Indies, I often thought of that horsc-and-wagon budgetcer. His
remark was a cross section of official thought and typical of the
obstacles which Marines constantly met in Washington. Such an
attitude was incredible, but there it was in the full flower of
obtuseness.

At that time I was in command of the 1st Marine Brigade,
I'lect Marine Force, with headquarters at Quantico, Virginia. Be-
fore lcaving the West Coast for Marine Headquarters in Wash-
ington, Major Gencral Holcomb, our Commandant, promiscd
me that I would be with him only two years. 1 was not, and
never have been, attracted to an office job. Active ficld duty is
my meat and drink. As it happened, however, instcad of two
years [ actually served thirty months in Washington before 1
was given brigade command.

The 1st Marine Brigade, with the 1st Marine Air Group
attached, was the landing force in I'lcct Landing Exercises No. 6,
or Ilex-6 as it was officially truncated—the sixth of a scrics of
maneuvers held annually in the Caribbean or on the West Coast
to test the progress of amphibious training.

For six ycars we had been putting into practice the new
Marine doctrine but still lacked adequate equipment. Starved
for funds, the Marine Equipinent Board had done its best with
the means available, and at Culcbra we had made a numbcer of
practice landings in boats provided by our antiquated Burcau of
Ships, which could do no better than furnish us with outmoded
tank lighters, non-propelled artillery lighters and useless per-
sonnel landing craft. We did not possess a single ramp boat,
although the Japancse had been using ramp boats in China for
years. Lack of proper transports, shortage of personnel and a lim-
ited production schedule for new weapons also hampered us
while the ships nceded by the Atlantic Fleet for the 1940 ncu-
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trality patrols reduced the strength of the naval units participat-
ing in the landings.

Neverthcless, the 1940 excrcise was the most advanced and
realistic attempted to date. The outbreak of war in Europe had
quickened the tempo of training and as T regarded Japan as our
official ecncmy, IFlex 6 assumed for e a new significance. 1 had
to fight official apathy and lack of imagination in Washington
to put my ideas across. I'ew of the top brass could visualize the
coral islands leading to Japan and the form of warfare the Marines
would have to fight to capture them.

Rear Admiral Hayne Ellis, Commander, Atlantic Fleet,
commanded the “Farragut Attack Force”—so called—which in-
cluded Battleship Division Five, comprising the old BBs Texas,
Arkansas and Wyoming; Cruiser Division Scven less onc ship;
Dcstroyer Sqmdron Ten; Submarine Division Eleven and a

“transport” group. I quote transport because, in reality, we had
no transports. This group comprised the old battleship Wyoming,
the supply ship Capella and one “APD,” a World War I four-
stack destroyer converted into a troop transport.

We cmbarked at Quantico and Norfolk aboard any ship
available, taking with us 1,000 tons of supplies distributed
throughout the fleet. The total Marine landing force was ap-
proximatcly 3,000 men, considerably less than a full brigade al-
though we called ourselves a brigade. I had two battalions of in-
fantry, a siall battalion of artillery, a small engincer company, a
small signal company, a small supply company and five light
tanks whose armor was so thin that one clout from a claw ham-
mer would dent it.

Thesc five-ton tanks had been built experimentally with the
claim that they particularly fitted Marine requircinents. This
claim was highly exaggerated. 'The tanks were fast, but after each
operation the temperamental vehicles had to go back to the
shop for repairs. The only way we could express our appreciation
was to name them after the man who authorized them—Admiral
Harold R. (Betty) Stark, Chief of Naval Operations at the time.
Our Bettys were mechanical misfits, but they were better than
nothing.
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During the three landing operations comprising I'lex 6, we
held training and field exercises ashore on Culebra, the island I
had last seen when I rented it for Marine training in 1923. On
the south coast of Culebra is the little village of Dewey, named
after the Spanish-American War hero, but the island is sparscly
populated. It is hilly, with deep valleys and plenty of scrubby
trecs and tall grass for cattle fodder. Culebra has no fresh water.
Rain water was collected in great concrete catchment basins and
when this natural supply failed we brought fresh water in barges
over from Pucrto Rico, a few miles across the straits.

We landed our heavy supplics at Dewey’s small picr while
the men ran their boats up on the beach and got their fust taste
of island landing. It was a dcceptively mild prelude to the assaults
made in war. We made camp in tents and I established my head-
quarters in a small frame building near the airficld in the center
of the island, wherc the 1st Marine Air Group was stationed.

On my staff at this time were men who subsequently linked
their fortunes with mine in the Pacific and served with distinction
throughout the war. My chicf of staff was Colonel Julim C.
Smith, later Commanding General of the Sccond Division at
Tarawa. My G-1 was Licutenant Colonel John 1. Selden; G-z,
Lieutenant Coloncl A. D. Challacombe; G-3, Licutenant Colonel
David R. Nummer, later Commanding General, 11T Amphibious
Corps Artillery, and G-4, Licutenant Colonel George R. Rowan.
The Brigade Surgcon was Commander Warwick ‘T, Brown, USN.

We were fortunate in having a man like Rear Admiral Ellis
in command. He had considerable expericnce in training Marinces
for landing operations and enjoyed the respect and admiration
of officers and men. He rendered us every possible assistance, was
sympathctic to our shortcomings and placed at our disposal
every facility his limited force could supply. Morcover, he lacked
that bombastic pomposity too often found in certain naval ofhi-
cers who attempt to assume responsibility over matters with
which they are not familiar.

Contrasting unplecasantly with Ilayne LEllis’ forcbearance
and understanding of Marine problems was an experience 1 had
with the chicf of staff of another admiral during mancuvers. 1
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was testing radio telephone communications between ship and
shore and sent a trick message designed plonetically for audi-
bility and clarity, accepted as perfectly scusible by communica-
tions men although it sounds childish to the uninitiated.

This was the message: “I now can see twenty-nine men
under a trec.” The test was routine, everything checked and 1
forgot about it until I was back on ship that night. There I was
promptly taken to task by the chicf of staff for sending what he
called “a silly, unmilitary message” and wasting the time of his
communications officer.

Three landings in I'lex 6 were held between February 15
and March 8 on Culcbra and the ncighboring island of Vicques.
Included was a night landing from rubber boats. Introducing
reality, we used submarines for reconnaissance missions and for
landing scouts, and we constructed underwater defenses to ob-
struct access to the beaches. Naval gunfire covered shore opera-
tions and the training emphasized control of fire and the capabili-
ties of different types of ammunition on targets to be expected
in war.

Before passing to an analysis of Ilex 6, which was the turn-
ing point in our amphibious outlook, let me give the reader a
tabloid of an amphibious landing from ship to shore. IFrom
transports at a point off the enemy coast, men and equipment
are loaded into boats, organized into waves and sent to the
beach at intervals to capture the objective, which in war alrcady
has been subjccted to intense preliminary naval bombardment
and air attack in order to neutralize or reduce opposition to the
assault forces. This sounds simple enough but the loading of the
boats, the formation of the assault waves, the timing of the
waves, the overhead protection by airplanes and the supporting
fire from warships must be co-ordinated to the nth degree.

All possible information regarding the beach and the arca
beyond the beach must be obtained. This is done by study of
maps, charts and air photographs, reconnaissance of scouts landed
at night, and even by survey of the coral floor by underwater
demolition teams of expert swimmers. Until the assault forces
hit the beach, command is in the hands of the Navy. Once
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ashore, command passes to the Army or Marine shore com-
mander.

Obviously, plans must be clastic in the cvent they are dis-
arranged by the unexpected strength of enemy resistance, gun-
firc and mines, boats breaking down, adverse tides, high surf, bad
weather and other unpredictable contingencies. In principle, how-
ever, an amphibious operation is the same for a company of a
hundred men as it is for a corps of thousands. 'The Marines fol-
lowed this pattern from Guadalcanal to Iwo jima.

After the Dbasic exercise at Culebra, we rcturned to Quan-
tico with a far clearer picture of our neceds. Despite deficiencics
in matériel, 1 felt that Flex 6 showed we had made tremendous
progress and that both Navy and Marines were indoctrinated in
the principles involved in the new science of warfare.

The chicf deficiencies were technical and quantitative. We
still did not have cnough landing boats of the right kind. We
nceded more boats capable of retracting after debarking their
passengers. During I'lex 6, we tested twenty-five special landing
craft of three different types, as well as new tank and artillery
lighters, with varying results.

In general, operations were confined to the use of ordinary
ship’s motor boats totally unsuited for work in the surf, which
runs as high as six and eight fect at Culebra. ‘The only way thesce
boats could be handled was to head them for the beach until
they almost touched bottomn and then drop a stern anchor until
the men could pile overboard. T'his way the troops got soaked to
the armpits. Not particularly objectionable in warm weather,
this saturation is very uncomfortable in cold weather. It also wets
all equipment, fills the men’s shoes with sand and makes march-
ing difficult ashore. At Culebra, landing waves were disorganized
when anchors were fouled and boats swamped in the surf.

For years the Marine Corps had been trying to securc proper
boats but we got neither adequate appropriations to build them
oursclves nor enthusiastic support from the outmoded Burcau
of Ships, whose job it should have been to provide us with the
craft. FFor IFlex 6 the Burcau provided a dozen boats copicd from
the typc used by Cape Cod fishermen, with modifications. These
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quaint modecls might stock the New England fish markets but
they were unsuitable for assault landing purposes. Eight landing
skiffs from the Burcau were no better. Two Navy tank lighters
proved mechanical handicaps, almost denying us the use of our
precious five tanks. They would have got us nowhere in combat,
except killed, since they habitually functioned on only onc of
two cngines.

So much for the debit side of the boat account. On the
credit side was the first appearance of the prototype of the
Higgins boat—the craft that, in my opinion, did more to help
win the war in the Pacific than any other single picce of equip-
ment. In the pages of this book I shall have a great deal more to
say about the iggins boat because without it our landings on
Japanese-held beaches in large numbers would have been un-
thinkable.

Basically, the original 1liggins boat used at Culebra, which
was called the Eureka, resembled the modified model used suc-
cessfully in the Pacific, North Africa, Sicily, Italy, Normandy
and cvery other theater; mother and father of the Leve (Landing
Craft Vehicle Personnel) the standard landing craft, and a big
and diversified family of rc’s. Andrew Higgins told me he de-
veloped the boat in 1920 for use in the shallow waters of the Mis-
sissippi River and along the Gulf Coast, where it could run its
bow up on river and bayou banks and back off casily. We did
not get it until fourteen years later, but it was thie same shallow-
draft type with a tunnel stern that could nosc up on the beach
and retract. ‘It suffered one defect, which wasn’t remedied until
later. The boat had no ramp that could be lowered, permitting
the men to debark dircctly on the beach instead of jumping over
the side.

The Marine Equipment Board had obtained five Eurckas,
which proved their superiority on the Culebra beaches that
spring. Not only did these boats mark a definite advance in land-
ing facilitics but I could sce in their improvement and modifica-
tion an answer to the Marinc prayer—a rctractable, shallow draft
ramp boat, superior to the Japanese wooden type, that would
carry us over the reefs to our island objectives.
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Between the spring of 1940 and the spring of 1941, when
we held Fleet Landing Excrcise 7, we made great strides, under
the urgency of the Luropean war, in equipping amphibious
troops. Back in Quantico, I was informed that the Navy had em-
barked on a ship purchase program to provide us with transports
and was buying up all sorts of passenger hiners that could be con-
verled to our special assault needs. We already had one transport,
the USS Ienderson, but she was used solely for carrying Marine
replacements to overseas stations and could not be employed as
an assault transport, a term and a ship function that our am-
phibious needs had developed.

‘The first two vessels for transports, renamed the McCawley
and the Barnett after Marine Corps Commandants, were pur-
chased in New York, and 1 delegated a number of Marine officers
to exanmine the ships and advise the Navy on the changes we de-
sired. Washington obviously realized the gravity of the interna-
tional situation, and our big brass was making up for lost time,
The old battleships were no longer suitable for carrying amplibi-
ous troops. We nceded a special type of ship, carrying men and
cargo, and equipped to launch landing boats rapidly and casily.
Once put to the task and backed by an awakening public appre-
hension of danger, the Navy did its job ably.

Even with the acquisition of these new transports it became
evident that great improvements would have to be made before
we could employ them to maximum advantage. The davits were
pondcrous and slow, necessitating development of new davit and
deck machinery. The water supply was inadequate for the num-
ber of troops the ships would carry, and there were other draw-
backs. But it was a start, before the Navy began building special
assault personnel and cargo transports, and we were en-
couraged.

When I commanded the landing forces in Fleet Landing
Exercise No. 7, we cimployed assault transports for the first time.
This cxcercise lasted from IFebruary 4 to I'ebruary 16, 1941, and
was a jomt Army-Marine opcration. Since the previous exercise,
important developments had occurred. Our experience in Cule-
bra demonstrated that it was possible to expand the 1st Marine
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Brigade into a division with little effort. My staff officers were
competent and well trained, functioned in a superior manner
and showed themsclves fully qualified to serve as divisional
officers. Before embarking on Flex 7, the Brigade completed
several months’ intensive training at ‘Guantanamo, Cuba, an
alternative training area, and while in the Caribbean was re-
designated, on I'ebruary 1, 1941, the Iirst Marine Division.

IFlex 7 was historic as the final prewar excrcise in the Carib-
bean. It was a joint exercise involving elements of the IFirst U. S.
Army Infantry Division (then under overall Marine command
for amphibious training) and the First Marine Division. My
Marine division was below divisional strength and its three in-
fantry battalions, plus two Army battalions, placed the exercisc
once again on a brigade, not a divisional, basis.

Naval forces included Battleship Division I'ive with our
three old friends, the Texas, Arkansas and Wyoming; Cruiser
Division Seven comprising four ships; Destroyer Squadron Two
(less a division) and an aircraft group including two aircraft
carriers and the ist Marinc Air Group. After the previous excr-
cise we had recommended the use of carriers and this was adopted.
Instead of a makeshift transport group we actually had three
transport divisions: our own three ships, the McCawley, Wharton
and Harry Lee; two Army Transports and three apps (destroyer
transports). Unified command of all participating forces was
under Rear Admiral Ernest J. King, who had succeeded Hayne
Ellis as Commander, Atlantic Fleet.

During the. Culebra exercise I had occasion again to assert
my authority in behalf of my Marines. I have already described
the incident of the mess bills on board Navy ships but the im-
positions went much farther. 'The Marine was always the whip-
ping boy. On board ship there was an acute shortage of fresh
water and the Captain of the McCawley accused his Marine
passengers of stealing it, despite strict orders to conserve. I'or a
period of 24 hours, he shut off all fresh water outlets, cxcept
those required for cooking, but afterwards 10,000 gallons were
still missing. I sent Captain Victor I1. Krulak, a member of my
staff, to investigate and he found that the Marincs were not to
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blame. The ship’s petty officers were diverting fresh water from
the tanks to flush their toilets.

Overcrowding was another irritation. On one transport,
where conditions appeared unreasonably congested, I discovered
the Captain had set aside much nceded space on the top deck as
a promenade for his dog. That officer was detached from his
command shortly afterwards.

The purpose of Ilex 7 was threefold: to train Army and
Marine divisional units in landing operations; to test the efficacy
of existing doctrine governing thesc operations; and to train com-
manders in joint command and staff procedure. Rear Adwmiral
King was not an easy man to get along with; he was far different
from his predecessor, who had such an enlightened grasp of am-
phibious problems and appreciated the shore commander’s view-
point.

King was a brilliant man, as he proved later throughout the
war as coMmincl (Commander-in-Chicf, U. S. Fleet) and Chief
of Naval Operations. He was dynamic, energetic, severe and
quickly impatient with men who couldn’t think as fast as he did.
On the debit side, he was a domineering man, a frosty product
of naval tradition, and he somctimes intcrpreted the term “com-
mand” too literally for harmonious conduct of a complex under-
taking like an amphibious landing. With all these defects—which
were in reality the defects of his virtues, as the I'rench say—King’s
diamond-like hardness and perfectionism were destined to stand
the United States in good stcad.

The Caribbean exercise was probably the first occasion in
King’s career when he was connected with an enterprise in which
he knew less about training the forces involved than the officer
primarily responsible for the training, who was his junior. But he
never admitted this fact.

The Marine never trics to tell the sailor how to run his ship.
He recognizes that the ability and experience of the sailor fit him
to opcrate his vessel without outside interference. Converscly,
the Marine does not expect the sailor to tell him how to conduct
landing operations, for which the Marine’s ability and training
cqually fit him.

75



On board Admiral King's flagship, the USS Texas, we bitterly
disputed the sclection of landing beaches. I had my own ideas,
based upon long cxpcrience, of what we needed to permit full ex-
ploitation of the training program. King would have no part of it.
I1c insisted on making his own sclection and chose a beach on the
nearby island of St. John, which, in war, would have been plain
suicide for an assanlt force. Ilis beach was shallow, blocked by
impassable mountains and was totally unsuitable for the landing
of troops, artillery, tanks and supplies.

I pointed out to him that landing on his beach would be usc-
less unless we had a beachhead. Now beacliliead is a term devel-
oped in the progress of amphibious warfare to describe a topo-
graphical and tactical element. 1t is synonymous with bridgehead,
the term used by the Army to describe a suitable point on the
cnemy side of a river which can be fortificd to protect a crossing.
In amphibious warfare, beachhead neans an arca beyond the
actual beach which can be held to protect the landing of supplics
on the beach and used as a base to continue the assault.

“Beachibead!” King was caustic. “I'm getting sick and tired
of hearing the word ‘beachhead.’ It’s beach, I tell you, not beach-
head. Why don’t you Marines get it straight?”

“Admiral, we do get it straight,” I replied. “A beach is one
thing, but a beachhead is another. A beachhead is a place where
you can get your men, tanks and supplies on, and also get them
off if you want to move inland.”

Beachhead and operation were the two most common mili-
tary terms to emerge from World War 11 as additions to the Eng-
lish language, but it was uscless to argue with a man like
King.

So with the remark on beaches his directive stood, and I was
handicapped from the very beginning. Ile ordered me to make the
landing with nothing to go on but the general information con-
tained in the sailing directions compiled for mariners. These were
all very well for coastwise traders, but useless to a Commanding
Genecral preparing to put a large foree ashore on unreconnoitered,
“hostile” territory. King had airplane photographs of this particu-
lar beach which he could have given me, thus providing the ac-
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curate detailed information we badly needed. Instcad, he kept
the photographs to himself. I never was able to figure out why he
kept them. After all, the Navy and the Marines were “lighting”
on the same side. Or so [ thought.

It was obvious that if the excrcise was to scrve any profitable
purpose we could not—and should not—use King's beach. It
would wreck all our plans. I told the Admiral that landing at that
point would be of no value whatsoever and, furthenmore, if we
went ahead, the choice of such a landing beach would causc a
good deal of criticism among the younger officers. It was opposed
to all they had learned in training, since it was a narrow beach
with no egress to the rear. His decision, if he insisted upon it,
would scriously reflect on the judgment of the higher command
in the miuds of the men who knew such a choice was wrong in
amphibious warfare. My argument won the day and grudgingly
—for he had built a carcer on being right—he cancelled his direc-
tive.

This was one of many controversics showing basic differences
which somectimes existed between Navy and Marine thinking.
King had another idea for a landing, this time on the southern
coast of Puerto Rico itsclf. In this casc the beach had an nmpass-
able canal behind it and to approach the canal would have neces-
sitated a ninely degree turn through a narrow channcl parallel to
the beach. Enfilading firc from the “enemy” across the canal
would have wipced us out.

Before accepting this beach I asked permission to fly over it
King, now more rcasonable, lent mc his plane. Irom acrial in-
spection, it was obvious the beach was wholly unsuited for land-
ing. The arca in the rear was marshy, and a letter from my medical
officer, Commander Brown, reinforced my objections by pointing
out the district was infested with flukes and also had the highest
incidence of malaria in the Canbbean.

Another fact [ rammed home before we abandoned the proj-
cct was that no cffort had been made to oblain trespass rights for
that particular arca. It was Puerto Rican private property and we
would have been snowed under with claims once we set foot
ashore there without permission. Conditions were different at
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Culebra and Vieques. There we rented the beaches and could do
as we liked. But not on Puerto Rico.

By this time Admiral King was convinced that T knew my
business. ITe agreed to my plans and supported me fully. Army and
Marine forces held alternate landing exercises, valuable for future
joint operations. These landing exercises also were useful in train-
ing personnel of the new transports in debarkation duties, so we
could compile data regarding the transfer of men from ship to
landing craft, cssential in planning a ship-to-shore schedule.
Equipment and boats were still short despite our efforts since the
previous exercise to make up the deficit.

Idecas were flowing around the design for an amphibious tank
and we nearly produced one involuntarily during the cxercise. A
tank was travelling ashore on a lighter under tow when the lighter
carcened and the tank slid into the sca. We would have lost the
vehicle entircly had not the tank settled in an upright position
and although it became completely amphibious we managed to
salvage it.

I established headquarters ashore on Culebra but even there
it was difficult to escape the influence of the high naval command,
reluctant to relinquish the slightest degree of control. A Navy
staff fashion at this period was whitc blouses and black trousers.
Arrayed like this King and his staff came ashore to inspect my
positions. They looked like Soviet Commissars at a midsummer
festival in Red Square.

In so far as these visits showed intercst in operations ashore,
I welcomed them but I felt the military experience of King and
his staff did not qualify themn to judge my positions and forma-
tions. King told me confidently during discussions on the beach
that hc had some military experience. I asked where he got it.
I1e said he commanded a regiment of midshipmen at the Naval
Academy in 19o2. I let the matter drop.

Another visitor to the maneuvers was Secretary of the Navy
Frank Knox, who joined the jeering scction. The Marine utility
uniforin, which Knox had never seen, impressed him more than
any other phase of the operation. e was accustomed to sccing
the Marines on parade in dress blues or pressed forestry greens,
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so he was shocked when he saw their bedraggled battle uniforns,
saturated with dust and splotched with brown carth.

I explained that the men were living under battle conditions
and were working and sleeping in foxholes, for which this particu-
lar outfit had been designed. ‘The Scerctary appeared to aceept
the explanation but when he returned to Washington he re-
ported to our Commandant that his Marines looked like “a lot
of bums.” Knox had forgotten—or perhaps never known—that
the appellation “bums” was first used in English to describe one
of the most successful armies of modern times, Sherman’s. In
any case, however, the Secretary’s reference was uot intended as
a compliment.

Although Flex 7 suffered from lack of equipment, the results
were by no means negligible. Satisfactory boat training and prac-
tice of supply functions in landing were carried out. All participat-
ing units finished training with a better appreciation of the intri-
cate problems involved in a joint undertaking, even on the small
scale of this particular exercise.

However, my naval troubles were not at an end. I still had to
deal with the admiralty temperament. One night at dinner King
mentioned a communication which I denied receiving. This
denial so angered him that he jumped up from his place at the
table, walked over to his desk at the side of his cabin, dashed
off a message and then resumed his seat.

Later during the dinner, this message, demanding acknowl-
edgment, was handed to me across the table by King’s chicf of
staff. This excessive formality was humiliating, espccially in the
presence of other officers seated around the Admiral’s table. It
was also amusing. In the correct manner of acknowledging offi-
cial dispatches 1 looked King gravely in the cyc and intoned,
“Your so and so reccived . . .,” following the acknowledgment
formula. He said nothing, and the meal proceeded to afler-din-
ner coffee, which was bitter in my mouth.

After Culebra, 1 left the USS Texas with the fecling that by
insisting on carrying out my own thcorics I had incurred King’s
disapproval and that, in all probability, I would be relicved of
command. This conviction was strengthened by the abscnce of
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an official farewell. The Admiral failed to sce me over the side,
according to naval custom, and I went on board the transport
Harry Lee certain that my scrvices would soon be terminated.
"This feeling persisted despite the fact that, during Ilex 7, Presi-
dent Roosevelt authorized me to assume the rank of Major
General (“without pay and allowanees”) although I did not
“make 1y number” until the following October. King was pro-
moted to Vice Admiral at the same time.

I kncew, nevertheless, that 1 had done my job, and this
fceling of pride and satisfaction helped bolster my morale. Next
day a lctter arrived by special boat from the flagship. T looked
at the envelope and felt that this was the end. I took the letter
into the privacy of my cabin, because it would have been impos-
sible to conceal the blow from the others if I read it on deck.
IHere was what King, the caustic, had written:

At the close of the recent intensive landing force excrciscs, 1
wish to cxpress to you and to the troops under your command
in this arca my fecling of satisfaction that such well-trained
troops, so well commanded, are an integral part of the Atlantic
Fleet, and my confidence in their capacity to do their full part
and to do us all credit in whalever active operalions may come
our way. Well donc! .
L. J. KING

It was, in many ways, the finest commendation I have ever
reccived, and it taught me that, unlike many another in high
places, Emic King would say his worst to your face, would never
go behind your back, and would reward performance with a
gencrosity as unexpected as it was King-ly.

After Culebra a nced developed for facilities at home to
free us from dependence upon the Caribbean Islands, which at
soie future date might be denied us. An intensive scarch of the
Atlantic Coast from Maine to Ilorida was made and the in-
vestigating Board of Officers hit upon New River, North Caro-
Iina, where broad beaches and ample rear arcas provided the
necessary conditions of terrain. 'Through the influcnce and assist-
ance of the Ion. Clifton A. Woodrum, Congressiman from
Roanoke, Va,, appropriations were obtained for the purchase of
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this area in the winter of 1940. T'his gave us training grounds for
land operations as well as a landing beach for boats.

New River became the largest Marine training basc in the
United States and its size, 110,000 acres, cnabled us to give sub-
stance to what werc only drcams in the restricted arca of Cule-
bra and Vieques. By the following August, our cxercisc was al-
most as large as some of the island operations in the Pacific.

FFor the force landing excrcise starting August 4, 1941, the
largest of its type licld in the Uniled States, 1,500 yard beaches
were Jaid out and designated by letters for cach assault division.
Across them we put ashore 10,500 officers and men of the First
Army Division and the First Marine Division, 300 vehicles and
2,200 tons of supplies. Forty-two naval vessels and four aircraft
cartiers participated. Vice Admiral King, Commander, Atlantic
Fleet, was again in overall command but was not present.

Such a high degree of realism was attained that following
the scizure of a beachhead, an advance of nine miles inland was
made before withdrawal was ordered, a nccessary ingredient of
a well-balanced training plan. Marine parachute troops were
employed for the first time and 266 landing craft of diffcrent
types were uscd.

Analyzing the results, the mancuver was again bampered by
lack of equipiment and personnel, especially in the ficld of com-
munications. Initial phases of the landing suffered from shortage
of tank lighters and of motor transport ashore. There were other
deficiencics which an enterprising “cnemy” could have exploited,
but in my mind the debut of the liggins boat, complete with
ramp, more than compensated for these dchiciencies.

The Burcau of Ships, true to its stolid habits, supplied a
diversity of craft but our five 26-foot Iliggins ramp boats set
a new mark for performance and rcliability. At last we had the
boat we wanted. Of the scveral types used, our five Iiggins ramp
boats and sixtecn Iliggins tank lighters “proved the most satis-
factory,” my official report reads. Actually, this was sheer under-
statement. They proved to be some of our most potent war
weapons.

Now that we had the New River training base and Wash-

81



ington began to loosen up with appropriations, there was no
limit to what we could do. Mass production training was one of
the innovations. We built the first mockup: a platform resem-
bling the side of a ship over which men learned to debark using
cargo nets hanging over the side. It Jooked like a huge movie set
strayed from Hollywood but was far more substantial. Over its
side graduated thousands of men who carried the lessons they
learned in North Carolina to surf-swept atolls of the Pacific. The
mockup cost $175,000 and to wring the money out of Washing-
ton, our resourceful Quartermaster, Brigadier Gencral Seth
Williams, performed a miracle.

'F'he New River installation enabled us to cibark upon the
furst large scale amphibious training program, which made the
big August maneuver possible. In June, 1941, T was given com-
mand of the First Joint Training IYorce, a provisional corps or-
ganization consisting of the I'irtst Army Division commanded by
Major General D. C. Cubbison, the First Marine Division com-
manded by Brigadicr General Philip Torrey and other troops.

The primary mission of this corps was to prepare a two-
division expeditionary force for employment under the Com-
mander, Atlantic IFleet, in amphibious operations in the Atlan-
tic. War was threatening the United States. This largely under-
scored all planning and primary emphasis was placed on combat
readiness. However, the group originally envisioned as an ex-
peditionary force increasingly became a training staff.

The reason for this transition is understandable if we recall
what now seems so unbelievable, that in 1941 the United States
had not a single amphibiously trained unit—even in the most
elementary principle—except the minuscule Fleet Marine
Force. In Army field service regulations of the day (and even
much later) landing operations occupied tail-end spot in a list
of so-called “special” operations of the remote-contingency type,
being spotted just behind “Partisan Warfare.” A few Army ob-
servers had looked over our peacetime Fleet Landing Exercises,
and, in the San Clemente mancuvers of 1937, a small provisional
force of West Coast soldiers had reccived elementary indoctrina-
tion, but, at the end of the war-games, this had been disbanded.
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The subject of amphibious warfare was a dead letter in all of our
scrvice schools (except those operated by the Marine Corps at
Quantico)—largely because few people belicved either that major
landing operations would ever be needed, or that, in any event,
they could succeed. I often look through back files of Armny
professional journals of the period, but I have yet to find a single
article dealing with the problem of amphibious assault, unless
a stray Marine officcr managed to find his way into print. Nowa-
days, this is all changed: the public can readily be cxcused for
believing that the amphibious miracle of ten years ago was
nothing sensational; and now that the technique has been proven
to be successful and essential, it has found a horde of sclf-
appointed sponsors, each of whom compctes to claim credit for
its evolution.

As a result of this lack of any amphibious know-how (lect
alone trained units), it became the obvious duty of the Ilect
Marine Force to convert itself into a training-command, and
this was what we became.

During June, July and August of 1941 we trained intensively
at New River but results pointed up the necessity for radical
change. At Fort Story, Va., I acted as umpire in a landing by
the First Auny Division. The weather was bad and interfered
with plans but the operation was so incfficiently conducted that
I wrote to Admiral Stark, Chief of Naval Operations, recom-
mending the creation of a special organization devoted exclu-
sively to amphibious training. After completing training at New
River in August, the First Joint Training IForce was.redesignated
the Amphibious Force, Atlantic Fleet, with headquarters at the
Norfolk Naval Base. The force comprised Army and Marinc
units under my command. Army, Navy and Marine personncl
were sclected for the training staff with Rear Admiral Ifenry
K. Ilcwitt cventually in overall command.

After the departure of Admiral King from the amphibious
command we had a number of admirals in charge but no sooner
were they indoctrinated in amphibious principles than they were
transferred. One of them refused to be indoctrinated and his stay
was brief. Duties of an amphibious admiral include a certain
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amount of flying but this particular officer said his wife would
not let him fly. He moved on after a few weeks.

Rear Admiral Hewitt was outstanding as directing head of
the new enterprise. While he came to us with little background
in amphibious training, he applied himself earnestly to our par-
ticular problems and made rapid progress. He was intelligent,
sympathetic and willing to accept recommendations. Our rela-
tionship was pleasant and “all hands” were happy.

On the West Coast, a similar organization known as the
Second Joint Training Force was created under command of
Major General C. B. Vogel, usmc, and later became known as
Amphibious Corps, Pacific Fleet. The Corps comprised the
Second Marine Division, the Third Army Division and other
forces. When Vogel left for the Pacific a year later 1 succeeded
him.

This was the nucleus of the command which prepared all
six Marine divisions for war in the Pacific, and, what was fully
ds important, imparted all the U. S. Army ever learned in basic
amphibious knowledge. I have heard it remarked, with some su-
periority, I must say, that our Army had 28 amphibiously trained
divisions by the end of World War II, whereas the Marines
never had more than six. What this glib observation omits, in-
tentionally or not, is the fact that the first three U. S. Infantry
divisions ever to become amphibious units, the 1st, 3rd and gth,
were trained by the Marine Corps; these were likewise the total
of assault infantry divisions which executed our North African
landings. Furthermore, in addition to these crucial three divisions,
Marines trained the 7th, 77th, 81st, and g6th Infantry Divisions.
That means, in recapitulation, that we gave the Army seven of
those vaunted 28 amphibious divisions (including the first three).
With seven Marine-trained divisions, even the Amy, I should
think, would find relatively little difficulty in carrying on with
training the rest.

The Fleet Marine Force doctrine spread through all services
in all theaters of operation. Admiral Hewitt and Vice Admiral
Alan G. Kirk, key members of whose staffs had trained with me,
applied the doctrine to landing operations in North Africa,
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Sicily, Italy and Southern France. Vice Admiral Daniel E. Bar-
bey, who had been chief of staff to the Commander of Training
in the Atlantic Fleet, carried the doctrine to the Southwest
Pacific. The First Marine Amphibious Corps took it to the South
Pacific and the Fifth Amphibious Corps continucd to practice
and rcfine its basic tactics in the Central Pacific.

Our doctrine had begun a revolution in warfare.

85



CHAPTER V
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O N SUNDAY, Dccemnber 7, Ada and 1 were invited
to lunch at the Army and Navy Country Club in Arlington, over-
looking the beautiful Potomac. Our hosts were Brigadier General
Robert L. Denig, usmc, and Mrs. Denig, and even for a service
party it proved a disjointed affair for cvery one of the fifty-seven
guests. Contrary to preccdent, the Jast to arrive was the General's
Aide, who mumbled flustered excuses about being detained at
the office.

During each course several officers were called to the tele-
phone. They returned looking dazed, made their excuses to their
hostess and departed “on business” until our ranks slowly thinned
to a nervous shadow of the original party. Finally General Denig
cxcused himself with the promisce to find out exactly what was
taking his guests away so abruptly.

e returned, looking very grave, and called the few of us
left to the radio outside the dining room. I. V. Kaltenborn was
speaking: his low, authoritative voice unusually stirring. “The
Japanese arc attacking Pear]l Harbor,” Kaltenborn announced
and went on to give the mcager details available of the attack on
the Pacific Fleet. Everybody was shocked into momentary
silence. Then the storm broke.

Onc Navy officer vowed the message was a fake, probably
remembering the Orson Welles Men from Mars broadcast that
lad terrified the nation. Others pooli-poohed the idea of such an
attack on our great mid-Pacific naval base. What's more, they
argucd wildly, the Japs wouldn’t dare! By this time most of the
gucsts had gone, including Coloncl Graves B. Erskine, my Chief
of Staff, who returned to Quantico. Still refusing to accept the

86



fact of the attack, two dic-hards lingered behind, anchored to
the radio.

My reaction was the direct opposite. War had come and
from the dicection the Marines had predicted, although we had
expected to be involved in the European conflict first. Yes, it was
war, and the country was not prepared.

I am not a man given to panic, so Ada and I procceded
with our plans for that Sunday afternoon, which included a cou-
cert at Constitution ITall. As we drove past the Army and Navy
Building, where the services lived in harmony before they dis-
persed to scparate wartime quarters, we saw anmed sentrics with
stecl helmets and live ammunition in their cartridge belts. There
they were to stand—until peace came.

For me the concert was a respite, an interval during which
I was able to accustom myself to the idea of my country once
morc at war. There was nothing for me to do at Quantico that
Sunday; cmergency measures must wait until the next day. 1
don’t recall what the orchestra played that afternoon and 1 only
reniember the audience coming to its fect with the first stirring
note of “I'he Star-Spangled Banner.”

Back at the Marine basc, I made preparations for a partial
blackout and ordered dispersal of the few plancs on the aviation
ficld. As my command was training, not combat, T commenced
to survey the wartime task of the Marine Corps from the view-
point of both intensive and extensive training. I knew that the
Corps would develop during the war out of all proportion to its
peacctime strength. T knew that we would fight an amphibious
war in the Pacific. There was no need to outline our needs.
The Navy had only to dust off the files in Washington to find
all our plans and requisitions, which had been waiting there for
years.

By Act of Congress, the strength of the Marine Corps was
still restricted to twenty percent of the Navy. Iowever, the
Selective Scrvice Act of the previous ycar had increased the
Navy's intakc of men and we were free to increase our enlist-
ments proportionately. At the time of Pcarl Harbor the Corps’
strength was 066,319, all voluntccrs, and after December 7
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recruits poured in faster than we could handle them. Since all
Marines are volunteers, we always have been able to maintain
our high physical standards and during the war they were not
lowered to any great extent.

Wihile we trainced recruits we had to keep in mind the
priority claims of the First Division, which would be the first
sent overseas. At the outbreak of war the First was in fairly good
shape, though bclow strength. In order to build up our training
staff, we were compelled to drain the First of both officers and
non-commissioned officers. And, in addition to training troops
for land duty, we were called upon to furnish Marines for the
increasing number of naval ships requiring Marine detachments.
It long had been a Corps custom Lo assign only the best trained
officers and men to sca duty. We built up the Iirst with new
recruits and when the division sailed for New Zcaland in the
spring of 1942 it was a well-trained outfit.

We had shortages of everything but men. Training was
ahead of production and we ran our equipment red hot. Our
greatest shortage was ammunition for rifle and artillery practice.
The country had allowed its reserve to sink so low that if the
Japanese had continued from Pearl Iarbor with an amphibious
force and landed on the West Coast they would have found that
we did not have enough ammunition to fight a day’s battle. This
is llow close the country was to disaster in 1941.

We needed anti-aircraft guns, anti-tank guns, so-caliber ma-
chine guns, 37-m.m. guns, more 75-mnv.’s, 105 and 155-mm.’s,
heavier tanks, bazookas, flame throwers, plancs, all of which
existed in design and required only to be manufactured. We had
no special assault personnel ships or assault cargo ships to trans-
port us or our equipment.

Amphibious wars arc not fought witl ships and guns alouc.
We nceded better marching shoes for the jungles and hard coral
rocks. Our garrison shoes were too light. We neceded utility uni-
forms and camouflage suits. The Iirst Division was issued white
mosquito nets because they were the only nets available. We had
to dye them green to make them less conspicuous jungle targets
before the First left for the South Pacific. We needed medical

88



equipment, tents, cots, blankets, mess gear, cooking equipment,
belts, belt buckles, sight covers for rifles and hundreds of other
items ranging from buttons to trucks of all tonnages, bulldozers
and tractors.

One bright spot in the supply picture was the landing boat.
We had got rid of the crazy, unscaworthy boats the Bureau of
Ships had tried for years to foist on us and had concentrated on
the Itiggins ramp boat, which we were recciving in increasingly
satisfactory numbers.

The Marine boat fight with the Navy had been long and
frustrating. On the one hand, we encountered the antiquated
idcas and obstinacy of the Burcau of Ships. On the other, we
suflered frustration through lack of funds. Pearl Ilarbor did not
end the struggle. Except for availability of funds, it grew more
intense in 1942 and showed how difficult it is to loosen well-
anchored tradition and how dangerous to national defensc such
tradition can be.

[For twenty years the Marines had experimented with all
types of landing craft until our needs crystallized in the IHiggins
boat and we maneuvered, bullied and coerced the Navy Depart-
ment into adopting it. We tested shallow draft boats, skiffs,
Coast Guard boats, Cape Cod fishing boats and many other
types. One day a number of boats scized from rum runners
opcerating off the I'lorida Coast were turned over to us. They may
have been good liquor carriers but they were uscless for assault
troops. Both the Navy and the Marines had established develop-
ment boards working on plans for a practical assault boat.

We knew what we wanted. The basic boat we envisioned,
which became the standard landing craft in all theaters and was
used by all the Allies, had the following characteristics: length,
30 to 36 fect; draft, two fect; speed, 10 knots with a 120-mile
fuel endurance; capacity, 18 to 38 men.

Certain other conditions were essential: seaworthiness and
stability in the open sea; ability to land through the surf and
retract; armor for the coxswain, the engineer and the gunncr;
lightness, so that the boat could be hoisted by ships” booms and
davits.
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The appearance of the Higgins Eureka boat at the 1940
Caribbean exercises was the first approach to these specifications.
As 1 said before, the Eureka was designed in 1926 for the shal-
low waters of the Mississippi. It had an unusual type of bow and
its builder called it a spoonbill. Andrew Higgins developed two
models with a tunnel stern; one where the propeller was com-
pletely within the tunnel and the other with a half or semi-
tunnel stern. His modification of his Mississippi boat performed
well in its first military test.

Higgins, who offered the Eureka to the Navy in 1927, re-
newed his offer year after year but it received little consideration
in Washington. The Marines, however, were greatly interested.
Higgins visited Quantico in 1934 and discussed his boat with us.
The Corps had no funds at its disposal to undertake the con-
struction of such a boat but we did not lose interest, which
Higgins appreciated. In 1937 he went to the Navy again and
furnished them with drawings and complete specifications re-
garding the boat. After a long delay, he was informed that the
Navy had only $5,200 available for an experimental boat and he
agreed to build one for that sum. He also accepted the Navy
stipulation that the boat should not exceed 30 feet in length.

Higgins built his boat, the first Eureka type for landing
purposes. He told me it cost him $12,500 but he considered it
money well spent. The Marine Equipment Board was impressed
by the potentialities of the new boat. Only the length was
against it; the Marines preferred a landing boat nearer 40 than
30 feet long but the Navy was adamant on this point.

Andrew Higgins, a fighting Irishman, won the opening
phase of the boat battle single-handed, with loud Marine ap-
plause. The Navy placed several experimental orders with him
for the 30-foot boat, which he filled more or less under protest.
As he told me, he was in bad odor because hc kept insisting
that the boats should be longer.

During a memorable conference at the Navy Dcpartment he
again brought up the question of length, which was running the
Bureau of Ships ragged, and urged that the boats be built
39 or even 4o feet long, Why should the Navy stick to a 30-foot
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boat? he demanded. The explanation given him, with chill nava:
logic, was this: boat davits already placed on a number of ships
had been standardized to handle 30-foot boats.

“To hell with designing a boat to fit the davits!” Iliggins
roared. “Why don’t you design davits to fit a proper sized boat?”

He was so exasperated that he returned to New Oirleans
and, at his own expense and without orders from the Navy, built
a 36-foot boat and shipped it to the Norfolk Navy Yard with
the demand that it be tested. When the Marines heard about
this, they whooped. After passing Naval tests, the boat was sent
Yo us at Quantico and we put it to further tests.

Through the unfathomable processes whereby the official
mind finally emerges from darkness into light, the Navy even-
tually decided to standardize on the 306-foot Iliggins boat. 1lig-
gins has always said that without Marine championship of his
boat over the years, it never would have been tested.

The New Orleans scourge of the Washington burcaucrats
displayed much the same scorn as I did for obstructive brass.
When I was in command at New River in 1941 and 1942, dur-
ing our critical equipment period, I was in constant touch by
telephone with Higgins in New Orleans. He also visited me,
bringing members of his staff to help us in our boat training.
Higgins was never too busy to answer a phone call and give
advice on a problem. If the matter was too involved to scttle
over the telephone he sent a representative to work it out with
us at New River. Major Victor H. Krulak, who was my boat
officer, acted as liaison officer with Andrew Higgins and he was
a very busy man.

The Eurcka had all the qualifications we demanded except
one. Once on the beach, it had no way of discharging men or
cargo except over the side. The answer to this problem was the
ramp gate. Brigadier General Emile P. Moses, who headed the
Marine Equipment Board, worked out the idea with Iliggins
in New Oirleans. I'rom these conferences emerged the famous
boat that—in my opinion—contributed more to our common
victory than any other single picce of equipment used in the
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I wrote to Andrew 1liggins on February s, 1942, after we
had tested his boats:

We believe that your new ramp Llype boat comes very close Lo
perfection. We look upon your equipment as a part of our Force:
quite as cssential as tanks and guns and ammunition. I want to
say that I never lose an opportunity to tell people in high latitudes
that we have the best damn boats in the woild, but only half
cuough.

Andrew Iliggins also camc to the aid of the Marines in the
battle of the tank lighter, where we had another ally in the War
Investigating Committee established by Congress on March 1,
1941, and headed by Senator IHarry S. Truman. 'The Iliggins
ramp boat, officially designated the reve (r) (Landing Craft,
Vchicle, Personncl, Ramp) was suitable for catrying simall num-
bers of mcen or light vehicles. We needed craft to carry our tanks
ashore and since technical developments were producing larger
tanks these craft must be substantial vesscls.

In the 1941 Caribbean cxcrcises, the Burcau of Ships sup-
plicd us with three 45-foot tank lighters of its own design,
capable of carrying onc 16-ton tank or two 6-ton tanks. After
the excrcises I reported: “T'he Burcau type lighters are heavy,
slow, difficult to control, difficult to retract from the beach and
equipped with an unpredictable power plant.” This was a mild
stricture. They were unmmanageable and unscaworthy in heavy
surf. One capsized.

Notwithstanding criticism from the Marines and from the
Navy afloat, the Burcau procceded to award contracts for the
construction of g6 lighters of this condemned design. By the
cnd of the spring of 1941, clamor against the Burcau type of
lighter was so loud that Admiral Stark approved our suggestion
that ITiggins be given a contract to design an experimental 45-foot
tank lighter, with authorization to build more if the pilot model
proved successful. We urgently nceded lighters to keep pace with
our training plans. ITiggins had suited our book before and we
believed he would again.

The Burcau of Ships put the job in Higgins’ hands on May
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27, 1941. Ie set to work with characteristic energy and had the
lighter in the water in 61 hours. Produced in this incredibly
short Umc, it was accepted as the stock model of all the tank
lighters we used in the war, although there were subsequent
refineients. The lighter was practically dedicated to the Marine
Corps, since Higgins declined to take any action cxcept through
Marine channels.

I1c told me the full story of this wonderful job that sct the
Wavy on its car. The Bureau of Ships called him by telephone
and asked him to design, develop and build a steel boat to
carry combat tanks. Higgins promised to do the job if it were
urgent but madc onc stipulation. Ile would deal only with the
Marine Corps, not with the Navy. Brigadier General Moses and
Lieutenant Colonel Ernest Linscrt, Secrctary of the Marine
Equipment Board, flew to New Orleans to discuss Marine needs
with the forthright boatbuilder.

At that time Higgins had on hand a partly completed shal-
low draft, twin screw, stecl boat designed for use on the Amazon.
The pilot house was finished and the Dicsel engines ready to
install. Overnight the hull was cut up and the Amazon river
boat was converted into a vessel capable of carrying a heavy
tank. It was fitted with a ramp gate. Though the new boat was
improvised in haste, it was a great success in tests. The Truman
Committce said that this boat, built in 61 hours, was supcrior
to the Burcau of Ships lighter, which represented four years
-of design and development.

The Navy designated Iliggins’ newest boat rcm (3)
(Landing Craft, Medium) and gave him an order for 49 more,
ten to be delivered at Norfolk within fourteen days. Nine were
in Norfolk in twelve days after Higgins received the verbal green
light. I am sure everyone who knows anything about boat build-
ing will agree that this was a magnificent feat, showing a com-
bination of imagination, resourcefulness and skill. In my opinion,
thesc three terms sum up Andrew Iiggins.

In the Navy, tradition never dies while there is a shot left
in the locker. Although the Bureau type of lighter was damned
by everybody from the Chief of Naval Operations downwards,
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the atrophicd occupants of the Burcau advertised for bids on a
batch of boats of its own type, which was still in the design
stage.

Iliggins protested and got the order reduced to ten boats.
This accomplished, he neatly outmancuvered the Burcau die-
hards by building only the first of .the lighters according to the
Navy design and testing it before Navy obscrvers, who saw the
Bureau's pet craft was unsatisfactory cven in calm water and
probably would capsize in a rough sca. There was nothing new
in this discovery. I had reported the suicidal character of this
type of lighter months before but the Iliggins demonstration
put the defects on visual record. ‘The Navy observers couldn’t
deny their own cyes. The upshot was the Higgins design won and
he completed the order for nine so-foot boats capable of carry-
ing so-ton tanks, necessarv now that the powerful Shermans
were coming into production.

These direct action mecthods of Iiggins had a favorable
cffect on our equipment program. They were as much our battles
as his and they provided us with the craft we wanted and knew
was the most practical. Higgins went even farther with his
demonstrations on our behalf. President Roosevelt held a con-
ference at the White l]()usc’ on April 4, 1942, and called for Goo
tank lighters as the basis of the ncew supply program. The
Burcau quickly grasped the opportunity to push forward its
own unsuccessful design and, despite the wide and cmphatic
condemnation that design had received, proceeded to order
1,100 lighters to be built along these lines.

Higgins was not a man to accept defeat easily. e arranged
a sort of Monitor and Merrimac competition at the Norfolk
Navy Yard between one of his own so-footers and one of the
Burcau type. The Higgins entry proved vastly supcrior, as cvery-
body who knew the two boats predicted. The order was changed
to the Iliggins type and thercafter a good many yards started
building us boats to the Iiggins design.

My criticism of the Burcau lighters brought me a visit from
onc of the attorneys to the Truman Committee, who asked for
copies of iy correspondence, which Secretary of the Navy Knox
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authorized me to furnish. After rcading some of my memoranda,
the attorney told me I would be called before the Committee
to testify. Much as I would have cnjoyed the opportunity to
place my vicws personally before the Committee, I had little to
add to the criticisms which, over my signature, reposed in the
Ofhice of the Chief of Naval Operations.

trurthermore, I knew something about the inner workings of
tha official mind held up to censure. If I stood before the Com-
mittce in Washington and publicly stated my critical viewpoint
I would ncver get out to the Pacific, which was iy devouring
ambition.

I cxplained this to my visitor and asked him to convey the
facts to Scnmator Truman who, as a politician long versed in
Washington’s ways, would understand my reluctance. He obvi-
ously did understand because I was not called and the Comnmnit-
tcc drew on my memoranda in compiling its report, which
strongly criticized the Navy, cspecially in regard to the lighters.

One obscrvation the Committce made was: “It is clear that
the Burcau of Ships, for reasons known only to itsclf, stubbornly
persisted for over five years in clinging to an unseaworthy tank
lighter design of its own” and, the Report added, “the Burcau’s
action has causcd not only a waste of time but has caused the
nccdless expenditure of over $7,000,000 for 2 total of 225 Burcau
lighters which do not mect the needs of the Armed IForces.”

I mention these facts because the Marines were the princi-
pal sufferers from the Bureau’s crass obstinacy and were rescucd
chicfly by Andrew Iliggins. I regard Iliggins as a great patriot
and his contributions to our common victory were cxtremely
higl. He was absolutely fearless in his dealings with government
officials, from the President downwards, and his great sense of
patriotism would send him charging into the White Ilousc, or
into any department of the government where he could obtain
results. Ile had a real aflection for the Marine Corps.

Andrew Iliggins was willing to go to bat with anybody and
wlicn we got lost in the morass of crippling dctail and Washing-
ton procrastination, he came to our assistancc. Ilis heart and
soul were pledged to building the vessels we so desperately
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needed for amphibious warfare and it was coincidental—but
extremely prophetic—that 1 found myself writing to him on
Dccember 6, 1941, “Often I propound this question: Where the
hell would the Amphibious Force be without your boats?” is-
tory has answered that question.

Although I maintained close contact with Higgins by long
distance telephone, straightening out our technical difficultics
as they arose, and helping him with his troubles with the Navy
Department, I was able to induce him to visit New River te
solve one particular problem. Higgins had established his own
school for Navy coxswains, where he trained them to handle
his boats at his own cxpense. We were having trouble with our
own coxswains, who scemed unable to get the best out of our
landing boats.

So Iliggins, with his staff, came to New River to demon-
strate the correct handling of his boats in the surf and on the
beach. Within a few days of his arrival, our boat handling
greatly improved and our amphibious training gaincd new
momentum, a rellection of the spirit of the man from New
Orleans. I had quarters in one of the summer houses on the
beach and here I established Higgins and his staff. I found him a
delightful gucst; witty, an exccllent raconteur and a good judge
of whiskey.

e was anxious that his boats should mect all our require-
ments and listened appreciatively to suggested changes. 1 remem-
ber that one suggestion was in connection with armor plating.
We felt that the coxswain was too exposed. Iliggins went to
work and devised a shicld that proved very effective. Other sug-
gestions were incorporated without lesitation if they proved
practical. Such was the Marine relationship with Andrew 1lig-
gins, first at New River and later in the Pacific.

He wrote me later:

. my contact with the Marine Corps is the bright spot in my
recollections of those intense and hectic days, and out of this
haze stands the bright memory of the time I spent with you and
your staff at New River. T believe that the things we foresaw and
did there had a profound effect on the winning of the war.
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Our amphibian tractor program was encouraging. As far
back as 1924, we had experimented with an amphibious tank
called the Christic but had lost faith in it. In trials held that
year the Christie was put over the side of a ship and it worked
fairly well in the water. Unfortunately, the captain of the ship
lost his nerve at the sight of this strange monster wallowing in
the waves and put out a boom and slung it back on the deck.
After that abortive experiment interest dwindled, though we
never lost hope of one day having a waterborne tank as a troop
transport and combat vehicle.

Substance was given to this hope in 1938, when the atten-
tion of the Marine Corps Commandant was drawn to a maga-
zine picture of an amphibian tractor designed by Donald
Roebling, Jr. Like our landing boat, his tractor was a product of
the shallow waters and crecks of the South. Roebling, an engi-
necer who had retired to IFlorida for lus health, had built his
tractor for rescuc work in the Everglades. Ie called it the Alli-
gator and his model, which e manufactured that year, included
all the cssential features of the military vehicle widely used since.

We did not get our Alligator immediately. Members of
the Marine Corps Equipment Board were ordered to Florida
and rcported favorably on the invention but the Chicf of Naval
Opcrations declined to allot {unds, already earmarked for criti-
cally nceded landing craft and tank lighters, for the purchasc of
the tractor.

It was the old, old story of dclay but we persevered in our
rccommendations and finally, in April, 1940, we reccived authori-
zation for three trial Alligators. The vehicles were constructed of
aluminum and proved their uscfulness in tests and during
Marine mancuvers. Seven months later—on November s, 1940--
the Navy ordered 200 steel tractors for the Marine Corps and
the first modcl, officially designated r.vr (1) {Landing Vchicle,
Tracked) came oft the production line in August, 1941. This
was the open-deck type, first used at Guadalcanal and later, in
November, 1942, in North Africa.

A second model, Lvr (2), incorporated changes in design
and came off the production line in 1943. This model was used
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at Bougainville, in the South Pacific, at Tarawa and the
Marshalls. Arimored and turreted models followed, aud further
changes based on combat experience resulted in additional ver-
sious, including two turreted modecls and a whole fumily of
tanks—personnel and equipment-carrying, engineering, rocket-
launching and ficld artillery.

When the war started we had a number of tractors for train-
ing purposcs and others were assured as fast as the manufacturers
completed the Navy order for 200. With these vchicles we were
able to create an amphibian tractor battalion and when the First
Division lcft for the South Pacific it was the first in history so
cquipped.

The top priority given this division for combat purposes
compelled us to concentrate on its training, in addition to
handling the large numbers of new recruits entering the Corps.
The prime urgency was to put the First Division in the ficld as
soon as possible. The Japancse were sprcading all over the
Pacific and they enjoyed the advantage of at least five ycars'
amphibious combat expericnce, gained since their major strike
in China in 1937. The New River installation proved a godsend
in meeting this training challenge. With other training centers
in that part of the country, its facilitics were adequate to handle
our intake in the East. Unfortunately, the West Coast was not
so well equipped. We had a recruit depot in San Dicgo, Cali-
fornia, and to this we added Camp Llliott, a large arca ncarby,
and Camp Pendleton, an old Spanish hacienda with extensive
grounds runuing along the coast ncar Oceanside, 40 miles north
of San Dicgo.

Incvitably, New River's facilities were restricted by wartime
limitations. We were denied the use of our beaches and could
usc only the shore arcas. Almost as soon as war was declared
Nazi submarines began to operate off the Atlantic Coast and
constituted a grave menace to our amphibious training ships off
the open beaches. 1 wrote to Rear Admiral Ferdinand L. Reich-
muth, Commander, Amphibious Force, recommending that we
sccurc an arca in Chesapeake Bay for training. New River was
an open roadstcad and there was nothing to prevent enemy
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submarines coming in and sinking our training ships. Submarincs
could not cnler sheltered Chesapeake Bay. Admiral Richmuth
agreed with me and we obtained training gronnds on Solomon
Island and a naval gunfirc bombardment range on Bloodsworlh
Island. 'I'roops cinbarked from Norfolk in transports for this
new arca and, by an ironic geographic coincidence, the Marines
trained on Solomon Island, in Chesapeake Bay, for their first
assault in World War I1, on the Solomon Islands in the South
Pacific.

Dcep in training for the Pacific war, we could not cscape
the impact of international events. After the 5o over-age de-
stroyers were exchanged for the use of British bascs in Septem-
ber, 1940, we manned strategic points in the Caribbean and in
Junc, 1941, sent an expeditionary force to Iecland. "The Tecland
force was drawn from the Sccond Marine Division, which was
officially activated on the West Coast at the same time as the
First. It consisted of a strongly recinforced regiment (the 6th)
and passed through the Panama Canal to my arca before going
north.

The force reported to me for transportation and cmbarka-
tion, and went north as part of my command until it rcached
Iccland, where it came under command of the Army. Duc to
this curious command setup, the Commandant of the Marine
Corps, whose troops were being employed by the Army, re-
ported to the Scerctary of War. This is the first and only incident
I can recall in World War II when the Marine Commandant
had two bosscs; hie reported to the Secrctary of the Navy on all
other matters, but to the Scerctary of War on Iccland.

This attachment of Marines to the Army differed from the
ordinary type, which we describe as an operational attachment.
Under a scldom-used provision of law, the President may declare
portions of the Marine Corps to be part of the Army, under
Army regulations and under the Sceretary of War.

At the urging of General George C. Marshall aud the
Scerctary of War, this was done in the case of the lccland
force of Marines, which was then the only body of U. S. troops
in rcadiness for instant overseas cxpeditionary duty. The provi-
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sional Marine brigade selccted for this mission was fully organ-
ized and underway for lccland within a week of receipt of
orders. Although this type of attachment of Marines to the
Army begat an infinity of extra paper work, plus scparation of
our men from their normal Naval source of supply (a most
important consideration on an island supported and maintained
by and for the Atlantic IFlect), Marshall insisted that we be
placed under Army command. This was another example of the
Army’s insistence that Marines be kept away from independent
responsibility and, although General Iolcomb, our Comman-
dant, protested the decision with great vigor, both on the grounds
of principle and of horse scnsc, he was overruled by Army influ-
ences in the high counsels.

‘Training dutics also went hand in hand with the primary
mission of the First Joint Training orce, which was to prepare
an expeditionary force for amphibious operations in the Atlantic,
if circumstances warranted. After the outbreak of war we made
an intensive study of the Azores, a group of Portugucse islands
1,000 miles off the coast of Portugal; and the Cape Verde
Islands, another Portuguese group soo miles from the western
tip of Africa.

In the hands of the Germans, these islands, standing well
out in the Atlantic, would have made idcal submarine bascs
for attacks on Allicd shipping, as well as possible air bases for
raids on the United States by long distance bombers. The
Azorcs are 2,400 miles from the Statue of Liberty.

We knew that the Nazis were considering seizing these
islands and we were prepared to prevent such action. Plans,
based upon the use of a Marine assault force, were drawn up
and proved that it would be a simple operation. Ilowever, the
Germans failed to act and the troops intended for that opera-
tion were sent to the South Pacific.

At this time I was pressing the big brass-in Washington to
give me a combat command. Under Major General Archer
Vandegrift, Marincs had already comnc to grips with the Japanese
at Guadacanal, and I was cager to get to the Pacific to be with
my mcn. Then an inxeplicable incident occurred. T was 6o in
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1942, and an order came out that all officers of 6o or over must
take a new physical examination. I did so, as a matter of routinc.
Afterwards a member of the Medical Examining Board, con-
vening at the Navy Hospital in Washington, told mc conh-
dentially that the Board had found I was suffering from a severe
case of diabetes.

Flabbergasted, I rushed from Quantico to Washington to
sec what all this monkey business was about. As I was walking
along a corridor in the Navy Department I met Sccretary Knox,
who gave me an unusually warm handshake and invited me to
Junch.

He confirmed the report I had heard but added that a
group including Admiral King, comincn, Admiral Randall
Jacobs, Rear Admiral Ross R. Mclntire, the President’s medical
adviser and Surgeon Genceral of the U. S. Navy, and himsclf had
rccommended that 1 should not be retired from the Madine
Corps becausc he had scen me during training cxerciscs in the
Caribbean and I had seemed very fit. :

To say I was astounded is to put it mildly. I never have
had the slightest symptom of diabetes. After lunch I hurricd to
Admiral Mclntire’s office and told - him—with considerable
heat—exactly what I thought of the medical examination. On
my insistence, he promised to give me another physical. I fear 1
left my temper inside the office, for I slammed the door when
I left, even though he had promised me another examination.

Subsequently, I took three or four blood-sugar tests in
Quantico. Certainly my blood pressure should have been high
after my storiny experience in Washington but all the reports
came back negative and normal. That made me cven more
certain that somewhere along the line somebody was trying to
“get me.” The only cxplanation—and a very feeble one, too—I
could wring out of the Board was that the laboratory technician
had made a mistake in the analysis.

Andrew Iliggins, who had been my tutelary deity in many
crises, filled in the gap later. 1le wrote me:

I well recall the incident and after you walked out I heard you
had been sent back to Quantico. I got pretty much riled abont it.
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As you know, fools jump in where angels fear to tread, so I
went to see President Roosevelt about something, or it may have
been on a pretext. I cannot recall which but I asked him point
blank what was happening to General Howlin’ Mad Smith,

Il started to get huffish with me and, though he was the
President, I talked to him pretly bluntly as to what 1 thought
abont some four-flushy Admirals and Generals 1 had mct, and
what I thought about the Marines by comparison. Before 1 left
him, he had thawed out. I don’t know whether it had any cffect
and it may have antagonized him, but I have often wondered what
peculiar conspiracics were going on at that time.

After that incident, I was not troubled with physical examn-
inations until I reached the Pacific Coast, where I underwent
another routine checkup, with similar negative and normal
results. But that Board report set me wondering, too, about a
conspiracy that could deprive a man of an opportunity to fight
for his country by killing him with a mcdical ccrtificate.

In Scptember, 1942, my opposite number on the West
Coast, Major General Vogel, commander of the Sccond Joint
Training IForce, was sent to the South Pacific as Commanding
General of the IMirst Amphibious Corps, which comprised at
that time only the First Marine Division and a few attached
units. I left Quantico to succced him. Although I was still
assigned to training, this was onc stcp nearer the Pacific theater
of operations.

With headquarters at Camp Elliott, my training force con-
sisted of troops at LElliott, Pendlcton, and an artillery unit at
Niland, a town on the cdge of the desert ncar El Centro. Man-
powcr in this arca came from the East Coast and from the
recruit depot at the Marine Basc in San Dicgo. We organized
the men into divisions as they arrived.

Working to fit these Marine divisions for combat duty, I
also was entrusted with another training job. The Joint Chiefs
of Staff had decided upon the Aleutians campaign and Licu-
tenant General John L. De Witt, of the Western Defense
Command, turned over the Seventh Anny Division to me for
amphibious training. It was commanded by Major General Al-
bert E. Brown. Our objective was Attu, which the Japanese had
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occupied at the same time they took Kiska and Agattu. The
Commander of the Amphibious IForce, Pacific, was Rear Adimiral
IFrancis W. Rockwell, who had been in command of the U. S.
Naval District at Cavite when the Japanese struck in the
Philippincs and was evacuated to Australia with General Mac-
Arthur.

It was finc working with a Navy officer like Rockwell. 1le
undecrstood amphibious operations and therefore appreciated
the problems of both the naval commander and the shore com-
mander. There was nothing Jovian in his attitude towards the
Marines and it was easy to make recoinmendations to him for
the most cfficient training of the Seventh Division. In accordance
with the authorization given by Gencral De Witt, the division
was streamlined for its amphibious mission.

I have always considered the landing of the Seventlt in the
densc fog of Attu, on May 11, 1943, an amphibious landing
without parallel in our military history. Transport was not avail-
able to carry the entire equipment of a full division and even if
it had been it was uscless on the terrain of this bleak Alcutian
island, where the spongelike tundra bogged down all hcavy
equipment.

After the Scventhh Division left Southern California, 1
followed them to Cold Ilarbor, Alaska, aboard the USS Penn-
sylvania. From Cold Iarbor I flew to Amnchitka with Coloncl
W. O. “Bill” Acreckson, USA, and then ploughed through the
fog shrouding Attu, trying to catch a glimpse of the fighting.
This was my first expericnce in battle with any troops I had
traincd and 1 was keen to see how they made out. But in spite
of Bill's low flying, I saw very little through the cold, gray
blanket. Attu was sccured by May 31, after the Japanese made
a banzai attack, cutting through our lines and penctrating to
some hospital teuts, where the crazed men murdered many of
our patients before they could be wiped out.

If my Aleutians trip had produced nothing but the memory
of that banzai attack, it was worth while. 'That mad charge
through the fog made a profound impression and alerted me to
the ever present danger of just such a final desperate attack
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during my operations in the Central Pacific. Before I left the
Aleutians, I decided to amplify our training to include counter-
measures against such an eventuality.

The only other result of the trip, painful to me, was that I
developed pneumonia in the cold fog of the Alcutians and
entcred hospital in Adak. Fortunately, it was a mild case and
I soon recovered and returned to Camp Elliott, in Southern
California’s more cquable climate.

The month after I got back 1 was invited by Admiral Nim-
itz to visit Pear]l Harbor and make a tour of the South Pacific
with him. Nimitz was in San Dicgo at the time. I ncedled him
into the trip because 1 wanted to visit the Pacific battlefront
and sec how my Marines were doing. We flew from San Fran-
cisco to Honolulu in his private Coronado and from there down
to Suva, I'iji; Noumea, I'rench New Caledonia, where the assault
on New Georgia in the Solomons was being planned; Espiritu
Santo, in the New lebrides; and Guadalcanal.

Here 1 visited the first Marine battlefield in the Pacific
war. Guadalcanal had special significance for me. The Marines
who fought and died there were my Marines, the men of the
First Division I had trained in the Caribbean and in the United
States. It was a stirring expericnce because here, on remote
Guadalcanal, our Marine amphibious doctrine was proven sound.
Major General Vandegrift had achieved the impossible with a
magnificent body of men, inadequately equipped but filled with
the willingness to fight and to dic hHghting. I'ate had robbed me
of the opportunity to command my old division in its first battle
in World War Il but I was proud to have commanded the men
in training.

On the flight back to Pecarl Harbor I became increasingly
depressed because I was not on active field duty. I should have
been fighting with my men in the South Pacific instcad of going
back to training camp. I had understood in Noumca that Ad-
miral Nimitz and Admiral William F. Halsey, Commander,
South Pacific, intended making a change in the Marine com-
mand in that theater as our offensive operations expanded. I
had hoped that, if such a change were made, this command
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would come to me. But it did not and 1 wondered sadly if I
ever would get to the active theater of operations.

Seated by the window in the Coronado, watching the
immensely thick and fantastically molded banks of clouds that
form the perpetual Pacific ceiling, I was lost in this depressing
speculation when Nimitz called mc to the other end of the
cabin, where he had been reading a magazine.

“Ilolland,” he said gravcly, “I am going to bring you out
to the Pacific this fall. You will command all Marincs in the
‘Central Pacific area. I think that you will find your new job very
interesting.”

‘This was all the information that the Admiral gave mc at
the time but it was cnough. It was the turning point for mec:
my road would lead out across the Pacific.

I threw myself heartily into the new training job that
awaited me at Camp Elliott. After Attu was secured, the Joint
Cliefs decided upon the capturc of Kiska, and Amphibious
Training Force g, under Major General Charles H. “Pete”
Corlett, was sct up for the operation. The command was sta-
tioned at Fort Ord, California, and the Army troops were turned
over to me for amphibious training.

After preliminary work in California, the Ninth was ordered
to the Aleutians, with headquarters at Adak. Iere it was joined
by a Canadian brigade. I went to Adak with part of my staff
to direct the training of both the Canadian and American troops
under Arctic conditions. They were uniformed and equipped for
the cold and a powerful naval force was assembled to support
them against the anticipated strong resistance of the Japancse.

Commander of the operation was Vice Admiral Thomas
Kinkaid and Army commander was Licutenant Gencral Sinion
Bolivar Buckner, who was killed ncarly two years later at Oki-
nawa. Pete Corlett had command of the combat troops and
Rear Admiral Rockwell of the naval forces. I went along as an
observer, since I had directed training.

The landing was made in full force on August 15, with
barren results. The Japanese had evacuated Kiska, a fact I long
had suspected. Air photographs taken on the rare clear days
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when photography was possible had convinced me of their with-
drawal. | made arrangements with an Army flyer to remove the
radio from his P-38 so that I could fly piggy-back with him
from Amchitka to Kiska, where 1 could make low reconnaissance
of the island and ascertain the situdtion for mysclf. Ie removed
his radio all right but wrecked my plans by backing out at the
last minute. It’s damn hard to thumnb a ride if you're a General,

I then tricd to make a reconnaissance through official clian-
ncls but the high command ruled this out on the ground that
if a member of the reconmaissance party was captured the
enciny would torture him into giving full information of the
mmpending attack.

On board the Pennsylvania and at cng at Adak 1 was the
object of ridicule because of my persistent belief that the Japa:
nese had left Kiska. In my opinion, the key to the situation was
the mysterious disappcarance of 05 low wooden buildings, ap-
parently used by the Japancse as barracks. Early air photographs
showed them standing, in Jater pictures they had disappeared.
Obviously the enemy had torn down the buildings and uscd the
wood to build boats and rafts to take them out to waiting trans-
ports. This explanation caused the loudest laughter of all among
the skeptical strategists of the mess.

Amecrican troops landed at Kiska after heavy naval and air
preparation. They were on the island 24 hours and made no
contact with the enemy. Then the Canadians landed and moved
rapidly across the island, confirming that the Japanese had van-
ished. 'This was apparent when the first boat ran up the beach
and not a shot was fired in opposition.

The Japanesc probably had been gone three weeks and it was
a crushing anti-climax to our massively mounted operation to
discover we had been outwitted by a wily enemy exploiting the
fog and our failurc to make a proper rcconnaissance. In the
Alcutians we had all the mcans at our disposal to dctermine
definitcly whether the Japanese had evacuated Kiska but we
failed to use them. This negligence on the part of the high com-
mand was inexcusable.

I went ashore with General De Witt, who was there also
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in the role of observer, since all American troops involved were
drawn frym his Western Defense Connmnand, and on the beach
we found two roughly built boats and a pile of loose planks
stripped from a building. The planks in the two boats had
warped, making the craft unseaworthy. I had assigned members
of my staff to the Army and the Canadians and they confirmed
the thoroughiness of the evacuation. The Japanese left nothing
salvagable bechind except some blankets and winter uniforms. A
number of onc-man submarines had been wrecked beyond repair.

There was only one incident at Kiska. Two Ariny battalions
collided in the fog and opened fire. A number of men were
killed and wounded before identification was cstablished. Each
group mistook the other for Japancse.

I'rom the Aleutians, wherc the williwaws howl across the
tundra and our men worc Arctic boots and parkas as protection
against the bitler weather, my rctum to sunny Southern Cali-
fornia was a pleasant transition, heightencd by the knowledge
that soon I would be heading for the Pacific to assume my new
command,

Orders arrived shortly and after two ycars of waiting [ was'
bound for the fighting war. I assembled my staff, which com-
prised Coloncl Erskine, Chicf of Staff; Major C. W, Shisler, G-1;
Licutenant Colonel St. Julian R. Marshall, G-2; Licutenant
Colonel Robert IE. Hogaboom, G-3; Colonel Raymond E.
Knapp, G-4; Colonel A. E. Creasey, Quartcrmaster; Captain
J. B. O'Neill, usn, Corps Surgeon; Colonel J. II. N. Iudnall,
Communications Officer; Licutenant Coloncl Peter . Schreider,
Air Oflicer; Licutenant Colonel A. V. Wilson, usa, Corps of
Engineers; Lieutenant Coloncl Thomas R. Yancey, aus; Major
Charles S. Tracey, Transport Quartermaster; Major C. A. Wood-
rum, Jr., usmcr, my aide; Major J. L. Stewart, Assistant G-3;
Major W. R. Lytz, usscr, Assistant Fngineer; Captain 1. 1.
Steiner, usmcr, Assistant G-2; First Licutcnant 1. S, Dyer,
Assistant Communications Officer; IMirst Licutenant G. L. Rea,
Assistant  Quartcimaster; Sccond Lieutenant R. A, Tlamlin,
USMCR, secrctary to the Chicf of Staff; and my faithful and
irreplaceable orderly, Platoon Sergeant William L. Bradley.
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Captain Mac Asbill, Jr., my aide, followed me later to Pearl
Harbor.

For the second time in our 34 years of married life, 1 said
goodbye to my wife and left to fight in a world war. When 1
sailed for France in 1917, our son Victor was a baby. When I
left for the Pacific he was a Licutenant in the United States
Navy and I was twice a grandfather. Ada and I were extremely
proud of Marion and Holland McTreire Smith I1.
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CHAPTER VI

Ve S oS S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S oSS S S S S S S S S S S S S LSS S oA

IF THE UNITED STATES were the Arsenal of
Democracy, the Hawaiian Islands were the Pacific locker when
I arrived in Honolulu by Clipper from San Francisco on Septem-
ber 5, 1943, to assume the post of Commanding General of the
Marines in the Central Pacific.

Huge camps spotted these beautiful semi-tropical islands.
Towering stockpiles of equipment and mountains of supplies
covered mile after mile of storage bases. Pearl Harbor, once the
grave of the Fleet, was busier than any navy yard 1 had cver
secn. Ships jostled one another for room in the blue water. Air-
fields were packed with planes and it scarcely seemed possible
that less than two ycars before the Japanese had caught us
sound asleep. We were a people girded for revenge.

Rear Admiral Richmond Kelly Turner met me at the air-
port. Kelly Turner and I were to be tcam mates in all my opera-
tions. Ile commanded the Fifth Amphibious IForce while I com-
manded the expeditionary troops that went along with the Navy
and our partnership, though stormy, spelled hell in big red
letters to the Japanese.

I had met Kelly Turner in Washington when he headed the
Operations Section (War Plans) at the Navy Dcepartinent. He
had commanded the amphibious operations in the Solomon
Islands and brought to the Central Pacific considerable battle
experience. On first meeting, he suggests the exacting school-
master, almost courtly in courtesy. Ile is precise, affable in an
academic manner and you are tempted, in the first five minutes
of acquaintance, to make the snap judgment that he is a quiet,
softly philosophic man. Nothing could be farther from the truth.
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Kclly T'urncr is aggressive, a mass of encrgy and a relentless task
master. The punctilious exterior hides a terrific determination.
e can be plain omery. He wasn’t called “Ferrible Turner”
without rcason.

"Ihe broad lines of the Central Pacific offensive were drawn
at the Qucbee Conference in -August, 1943, when President
Rooscvelt and Prime Minister Churelnll discussed with the
Joint Chicfs of Staff the grand strategy of the Pacific war,

In the South Pacific, the encmy movement toward Australia
had been checked and Allied action in that theater, originally
dcfensive, had swung over to the offensive. A large part of the
Solomons was ours and General MacArthur had turned the tide
in New Guinca. Japanesce offensive action had ccased; ours was
accelerating. The time was now ripe for a boldly planncd drive
across the Central Pacific from the cast to coincide with our
advance from the south.

In the global stralcgy to which the United States was com-
mitted, the war in Europe absorbed the bulk of our military
effort and, until the defeat of Nazi Germany released from that
theater troops for employment in the Pacific, we did not have
strength for a frontal attack on Japan. Ilowcver, we did possess
sufficicnt naval and air superiority to start a war of attrition,
capture bases in Japan’s mandated islands in order to incrcase
pressure on the encmy homeland, and whittle down her strength
until we were able to launch the final assault.

A month before, Admiral Nimitz had been alerted by the
Joint Chiefs to prepare for the offensive. This was approved by
the Qucbee Conference. The Gilbert Islands, strung across the
Equator 2,000 miles southwest of lHawaii, were designated as
the jumping-off point in the Central Pacific campaign. lere the
Japancse had scized and fortificd a number of Jow-ying coral
islands in the main atolls.

In his official report, Admiral King cxplained:

Their location [the Gilberts] is of gicat strategic sigunificance
because they are north and west of other islands in our possession
and immediately south and ecast of iinportant bases in the Caro-
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lines and Marshalls. The capture of the Gilberts was, thercfore,
a necessary part of any serious thrust at the Japanese Empire.

Tarawa, the atoll in the center of the group, was sclected as
onc target and originally Nauru, the phosphate island to the
west, was suggested as the other. I'or reasons I will explain later,
Makin, at the northern end of the group, was substituted (or
Nauru in the final plans.

We captured Makin and Tarawa. 'I'he pecople of America
were shocked by the slaughter on the beaches and stirred by the
heroism of the Marines. Makin was an easy job, with few
casualtics. ‘T'arawa was a terrible baptism of blood for the new
offensive. 'The Mariues lost relatively more men in a few hours
than they had ever lost before. Tarawa cost us ggo dead and
2,311 wounded. Twice the issuc of battle was in doubt. We
could have been driven back into the lagoon, defcated, but we
were saved by the bravery and tenacity of individual Marines
and were able to chalk up a final victory.

The question is inevitable: Was Tarawa worth it? My
answer is unqualificd: No. I'rom the very beginning the decision
of the Joint Chicfs to scize Tarawa was a mistake and from
their initial mistake grew the terrible drama of crrors, crrors of
omission rather than commission, resulting in thesc ncedless
casualtics.

The operation plan issued by Admiral Nimitz dirccted the
capture of Makin, Tarawa and the nearby Apamama atolls as
a prelude to gaining control of the Marshalls. I am convinced
that we should have hit the Marshalls first, capturing Kwajalein,
which we did two months latcr. Kwajalein Atoll, in the heart of
the Marshalls, was the logical initial objective.

Tarawa had no particular strategic importance: as a basc it
had little value. 'T'he Japanese had concentrated their strength on
Betio Island, the southwestern tip of Tarawa Atoll, which is
only about thc size of Central Park in New York City. Tarawa
constituted no threat to our commuuications with the South
Pacific or to our offensive in the Central Pacific. The Japancse
had built an airficld on Betio as a refuelling base for plancs on

111



sorties from the Marshalls and the Carolines but little traffic
was observed on the field and prior to our D-Day strike
there were only two planes there. There were no  dock
or naval facilitics for the Japanese fleet and only a shallow
lagoon. )

Roi-Namur (part of Kwajalein Atoll), the biggest base in
the Marshalls whence air support could be drawn, was 6oo miles
to the northwest; Nauru was goo miles to the west; and Truk, the
great Japanesc naval and air base guarding the Central Pacific
approach, lay 1,500 miles to the northwest.

‘Tarawa should have been by-passcd. Its capturc—a mission
executed by Marines under dircct orders from the high com-
mand—was a terrible waste of life and effort. Rabaul, in the
South Pacific, and Truk, in the Central Pacific, both far stronger
and more vital Dascs, were by-passed without danger to our
rear. They both had airfields, naval and military installations,
submarine, dock and storage facilitics.

To have ignored Tarawa’s 4,000-man garrison would not
have endangered our position. In the New Britain-New lIreland
area 50,000 Japanese troops were pinched off and left to starve
when Rabaul was by-passed. Acquisition of air bascs on ncigh-
boring islands enabled us to bomb and harry the Japanese at
will, secure in our knowledge that they could not escape and
equally certain that to assault these bases would have cost us an
incalculable number of men.

Rear Admiral Forrest P. Sherman, war plans officer to
Admiral Nimitz, put his finger on the solution when we struck
dircctly at the center of the Marshalls and captured Kwajalein,
completely ignoring other Japanese occupied islands. He said,
“We shall let them wither on the vine.” To borrow his words,
we should have let Tarawa “wither on the vine.” We could
have kept it neutralized from our bases on Baker Island, to the
east, and the Ellice and Phoenix Islands, a short distance to the
southeast. Or, as we did later in the case of Rota, with a garrison
of 4,000 a few miles off the coast of Guam, used Tarawa as a
convenient bombing and “gun unloading” target.

The futile sacrifice of Marines on that strategically useless
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coral strand makes mc as sad today as it did then. Why did we
attack Tarawa? The war was young in those days and perhaps
the powers that be fclt the nced of a victory in the Central
Pacific as a demonstration upon which to base future operations.
My Marinces provided the nccessary victory but it was a fearful
initiation, out of all proportion to the results, although it taught
us lessons that were not forgotten in subscquent opcerations. But
even the knowledge we gained did not justify Tarawa.

The Gilberts attack, known as Operation GALVANIC,
was the largest we had undertaken at that stage. Shortly after my
arrival at Pearl Ilarbor an impressive chain of command was
cstablished for all amphibious operations in the forthcoming
offensive. At the top, in command of all Army, Navy and Marine
forces, was Admiral Nimmitz, Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Flect,
whose function was the planning, overall supervision of opera-
tions, logistic support and co-ordination betwcen the three
services.

Under him was Vice Admiral Raymond A. Spruance,
Deputy Commander-in-Chicf and Chief of Staff to Nimitz, who
was detached to command the Central Pacific Force, consisting
of the powerful Fifth Flect of fast battleships, cruisers and
aircraft carriers, the striking forces that kept the encmy at sea
and protected us asliore.

Next was Rear Admiral Turner, commanding the Fifth
Amphibious Force, comprising old battleships, cruiscrs, dc-
stroyers, supply ships, transports, minesweepers, a vcritable
armada of vessels for transporting, supplying and supporting
the troops.

I commanded the V Amphibious Corps, the expeditionary
troops, which were under Kclly Turner’s command for the pur-
pose of operational control but were administratively inde-
pendent. As soon as the assault waves hit the beach the status
of my command was parallel, not inferior, to Kelly Turncr’s.
For the two phases of the Gilberts operation, there was further
subdivision: Kelly Turner commanded the Northern Attack
Force for the assault on Makin and Rear Admiral Harry S. IIill
commanded the Southern Attack Force at Tarawa. These organi-
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zational details are necessary to explain the command rclation-
ships.

Headquarters of the V Amphibious Corps was in the Marine
Barracks area in the Navy Yard at Pearl Harbor. Troops assigned
here were quartered on Oabu at Camp Catlin, named after
Brigdier Gencral Albertus W. Catlin, hero of World War 1. We
had thrce Marine divisions in the Pacific and a fourth in combat
training on the West Coast. 'The Sccond Division, under Major
Geucral Julian C. Smith, assigned to the assault on ‘Tarawa, was
training in New Zealand.

For the Makin phase, the Twenty-seventh Army Division
(New York National Guard) under Major General Ralph Smith,
was assigned to the V. Amphibious Corps for operational con-
trol, a term which is frequently misunderstood and must be
clearly defined here in order to explain difficultics arising later.
The term means that 1 had no administrative control over the
Army division. The T'wenty-seventh was turned over to me for
employment in a specificd operation, in this case the capture
of Makin, and when the operation concluded the division re-
verted to the Anmy. However, only one rcgiment was actually
employed at Makin.

Crippled as I was by shortages of staff for the task of plan-
ning and training for the Gilberts at short notice, 1 sct to work
with all the data available. In my cstimate of the situation re-
garding the original objectives, 1 decided that the capture of
Nauru would require more troops than we could spare and that
the cost in men, time and cquipment of a landing on poor
beaches against strong Japanese defenses did not justify the
attack. I suggested the substitution of Makin for Nauru and after
much argument with Spruance and Turner T won my point,
which Nimitz approved. This was the first important decision 1
was able to push through.

Major General Julian Smith, Coloncl Merritt A. Edson,
his Chicf of Staff, and other members of his staff, flew from
Wellington, New Zcealand, to Pearl Iarbor, where plaus for
Tarawa were drawn up at my headquarters and approved at a
joint confercnce with Kelly Turner, Julian Smith, and our stafls.
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The Makin plans were drawn up by Major General Ralph Smith
and his staff and were similarly approved after modifications.

Commanding Army troops in the Central Pacific at this
time was Licutenant General Robert C. Richardson, Jr., who
was also Military Governor of the Iawaiian Islands. Iis nick-
name was “Nellie.” Richardson caused more than a lifting of
the eyebrows when he decorated members of his staff with the
Legion of Merit for what he terined the “massive planning” of
the Makin opcration. All the approved plans for Makin came
out of my office.

Iis penchant for such decorations was not limited to award-
ing them, as becamme cvident later in the war when he accepted
an Air Mcdal from the local air commander, in recognition of
his long overwater sightsecing trips in a comimand airplanc, to
and from islands which had been rendered safe by Marines.

I made an official call on Licutenant General Richardson
soon after 1 arrived. He was amiable and welcomed me to
Iawaii but it was evident that my appointment to command
the V Amphibious Corps and lead the Central Pacific offcnsive
was a great disappointiment to him,

Richardson’s resentment was not based upon personal objec-
tions. Of this I am surc. The rcason was much deeper rooted.
Although he commanded the Anmy troops in the Central Pacific,
his paperwork headquarters being non-tactical and responsible
only for the administration and logistic support of the troops, he
was directly under Nimitz in the chain of command. But he had
hoped that he, and not a Marine, would be given command of
amphibious operations. ‘This ambition to make the Pacific offen-
sive an Army show amounted to an obsession with Richardson
and other Army men. They ruled out the possibility of Marines
playing anything but a secondary part.

‘I'he decision to give conunand to a Marine was made by
Nimitz in his capacity as Commander-in-Chicf. Most of the
troops to be employed in the offensive would be Marincs, so a
Marine commander was the logical choice. Morcover, this highly
technical mode of warfare, in which Marines had trained for
years, demanded specialized leadership and my experience in
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training amphibious troops in the Atlantic, the Aleutians and on
the West Coast must have influenced Nimitz in his decision.
Richardson, on the other hand, had no amphibious background.
He was a diehard horse cavalry enthusiast, who had been ordered
to Hawaii from a swivel chair in the Army’s high-powered
Bureau of Public Relations in Washington.

The long standing General Staff thesis, that no Marine
should ever be allowed to exercise high command, dominated
Richardson’s thinking and eventually expanded into an inter-
Service controversy—largely of his own making—between the
Armmy and my Corps, in which he intervened against me with
Nimitz and with Washington. After Tarawa, for example, he re-
ported in a secret “eyes-only” memo to Nimitz, that Marines
were not competent to command amphibious operations and
that my veteran V Amphibious Corps headquarters should be
replaced by an Army Corps command over all the Central Pacific.
Nimitz kept me in ignorance of this, but my old team-mate,
Admiral King (ably seconded by Vandegrift), made short work
of the suggestion when it reached Washington.

Hostility to my initial endeavors from high Army sources
was never demonstrated openly. Subtle influences were set in
motion and permitted to flow unchecked through receptive
channels. In combat it was disquieting to feel that my actions
were being observed, not with the idea of constructive analysis
but with the sole purpose of finding fault. Richardson seemed
waiting for me to make a mistake that could be magnified to pro-
mote the grand plan of an Army-controlled offensive, well sup-
plied with Marine troops to do the fighting.

Had the Marines failed at Tarawa, no Marine would have
commanded another major operation. Command in the Central
Pacific would have passed to the Army. Since at this period
there was not a single Army general with amphibious experience,
it would have taken time to qualify commanders and, conse-
‘quently, would have added months to the Pacific war.

The glittering prize of amphibious warfare, spectacular vic-
tory over Japan, dazzled not only Army eyes. The prospect
pleased the Navy, who from the start made a determined effort
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to cut me down to size and show the fountainhead of authority.

In a memorandum to Spruance on September 12, 1943,
Kelly Turner indicated his intention of taking over the training
of the landing forces. This was an attemnpt to usurp my func-
tions and was probably initiated under the mistaken impression
that I was a newcomer to command and could be molded to
naval subservience. It was an effort to undermine everything we
had accomplished for the Marine Corps. As Commanding Gen-
eral of the V Amphibious Corps, I was in Hawaii to supervise
the training of troops, their embarkation and everything else
pertaining to them. I wrote Spruance four days later, strongly
protesting, and pointed out that Turner, as Commander of the
Fifth Amphibious Force, “would be granted operational control
luring the amphibious phase but that command of the landing
force is a function of the Corps Commander. . . . The amphibi-
ous training of the units assigned to the landing force must be
under his command.”

That point was conceded but, with troops assigned, trans-
ports loaded and the expedition ready to sail from Pearl Harbor
for the Gilberts, I was amazed to discover that in the general
directive from Nimitz, my name had been removed from com-
mand. Apparently, the Navy intended to employ the V Amphibi-
ous Corps and leave me, the Corps Commander, twiddling my
thumbs at Pear] Harbor. Incredible as it may seem, there it was—
or wasn’t. Nimitz had appointed me, ordered me and my staff
to Pearl Harbor to take the job, entrusted me with the training
of the troops and handed over all planning material and when
matters had reached the final stage I was to be left behind.

The last minute change of orders sent me charging over to
Spruance, who was as dumfounded as I was that his top am-
phibious officer wasn’t going along. Admiral Spruance insisted
that I go along. I had no knowledge of the person or reason
behind that extraordinary maneuver until the day Vice Admiral
Charles H. McMorris, who succeeded Spruance as Chief of Staff
to Nimitz, admitted that he was responsible. He had the Navy
idea that naval officers could do the job without Marine assist-
ance, other than divisional command.
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Looking back on this period from the vantage of years and
distance, 1 sometimes wonder if we didn’t have two enemies:
the Japanese and certain brass hats in the Army and Navy. But
at that time I was too keen to get into combat to allow intrigues
to upsct me disastrously.

For the two-phase Gilbert operation I considered the alloca-
tion of troops and targets as satisfactory as possible. Tarawa
would be a hard nut to crack. Information on Betio wasn't too
good. The island had been secized by the Japancse from the
British early in 1942 and was strongly fortified. Our charts were
old. Air reconnaissance photographs failed to reveal all details
of the enemy’s cunningly hidden defenses constructed during a
year and a half of occupation. The Second Division was a good
outfit, already battle tested, and Julian Smith had drawn up a
fine plan for wresting the island from its garrison of 4,000 men,
approximately two-thirds of whom belonged to the Special Naval
Landing IForce, the clite of Japan’s marine troops.

Makin was different. The main island of Butaritari was
lightly held. The garrison was only 2go combat personnel, plus
271 laborers, and therefore 1 cousidercd Makin a minor opera-
tion, which a single regimental combat teamn from the Twenty-
seventli Army Division could handle casily. Admittedly, 1 was
a little uneasy about the Army troops because Ralph Smith had
told me the Armny Inspector General had given an adverse report
on the division. In Iawaii, I had to high-pressure the T'weiity-
seventh to get the division into a dress rchearsal for the Makin
operation. One of Ralph Smith’s objections was that his equip-
ment might be dammaged.

I took the 165th Regiment (Reinforced) for employment at
Makin. It was the best in the division but prior to dcparture it
was reported that MP’s had been mauled in an incipient riot
over at the Twenty-seventh Division’s camp. The trouble was
reported to have started over the question of return to the main-
land after more than a year’s scrvice in the islands. This dis-
content, plus the fact that the Army troops were not so well
trained as the Marines in amphibious warfare, did not make
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the Twentyseventh an ideal division but, sincc Makin
was only fecbly defended, a reinforced regiment should take it
easily.

The Sccond Division embarked for Tarawa from New Zca-
land. The Makin forces sailed from Pearl Iarbor. T travelled
with Kelly Turner on his flagship, the USS Pennsylvania. This
was my first combat command and my sensc of expectancy just
about balanced the mental third degree 1 gave myself, turning
over all the cognate problems in my mind. Makin presented no
obvious difficulty. I was not so sure about Tarawa. One uncertain
factor was the Japancse defenses. Another was the long, fringing
reef stretching the length of the lagoon and curving shallowly
along the north shore of Betio Island, where we were to land.
The tricky question of tide could not be overlooked. The system
of underwater demolition teams, which contributed so much to
the success of later landings, had not been organized and we had
no accurate information on actual beach conditions since the
Japanese emplaced underwater obstacles.

Our landing plans were on a radically new basis. We had
Higgins boats, both rcves (Landing Craft, Vchicle, Personncl)
and rcms (Landing Craft, Medium). In New Zcaland, the
Second Division had conducted special tests in shallow water
simulating conditions anticipatcd at Tarawa.

However, we were too cautious to place our entire confi-
dence in these craft. The Sccond Division also had a battalion
of amphibian tractors, officially known as Lvr’s (Landing Ve-
hicle, Tracked), the latest addition to our mechanized cquip-
ment and forerunner of other amphibious vehicles, including
armored tanks. A few tractors, abbreviated to “amtracks,” were
used to haul supplies at Guadalcanal, but for the deceptive reef at
Tarawa we planned to send the first three waves of Marines
ashore in amtracks, using Higgins boats to complete the landing
of supporting waves and supplics.

What a fight I had to get an adequate number of amtracks
into the operation. And what a lucky day it was for the Marines
when, after virtually a stand-and-deliver ultimatum, the Navy

119



yielded on this supply request. It galls me to remember this
instance of Navy stubbornness.

Officially, the Second Division had 75 amtracks but not all
were opcrable. To insure success, more were necded. We used
125 all told, barcly sufficient to carry in the first three waves,
and during the battle the 125 dwindled to a mere handful due to
reef hazards, encmy fire and mechanical defects.

During plauning at Pearl Harbor, 1 was appalled to find
Kelly Turner shortsightedly opposing the use of amtracks. He
saw no need for them and said flatly he would not carry the
vehicles on his ships. Our equipment, he stated, was adequate
without thesc tractors.

I pointed out that it was essential we should have amtracks,
as many as we could get, for carrying men and supplics across
the rcef, which landing boats might not be able to pass, and
also for destroying underwater obstructions. On Oahu, I obtained
irrefutable proof of the amtrack’s efficiency in clearing a way
through protected beaclics. 'The amtracks walked clean through
scven lines of barbed wire in tests. We knew that a double-apron
barbed wire fence practically encircled Betio and a series of con-
crete tetrahedrons had been ncarly completed. If the reef proved
impassable for boats—and it did—the only way to get the men
ashore was in amtracks.

When our disagrecement reached an impasse I said bluntly,
“Kelly, it’s like this. I've got to have those amtracks. We'll take
a helluva licking without them.” And I added with finality, “No
amtracks: no operation.” The Marines took along their amtracks
plus reinforcements, which they obtained this way: A shipment
had arrived in San Dicgo too late to transport to New Zealand
before the Sccond Division sailed. This shipment was rushed to
American Samoa, where the Second Division picked up an addi-
tional fifty en route to Tarawa and we landed with the amtracks
despite the reef.

Admiral Nimitz stressed the value of these amphibious
vehicles in his report on the operation. He wrotc:

The ideal defensive barrier has always been one that could not
be demolished, which held up assaulting forces under the unob-
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structed fire of the defenders and past which it was impossible to
run, crawl, dig, climb or sail. The barrier reefs fulfil these condi-
tions to the letter, except when sufficient amphibious tanks and
similar vehicles are available to the attackers.

D-Day for one of the saddest and most glorious battles in
American history was set for November 20, 1943. I am not going
to describe the fight for Tarawa. The story, brilliantly told by
war correspondents and Marines, has been written into the
annals of our country. Besides, I was not there. I was 450 milcs
away, on board the Pennsylvania, chafing under the inexcusable
delay caused by the fumbling Makin operation. Makin should
have been cleaned up in one day but fighting dragged out thrce
days and chained me to this insignificant skirmish.

My only direct contact with Tarawa was through laconic
messages from Major General Julian Smith reporting the shift-
ing phascs of thc attack. Thice days of prelanding air and
naval bombardment failed to knock out the defenses. So strong
was Bctio that our naval gunfire did not materially reduce re-
sistance. Two thousand tons of naval shells and 400 tons of
bombs had little effect. The Japancse were ready for us. Hardly
had the transport flect hove into sight, hardly had the assault
force started cmbarking in amtracks and boats for the organiza-
tion of waves when the shore batteries opened fire and our first
casualties were caused by ncar misses.

What happened was that thrce of the four 8-inch Vickers
guns, brought to Tarawa by the Japanese after the British sur-
rendered Singapore Base, were still in action. Only one was
knocked out by the initial bombardment. Our transports
anchored far south of their proper stations and came within the
1ange of cnemy guns. H-hour (landing hour) was postponed
twicc while the transports shifted position to escape shore fire
and were followed by the already loaded craft. Precious timc was
wasted in organizing assault waves because in the confusion
boats were separated from their mother ships. Meanwhile, naval
units moved in and silenced the big shore guns but for half an
hour the Japanese gunners ashore had the transports at their
mercy. Providentially for us, the Japanese scemed inept despite
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our feeble initial bombardment. Perhaps the bombardment did
stun them and disrupt their communications. Otherwise, they
might have sunk some of our transports and wrecked our plans.
As it was, the dammage they inflicted was minor.

After two postponements, I1-hour was fixed for ogoo. One
Marine party already had reached the pier jutting out soo yards
from the north shore of Betio, where we had choscn our three
landing beaches. Thrce waves of amtracks headed for shore, fol-
lowed by landing boats. The recf was our undoing. It cost us
many casualtics on the first and sccond days of the battle. An
attempt to lay down a smoke scrcen failed because the wind
shifted. Also, an unaccountably low tide—which lasted for two
days—lowered the water on the reef so that only amtracks were
able to get ashore. The Higgins boats stranded on the reef, half
a mile from the beach. Marvelous as they were, the Iliggins
boats couldn’t run over dry coral.

At this point the failure of the bombardment to come up
to the Navy’s expectations became tragically apparent. Though
the big guns had been taken out, there were dozens of smaller
guus, from five-inchers down to vicious 37-millimeter anti-boat
guns and machinc guns in concrete emplacements and pillboxes.
They were still operating, raining murdcrous firc on that half
mile from reef to shore, where the men of the later waves jumped
out of their boats and waded through the blood-stained surf into
the swirling red hell that was Tarawa.

These details, of necessity, I learncd later. On board the Penn-
sylvania, pacing ncar the communications shack and watching
the dilatory Makin operation, I was unable to realize the gravity
of the situation at Tarawa. The first message from Julian Smith
read:

Successful Jandings on Beaches Red 2 and 3. Toe hold on Red 1.
Am committing one LT (Landing Tcam) from division reserve.
Still encountering strong resistance.

This message was timed an hour and a half after the land-
ing and since his reference to committing another landing team
from division reserve was not a cause for great alarm, in view of
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the resistance, it was not until that afternoon that I got a true
picturc of Tarawa.

A message from Julian Smith reported that heavy casualtics
had been suffered during the morning and added, “The situation
is in doubt.” I was holding the Sixth Regiment, Sccond Division,
as Corps reserve. Julian Smith asked that this reserve be turned
over to him. Without it he was uncertain of the final outcome.
He was sending in his own reserve and this left him with a few
artillerymen, cngincers, mechanics, military police and head-
quarters technicians.

Kelly Turner was in his cabin resting after long hours on
the bridge. I took the message directly to him. After a discussion
we decided to relcase the Corps rescrve for employment by
Julian Sinith in compliance with his request. No conditions were
imposed on its relcase, though 1 was seriously disturbed by such
an carly request. The battle was only a few hours old. I had full
confidence in the commander of the Second Division and in his
ability to use the reserve advantageously. I have always believed
in decentralization and when a man is given a job to do lic
should be supported fully. The Second Division was onc of the
best in the Marine Corps; it was well trained and well led and,
though the picture looked black, I was sure Julian Smith would
not fail. Ilaving landed, the Marines would hold on. My faith
in the Corps rcassured me.

But, knowing the strength of Betio, I was extremely appre-
hensive. Julian Smith would not have asked me to commit our
last reserve unless conditions demanded this desperate action.

No news is good news in the ordinary pursuits of life but in
war no news is bad news. I had lhad no sleep the night before
and after committing our last rescrve to the battle of Tarawa,
sleep again was out of question. No matter what happened to my
Marines at Tarawa I could not be with them because Turner
insisted that I remain at Makin. He promised to send me south
as soon as the situation was well in hand. Makin, an opcration
the Marincs could have completed in a few hours, came first and
he was in overall command. I stayed aboard the flagship, waiting.

That night, alone in my cabin with my fears, I turned to a
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source of solace that has never failed me. I opened my Bible
and read about Joshua and the Children of Isracl and their
troubles and triumphs. During the war, I always read the Bible
each night before I went to sleep. It was a great spiritual relaxa-
tion: an answer to the day’s problems. My Bible was given to
me by my mother when I joined the Marine Corps and she
admonished me, “Ilolland, always rcad your Bible. Never be
ashamed of being estcemed religious.”

Two other books also gave me consolation. One was the
Catholic Prayer Book and the other a collection arranged by
Father Joseph IF. Stedman, bearing the title My Daily Read-
ings from the New Testament and the Daily Mass Book, dis-
tributed by the Chaplain’s Aid Association. Coming from a
Methodist family, I follow the faith of my fathers, but in the
Pacific I was ncver without these two books and read a prayer
from them cach night. I have always felt a spccial sympathy
with the doctrines of the Catholic Church because of the spirit-
ual discipline the Church imposes.

Next morning I was buoyed by new hope, although the
news on the sccond day was little better than on the first. Again
the treacherous reef, the best ally the Japanese had, combined
with encmy fire to hold up our landing. We still had only a
precarious hold ashore but one factor was in our favor as we
struggled to consolidate our position.

The Japanese were unable to counterattack. Ilad they
counterattacked that first night they might have driven us back
into the lagoon but the bombardment had achieved one positive
result. Encmy communications, which were above ground, had
been disrupted by naval gunfirc and the Japanese were no longer
a cohesive force but a scrics of scattcred units. They had no
system of runners for carrying messages and could not organize
a counterattack.

The situation on the recf continued to worry me. Our supply
“of amtracks was limited and could not last indcfinitcly under
operational strain. The dismal picture of my men trying to wade
ashore against Japancse fire was before my eyes all day. I could
do nothing to help them except pray for an early conclusion of
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the Makin phase so that I could take the first plane to Tarawa.

However, reasoning dispassionately, I was able to discover
reason for hope. In spite of terrific obstacles we had succceded
in getting a few tanks ashore, as I learned later, and this chcered
the men tremendously. On the evening of D)-day, Licutcnant
Colonel Presley M. Rixey had started landing the 1st Battalion,
1oth Marines (Artillery), a 7g-millimeter pack howitzer
unit.

Except for some destroyer fire on the eastern end of the
island, Navy guns were helpless because of the uncertain situa-
tion ashore: the chances of killing Marines were too great in
continued close fire support. By the morning of the sccond day,
Rixey had five sections in action, bearing on Japanesc strong
points at close range.

The second day of the battle for Tarawa was one of climax
and anti-climax. The bottlencck of the reef looked very scrious
when I studied Julian Smith’s earlier messages but 30 hours
after the Marines went ashore came a message which relayed the
news from Colonel David M. Shoup, shore commander, report-
ing:

Casualtics many; percentage of dead not known; combat cffi-
ciency: We are winning.

With this message in my hand I knew that the darkest hour
at Tarawa had passed. Throwing in the Corps reserve had
swayed the balance. Not only had Marine combat training tri-
umplied; so had our morale. I looked forward more eagerly than
ever to standing beside my men at Tarawa.

At Makin, however, the Army troops were infuriatingly
slow. Butaritari, the objective island, should have been sccured
by dusk on D-day. Any Marine regiment would have doue it in
that time. At Eniwetok, the 22nd Marine Regiment, under
Colonel John T. Walker, captured Engebi, a far stronger island
than Makin, in seven hours, but on the morning of the second
day the end of the Makin operation was not even in sight.
Armny superiority in numbers alone should have overwhelmed
the Japanese. The 165th Infantry (Reinforced) totalled 6,500
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men against an enemy garrison of 29o armed with nothing larger
than light artillery and machine guns.

I was very dissatisfied with the regiment’s lack of offensive
spirit; it was preposterous that such a small Japanese force could
delay the capture of Makin three days. It probably was not the
fault of the men. The 165th was not too well officered. When 1
returned to Pearl Harbor, I reported to Admiral Nimitz that had
Ralph Smith been a Marine I would have relieved him of his
command on the spot. His conduct of the operation did not
measure up to my expectations at all.

Speaking as a Marine, faithful to service tradition, I was
greatly disturbed by a certain incident at Makin. On D-day,
Colonel Gardiner Conroy, commanding officer of the 165th
Regiment, exposed himself while making a reconnaissance and
was killed by a Japanese sniper. With him at the time was Lieu-
tenant Colonel James Roosevelt, son of the President, who was
a Marine observer attached to the Army. Two days later, I was
shocked to find the gallant Colonel’s body still lying where it
had fallen. No attempt had been made by either his officers
or his men to recover the body and give it a Christian
burial.

The body lay a few yards from the main road traversed by
troops, jeeps and trucks, in full sight of hundreds of men and
only a short distance from the beach. It was inconceivable to me
that soldiers of a regiment, whose loyalty is centered on the man
directly in command, their Colonel, could permit his body to lie
unrecovered for two days. There was no danger involved in
recovering it and even if there had been, such negligence was
inexcusable. To me this callous disregard of a soldier’s common
duty to his commanding officer was an ominous commentary
on the morale of the regiment. I ordered Ralph Smith to recover
the body immediately and bury it. In that order I used emphatic
language.

Poor Conroy’s death had an ironic aftermath. Back in
Honolulu, Richardson, without any reference to me, let alone
the Marine Corps, decorated young Roosevelt with the Silver
Star for his part in the Makin operation, which consisted of
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being present. Had the matter been referred to me, a courtesy
which should have been extended to the Commanding General,
I would have strongly disapproved the recommendation. Jimmy
Roosevelt proved himself a competent and courageous Marine
on many occasions, but I always wondered how he felt about that
decoration.

Another incident at Makin, well publicized at the time,
involved a young Army lieutenant who was doing some wild
firing. “Son, if you can’t do better than that I'll have to take
your gun away from you,” I was quoted as saying. That admoni-
tion cast me in a paternalistic role which tells only half the story.
The complete version is a sorry reflection on the undisciplined,
trigger-happy Army troops on the island.

This is what happened: Accompanied by my aides, Major
Woodrum and Captain Asbill, I was driving along the beach
where hundreds of troops were unloading supplies. A company
came through, firing indiscriminately right and left and forcing
the unloading party to take cover in the belief it was enemy
fire. Jumping from my jeep, I located the lieutenant in com-
mand and asked what he was firing at.

“I'm trying to clean out snipers in this area,” he replied.

“Can’t you see there aren’t any Japs around here?” I
shouted. “Our men are working all over the area and you come
shooting at tree tops when any damn fool can see there aren’t
any Japs up there. Why, the enemy is thousands of yards up
front.”

“I was given orders to clean out this area,” the lieutenant
persisted. “And I think there still may be Japs around here. I'm
shooting at everything so we won’t be taking any chances.”

This did make me howling mad. “If I hear one more shot
from your men in this area I'll take your damn weapons and all
your ammunition away from you,” 1 said, revealing my identity.
I was wearing my utility suit, without insignia. The shooting
stopped and unloading was resumed.

One of the worst nights I ever spent in the Pacific was at the
Command Post ashore on Makin when I slept under a mosquito
net, on a cot set outside the tent. This was the first time the
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165th Regiment had been in action and I hoped the presence of
Ralph Smith, their Comnmanding General, and myself would be
a good influence on the sentrics posted around camp. I was mis-
taken. Shots whizzed over my head from a 25-yard range, drilled
holes in the command post tent and clipped coconuts off the
trees. I crawled out from under my net and implored the sentrics
to stop shooting at shadows. There wasn’t a Japanese within a
mile of the Comumand Post. My two orderlies, Sergcant Bradley
and Sergeant Danicls, were less sanguine about their Army bud-
dies. They spent an unmolested night in foxholes.

Only a brief examination of the situation ashore sufliced to
show there was little opposition. I stressed to Ralph Smith the
importance of cleaning up the island as soon as possible, and
early on the morning of the third day I called for a report. I re-
ceived one saying there was still heavy fighting at the northemn
end of the island, which delayed final capture. This seemed
highly improbable, so I took a jecp and drove to the scene of
the reported action. There was no firing of any sort. Two Army
officers, Coloncl Aereckson, Ileadquarters Support Aircraft offi-
cer, and Colonel C. B. Tenney, afterward Island Commander at
Makin, joined me and we advanced to the front line of the bat-
talion occupying that zone. It was as quiet as Wall Strect on
Sunday.

“Sometimes a General has to go up to the front and let the
troops see him,” I remarked. *“That’s the only way he can make
them realize there’s nothing ahead of them.”

I was furious with Ralph Smith. T was anxious to go to
Tarawa and here lic was fiddling around with an operation that
should have been ended long Lefore in my opinion. 1lis com-
munications with his regiment were extremely poor and he
showed little cnterprise in improving them. Ie didn’t know
where his battalions were, and insisted on sitting by the phone,
where he couldn’t get any information because the phone didn’t
work.

Back at the Command Post I advised him to go and have a
look for himself at what his staff called heavy fighting. There
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were very few Japanese alive on Makin and it was all over as far
as I was concerned. I collccted my staff and returned to the Penn-
sylvania, where I reported to Kelly Turner there was no further
need for my presence at Makin. That afternoon, a short time
after I left the island, came Ralph Smith’s message: “Makin
taken.”

Later the same afternoon the best news I ever reccived came
from Julian Smith. Organized resistance had ccascd on Tarawa.
Saipan and lwo Jima caused me many anxious hours but the relicf
when they were “sccured,” the official end of operations, was
nothing to the overflowing happiness 1 felt at that message from
Tarawa.

Officially, Tarawa was secured at 1300, seventy-six hours
after the Marines landed. Securcd docs not mcan that fighting
has ended. There is always the job of mopping up and cleaning
out isolated pockets of resistance, but to all practical purposes
fighting is over. The message meant Tarawa was ours; Makin
was ours; and when Brigadier General Leo D. llermle seized
Apamama Atoll two days later, after Marine reconnaissance
troops had landed, the Gilbert Islands were ours. For the first
time in a weck I slept soundly, free from the endless apprchen-
sions that had tortured ine, and I woke up refreshed, ready to
board the seaplane to Tarawa.

No words of mine can reproduce the picture I saw when
the plane landed after circling that wracked and battcred island.
The sight of our dead floating in the waters of the lagoon and
lying along the blood-soaked beaches is one 1 will never forget.
Over the pitted, blasted island hung a miasma of coral dust and
death, nauseating and horrifying. Chaplains, corpsmen and troops
were carrying away wounded and burying the dead. We had
about a thousand killed and, addcd to this nightmare of mangled
bodies, were the four to five thousand Japanese. The Marines
took 146 prisoncrs but only 17 were Japanese. The others were
Korean laborers.

As 1 stepped ashore from the barge to the jetty inside the
lagoon on my way to Julian Smitl’s Command Post, 1 passed
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boys who had lived yesterday a thousand times and looked older
than their fathers. Dirty, unshaven, with gaunt, alnost sightless
eyes, they had survived the ordeal but it had chilled their souls.
They found it hard to belicve they were actually alive. There
were no smiles on these ancient, youthful faces; only passive re-
lief among the dead.

I haven’t the slightest recollection of what I said to Julian
Smith when I mct him in the battered Japanese shack he called
his headquarters, although I remember vividly the faces of the
boys on the beach. I do remember clasping his hand warnnly and
I must have congratulated him on his fine conduct of the cam-
paign. He was elated over victory but, like mysclf, distressed by
the casualtics. We both knew the Marines would be criticized
by the pcople back home, to whom the high pricc paid for
Tarawa must come as a shock. I do remember that later 1 ex-
tended congratulations to members of his staff and to officers of
the Second Division—that is, those who survived. Among 3,301
casualties at Tarawa, were §7 officers killed and 111 wounded.
The ratio of dead to woundecd—about one to two—was probably
the highest in any battle of World War I1.

With Julian Smith I made a tour of the western and central
portions of the island, where the enemy had built his strongest
pillboxes and blockhouses. My pride in the invincible spirit of
the Marines was never greater. Only men with the highest morale
and willingness to die rather than be defeated could have cap-
turcd this well-nigh impregnable chain of fortifications. Japanese
prisoners told me their officers boasted Betio dcefenses were so
strong that a million men could not take the island.

T'urning to Major Woodrum, I said, “I don’t scc how they
ever took Tarawa. It's the most completely defended island 1
lave cver scen.”

That inspection trip left other impressions on my mind—
impressions of our own inadequacics. Before the Marines landed
and the Navy laid down the final bombardment, onc of the Ad-
mirals messaged the Southermn Attack Force:

It is not our intention to wreck the island. We do not intend to
destroy it. Gentlemen, we will obliterate it.
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Obliterate it? 1 entered every pillbox and blockhouse on the
western end of the island and found only one had cven been hit
by naval gunfire. Not onc had been destroyed. All of them had
to be destroyed by the Marines with cxplosive charges and hand
grenades. Dead Japancese lay everywhere but they were killed by
Marincs, not by Naval gunfirc.

Instcad of three days’ preliminary bombardment, Betio
needed at lcast ten. After that amount of fire, the Marines would
not have faced guns that should have been knocked out before
they landed. They would not have had to capture, almost bare-
handed, positions the Japanese had fortificd for 15 months. The
strength of the blockhouses was tremendous. Concrete was five
feet thick and superimposed were 8-inch coconut palm logs, rein-
forced with angle iron and railroad spikes. The Japancse then
piled ten feet of coral or soil on this structure. Nothing but a
direct hit with a 16-inch shell, or a 2,000-pound bomb could
cave them in.

The Second Division had initiated a request to Major Gen-
cral Willis A. Hale, commanding the Arny’s Seventh Air IForcc,
that 2,000-pound bombs be dropped on Betio. For some unex-
plained recason, this request was ignored so therc was nothing left
for the Marines to do but take the blockhousces by frontal attack.

The Japanese Command Post was a case in point. On the
low-lying coral island it reared against the skyline like a two-story
house, a massive building of reinforced concrete, coconut logs
and sandbags. A Kingfisher rcconnaissance plane from the USS
Maryland, Ihll's flagship, spottcd it intact long after it was
supposcd to have been knocked out. Ile radiocd his discovery to
the task force and his message was acknowledged. But it was not
knacked out.

Once more, the Marines took the blockhouse their own way.
Bulldozers were moved up, the drivers sheltering behind the
blades, and buried the entrance in coral and dirt. As the height
of the rubble increased, gunports and other apertures were closed,
immobilizing all Japanese resistance and completing the process
of entombment. Marincs then climbed on top of the block-
houses and poured gasolinc down the air vents. A few hand
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grenades, and incineration followed. Rear Adiniral Keijai Shi-
bashi, the island commander, was the principal victim of this
holocaust. The Marines took out 300 bodies. It was a grim pro-
cedure but the only course left to the Marines if they wanted to
survive.

If I'arawa had to be fought, its only justification was the in-
formation we gained that saved lives and increased the efliciency
of our landing technique in subscquent opcrations. We were
entering a new, uncharted land, a field of military enterpriscs in
which we were guided only by theory and peacetime mancuvers.
At best, simulated attacks are poor substitutes for combat experi-
ence. 'This was our first frontal attack on a fortified encmy atoll
and we were ignorant both of its capacity for resistance and of
our own offensive limitations. The Marine doctrine of amphibi-
ous assault stood the test.

Timing of the operation and the selection of beaches were
good. The threc beaches on the north coast of Betio, inside the
lagoon, were the only feasible landing beaches. Had we delayed
our attack a few wecks, the Japanese would have completed their
ring of underwater obstacles and made our landing even more
difficult. Licutcnant Colonel (afterwards Brigadier General)
Evans I'. Carlson’s raid on Makin in August, 1942, was a spec-
tacular performance by his 2nd Marine Raider Battalion but it
was also a picce of folly. The raid had no uscful military purpose
and scrved only to alert the Japanesc to our intentions in the
Gilberts. The mtensive fortification of Tarawa dates from that
raid.

Tarawa taught us the necessity for more naval gunfire and
more air bombing before we undertook a landing. What was
considered by the Navy a paralyzing amount of fire was dirccted
at Betio, in our first wedding of naval guns and airplane bombs
in the reduction of a fortified atoll, but until after Tarawa we
could not calculate accurately the result of this type of attack
on concentrated fortifications such as the Japanese had con-
structed. Morcover, the Navy was inclined to exaggerate the de-
structive effect of gunfire and this failing really amounted to a
job imperfectly done. The Marines discovered this fact only when
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they tried to land. Air assistance was no better gauged than naval
support and the strikes were poorly co-ordinated. The plancs
were not there when needed. The secret of amphibious warfare
is concentration of your forces and meticulous co-ordination of
all clements, plus as much naval gunfire and air bommbardment as
you can pour into enemy positions.

An island as small as Betio made it impossible to cstablish
a beachhcad as we understand the term in amphibious parlance.
There was no depth beyond the beaches for landing supplies and
organizing attacks. With cvery yard accurately and carcfully
covered by enemy fire, we had first to get a toehold and proceed
to take the island all in onc picce. 'This was the first time we had
made an assault across a fringing recf covered by an uncertain
depth of water and our calculations on water depth were badly
in crror. The Japanese were fully aware of the dcfensive possi-
bilitics of that reef from the vantage of their pressited guns, and
they were helped by the inexplicably low tide which held for
two days.

Another lesson the Navy should have learned was the need
for better co-operation between all units. An Admiral should con-
fine himsclf to the job of carrying the troops safely to the objec-
tive and then helping to protect them. He should lcave details of
landing and assault to the troop commander.

The rcef at Tarawa cmphasized the value of amphibian
vehicles. The operation was as much a test of our technical equip-
ment as it was of our landing technique. We should have had
more amtracks for employment in the initial landing, with ade-
quate rescrves for vehicles knocked out by enemy gnus or in-
capacitated by mechanical difficulties. The two or thice types
uscd stood up well. The average mechanical life of an amtrack
is 200 hours; some of those used at Tarawa had alrcady run
400 hours.

After Tarawa I made up my mind that all future landings
would be spearheaded by amphibious vehicles, cither the open-
decked amtrack, of which a new improved model was already
being made available, or amphibian tanks, carrying heavicr guns,
which were in production. "This decision did not mean discard:
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ing Iliggins boats. These craft could be used on unobstructed
beachces, or through reef channcls—as the work horse of amphibi-
ous landings—but for impassable reefs the solution was the
amphibious vehicle.

Tarawa taught other lessons. It stimulated our desire to
learn. It taught us morc about the character of the encmy than
all the textbooks and intelligence reports at staff disposal. In the
stratcgical scheme for the Central Pacific offensive, it taught me
that the instrument of high policy known as the Joint Chicfs of
Staff was not infallible.

Tarawa was a mistake.
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CHAPTER VII
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BE'I'\VEEN OPERATIONS aud planning (or opcra-
tions in the Pacific, life with the top echelons at Pearl Tarbor
could be very pleasant once you penctrated the inner defenses.
The brass lived at Makalapa, a settlement spick-and-span as a
ship’s deck, on the hill behind cinerac, Admiral Nimitz's head-
quarters twelve miles outside Honolulu. Makalapa, the name of
a crater, mcans “I"lashing Eyes” in 1lawaiian.

Makalapa residents had the choice of two finc views. Look-
ing out to sea lay West Locl, a sheltered arm of Pearl Harbor,
and Battleship Row where, on that ill-starred morning of De-
cember 7, our battleships lay two by two, sitting ducks for Japa-
nese dive bombers. Inland stretched another sca of rustling green
cane, slashed by brick-red clay roads, and beyond rose the green
mountains, the eternal home of Ilawaii’s incredible rainbows.

Our quarters werc neat bungalows located in trim lawns,
where ageless, unidentifiable women from the Orient, typical of
the racial admixture of the Islands, scttled cacli morning like
birds. They hid beneath huge, floppy hats to weed the lawns or
prunc the wayward hibiscus. Makalapa was laid out like a real
estate development, with tennis courts and a swinmuming pool,
and the strects were named after Pacific battles. When we cap-
tured an island, or fought a naval engagement, the name was
given to a street and Makalapa became a residential history of the
Pacific war. I lived on Makalapa Drive near Betio Street, named
for the island where the battle of Tarawa was fought.

Dominating Makalapa was cincpac headquarters, a gray,
fourstory building with decks instcad of floors, as the most
junior ensign soon learned. Admiral Nimitz had a fondncess for
brisk walks, preferably uphill, and a passion for sccrccy. This
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Texan was a fine pistol shot—he practiced every mormmg on his
private range outside cincpac, where a Marine stood on pre-
cautionary duty and a notice on the wall warned passersby that
firing was in progress.

‘The Admiral’s private ainbition was to sink the six Japanese
carricrs that bombed Pearl Harbor. I'our of the carricrs were
sunk by our Navy at the Battle of Midway but the Shokaku and
Zuikaku were still afloat when I arrived at Pearl Harbor in the
autumn of 1943.

“Holland,” the Admiral once said to me, “the happicst day
of my life will be the day when I rcach my office to find a mes-
sage on my desk reporting that we have sunk these two carriers.”
That happiness never came to Nimitz all at once but eventually
—in June and October, 1944—the score was wipced off the slate.

Nimitz was godhead of the hicrarchy at Makalapa and the
Thrones, Dominations, Princedoms, Virtues and Powers of
brass ranked through Vice Admirals down to the lowest myrmi-
dons, who inhabited bachclor officers’ quarters.

Morc naval brass was sheltered in this sanctuary than any-
where else in the world. God only knows what would have hap-
pened if the Japanese had learned of its existence and bombed
Makalapa. The course of the war probably would have been
changed but the strictest security shielded the settlement from
this appalling eventuality. While Makalapa was the most brass-
bound community in the world it also was the most secret. It had
no existence in comununiques or press handouts. The mere
whisper of the sacred name Makalapa made a censor blanch, and
Honolulu taxidrivers bluntly refused to go into the district under
the mistaken impression that they would be arrested immediately
by MP’s.

Less awed by the esoteric existence imposed upon the com-
munity by sccurity authorities were the newspaper correspondents
who, with alliterative irreverence, called us “T'he Mad Monks of
Makalapa.”

I mentioned penetrating the inner defenses of Makalapa
because it was difficult for a Marine to get beyond them. When
I arrived at Pearl Harbor to command the V Amphibious Corps,
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Rear Admiral Turner met me at the airport and took me out to
Makalapa where, to my astonishiment, I was conducted to quar-
ters in the section at the foot of the hill reserved for junior licu-
tenants. I was a senior Major General, senior to all Rear Admirals
at Pearl ITarbor with one exception, but with the habitual disre-
gard of the Navy for the Marines it was decided that any old
place would do for a Marine General.

If there is one thing I have fought consistently over the
years, it is this non-recognition by the Navy of the status of the
Marine Corps. So I went into action and I didn’t stay long in
those foot-of-the-hill quarters.

I protested and after the usual explanation of a billcting
officer’s crror I was moved up the hill. Two doors away lived
Vice Admiral Charles A. Lockwood and across the strect were
Vice Admiral Raymond A. Spruance and Vice Adiniral William
L. Calhoun, which put me in a better frame of mind, although
I never was able to acclimatize myself to the prevailing social
conditions.

For one thing, 1 had no white uniforms. It never occurred
to me to bring them, since I was on my way to the combat arca.
To my surprise, war had failed to take the starch out of Tlono-
lulu’s shirt {ront and many civilians never appeared to take the
war seriously. In this they were aided and abetted by ranking
Army and Navy officers, who circled around the Big Five, the
cominercial and social apex of life in the Iawaiian Islands, en-
joying lavish hospitality. Dances at the Outrigger, overlooking
the beach at Waikiki, brought out as many white uniforms as a
peacctime ship inspection.

At first 1 was stubborn; I stuck to my khaki uniforms and
earncd the reputation of being a cranky individualist who be-
lieved that in war we should drcss like soldiers. I hate to admit it
but polite jeers at my habits of dress finally wore me down and
on my first trip back to the Coast I decided to dig out my white
uniforims and avoid embarrassment by wearing them. Once or
twice I did surrender to current social standards, but not cheer-
fully. ’

Going formal in the middle of a war was part of the queer

137



detachment that civilians in I1awaii, working on the vanity of the
services, were able to maintain. I never understood exactly how
they managed it. This dressiness always impressed Marines back
from the foxholes more than any other phase of Ilonolulu’s
wartime front. Ilowever, I am sure that the main endeavor of the
inhabitants of Makalapa was to bring the war to a speedy and
successful conclusion.

After the Gilberts, the staff of the V- Amphibious Corps
plunged into the next phase of the Central Pacific offensive, the
capture of the Marshall Islands. During our planning of this
operation, General Marshall, Army Chicf of Staff, visited Pearl
Harbor and addressed a conference of Army, Navy and Marine
chicfs in the arca.

Iis discussion of certain aspects of the use of machine guns
and rockets from small Janding boats—along experimental lines
we had tried and abandoned—was an indication of his unfamili-
arity (like most Army officers) with amphibious technique. It is
difficult at best to hang on in a small boat plunging and wallow-
ing among reefs, shallow waters, surf and a running tide. 1 fclt
that Marshall’s intention was to belittle the Marine cffort instead
of giving us a helpful analysis, which a soldier of his unquestioned
caliber could have done; and once again 1 recalled his anti-
Marine role in the Iecland Command controversy.

Licutenant General Richiardson sat there, cating it up. It
was plain that he had not abandoned the hope that command
of the offensive eventually would fall into the Army’s lap and
Marshall’s criticisin fcd that hope.

Thinking over Marshall’s talk that night, I began to wonder
if it could be possible that the Joint Chiefs of Staff were working
m the dark back in Washinglon. Apparently they were receiving
incomplete information on the actions in the Pacific, which
would account for Marshall’s ill-formed opinions. IYor instance,
Nimitz was not forwarding all information to Washington. Like
MacArthur, ruling at the other side of the Pacific, the Admiral
exercised a proprictary interest in his own theater of operations,
to the exclusion of the Joint Chicfs.
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Confirmation of this news starvation came in a letter from
Admiral King, cominch, passed on to me for reference. 1 gave
an interview after Tarawa and some of my remarks were badly
garbled because of Navy censorship and public reaction to our
losses.

King deplored the “bad press” ‘Tarawa had received and ex-
plained that, although volumes of newspaper stories had been
published on the battle, no official account had reached Wash-
ington. Apparently the Joint Chiefs had to read the newspapers
or turn on the radio for news of the Pacific because Nimitz was
not keeping them informed.

The letter of the Commandcr-in-Chief, dated December
16, 1943, nearly a month after Tarawa, demanded plaintively:

Prompt information to this IHeadquarters of important dctails
of each landing operation. This may be accomplished either in a
report or by sending to Washington an officer familiar with the
operation.

Prompt information of detailed plans to this IHeadquarters.
The Comimander-in-Chief, United States Fleet, docs not demand
that these be sent in advance of an operation, but he should not
be left in the dark indefinitely as to what it was planned to do.

I would not go so far as to say that the Joint Chicfs did not
know what was happening once they had drawn the broad lines
of policy but judging by this Ictter their information was, to say
the least, incomplete.

Planning for the Marshalls began long before I arrived in
the Pacific and before we captured the Gilberts. Certain basic
decisions were approved by President Roosevelt in Washington
in May, 1943, and ciNcpac submitted detailed plans for the
Marshalls opcrations to the Joint Chicfs as carly as July 1, 1943.
These plans, however, involved a number of uncertain factors:
lack of intelligence, ignorance of the type of defensc the Japa-
nese would adopt, absence of air photographs, and only a theo-
retical knowledge of the ability of amphibious vehicles to cross
reefs under fire.
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Kelly Turner and I did not begin actual planning on the
basis of information available and on tests of amphibious equip-
ment until the first week in October, and two weeks later Nimitz
issued his operations plan establishing the task organization for
the capture of the Marshalls but leaving the precisc objectives
to be designated later.

The ground forces allocated as assault troops were the Fourth
Marine Division, fresh from amphibious training at Camp
Pendleton, and the Seventh Anny Division, veterans of Attu,
with the 106th Infantry from the ‘Twenty-seventh Army Divi-
sion, and the 22nd Marines as Corps reserves. I immediately
ordered the Fourth Marines into further amphibious training at
Maalaca Bay on the island of Maui, with specific attention to
maneuvers for atoll warfare and also the use of supporting artil-
Jery, which was to be a feature of our tactical plan. I asked for
the Seventh Division to be tumed over to me for similar training
but this was not immediately possible.

Our thrust into the Marshalls involved considerable revision
of carly plans before we were able to decide upon detailed ob-
jectives. Lying 2,400 miles west of }awaii and almost midway
between Hawaii and the Philippines, the Marshalls had been in
Japanese hands since World War I, when the enemy took them
from the Genans. They were mandated to Japan in 1920 by
the League of Nations. I'rom north to south, they stretch 700
miles and consist of some 30 large atolls, all following the gen-
cral coral pattern of a ring of small islands encircling a central
lagoon. The islands barely rise above the blue watcer and those
which attained 20 feet above sea level were considered topo-
graphically “mountainous.”

In the center of the group is Kwajalein, the largest atoll in
the world, running 6o miles from north to south and 20 miles
from east to west. Northwest of the great atoll, in the loncliest
stretches of the ocean, are Eniwetok and Bikini atolls, which
since the war have been converted into our atomic experimenta-
tion bases in the Pacific.

When we decided to invade the Marshalls the Japanese had
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fortified six atolls: Eniwetok, Jaluit, Kwajalein, Maloclap, Mille,
and Wotje. Their total garrison was 25,000 men. Our original
plan called for the capture of Kwajalein, Maloelap, and Wotje,
the development of bases on the main islands of thesc atolls, and
the neutralization of Mille and Jaluit in order to insurc our con-
trol of the Marshalls. D-day for the attack on the first atoll was
set for January 1, 1944. In my estimate of the situation, T ex-
pressed the view that we should take Maloelap and Wotjc first,
and then move on to Kwajalein.

The intervention of the Gilberts operation diverted my per-
sonal attention tcmporarily from the Marshalls, but Bobby
Erskine and part of my staft rcinained behind at Pearl Harbor
to work on the plans based on the original Nimitz dircctive.

Wlicn I returned from Tarawa, armed with practical experi-
ence in atoll warfare, plus a knowledge of Japanese defense tac-
tics and our own limitations, I could see plainly that the Mar-
shalls plan was too ambitious. 'I'o undertake an operation of the
extent contemplated, we would need at least another division of
troops, in addition to the two divisions assigned, and cven then
I was doubtful that we could gain our objectives.

On December 6 T recommended that we abandon the idea
of taking the three objectives sclected in the Marshalls and con-
centrate on one. Kelly Turner, also with Tarawa in mind, sup-
ported me. On the selection of the single preferred target, how-
ever, the top cchelons differed and the conference room at
cincpac cchoed with dissent. Nimilz and his planning officer,
Rear Admiral Sherman, favored striking directly at the heart
of the Marshalls, by-passing other atolls. Spruance and Kelly
Turner were opposed to this course, basing their objections
upon the fear of air attack from Jaluit, Maloelap and Mille, ly-
ing across our routc through the group. My own view was that
a bold blow at Kwajalein was not only feasible but the most prac-
tical way of reducing the entire group. 1 favored the Nimitz-
Sherman proposal.

We finally decided upon the capture of Kwajalein Atoll,
plus an additional unnamed atoll with a good anchorage, nceded
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as an advanced base for the Pacific I'leet. T'he additional target
sclected later was Majuro, an atoll the Germans once intended
to make their advanced Pacific base. The Japanese developed at
Majuro barracks, a railroad and an airficld. ‘Thesc they abandoncd;
we found only one Japanese on Majuro. 1le was a shipwrecked
petty officer, who built himsclf a pillbox on the beach and
anmed it with machine guns taken from an Amcrican planc
that crashed on the island. The Majuro anchorage {ulfilled all
naval cxpectations.

In the light of our Tarawa expericnce it was apparent that
the assault troops needed more training and requircd additional
equipment, especially amphibious vehicles. This meant postpon-
ing D-day in the Marshalls until January 31, by which time I
felt the troops would be at the top of their efficiency.

Mcanwhile, I was having personal difficulties with the Navy
command, which once again attempted to usurp my functions
as V Amphibious Corps Commandecr. Kelly ‘Turner, who always
had suppressed ambitions to be a General, wanted to take de-
tailed charge of the training of land forces, which was my re-
sponsibility, and I had to be very firm in opposing this usurpation
because I realized that if the Navy cver got a footing in the
sphere of troop training, the Marines would have the devil’s own
time regaining proper authority.

Once more naval tactics were following the course of my
pre-Gilberts expericnce. The Navy command attempted to de-
prive the Corps of all tactical responsibility and relegate us to the
rcalm of planning and training ouly. A week before the expedi-
tion sailed from Pearl Harbor for the Marshalls the directive from
Nimitz again omitted my name from command. After planning
the operation and training the troops, 1 was to be left behind at
Pearl Harbor, with the Navy assuming operational and tactical
control. And once again I went to bat with the higher brass.
~ Spruance saw that the final directive was changed to include me
and my staff.

For the first time in the Pacific the Navy and Marinc com-
mands were accommodated in one of the new Acc’s specially de-

142



signed command ships, which had received first use in the Med-
iterrancan. This was to be our floating headquarters until shore
headquarters were established. In the USS Pennsylvania, flagship
at Makin, only a small office on the flag bridge was available for
my staff, and living quarters were limited. The new acc’s of the
Appalachian class were 12,000-ton ships, good for 16 knots, with
ample accommodation for task force and expeditionary force com-
manders and their staffs. The Rocky Mount, Kelly Turner’s flag-
ship, had good living quarters; office space was cramped, but
communications facilities were excellent. I was allowed to take
with me a larger staff than before, though I still did not have as
many officers as the operation warranted.

With our naval gunfire inadequacies at Tarawa as a power-
ful argument, I had stressed as prerequisites for our assault on
Kwajalein the importance of greater volume and more cffective
gunfirc and air bombardment, as well as a wider and more pro-
longed range of ncutralizing attacks. At Tarawa, the Japanese
had fortified Betio for a year and a half. The enemy had been in
the Marshalls for 25 years and we could only guess what they
had accomplished in that period. I also insisted upon naval bom-
bardinent and carrier and land-based airplane strikes at every
base the Japanese might use to send air attacks against us. I
recommended that thesc strikes be continued for at lcast ten
days before we Janded.

In preparation for the Marshalls, the Navy supported us
fully. Livery cnemy base from Eniwetok in the northern Mar-
shalls to Nauru in the Gilberts was attacked repcatedly. Spruance
commanded four carrier task forces and at least 15 battleships in
the greatest naval asseinbly ever scen up to that time. Our Navy
was expanding rapidly, with new ships coming out to the combat
zone almost daily. Co-operating with the Navy was the Scventh
Air I'orce, whose planes dropped hundreds of tons of bombs on
Japancse positions. Not for a single day was there any let-up.

The necessity for overwhelming fircpower, both in prepa-
ration and during the beach assault itself, was a Marine Corps
tenct of amphibious doctrine. We who knew the Navy intimately
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could gauge and harness the terrific residual firepower of the
Fleet for employment against shore targets. The technical
achievement of adapting naval batterics to this mission—to-
gether with much of the two-way sclling job required to create
enthusiasm and confidence {or the new technique on the part of
both Navy and Marines—was to a great extent the result of the
drive and mgenuity of a single officer, Licutenant Colonel (now
Colonel) Donald M. Weller, usmc. Few officers contributed
so much, by singlchanded cffort, to the winning of the war, as
did Don Weller, Naval Academy graduate, veteran ficld artillery-
man and Marine. A member of my staff from the prewar Atlantic
Amphibious Corps days to the end of the war (with the excep-
tion of a “respite” in command of an artillery battalion in two
of the Third Marine Division’s hard-fought operations), Don
Woeller was, in his medium, that of naval gunfire support, truly
an architect of victory.

The magnitude of the Kwajalein bombardment was historic.
Prior to our landing we dropped 15,000 tons of naval and land
artillery shells and bombs on the objective islands. In two days,
the Navy used 5,270 tons of ammunition on Kwajalein, an island
three miles long and 700 yards across at its widest point, and
4,580 tons on the twin northern islands of Roi and Namur, less
than two square miles in arca. Army artillery, operating from a
nearby island, Enubuj, poured 6oo tons of ammunition and Army
planes dropped 27 two-thousand pound bombs on oune Kwajalein
beach. Marine artillery likewise operated on Roi-Namur in the
north.

Lieutenant Colonel I&. G. Van Orman, in Weller’s absence
the naval gunfire specialist on my staff, worked out the bombard-
ment to equal the firing of 326,700 seventy-five millimeter shells,
or ncarly two tons of explosive for every Japancse.

Referring to the bombardment, which surpasscd anything
in any war, a cynic on board the Rocky Mount paraphrased Win-
ston Churchill and his remark made the rounds: “Never in the
history of human conflict has so much been thrown by so many
at so few.”
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Kelly Turner had the answer to that charge and to the fact
that we necded two divisions to capture islands which conceiv-
ably could have been taken by considerably fewer men.

“Perhaps we did bring along too many mecn, too many ships
and usc too much cffort,” he said in an interview. “That is what
people might say but it must not be regarded in that light. We
detcrmined that not a single life should be lost unncccssarily,
and that the opcration must be completely possible. ‘T'he scale
wasn'’t too great. It was just an indication of what we can do and
will do. It is evidence of the power we arc going to use against
the Japs.”

Considering the difficulties I had experienced in putting
over my views on naval gunfire, this statement sounded very re-
assuring. I was happy that at Kwajalcin we had “sent a man to do
a boy’s work.” The superabundance at Kwajalein was the direct
result of the insufficiency at Tarawa, although with more dis-
criminating and effective use comparable results could have been
obtained with less ammunition. In my report, however, 1 did not
minimize the gunfire results. Knowing that targets would get
tougher as we moved westward toward the Japanese homeland,
I pleaded for even more intensified naval and air preparation and
stressed the importance of better fire control. But, sad to relate,
we never again got that concentrated amount of gunfirc and air
bombardment.

Opecration rLiNTLOCK (Kwajalein) was distinguished by the
magnitude of the planning, the cclerity of the Marines and the
cooperation of the Army. Turner commanded the Southem
Attack Force working on Kwajalein Island and Rear Admiral
Richard L. “Close In”" Conolly the Northern Attack Force.

Conolly justificd his name by taking his battle-wagons so
close (2,000 yards) that his guns almost poked their muzzles into
Japanesc positions. Admiral Conolly occupied a warm spot in the
heart of cvery Marine. They admired his boldness and appreci-
ated the way he came to their assistance, even if his action
wasn’t outlined in the operational plan.

‘The pattern for the capture of the two objectives at Kwa-
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jalein was unvaried. In the northern part of the atoll, the Fourth
Division Scout Company and the 25th Regiment (Colonel
Samuel C. Cunming), under the overall command of Brigadier
General J. L. Undcrhill, scized a number of small islands flank-
ing Roi and Namur and we got our artillery ashore and brought
it to bear ou the two enemy islands. For this phase of the opera-
tion the Seventh Division used pukw’s, the pucumatic-tired am-
phibious truck developed by thie Anny. pukw’s had never before
been used in any numbers in the Pacific and they proved very
snccess{ul. In the southern sector of the atoll, the Seventh Divi-
sion Reconnaissance T'roop and the 17th Infantry, following the
same plan, scized a number of adjacent islands and landed
artillery. In this way powcrful artillery support was available for
the main landings on the northern and southern objcctives.

The 23rd Marines (Coloncl Louis R. Jones) landed on Roi,
originally believed the “toughest” objective, and sccured it in a
few hours. Roi had a threc-runway airficld and was connected
with Namur by a causeway. The 24th Marines (Colonel Frank-
lin A. Tlart) were assigned to Namur, a stronger position and,
although facing greater opposition, sccured it in 25 hours.

The 184th and the 32nd Infantry landed on Kwajalein and
it took them five days to capture the island. I fretted consider-
ably at the slowness of the Army advance. I could sce no rcason
why this division, with ample forces ashore, well covered by land-
based artillery and recciving tremendous naval and air support,
could not take the island quicker. Every hour the transports and
other ships of the flect had to remain in the vicinity of the action
the greater was the danger from enemy air and submarine attack.
We had not yet smashed the Japanese Combined Flect; we
hadn’t been able to find it.

The Fourth Marine Division at Kwajalein was, as the British
say, “blooded.” Afterward they were no longer green and un-
tried. Their landings, in the cxecution of an extremely complex
and intricate scheme of mancuver, were less than perfect, due to
communications failurcs and insufficient numbers of amphibian
tractors—not to spcak of more than equal greenness and similar
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failures in the Navy's organization. In addition, like most new
troops, the Fourth Division had fallen prey to a trigger-happiness
only exceeded by what I had secen on Makin. Nevertlieless, the
division as a whole had acquitted itsclf well, manifesting the dash
and offcnsive spirit which I regard as essential and characteristic
in Marine Corps units, and which enabled both Roi and Namur
to become ours in the shortest possible time with a minimum of
casualtics. Assuming that an adequate beachlicad conld be gained
in short order, I had dirccted Major General Tany Schmidt,
Commander of the Fourth Division, to land on Roi and Namur
at the carliest possible opportunity.

“IMarry,” I told him, “‘thc minute you set foot on that beach
I want you to assume command ashore.” Ie was ashore carly
and I was very pleased with the dash displayed by the division
in capturing its objectives.

After Roi and Namur fell, Brigadier General Underhill,
using the 25th Marines, captured the remaining islands in North
Kwajalein, and the 17th Infantry clcancd up the islands in South
Kwajalcin, with the result that in a little over a week we con-
trolled the whole of the atoll and not a single onc of our ships
had been hit in eneiny naval or air action.

After the terrific barrage, Kwajalein proved a significant vic-
tory becausc of its relatively low cost in lives, time and cquipment.
The Army and the Marines lost 356, killed and missing, and ac-
counted for approximately 8,500 Japanese.

From a military point of view, Kwajalein suggested ccrtain
important improvements in our amphibious technique, which
had progressed from the field of pure theory to the hard reality
of battle.

We needed more coordinated planning to tie up the loosc
ends of our assaults and more advance inforination on targets to
facilitate training. Our amphibian tractors proved cffective but
they lacked speed in the water, needed more cfficient radio
equipment and additional armor. These defects were remedicd in
future designs and a stern ramp was added to some modcls. We
also nccded repair facilitics afloat before we got them cstablished
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ashore, and our control and employment of amtracks was capable
of improvement. What was even more important, 1 realized in
surveying our amphibious progress, was the need for special units
to remove beach obstacles and mines and give us a better picture
of beach conditions. The answer to this was the underwater dem-
olition tcams, which were first tricd out at Kwajalein, but did
not begin to perform miracles of intelligence-gathering until
later operations.

After we secured Kwajalein the place became a regular tour-
ist haunt. The big Anny and Navy brass from Pearl Harbor de-
scended on us like flics. They came up the lagoon from Kwajalein
to Roi and Namur by destroyer in such numbers that we had to
drop Marine drivers and lct the brass drive their own jecps. My
Marines got a shock when they saw a General playing chauffeur.
It always amusced me to sce the boys from Pearl coming visiting
after the battle was over. 'The photographers had a gala day snap-
ping pictures against the background of shelled buildings while
visiting brass hunted for samurai swords and other souvenirs.

The closing chapter of our occupation of the Marshalls was
the capture of Eniwetok, northwest of Kwajalcin. Of all the atolls
in and around the Marshalls, Eniwctok ranked only after Kwa-
jalein in strength and importance. The northern island, Engebi,
had an airficld through which all Japanese planes from bases far-
ther west were channcled. It also possessed minor naval facilitics.
During our planning of the Marshalls opcration, I became con-
vinced that Kwajalein might prove to be an casy objective and, al-
though I had the 22nd Marines and the 106th Regiment from the
Twenty-seventh Ariny Division in reserve, it was more than pos-
sible these troops would never be needed. ‘The two divisions we
took along were quite sufficient at Kwajalein.

On November 16 these two regiments were organized into
a subordinate tactical group under the command of Brigadier
Gencral Thomas 5. Watson and group landing mancuvers were
practiced on Maui. Some time before the Joint Expeditionary
Force left Pearl Harbor for Kwajalein a joint study by the cincrac
staff indicated that the next operation should be Eniwetok and a
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provisional date was fixed for May 1, although Spruance recom-
mended that the operation could be undertaken early in April.

While cincpac was contemplating this distant study, the
idea occurred to me that Kwajalein might be so casy that we
could go directly from that atoll to Eniwctok without the la-
boriors, time-wasting procedure of returning to Pearl Harbor
after Kwajalein had been captured. My staft started planning
along these lines, preparing estimates and concepts and we were
soon convinced of the feasibility of the idea.

I did not mention the plan to Spruance or Turmer, or to
any of the top Navy cchelons at Pearl Harbor. My reason for this
secrecy lay in the fear that Navy conscrvatism would kill the idea
at birth becausc, from the Navy viewpoint, it was inconceivable
to procced from onc opcration to another without rcturning to
base to refucl, reprovision and rearm the ships. Any argument
that these preparations could be made in the forward arcas always
met with a monumental list of difficultics and objections which
the Navy had little difficulty in evoking.

IEn route to Kwajalein, we completed our Iiniwetok concept,
which T tucked away and waited for a favorable opportunity to
produce. As soon as it became apparent that we would not neced
the Corps reserve, Kelly Turner mentioned the possibility of
going ahead and taking Fuiwcetok. T agreed that this action was
possible and added that I liad already discussed the suggestion
with Bobby Iirskine, my Chicf of Staff. While Kelly Turner
delved into generalitics about the opcration, I put my hand in
the drawer of my desk and pulled out the plan.

Kelly Turner is an aggressive fighter. 1 knew that if T waited
for the right moment in the forward arcas to produce my plan he
would be less hampered by the innate conservatism of the higher
Navy echelons, and much more likely to accept it. That is pre-
cisely what happened. The plan appealed to him and he approved.
Spruance added his approval. Nimitz later concurred and we sct
to work on the details. The 22nd Marines and the 106th Infantry,
less its 2nd Battalion, which was at Majuro, were assigned the task
of taking Eniwetok.
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Specd was the essence of our cfforts. ‘The more time we spent
planning and preparing, the longer the Japancse, wamed by
Kwajalcin, would have to strengthen their defenscs, and the more
costly would be our victory. If we could strike before their defenses
were completed, we could save many lives. In advocating this
approach, I was following my old policy of speed and my favorite
theory: “When you get hold of the Jap, never turn him loosc.
Keep the pressure on him and he can’t take it.”

Harry Hill was called from Majuro on board the USS Cam-
bria to take command of Opcration carcnrorr, and I wanted to
go along with the expeditionary troops but Kelly T'urner insisted
that Tommy Watson should do the job.

The main Japancse positions at Eniwetok had reccived a
good going over from our carricrs and, to prevent any interference
from other Japanese bascs, Spruance took all the fast battleships
he could muster, plus Rear Admiral Mare A. Mitscher and his
fast carricrs—afterwards known as the famous Task Force 58. In
the middle of I'cbruary he struck at Truk, the Japanese head-
quarters farther west, and Ponape and Kusaie in the Carolines,
while Army planes from Midway hit Wake. Bypassed islands in
the Marshalls were kept under control by cruiser patrols.

Iill and Watson took the two regiments to Eniwctok and
were blessed with good luck from the start. Although our intcl-
ligence was mecager, we had the good fortune at Kwajalein to
capture a scerct Japanese chart showing the main channel to the
lagoon and all the soundings. In fact, we captured so many of
these charts that we were able to distribute a Japanese original
to every ship. 'The main clements of our force stcamed directly
into the lagoon and anchored off the beaches. This greatly helped
landing opcrations because we had no sutf to contend with,
and enemy defenses were weakest on the lagoon side of the
islands.

In less than half a day we captured Iingebi, in the north,
and in five days took Eniwetok and Parry, in the south, complet-
ing the conquest of the atoll on the evening of Iebruary 22, 1944,
Washington's Birthday. I1ad we waited another three months in
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accordance with the cinceac plan, the Japancse would have had
time to fortify Eniwetok and the cost would have been much
higher. As it was, our losscs were small and by capturing Eni-
wetok we won control of the entire Marshalls group.
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CHAPTER VIII
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O UR SWIFT seizure of the Marshalls gave us in the
Central Pacific a momentum we ncver lost. The time saved en-
abled us to revise our strategical concept of the situation and
advance our timetable six months. The attack on the next group
of islands blocking our way to Tokyo, the Marianas, originally
was contemplated as the concluding phase of the 1944 program.
But it became possible in the summer of that year, and addition-
ally, in the fall, we were able to undertake the important Palau
operation and wipe oul Japanese resistance in the Western
Carolines.

In the overall plan for the year (cranire Plan), issued by
CINCPAC in January, 1¢.44, the mid-summer target was ‘I'ruk, the
naval and air base in the Central Carolines, guarding the southern
and eastern approaches to Japan. Through its supposed strength,
Truk had always been a nightmare, compelling us to build all
our plans around this base. We considered T'ruk’s capture ncces-
sary to protect our flank in the Marianas campaign.

By the middle of February, the target date of June 15 was
set for the assault on Truk but by the middle of March the Truk
plans were abandoned. In a scrics of powertful carrier strikes, the
Navy cxposed the vulnerability of this base by destroying Japa-
nese air strength based therc and by sinking a harborful of
cargo ships.

IFollowing our policy of bypassing all but cssential strong-
holds, General MacArthur meanwhile advanced up the coast of
New Guinea, establishing bases at Aitape and ollandia. At the
same time, Arnmy and Navy forces scized the Admiraltics and
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Emirau, providing us with a chain of bases to ring Rabaul and
put us safely within long-range bombing distancc of Truk. The
bogey vanished forever.

Hence the Marianas supplanted Truk as our next objective
and we started planning the capture of Saipan and Tinian, the
main Japanese islands in the group, and the rccapture of the
American island of Guam. By the end of March we reccived the
final joint staff study from Adiniral Nimitz and from then on
planning proceeded rapidly at headquarters. This was the great-
est opportunity the Marine Corps had been offered.

For the task of recapturing the Marianas, Operation FOR-
ACER, Nimitz dcsignated the IIT Marine Amphibious Corps,
comprising the Third Division and the 1st Provisional Brigade,
and the V Marine Amphibious Corps, comprising the Second
Division and the Fourth Division, with the Twenty-seventh Army
Division attached as reserve and the Seventy-seventh Army Divi-
sion alerted in Ilawaii as area reserve. Command of all cxpedi-
tionary troops was given to me.

I cannot describe the cxultation that swept through Marine
ranks when it became known that for the first time we were to
operate in the field as organic units instead of a joint command.
We were a Marine ficld anny, commanded by a Maiine General,
going into action independently against the Japancse, and the
opportunity to enhance the prestige of the Marine Corps was so
great that it stirred every man in my command. No morce of that
odious “sccondary force” talk at the Naval War College. The
Marine Corps had come of age.

Another development increased this feeling of pride. After
Tarawa and the Marshalls, Spruance was promoted to Admiral
and Turner to Vice Admiral but no recognition was made of the
part played by the Marines. This omission stung our officers and
enlisted men, who considered with some reason that they
had done as much as the Navy to capture these islands, and that
their action merited recognition.

Licutenant Gencral Vandegrift, who succeeded General
Holcomb as Commandant of the Marine Corps, fclt that his
Corps had won the respect and admiration of the American peo-
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ple and was entitled to a three-star General to lead the Marines in
the Pacific.

My promotion to Licutenant General had been rccom-
mended to Sccrctary of the Navy Knox by General 1olcomb, but
Admiral King, cominci, replied that he was not prepared at that
time to promote me. On assuming office as Commandant, Archer
Vandegrift pressed the point and bolstered his arguncuts by
citing the promotions of Spruance and Kelly Turner. Events were
following the usual line. After the feast, the crumbs were given
to the Marines—if there were any crumbs. King countered that
Nimitz had not recommended me for promotion, but Vandegrift
induced him to query the Admiral and find out what he thought.
A dispatch came back with the recommendation.

In the mecantime, I had written to the Commandant point-
ing out that the work of the Corps in the Pacific should be recog-
nized by the promotion of a Marine General to the rank of Licu-
tenant General. I added that if King refused to promotc me he
should promote somebody clse, and I would accede to my relief
and return home. My idca was that a Marinc Major General
should be promoted, and I did not carc who it was, provided the
promotion was made and the Marnine Corps accorded deserved
rccognition.

I do not know whether the Commandant forwarded this
suggestion to King, but I did rcceive the promotion, and a per-
sonal letter from Sccretary Knox, dated March 15, 1944, stated:

I want to be the fist to congratulale you on your promolion to
Licutenant General. T have to be the first to know, because 1 have
just signed your commission.

I am very proud of you and the way you have handled yoursclf in
this war. You have certainly lived up in finc fashion to the high-
est traditions of the Marinc Corps. 'This new promotion is a
richly deserved recognition of the scrvices you have rendered in
a critically important combat arca. I know that you are going on
to further triumphs in the future.

Nobody can accuse the Marine Corps of being topheavy with
brass. My promotion made only two Licutcnant Generals in the
Corps, the other being the Commandant, who was promoted in
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the South Pacific after Guadalcanal. Later, Vandegrilt, was
madc a full general, and on retirtement Tlarry Schmidt, "Turnage
and I received four stars. By Congressional action, the same rank
was conferred posthumously on General Geiger. From now on,
Commandants of the Corps also will rank as full Generals.

At the end of March, Major General Geiger, who com-
manded the 11T Amphibious Corps, fliew up from Guadaleanal
to Pearl Harbor and stayed with me at Makalapa. Roy Geiger
was a heavysct, bear-like and totally fearless man. ITe was some-
one who could only have happened in the Marine Corps. One
of the pionceers from the box-kite days of Naval Aviation, he had
flown and commanded almost every kind of aircraft or aviation
unit that ever existed. Like all Marine officers, however, he had
always kept his fect on the ground.

The outsct of active operations in the Solomons found him
in command of our air cffort on Guadalcanal, directing and oc-
casionally flying the strikes which broke the back of Japancse air
in the Southern Solomons. Promoted after Guadalcanal, he was
given one of the most important tactical group commands in the
Marine Corps, namely, the III Amphibious Corps, and thus be-
came my counterpart in the South Pacific. In this capacity he
was to conunand the Bougainville, Pelcliu and Guam operations
(not to speak of leading his corps on Okinawa, and succeeding,
after General Buckner’s death, to command of the entire Okinawa
battle). I imagine I am correct in asscrting that no military avia-
tor sincc the Wright brothers has cver excrcised, quite inter-
changeably, such major air and ground commands, all in one
war—mnor is it likely to happen again, unless the Marine Corps
and its aviation are allowed to continuc unimpeded by inter-
Service vendcttas.

The ten days of Geiger’s visit enabled us to work out with
our joint stalfs the important problems of the forthcoming opera-
tion, as well as the personal aspect of Marine participation. I cin-
phasized the opportunity that lay before the Corps and cautioned
Geciger to assume command ashore at Guam as soon as possible
after the landing, in order to keep things moving.

I'or Operation FOrRAGER thie troops were divided into two
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groups, the Northern under the V. Amphibious Corps, which 1
commandcd, and the Southern under the 111 Amphibious Corps,
commanded by Geiger. My targets were Saipan and Tinian,
Geiger's was Guam.

I held the dual position of commanding all the expeditionary
troops and also the subordinate Northern group. In addition to
holding these two jobs, I had to provide two stafls. This ambiguity
was straightened out later when the Ileet Marine Force, Pacific,
was formed and I was madec Commanding General. Major Gen-
eral Harry Sclhimidt succeeded me as commander of the V Am-
phibious Corps.

Kelly Turner also served in a dual capacity. Under Spruance,
who was overall boss of the operation as Fifth I'lcet Commander,
Turner was not only joint amphibious force commander but
also director of the subordinate Northern attack force at Saipan
and Tinian. Rear Adiniral Conolly was his deputy at Guam. It
was a tribute to the cooperative spirit among the top echelons
that this complicated organization ran so smoothly.

The weeks before we sailed for the Marianas were consumed
by planning and training. The V Corps held amphibious exer-
ciscs in the Hawaiian area, culminating in a fullseale dress re-
hearsal. Down at Guadalcanal, Roy Geiger conducted similar
exercises. Because of the limited time and the necessity for in-
tensive training, preparation ot orders proceeded simultaneously
instead of through the normal chain of command, starting from
cincrac and working down to the lowest echelon, so occasionally
the first order was the last and the last was the first, but we
avoided confusion by frequent conferences.

By this time the atmosphere at cinceac headquarters was
brighter and more confident. The gloom that used to hang over
the building and stalk the decks had begun to lift. Nimitz him-
self reflected the change. He had begun to realize that the Marines
could take any island and take it quickly. Ile had only to name
the targct and he could cross it off the big map on the wall of his
conference room.

After Tarawa, I could never understand the constant appre-
hension the Adiniral displayed regarding the Pacific situation.
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Never an exuberant man, he could work up, in his quiet way,
an extrcmely pessimistic mood. Nimitz had no reason to be
alarmed. He was a lucky man. He had Bull lalsey and Ray
Spruance, two of the greatest admirals in the world, comnand-
ing the Third and Fifth Fleets (actually the samc flecet but
changing designation with different commanders); he had Kelly
_Turner, a briliant lcader of amphibious forces afloat; he had
Harry Hill, Spike Blandy, Dick Conolly and Ping Wilkinson,
amphibious Admirals; he had Pete Mitscher, Slew McCain,
Arthur Radford and a dozen other carrier Admirals, who could
strike anywhere; he had Charlie Lockwood, whose submarincs
were sinking hundreds of thousands of tons of encmy shipping
and crippling the Japanese fleet; and he had many cxccllent trans-
port commanders.

In addition, hc had four Marine divisions of the hest am-
phibious troops in the world, all battle tested and of the highest
morale, as well as a fifth division in the process of organization.
The Japancse were on the run, Nimitz couldn’t lose. Tle knew
the Marines would win. If we didn’t, he would probably be
yanked out of his job and perhaps the Anny would be in com-
mand. Admiral Nimitz was riding to fame on the shoulders of
the Marines, so what did he have to worry about? But he did
worry.

There were a number of reasons for our acquisition of the
Marianas. Nimitz needed an advance naval base for the Fifth
Fleet to attack and destroy Japanese sea communications and
gain control of the sea in the Central Pacific. We nceded air
bases, from which we could isolate and neutralize enemy-held
islands in the Central Carolines. And we needed bascs, in official
language, to “initiate very long-range air attacks on Japan.” By
this we meant, speaking very guardedly at the time, bases for
B-29 raids. I saw my first B-2g at Hickham Field before we left
Hawaii for Saipan.

These giant, long-range bombers were coming off the produc-
tion line in large quantities. They were our new “sccrct weapon.”
All that we needed to use them against the cnemy was airfields
within their effective bombing range. The Marianas provided
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the answer because the ncarest of the three main islands—Guam,
Saipan and Tinian—was only 1,250 nautical miles fromn the shores
of Japan.

The target date for Saipan, our first objective in the Mari-
anas, was sct for June 15. I left Pear] Harbor on Kelly Turner’s
command ship, the USS Rocky Mount, on May 29, with the
major clements of the Northern group. Slower groups had
sailed a few days earlicr and the majority of reserve troops left
two days later.

A few days before I sailed an explosion blew up once of our
ships, an vst, and damaged six others, destroying a considcrable
amount of cquipment. At first we suspected sabotage by encmy
agents among ITawaii’s predominantly Japancse population but
investigation entirely disproved this theory. The explosion was
an accident and the losses were quickly replaced.

Roy Geiger's Southern group left Guadalcanal on May 5 for
Kwajalein which, with Eniwetok, was the staging basc for the
operation. This spreadover of dates was dictated by the magni-
tude of the task. roracrr was by far the largest operation we had
yet undertaken and involved great problems of troop assembly
and logistics. I'or Saipan alone we had to transport 78,000 men
and 100,000 tons of supplics from Hawaii. "The 19fth Fleet, com-
manded by Spruance, was the largest cver asscmbled in the
Pacific. More than sso ships were used to transport, land, cover
and support the expeditionary troops.

Equipping the expedition was a mammoth task. Supplies
necessary to support the two Corps had to be transported from
Pearl Harbor and from the United States. Ships had to be loaded
so that cquipment and supplics were available when needed for
combat, and garrison equipment had to be stored meticulously
so that basc development could proceed once the island was cap-
tured. We had developed combat loading to an exact science
since Tarawa.

Saipan was smoking when we arrived off the island at dawn
on Junc 15. For three and a half days, Task Force g8 had sub-
jected not only Saipan but Guam, Tinian, and two smaller islands,
Rota aud Pagan, to an intensive carrier and surface bombard-
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ment, followed by a specific bombardiment of the landing beaches
and installations on the southwest coast of Saipan. Mincswcepers
clearcd the waters in the vicinity and the newly organized deo-
lition tcams went into action, rcmoving beach obstacles in prcpa—
ration for the landing.

By attacking the Northern Marianas we gained Sl[’lthlC al
and, to a lesser degree, tactical surprise. Even our pre-landing
bombardment did not convey our real purposc to the Japanese
immediately. They believed the shelling to be routine, similar
to previous visitations of the Navy. According to information
obtained by our G-2, the Japanese General Staff were convinced
that the Palau Islands or the Philippines would be the next
American objective after the Marshalls. Proceeding on this as-
sumption, defenses in these arcas were strengthened at the ex-
pense of the Marianas.

Although the Japancse had occupied Saipan for thirty years,
very little in the way of fortifications had been built. When war
started in the Pacific, an elaborate plan of fortifications was drawn
up for Saipan but Tokyo brushed it aside in favor of other prior-
ities. Such supplies as were shipped there were largely lost through
American submarine and carrier action and when it was decided
to rush through a six-month intensive program to make the island
“impregnable”’—the Japancse were very fond of this word —it was
too late.

Captured documents showed the Japancse chicf of staff on
Saipan complained to Tokyo as recently as two wecks before we
landed about the lack of matéricl that kept his men “standing
around with their arms folded.” Not more than twenty-five per-
cent of their program was completed at the time of our attack.
We found coastal defense guns up to 200 mm. crated, or un-
crated and not installed, and large quantitics of cquipinent and
matéricl waiting to be used.

From a military point of view, the problem we faced at Saipan
was diffcrent from that of any other island. It was a conquest of
what is known technically as a “limited land mass,” which mecans
that we had to make an amphibious landing to sccurc a beach-
head and then fight a land campaign of uncertain duration.

159



Saipan is twelve miles long and six miles wide. It is a coral island,
distorted by volcanic action into a series of high ridges and deep
ravines running from the 1,554-foot Mount Tapotchau in the
center and levelling out into a wooded plateau at the northern
end and into lowlands in the south.

What the Japancse.lacked in planned fortifications they
made up by cleverly exploiting the natural fcaturcs of the island.
At points of advantage on the central mountains and the ridges
they emplaced well defiladed artillery and mortars, which bore
upon the landing beaches. They resisted our advance from every
cliff, cave and cranny in which they could hide with a rifle, a
machine gun or, in some cases, ficld picces which they dragged
in and out of their caves. Obviously, what we had learned at
Guadalcanal, Tarawa and the Marshalls was little use here, and
no classic principles of land warfare could be applied. Saipan
could only mean one thing: a savage battle of annihilation.

Our landing was the most advanced mechanical demon-
stration we had ever made in the Pacific. We had 8oo amphibi-
ous vehicles (Lvr's)—troop-carrying tractors, tanks armed with
76 mm. howitzers and 37 mm. guns, and the new Lvr (4)’s, a
model with a back-dropping ramp that unloaded our artillery di-
rectly ashore. We had enough of these vchicles to land 8,000
men in twenty minutes from vst’s (Landing Ship, 'T'ank), stand-
ing at the reef. In addition, we had a battalion of Army
DUKW'S.

Alternative landing plans had been preparcd but the beaches
lending themselves best to our purposes lay north and south of
Charan-Kanoa, a sugar refinery village on the edge of the west
coast canefields. A flcct of small gunboats, armed with 20 and
40 mm. guns, delivered close support fire on the beaclics, aided
by the new rocket gunboats, which shot out projectiles like whole
batterics of five-inch guns fired at once.

Spearhieaded by armored amphibian tractors, which gave the
Japanese their first sight of these new machincs, the Marines hit
the beach at 0843 on June 15, the Fourth Division (Major Gen-
eral Harry Schinidt) on the right and the Second Division
(Major General Thomas E. Watson), on the left. The first three
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waves in amtracks got ashore with little opposition but the fol-
lowing waves ran into the full force of Japanese resistance.

The Japancse held their fire until this moment and then
poured a terrific volume on the reef and on the beach, inflicting
heavy casualtics, knocking out tractors and causing much con-
fusion. Fire from the ridges behind the village was sustained and
accurate, registering on target flags fixed on the recf. Casualtics
among the key personnel of some outfits were particularly high.
One Second Division battalion had four commanding officers in
the first few hours. In the confusion, or to avoid the concentra-
tion of fire, companies were landed on other beaches and amtracks
made round trips, carrying in troops and bringing back wounded.
The best we could do was to get a tochold and hang on. And this
is exactly what we did, just hang on for the first critical day.

The Japancse never before had displayed the type of mobile
defense they employed at Saipan. Lessons lcarned previously were
of no value against the improvised defenses they had installed
here, as I could sce even from the Rocky Mount. Naval and air
bombardiment, aided by very good air reconnaissance, had
knocked out most of the big coastal guns, pillboxes and perma-
nent installations but enciny resistance was not effectively dimin-
ished.

Saipan, with its 29,602 troops, was the most heavily gar-
risoned island in the Marianas. We faced an unusually confident
enemy, who derived considerable strength from the belicf that
he could hold the island against invasion and nced only fight a
delaying action until the Japanese Fleet came to the rescue. That
we would undertake an invasion on such a scale without adequate
naval forces to offset any threat by the enemy flect did not ap-
pear to enter his mind. This was a great fallacy, but this brand
of morale-building propaganda was pumped into the garrison
until almost the very end. They were plagued by no doubts on
this point.

We faced the heaviest and most diversificd asscinbly of
weapons and the best developed system of terrain defenses we
had encountered. From the ridges behind Charan-Kanoa and
from the foothills of Mount Tapotchau, firc was heavy and
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deadly. In addition to anti-boat guns and 75’s, the Japanese had
howitzers up to 150 mm. and cight-inch mortars, the most vicious
picce of artillery they developed during the war. The initial mis-
take we made at Saipan was this: we did not soften up the eneiny
sufficiently before we landed.

For Saipan we could use no preliminary artillery bombard-
ment from neighboring islands, as we had donc at Kwajalein.
There was no continuous naval and air preparation, a fault we
remedied later at Guam and Tinian. Three and a half days of
surface and air bombardiment were not enough to ncutralize an
encmy of the strength we found on Saipan.

A morc significant reason for the partially incffective Saipan
bombardment is onc which I have never scen in the operation re-
ports, and that is the fact that most of the pre-landing shelling
was delivered by the new battleships and cruisers of 'T'ask 1Yorce
58, the mighty carrier task force which was always on the march
in the Western Pacific.

At this point, perhaps I should explain that the technique of
delivering effective naval gunfire against shore targets is not only
inherently complex, but also considerably differcut from the
normal methods used by warships in firing on other ships or
against aircraft. I'urthermore, the Navy gunnery officer, accus-
tomced to “sccing” wcll-defined targets cither by radar, or opti-
cally, is entircly at a loss to find, or to evaluate, targets which are
artfully camouflaged and hidden on the land. Realizing these un-
avoidable handicaps, we had proposed—and Nimitz had ap-
proved—establishment of a naval gunfire shore bombardinent
range at Kahoolawe Island in the ITawaiian arca, where every
onc of the older battleships and cruisers normally used for bomb-
ardment was required to undergo concentrated training at the
hands of Marine Corps shore fire control cxperts.

Through no fault of their own, however, the Task I'orce 8
ships, which were almost always at sea, covering the carricr sweeps
and bringing the war to Ilirohito’s front door, had little if any
opportunity to go through our Kahoolawe workout. As a result,
when confronted with the Saipan bombardment mission, they
were far less experienced than the Marine-trained older ships in

102



finding, hitting and evaluating the critical and less obvious
targcts.

We cncountered very few Japancse on D-day. Encmy troops
were well hidden and we experienced only the power of their
weapons as we fought for a beachhead. We saw few Japaucse
bodies, becausc the enemy had learned to remove the dead behind
his lincs, thus robbing us of valuable iutelligence matcrial. How-
ever, despite the opposition and the heavy casualtics to our
Marine infantry, we got four battalions of artillery ashore, two
75 mm. pack howitzers and two 105 mm. howitzers, and two
companies of tanks. Our artillery suffered heavily at first because
we lacked obscrvation but when it did get into action it provided
powerful counter-battery firc against hidden Japancse guus.

With tanks the Japanesc counterattacked from Garapan,
the island capital, but their force was scattered by our naval guns.
During the night of D-day, a small party countcrattacked
through Charan-Kanoa and rcached the beach, where the two
Marine divisions had not yct been able to effect a junction, but
this attack also was broken up.

Japancse firc on the recf and on the beach was cqually in-
tense the next morning, in spite of the considerable naval and
air support we were recciving, and we were unable to load fur-
ther equipment or supplies until that afternoon, when the flow
ashore became smoother. Our casualties for the first twenty-four
hours on Saipan exceeded 2,500 and created a serious hospitaliza-
tion problem because our hospital ships did not arrive until June
18 and the wounded had to be distributed throughout the trans-
port flect.

That Saipan was going to be a long job, much longer than
we had anticipated, and would affect the plan for the cntire
Marianas opcration, was apparent. Therefore, after a command
conference, we decided to postpone indefinitely the invasion of
Guam, which had been sct for three days after D-day on Saipan,
June 18, and prepare for a three week’s campaign on this major
Marianas island.

On D-day I put in the reserves of both Marine divisions
and the next day committed clements of the Twenty-scventh
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Army Division, which was afloat in reserve. After we postponed
the Guam assault, I transferred the 1st Provisional Brigade to
reserve afloat and the rest of the Guam expeditionary troops
went back to Eniwetok.

Although the struggle ashore on Saipan was bitter and costly,
I had no doubt of the outcome. My policy regarding reserves is
that it always is better to get them on the beach rather than have
them sitting out at sea on ships. That is why I put in all the
Marine reserves as soon as possible and then ordered the T'wenty-
seventh ashore. The 165th Infantry first was attached to the
Fourth Marine Division and when the full Army division was
employed, comimand was handed over to Major General Ralph
Smith.

Forty-eight hours had now elapsed and we were firmly dug
in but not for another three days could it be said that we had
“secured” our beachhead. We were under terrific pressure all the
time. All Corps artillery, including our 155’s, was ashore, enabling
the Fourth to attack Aslito Airfield under cover of our own artil-
lesy, aided by naval and air support, and make an advance of
1,200 yards. When the line was reorganized, the airficld was
placed within the zone of action of the T'wenty-seventh Division,
which captured it, relcasing the Fourth for their push eastward
across the island.

Such was the Junc 18 picture of the situation when I was
ashore on Saipan. We held a 10,000-yard strip of beach against
a weakening enemy, whose casualtics must have been high since
our offensive was supported by the full force of our artillery. We
had all our equipment ashore and were beginning to thrust inland.

Fighting with our backs to the sea, protected by the power
of the Navy, our attention had been concentrated on our yard-
by-yard advance inland—once our beachhead was only a dozen
yards dcep at one point—when suddenly the scenc of action
switched to the sca.

Our submarines reported sighting a powerful Japanese task
force leaving Philippine waters and heading for the Marjanas.
"The rescue flect which the Japancse on Saipan cxpected was on
its way. In facc of this threat Spruance, who had alerted the Fifth
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Flect to such an emergency, arrived in the transport area on his
flagship, the USS Indianapolis, to confer with Kelly Turner on
board the Rocky Mount.

After the conference, Spruance announced that he was leav-
ing immediately to intercept the Japanese. Amplifying the sub-
marine report, he said that two Japanese task forces had been
sighted. A second group of enemy ships was moving northeast
and the two forces were expected to rendezvous at midnight.
Their total strength was four battleships, six aircraft carricrs and
a large number of cruiscrs and destroyers.

When I wished Spruance good luck on the Rocky Mount
before his barge left for the Indianapolis, 1 asked him, “Do you
think the Japs will turn tail and run?”

“No,” he replied, “not now. They arc out after big game.
If they had wanted an casy victory, they could have disposed of
the relatively small force covering MacArthur’s operation at Biak
(New Guinea). But the attack on the Marianas is too great a
challenge for the Japancse Navy to ignore.”

Ray Spruance is a highly competent but cautious sailor, with
an awarcness of all angles of the task before him. With typical
caution, lie told me it was too sanguine to hope hic would destroy
the enemy flcet but that he did hope to inflict sufficient damage
to put it out of action for the rest of the war. If he could do
this, he added, he not only would dispose of the threat to the
Marianas but would facilitate subscquent operations by remov-
ing permanently the menace of the Japanesc Navy, always a po-
tential danger to the amphibious operations we were undertak-
ing at increasing distances from our bascs.

After Spruance left, Kelly Turner told me that as a precau-
tion he was taking the cntire transport flect and its naval units
out to sca. Ile believed it was the Japancse inlention to reinforce
nearby bases like Rota and Guam with planes flown off the car-
riers and then attack the transport flect. Already we had had
two Japancse air raids, which did little damage, but the prospect
of large-scale raids was ominous. Kelly Turner said he could not
afford to risk the safcty of the transports while Spruance dealt
with the Japanese I'lect.
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With the invasion forces ashore on Saipan for only three
days, this was a grave decision but I realized that it was essential
and that we mnst hang on like good Marines until the fate of
the Japanesce Flect was decided. "IThe USS Cambria, flagship of
Harry Lll, a few destroyers, gunboats and onc or two cssential
transports constituted the only naval units left in support of the
opcration.

It must have been amazing and cheering to the Japanese
to scc the Amecrican fleet disappear over the horizon. One day
hundrcds of ships of all sizes and purposcs filled miles and miles
of anchorage and the next they were gone, leaving the mvasion
troops hanging on to a thin beacl strip, unprotected from the
sca. ‘The Japancse must have heard the news of their flect’s ap-
proach by radio and rcjoiced, but any chorus of Danzais was
muted by the pressure we put on them.

Admittedly, it wasn’t pleasant to see our flect leave. I had
78,000 men ashore and we were left to our own devices. Except
for a few planes from the now operable Aslito Iield and a few
naval units, we had nothing but our own cquipment and re-
sources on the island. The departure of the fleet deprived us of
supporting naval gunfire and, since Spruance had to take along
his carricrs, we were robbed of the powerful air support which
had helped us to keep our footing.

Ioven more scrious was the logistics problem. Only a few
transports with essential supplics were left behind and when con-
ditions grew desperate three or four other ships were detached
from the fleet circling out at sca and sent back to relicve our
needs. We were indeed orphans of the Japancse storm.

I had told Admiral Nimitz that Marines dic for their coun-
try as willingly as the Japancse. There may be Marine anuihila-
tion, I had said to lim, but there never will be a Marine defeat.
My Marines will die to the last man; they never will be taken
prisoncrs.

If that time comcs, I emphasized to my divisional oflicers,
there will be no ounc left alive to tell the tale. And I'll be with
you. I meant those words. 1 had no intention of being taken
prisoncr and I drilled this code into the minds of my officers.
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"The Japanese knew, or were able to guess, how we stood. It
needed no master mind to appreciate the situation on Saipan
after the flect Icft. ‘Thic only unknown and highly significant fac-
tor was time: how long would it last? The answer to this ques-
tion was Spruance’s success with the Japanesc fleet.

Our position ashore was not too bad. When I went ashore
I had not the slightest apprchension. We had landed all our
artillery and this partially compensated for the lack of naval gun-
fire. I had two magnificent Marine divisions, commanded by men
of the highest caliber, Watson and Schmidt, and Corps artillery,
Army and Marine, commanded by Brigadier General Ao ML
Harper, U. S. Army, whom I would have been prond to call a
Marine.

The Marine has a winning philosophy. 1le fecls that once
he gets on the beach with his weapons, he can’t be pushed off.
And we were all too busy to worry a great deal about the depar-
ture of the fleet. We were keeping the Japancse worricd. We
knew the sailing of the fleet would bolster enciy morale and
that the Japancse would exploit this fact, but we never gave them
a chance. We never relaxed pressure on them: instead, we
stepped it up. The Japancse never got a minute’s peace or a
yard’s lecway. Given an opportunity, now they were faltering,
they would try to reorganize and drive us off the island. But they
never got that opportunity. We incessantly pushed them off
balance.

On June 21 our flcet returned from the Battle of the Philip-
pinc Sca, in which Spruance engaged the Japancse and sank
three aircralt carricrs, the Shokaku, the Taiho, and the Tlitaka,
one destrover and one flect tanker and destroyed 403 combat
aircraft. In addition, three more carriers, one battleship, thiee
cruisers and three fleet tankers sustained varying degrees of
major damage. This American naval victory definitely disposed of
any possible Japanese rclicf of Saipan.

Tremendously reassuring to us was the sight of the hundreds
of ships back at their anchorage off Saipan. In addition to the
stimulating naval victory, which cheered us, the retarn of the
fleet brought back the transporls we badly nceded. It also
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brought to our assistance the naval gunfire and the air support
necessary for the second phasc of the operation, which was open-
ing now that we were ready to push beyond our beachhicad in
full strength.

By June 19, the Fourth Division had driven across the island
to the cast coast. 'T'he southern portion of Saipan, with the exeep-
tion of a pocket at cavernous Nafutan Point on the southern tip,
was in possession of the 'U'wenty-scventh. The Sccond Division
was firmly auchored south of Garapan and we planned a pivotal
movement, based upon the Second Division and sweeping across
the island, for the capture of Mount T'apotchau, the main Japa-
nese line of defense. On the cast, the Fourth Division was at
Magicicnne Bay, alrcady driving north, and 1 decided to pass
the Twenty-scventh Division through the left of the Fourth
so that I could cmploy thice divisions abreast against the
cnenly.

This phase of the attack opened on Junc 22. 1 put the
Twenty-seventh in the center of the line. As a precautionary
mcasure, I formed two temporary Marine battalions, onc from
Corps hcadquarters and the other from the shore party. At that
time my headquarters in Charan-Kanoa was protected by a com-
pany of 120 men of the V- Amphibious Corps Reconnaissance
Company, in command of Captain James L. Joncs, whose Pa-
cific island reconnaissance exploits are unique. These troops 1
ordered to reconnoiter assigned battle positions in the rcar be-
cause 1 felt that, if the Japanese counterattacked, I would have
two battalions to cover any unfavorable development.

After iy experience with the Twenty-seventh at Makin and
Eniwctok, I was reluctant to use them again in the Marianas,
but when the opcration was planned they were the only troops
available in Iawaii and I had to take them.

The trouble with the Twenty-seventh Division was, if I may
coin a word, “militia-itis.” As originally mobilized, the division
had come cntircly from the New York National Guard, with a
good rccord and tradition from World War 1. Much of its
leadership, as was the case throughout the New York Guard,
stemmed from a gentlemen’s club known as the Seventh Regi-
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ment, traditionally New York’s “silk stocking” outfit, and likcwisc
a worthy unit, per se, with an impeccable reputation for annuvat
balls, banquets and shipshape summer camps. Any division, how-
ever, springing from such sources and maintained intact after
mobilization, contains the eutangled roots of home town loyal-
tics, ambitions and intrigues. ILmploycr-noncommissioned offi-
cers in the T'wenty-seventh were sometiines commandcd, if that
is the word, by employce-officers; there was sometimes a gentle-
manly reluctance on the part of officers to offend Old Seventh
messmates through harsh criticism or rigorous measurcs; in the
eycs of many, especially the ambitious, there were reputations—
New York reputations—to be made or broken; and behind all
there was Albany, where the State Adjutant General's office al-
located pcacctime plums.

A machine like the National Guard is an admirable and a
truly constitutional machine for pcacetime training. It is m a
position to capitalize on all the values of local allegiance, but
after mobilization these same allegiances become barnacles on
the hull. The War Department must have realized this, espe-
cially in so clear-cut a case as that of the 'T'wenty-scventh, which
had been posing “political” problems to Washington cver since
mobilization. These were, if anything, intensified by the fact
that somec of the higher-ups in the War Department were impor-
tant in the Militia. Congressman “Jim” Wadsworth, who inci-
dentally spurred on the anti-Marine Corps faction during the
merger drives of 1946 and 1947, was an influential New Yorker
of much military background and fiin National Guard con-
nections.

In such an atmosphere there could have been only one
squarc-cut solution for the War Department: to disband the
“division after mobilization, or at the very lcast, to transfer its
original personnel far and wide, and replace them with anyone
on carth but former members of the New York Guard. What is
more, such a widespread transfer would probably have henefited
the entire Army, because, man for man, the New York National

Guard enjoys an excellent reputation for individual peacctime
training.
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That such a shakcup was never made— especially after the
showings of the T'wenty-seventh Division regiments at Makin
and Isniwctok—reflects broadly upon the War Departinent,
and more particularly on its senior Pacific representative,
Richardson, who, had e been willing to open his cyes and swal-
low inter-Scrvice stiff-neckedness, could have broken up a mili-
tary combination which could do only harm to the traditions of
the Army and to thosc of a fine state.

A lot has been written about the differences between Army
and Marine mcthods in action. The two scrvices usc the same
weapons and the same tactical manual and, therefore, 1 do not
proposc to culer into an unprofitable discussion here, but only
to summarize the facts of the case concerning the Twenty-sev-
enth Division on Saipan.

On the first day of the "Tapotchan attack, the Second Divi-
sion advanced 1,000 yards and the IFourth 2,000 yards. 'The
Twenty-seventh was directed to pass through the Fourth and join
a coordinated continuation of the attack on the morning of
June 23. 'The Second and the Fourth, on the flanks, jumped off
according to schedule.

"T'he attack by the Twenty-scventh was Jate starting. Accord-
ing to reports to me, one battalion moved o minutes late, other
clements moved even later and the 106th Infantry was unable to
start forward until three hours and fifteen minutes after H-hour.
I considered the two Marine divisions on the flank were jeopar-
dized by the sagging in the center of the line and I plugged the
gaps: between them and the Twenty-seventh. We made little
headway that day. By nightfall my map showed our lines as a
deep U, with the Twenty-seventh very little ahead of its depar-
turc point and still occupying the bottom of the U, and the two
Marine divisions holding the flanks.

FFurthermore, the 2nd Battalion, 105th Infantry, a Twenty-
seventh Division unit, assisted by tanks, had been given the
mission of cleaning up Nafutan Point, a broken peninsula jut-
ting out of the southeast corner of Saipan, which was now in our
rear. In order that our attack northward could progress with
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safety, I wanted this clcanup donc as aggressively and rapidly as
possible. ‘T'he areca contained 500 to 600 Japancsc troops, plus
battleficld jetsam of civilian refugees and a good many wounded,
who had holed up to die in the caves. It has since been claimed
that more than 1,200 cnemy troops were on Nafutan, but a cap-
tured Japanese operation order which came to our headquarters
later showed that, as of June 20, there werc only oo cffective,
unwounded personnel, and the 1,200 count comes unsubstanti-
ated from one who was a party in interest to the subsequent con-
troversy over this little operation.

The battalion from the 105th Infantry (which was subsc-
quently awarded the Army’s Distinguished Unit Citation for its
performance on Saipan) fatled to show the aggressivencss which
its mission demanded, and it even permitted, on the night of
June 20, a column of soinc 500 well-armed and organized Jap-
ancse, the last such on the Point, to march, in column of twos,
right through its lines with hardly a shot fired. All these Japanese
had to be killed before daybreak by Marine cannoncers and
riflemen from the 14th and 25th Marines. The alibi for this
perfornance claims that the frontage assigned this battalion
(some 2,000 yards, according to the contemporary periodic re-
ports) was cxcessive. What is not taken into consideration, how-
ever, is that, due to the taper of Nafutan Point, a singlc advance
of less than 200 yards on the battalion’s Icft would have short-
ened the total frontage by almost a thousand yards.

As Major General George W. Griner, usa, who later came
into command of the Twenty-seventh Division, officially re-
ported to me concerning the Nafutan Point opcrations about
this time, “. . . a faint-hearted attack was made. ‘The means
were available for complete snceess, had a determined attack
been made.” Griner, incidentally, eventually had this battalion
commander relieved.

It was in this context of all-round poor performance by the
Twenty-seventh that, on the afternoon of Junc 23, I sought the
help of Major Gencral Sanderford Janman, who was o assumc
the post of Island Commander when we captured Saipan. 1
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asked him to see Ralph Smith and appeal to him, as one Army
man to another, on the grounds that the reputation of the Army
was suffering through a lack of offensive spirit. Before Ralph
Smith went into the line, I had jmpressed upon him the need
for strong, offensive action on Saipan. The Japanecse were on the
run, I told him, and in order to lick them we had to keep them
moving. As my admonition had failed, I hoped that Jarman
could influence himn.

Shortly afterward, Jarman rcturned and reported that Ralph
Smith had promised to do better the next day. Jamman also
reported that Ralph Smith said if he did not do better he de-
served to be relieved.

In a communication to Richardson, produced at the subse-
quent Army investigation by the Buckner Board—named after
Licutenant General Simon Bolivar Buckner, who presided—
Jarman reported that, on June 23:

I found that General (Ralph) Smith had been up to the front
lines all afternoon and was thoroughly familiar with the situa-
tion. 1 talked to General Smith and explained the situation as 1
saw it and that I felt from reports from the Corps Commander
that his division was not carrying its full share. He immediately
replicd that such was true; that he was in no way satisfied with
what his regimental commanders had done during the day and
that he hiad been with them and had pointed out to them the
situation. He further indicated to me that he was going to be
present tomorrow, June 24, with this division when it made its
jump-off and he would personally sce to it that the division
went forward. 1 explained my tuterest in the matter was that I
was seniot Army commander present and was anxious to sce that
the Army did its job as it should be done.

There was no immprovement the next day. What had prom-
ised to be a swift, effective movement degenerated into a laggard
action that almost came to a standstill. The two Marine flanks
had to advance slowly to prevent the widening of the gaps be-
tween themsclves and the Twenty-seventh in the center.

I took my map and went on board the Rocky Mount to
discuss the situation with Kelly Turner. We both went on board
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the Indianapolis to see Spruance, who was in overall command
of the operation. I told him the facts and said that the situation
demanded a change in command. Ie asked me what should be
done.

“Ralpl: Smith has shown that he lacks aggressive spirit,” 1
replicd, “and his division is slowing down our advance. llc
should be relicved.” 1 suggested that Jarman take over the
Twenty-scventh Division as a supplementary duty until another
commanding officer was appointed. Tumer supported me and
Spruance agreed.

On Junc 24, the following message was despatched from
Spruance as Commander, Fifth Flect, to me as Commandcr,
Northern Troops and Landing I'orce, and circulated to others
concerned for information:

You arc authorized and directed to relieve Major General
Ralph Smith from command of the Twenty-seventh Division,
U. S. Army, and place Major General Jarnman in cominand of
this division. This action is taken in order that the offcnsive
on Saipan may proceed in accordance with the plans and orders
of the Cominander, Northern Troops and Landing Force.

Accordingly, Ralph Smith was rclicved and rcturned to
Honolulu and Jarman succceded him. Relicving Ralph Smith
was one of the most disagrecable tasks T have ever been forced
to perform. Personally, T always regarded Ralph Smith as a
likable and professionally knowledgeable man. Towever, there
are times in battle when the responsibility of the commaunder to
his country and to his troops requires hiard measurcs. Smith’s
division was not fighting as it should, and its failure to perform
was endangering Amcrican lives. As Napoleon has said, “There
are no bad regiments, only bad coloncls,” and the basic remedy
for the dcfective performance of the Twenty-seventh Division
was to find a leader who conld make it toc the mark. Ralph
Smith had been only too conscious of what was wrong, as lic
was the first to admit to Jarman, but he had been incapable of
strong and neccssary action. I realized at the time, as I in turn

173



said to Jarnan, that the rclief of Smith would stir up a hornet’s
nest because of its inter-Scrvice implications, and because I knew
how Richardson would make capital of such a situation; but in
the face of the enemy, I felt that we were all Amcricans, and
that victory was morc important than any Service’s prestige.

Onc of Jarman’s first acts was to relicve onc of the Army’s
three regimental commanders.

Referring 1o this officer’s conduct at Saipan, Jarman wrole

to RicLardson on Junce 3o0:

Frankly, ———— appeared to be muddled. The mountainous
terrain and rough going was too much for him. Bascd on my
obscrvation of the 'T'wenty-seventh Division for a few days, 1
have noted cerlain things which give me some concern. They are,
first, a lack of offensive spitit on the part of the troops. A battalion
will run into one machine gun and be held up for scveral hours.
When they get any kind of minor resistance they immnediately
open up with cverything they have that can firc in the general
dircction from which they are being fired upon. Sccond, at night
if a patiol comes around their bivonac area they immediately
tclephione in and state they are under a counterattack and want
to fall back to some other position. Third, I found that troops
would wark all day to capture well-carned lerrain and at night
would fall back a distance varying from 4oo to 8oo yards and
somelimes 1,000 yards to organize a perimeter defense.

I had, in the brief lime I was in command of the Fwenty-
seventh Division, to issue an order that ground gained would
not he given up. that the perimeter of defense was to be formed
on the ground captured, and troops in the rcar could be
brought up.

A few days later, Major General Griner, formerly in com-
mand of the Ninely-eighth Division in the Iawaiian Islands, was
appointed to relieve Jarman. Griner’s orders, which were signed
by Licutenant General Robert C. Richardson, Jr., conumanding
Army troops in the Pacific Occan Arca, did not dircct him to
report to the Corps Commander. In other words, Richardson
completcly ignored me in sending a new division commander
to mc.
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Howcver, Griner realized the anomaly of such a situation
and reported to me officially. I gave him a full account of the
action of the T'wenty-seventh and expressed the hope that he
would reorganize the division and devclop among the mcen a
better fighting spirit.

Continuous pressure exerted by the Second Division on the
left and the Fourth Division on the right enabled the Twenty-
seventh to clean up their sector. Finally, the line was straightened
out until the Sccond was pinclied out at Garapan and the lince
across Saipan was held by the T'wenty-seventh on the left and
the Fourth on the right.

Army protagonists, swaycd by a mistaken scnsce of loyalty
to their own branch of the Service, have magnified this incident
into an importance out of all proportion to its proper place in
the history of the war. Other Army gencerals were relicved in the
South Pacific, I'rance and Germany, with nothing like the acri-
monious rcactions which marked the relicf of Major Geueral
Ralph Smith. Perhaps the fact that T was a Marine General
offended their sensibilitics.

My attitude was that I was responsible for the capture of
Saipan and that it was my duty to scc that every officer and
every man fonght to the best of Iis ability. Tn my judgment,
the conduct of the T'weuty-seventh Division under Ralph Smith’s
command was unsatisfactory and I acted accordingly. Admiral
Spruance, as Commander, I'ifth Flect, fully approved, although
his official Saipan rcport, regarding the unsatisfactory work of
the Twenty-seventh, was actually censored, at Nimitz’s recom-
mendation. There was no question of animus against an Army
General. I would have relieved a Marine General under the same
circumstanccs, only sooncr.

The Twenly-seventh could have no quarrel with the Na-
rines. On Junc 19, a few days before my best judgment compelled
me to rclieve him, Ralph Smith, in a disc made for radio trans-
mission, now on file in the Library of Congress, stated:

It irditates 1ne a little to read these stories back home—Dbecaunse
a soldicr and a Marine get in a fight in a saloon the rclations be-
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tween the services are at cross-purposes. Nothing could be fur-
ther from the truth out heie in the ficld. In this Ianding we came
in behind the Mariugs. Because of the conditions under which we
are landing . . . we've been using largely water, rations and
ammunition that the Marines have helped us get ashore and
furnished to us. Some of our casualtics have been evacuated to
Marine hospital ships . . . FFor the first part of the operation we
wecre cntirely dependent upon the Marines and I want to take this
opportunity to stress the very cordial fecling that exists between
the outfits. One of the 165th’s officers temarked to me this morn-
ing that Saipan has sealed the “blood brotherhood” between the
scrvices.

The whole incident might well have ended there but for
the uninvited visit by Richardson to Saipan after the island had
been declared sccure, but while we were still mopping up. He
arrived on July 12 and hardly had he set foot ashore, where 1
was in command, than he began making trouble. In flagrant
violation of the oldest service customs, he began taking testi-
mony for the Buckner Board, which he had convened at his
hcadquarters on Oahu, known throughout the Pacific as the
“Pineapple Pentagon.” His purpose was to pass on my actions
in relieving Ralph Smith.

Not content with this, he began issuing orders to the
Twenty-seventh Division and he paused to issue some decora-
tions, although the division was still serving under me. Iinally,
he had the effrontery to berate the cntire Marine Corps, and
mc in particular, in the most amazing conversation that 1 have
cver had with a United States general officer. Fortunately, Major
General Ilarry Schmidt, commanding the FFourth Marine Divi-
sion, was with me at the time and was ablc to confirm the truth
of Richardson’s unbelicvable behavior.

Richardson called upon me while I was entertaining Ad-
miral Spruance, who was making a trip ashore. Therefore he
paid his official call upon both of us. 1 returned his call and
took Iarry Schmidt with me. En route to his headquarters, 1
was surprised to find Richardson holding a parade of Army
troops under my command and presenting decorations. This
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ceremony, without my knowledge or consent, held within a hun-
dred yards of my comnmand post, was contrary to all principles
of command relationships.

I waited until the ceremony had concluded and then went
to Richardson’s quarters with him. Harry Schmidt and 1 had
barely seated ourselves when Richardson opened up with somc
sharp remarks on the conduct of the Saipan operation.

“You had no right to relieve Ralph Smith,” he told mc.
“The Twenty-seventh is one of the best trained divisions in the
Pacific. I trained it myself. You discriminated against the Ay
in favor of the Marines. I want you to know that you can’t push
the Army around the way you've been doing.”

It was as much as I could do to contain myself as he con-
tinued with the old, familiar line.

“You and your Corps commanders aren’t as well qualified
to lead large bodics of troops as gencral officers in the Anny,”
he continued. “We've had more experience in handling troops
than you've had and yet you dare,” he alinost screamed, “remove
one of my Generals.”

He next accused me of faulty technical decisions and indis-
criminate sacrifice of lives. Apart from the fact that he was
wrong, I was astounded by his impropricty in making such state-
ments. A military command in battle carrics with it the authority
to conduct tactical operations according to the judgment of the
commander. Results are the touchstone and success bears an
automatic seal of approval. As long as you keep on fighting and
winning, no one, not cven a supcrior in the chain of command,
is authorized to interfere. An officer outside the chain of com-
mand, such as Richardson, never possesses the right to meddle.

For a man with my cxplosive reputation, 1 must confess
that I conducted myself with admirable restraint under this
barrage when he said, “You Marincs are nothing but a bunch
of beach runners, anyway. What do you know about land war-
fare?”

As events turncd out, it was probably just as wcll I held my
tongue because Spruance, prior to Richardsou’s arrival, had
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extracted a promisc from e to suffer in silence while Richard-
son was on the island. I gave this promise bccause Spruance
made it a personal request.

Spruance had not, however, reckoned with Kelly Turner.
When Richardson presented  himself aboard Twiner’s flag-
ship, the latter gave him the rough side of a very rough tongue
after Richardson had declined to admit himsclf in any way ac-
countable, while in the Marianas, cven to Tumer, Commander
of the Joint Expeditionary I'orce then engaged in conquering
those islands. Thus, to my official report of this cntire epi-
sode, which was certified to in writing by Harry Schmidt, Kelly
T'urner added a scorcher of his own in which he reported Rich-
ardson for “unwarranted assumption of command authority” and
“irrcgular interference” with me in the perfonmance of ny
dutics. After Turner had reminded Richardson of a few things
I was too speechless to say, Spruance also had a word with
Richardson and referred the entire business to Nimitz, with the
remark that Richardson had no authority to cxercisc command
functions in the Saipan arca without specific permission therefor
from the high command.

Nimitz, who had verbally approved Richardson’s visit,
simply passed all the correspondence to the latter with a polite
invitation for his comments; but if anything ever happened to
Richardson as a result, it was ccrtainly not apparent.

Nimitz knew very well that Spruance had authorized and
directed Ralph Smith’s relicf, with Turner emphatically concur-
ring, but this was onc occasion on which the Navy was more
than glad to yicld all command responsibility to the Marine;
and I was left alone to face the torrent of Army censure and
National Guard wmbrage which followed as soon as an Army
representative could “leak” their version of the story to the San
Francisco press.

Repercussions followed close on Richardson’s hecls. Prior
to departing from Saipan, he had convened his Buckner Board
and when he returncd to Qah, he had with him a wad of care-
fully culled certificates and affidavits to present to his ex parte
board. Of course, since the board had Army jurisdiction only, it
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possessed neither authority nor inclination to hear what Turner,
Spruance or I might have to say, nor to include in its procced-
ings any Navy or Marince documents except for a few odds and
ends. The witnesses were such as could be scraped up in the
Army casual camps, rest homes and hospitals of the 1lawaiian
Islands, and these presented what “cvidence” seemed nceded.
To do Ralph Smith credit, I must say that his testimony was the
most fair-minded of the lot. He repeatedly wamned his inquisitors
that he had few if any records and was forced to rely on memory,
and, despite repeated openings offered him in Richardson’s Star
Chamber, he never once launched into a diatribe or a sob story.
Adversity, 1 think, became him well.

The findings could be forescen without any crystal ball.
Buckner and his learned colleagues concluded that although I
had possessed all the authorily necessary to relieve Ralph Smith,
my action in doing so had been unwarranted by the “facts” of
the situation. IFurthermore, despite their preeept’s limitation of
the inquiry to the rclicf of Smith, they took it upon themsclves
to consider the whole conduct of the Saipan battle, including
events as late as July 8, and to placc on record -a haranguc
against me by Major General Griner while still under my
command.

For the time being, this concluded the controversy with
Nimitz asking me to comment on the board’s findings, which I
did as ordered. Before autumn, however, an Army representative
had touched off a full-dress public discussion and many guess-
work versions of the Saipan affair. Two months after the battlc,
Bob Sherrod, of Time Magazine, who had probably made morc
assault landings in the carly waves than most Marine officers,
ventured to writc an accurate report of what had happened and
you would have thought the skics were falling. The truth hur,
so Richardson immediately demanded the revocation of Sher-
rod’s press credentials and Nimitz, always inclined to compro-
mise, passed the Richardson buck along, although he was fully
aware of this correspondent’s integrity.

This brought the entirc matter officially to Washington for
decision on the Sherrod case, and it was therc that Admiral
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King had the last word. Richardson, stated King to General
Marshall, had dcliberately launched into inter-Service matters
of high comnmand outside his proper bailiwick, and had indulged
in intemperatc personal attacks on my character and professional
standing. This action, done wilfully and knowingly, had brought
rcal harin to Service relationships, the wartime cominci con-
cluded. Marshall never attempted to rcfute this; Sherrod’s cre-
dentials were not revoked; and there the matter was destined to
rest until it was rcopened in 1947 by a sclect group of former
T'wenty-seventh personnel close to the War Department.

I have always deplored this incident as far too typical of the
amount of top echelon time and cffort expended in the Pacific
on matters not pertaining to the winuing of the war. Inter-Ser-
vice disputcs, given unmerited prominence, can grow into the
grcatest ecnemy of victory when they take priority over all other
interests in the minds of Generals and Admirals. Equally deplor-
able is the effect upon the men who carry into peacetime the
animosity thus cngendered in wartime.
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CHAPTER IX
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I ITAVE always considered Saipan the decisive battle of
the Pacific offensive. Creasy, establishing the criterion for his
Battles, dcfined dccisive as an event which varied the world
drama in all its subscquent scencs. Saipan was decisive because
it varicd the Pacific drama in all its subsequent scenes.

Iwo Jima and Okinawa were costlier battles and carried us
closer to Japan, but their capture was made possible only by our
earlier success at Saipan, which breached Japan’s inner defense
line, destroyed the main bastions and opencd the way to the
home islands.

Complemented by the capture of Guam and Tinian, before
finality scaled the victory in the Marianas, Saipan was the decath
of Japan’s hope of resisting our advance. The defense of Saipan
reached classic heights of fanaticisin, with the sacrifice of the
island’s commanding gencral and almost the cntire garrison.

Equally severe as the blow to military prestige was the psy-
chological tremor that caused a cabinet shake-up in T'okyo and
forced the government’s unprecedented admission to the Japa-
nese people that the Americans were perilously close to their
homeland. We acquired advance naval and air bases which de-
creased our dependence on Pearl Harbor and enabled us to
isolate Japan from the sea. The grand climax came later, when
fleets of B-2g’s started bombing Tokyo and every important
Japanese city came within destructive range of the bascs we had
captured in the Marianas.

The importance of Saipan lay in its rclation to the entirc
scheme of Japanese defensc in the Central Pacific. Saipan was
]apan's administrative Pearl Harbor, without Pearl [larbor’s
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massive permancent naval and military installations. 1t was the
naval and military heart and brain of Japanese defense strategy.
In itself it was a fortified island of considerable strength.

Japan’s Central Pacific Flect Ileadquarters, under Vice
Admiral Chuichi Nagumo, was located here. Nagumo was the
man who led the Japancse attack on Pearl 1arbor, as well as the
Japancsc striking force in the Battle of Midway. T'he 315t Army
Headquarters, comprising all Central Pacific army troops, under
Licutenant General IHideyoshi Obata, was there. Saipan also
was headquarters of the Northern Marianas Defense Torce,
under Liculenant Genceral Yoshijo Saito. This command in-
cluded his Forty-third Infantry Division and all Aty troops
from Tokyo Bay to Aguijan Island in the Northern Marianas.
Saipan was hcadquarters of the gth Naval Basc Foree, under
Rear Admiral Tsujimura.

Obata was absent, probably on an inspection tour, when
we attacked and the defense of Saipan fell upon the aging
shoulders of Saito. Nonc of these high echclon officers, with the
exception of Obata, escaped the holocaust that followed our
final drive to the northernmost tip of the island. If the Japanese,
after sinking our flect at Pearl Iarbor, had landed and taken
Oah, destroying the garrison and causing the death of Admiral
Nimitz and top Army and Marine commanders, the loss would
have been somewhat parallel.

I went ashore at Charan-Kanoa on the afternoon of June 17,
after Kelly ‘Tumner had announced that he was taking the trans-
port flect to sca.

Charan-Kanoa had been badly damaged by our shelling and
bombing. The sugar mill was in ruins and the yards of the
narrow-gauge railway, which ran along the west coast of Saipan,
were wrecked. Houses in the village, formerly tenanted by Japa-
nese employecs of the sugar mill, were in good shape. For some
unknown reason, they had escaped the full effect of our attack.

Normally, Saipan is a pleasant island, with calming patches
of bright green vegetation and brilliant flame trecs, but under
the milling of thousands of feet and hundreds of heavy-tracked
vehicles, the dirt roads had disintegrated into fine, penctrating
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dust. A passing jecp could put up a smoke screen more cffective
than our chemical services could produce and blot out the sun
like a Biblical plague. When it rained, jceps became amphibians
caught in quagmires that had been roads a few hours before.

Harry Schimidt’s Command Post was ncar the beach, south
of the mill. Ilcadquarters troops were building him 2 sand-
bagged shelter when I arrived to confer with him. Schnidt told
me that the FFourth had suffered heavy casualtics from artillery
and mortar fire but that the linc was moving slowly ahead.

The first night we occupicd whatever quarters we could
find and later rctired to foxholes. One of my aides, digging in
for shelter, uncovered a complete human skeleton and we dis-
covered that the Command Post was actually an old ccmetery
that had been chumed up by shells. ‘The Japanese made the first
of their many nightly nuisance raids that night, flying plancs
from Guam or Rota, but did little damage. The last tracers
from our anti-aircraft batterics streaking across the sky at the
disappecaring plances were the signal for a heavy downpour,
which flooded our foxholes and made life miscrable for cveryone.

At daybreak we moved off to V Corps llcadquartcers, which
had been cstablished at Charan-Kanoa. This village was laid
out in rectangular blocks with small, bungalow-type houses built
of plaster, wooden slats and coucrcte, with roofs of corrugated
iron. Except for broken windows, some of these houses were
habitable. In backyard guadrangles stood large concrete cisterns
for catching rainwatecr, fcd by pipes from the roofs. Fach house
had its air raid shelter.

The one sclected for me had a well in the backyard and
also, most unfortunatcly, the carcasc of a carabao, lying ncar a
shell crater. The first thing Asbill and Scrgeant Bradley had to
do on Saipan was to bury that loathesome animal, wlich must
have weighed a ton. They told me that the interment of a body
that sizc and odor was no casy task with an ordinary shovel. 'They
had need for a bulldozer. After the two of than had cleaned
up, they went foraging and came back with furniture and a cot
with springs, which was indecd a luxury after a noun-resilient
foxhole.
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My quarters were next to the combined office and quarters
of my Chief of Staff, Brigadier General Graves B. Erskine,
located at the other side of the house we shared. All I had to do
to keep in touch with the situation was to walk the few steps to
his office or call to him through the thin wooden partition.

Erskine was the neck of the funnel of information. He was
continually in personal or telephonic contact with the General
Staff and the Special Staff sections and members of his staff
kept him informed of the progress of the battle, phase by phase.
His office buzzed with activity and his only regret was that he
could not get away more frequently to visit the front. For nearly
two weeks, his personal knowledge of Saipan was limited to the
area immediately adjacent to our quarters. Duty tied him to his
desk.

In Erskine’s desire to see for himself what was happening,
there was no ego. A brilliant staff officer, he knew from long
experience that frequently the only way to obtain information
in battle is to go and see for yourself. He drilled this fact into
his staff. If an officer complained of lack of information from
subordinate units, he knew the first question Erskine would
ask would be, “Have you been there to find out for yourself?”
If the staff officer was unable to give an affirmative answer, it
was hard going because Bobby Erskine could indulge in biting
comment.

Equally competent officers on my Northern Landing Force
(Saipan-Tinian) staff formed a great Headquarters group. My
G-1 (Administration) was Lieutenant Colonel Albert F. Metz
and my G-3 (Operations Officer) was Colonel Robert E. Hoga-
boom, who helped me train Army troops for the Aleutians
campaign.

An answer to the criticism that I discriminated against the
Army was the fact that, in addition to having an Army officer,
Brigadier General Harper, commanding the XXIV Corps Artil-
lery, as my artillery officer, I had numerous excellent Army
officers on my staff.

My G-2 (Intelligence Officer) was Lieutenant Colonel
Thomas R. Yancy, aus, of the Army’s General Staff Corps,
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who had been with me since the early days of the Amphibious
Corps, Pacific, in San Diego. Running the G-4 Section was
Lieutenant Colonel Joseph Anderson, a West Pointer, who did
a Herculean job maintaining a steady flow of supplies and equip-
ment. Colonel A. V. Wilson, Corps Engineer, also was an Army
officer.

Two or three times daily, staff conferences were held. We
discussed every phase of the situation—casualties, enemy strength,
enemy weapons, our lines and dispositions, our supply problems.
Special staff officers filled in the picture with additional details.
Questions by the staff were encouraged. Erskine summed up
the situation at the end of the session. These conferences were
excellent cxamples of inter-staff cooperation.

With such staff support and loyalty it would have been
possible for me to sit back and take things easy. I was 62 when
we attacked Saipan, and many times during that month I fclt
like a tired old man under the strain of directing a campaign
which required so much nervous and physical energy.

I was determined to take Saipan and take it quickly. Upon
the outcome of this operation rested the first proof of the ability
of the Marine Corps to do a big job well. The problems con-
fronting us were never out of my mind and when the pressure
was on, when the issue at stake was critical, all my weariness
vanished. I never felt better in my life than when I faced this
challenge.

After the relief of Ralph Smith from the Twenty-seventh
Division, the assault on the Mount Tapotchau line commenced.
Dealing with the diverse elements of my command was no easy
matter, but I claim I dealt with them all fairly.

Here I think I will turn over the record to Asbill, my aide.
He says of me:

His methods of controlling the divisions were skillfully varicd
to suit the personalities and situations involved. He used threats,
exhortations, sound advice, sympathy: he cursed, demanded,
cajoled. urged and praised. Invariably, his method was the right
one.

When the Fourth Division executed its pivotal movement and
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began its rapid march to the north, he frequently called Harry
Schmidt on the phone to encourage him and to lct him know
that the performance of his troops was appreciated. From Gen-
eral Smith’s end the conversation would run something like this:

“Hello, son, where are your front lines? Wait a minute now.
Let me chicck my map. Are you all the way up there? Boy, you'd
better slow 'em down or you won't be able to find your men. I
think we'll take that ‘4’ off your Division patch and put on a
race horse instead. Well, how about the left flank? Do you have
enough troops to fill up the gap? If you don’t, I'll give you a
battalion. You're doing a fine job, son. Keep it up. I'll be up
there pretty soon to sec you.”

A conversation of quite a different tone occurred when the
2nd Battalion, 105th Infautry, which was dircctly under Corps
control, was beiug held up, day afler day, at the neck of Nafutan
Point, on the far side of Aslito Airfield. Staft observers had re-
turned with the information that, thongh the terrain was rugged,
practically no Japancse had been encountered.

General Smith called the battalion commander, “Colonel, this
is General Smith. What's holding you up down there? Sure, the
ground’s rough but it’s rough all over this island. That’s no
excusc. Ilow many Japs are in front of you?

“Well, if there aren’t any Japs, how the hell could you be
held up?” Then the conversation changed to a monologue, *“Now
listen, Colonel. I want you to push ahead with your battalion and
clean wp that danmced place. If you don't, the Japs will break
through and be all over the airfield. Now move out and take it.
Do you vuderstand?”

Shortly afterward, the Japanese on Nafutan Point did break
through, cxactly as the General had wamed. A party of 500, who
had been hiding in caves, broke through the 1o5th Infantry, at-
tacked Aslito Airfield, where they damaged a number of plancs,
and ncarly reached I1ill 500, some 3,000 yards north of the field,
before they were cleaned up by the 14th and the 25th Marines
after the artillerymen had taken a heavy toll.

"U'he Japancse break-through at Nafutan Point, rcferred to
in the previous chapter, posed a pecubiar psychological problem,
which was to develop throughout the campaign. It was here that
the Japanese pledged as a slogan and a password, “Scven Lives
To Repay Our Country.” 'This phrase, meaning that cach Japa-
nese was to kil seven Americans before he died, was in the bat-
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talion order issucd before they cmerged from their caves and
marched to the airficld. It becane a rallying cry, forlorn but
sustained, for the whole campaign, but we saw to it that this
ambition was not fulfilled at Nafutan Point or anywhere clse
on Saipan. The 14th and 25th Marines took care of Nafutan.
Elsewherc my Marines were cqually alert to enciny attack.

For once the Japanese had more tanks than we had csti-
mated but their sardine-can varicty proved no match for our
guns or our bazookas, which ripped them apart as though they
were the clockwork toys from Japan that used to flood the storcs
before the war.

Naval gunfire scattered the first tank attack from Garapan
down the coast soon after our landing, but carly on the moming
of June 17 the enciny counterattacked in strength from the
vicinity of Lake Susupe, in reality nothing but a marsh behind
Charan-Kanoa. There was a spectacular bravado about this at-
tack. A Japanese officer, standing in the turret of the lcad
vehicle, waved his sword in the manner of a cavalryman charg-
ing, while a bugler sounded the call.

The attack was mct by staunch Marines of the Sccond
Division, who achieved our first major tank victory in the Cen-
tral Pacific war by destroying 31 enemy machines. The Sccond
used half-tracks (semi-tractor and truck), 75-mm. guns, infantry
anti-tank weapons, and bazookas. One of our half-tracks got in
the middle of the attacking force and destroyed four encmny
tanks singlchanded while bazookas and artillery fire tore the
others to pieces. The Japancsc tanks were so flimsy that a number
were put out by hand grenades fixed in their tracks as the vehicles
passed over the foxholes of individual Marincs.

This victory was an achicvement in coral island warfare but
as we advanced northward up the island to scize the Tapotchau
line we ran into several more tank attacks. The day before the
8th Marincs, Sccond Division, captured the mountain, we
destroyed 30 more tanks in three different attacks on various
parts of the line.

When we captured Tapotchau, the tactical position on
the island changed radically. Mount Tapotchau, the highest
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point of the range, is approached by a slope on the west side, up
which wound a pilgrims’ path to a little shrine, and falls away
down a steep precipice to the cast. The surrounding terrain is a
series of steep cliffs and decep ravines, pitted with caves from
which the Japancsc fought our advance. The mountain provided
them with exccllent observation: facilities, whichh were denied to
us on the lower ground. While they held Tapotchau, they
looked down the muzzles of their guns at us; when we took it,
we looked down the muzzles of ours at them.

The capture of Tapotchau was a magnificent picce of work
by the Second Marines. The Sixth Marines prepared the way
by capturing Tipo Pale, the commanding hill, and the Eighth
Marines fought their way up the slopes of the mountain to the
suminit after heavy mortar and artillery preparation.

Strangely enough, the Japancse on the summit showed little
resistance, considering this was the key to the island, and we
were able to establish observation posts on top alinost immedi-
ately, adding to the cffectivencess of our artillery, which played a
large part in supporting our advance.

The pressure we kept on the Japanese was telling fearfully.
To maintain this pressure, we followed a policy of by-passing
strong points of resistance, leaving them to be mopped up by
reserve troops, so that we could press the attack and prevent the
cnemy from using the terrain to our disadvantage. Kept on the
move and deprived of their armor, the defending forces fell
apart.

Although they resisted from caves and hidcouls in the
ridges, and tricd to harass us at night from by-passed pockets,
we dug them out and smoked them out in hand-to-hand combat.
With flamne throwers and hand grenades, the Marines ferreted the
Japanese out of their holes and killed them. Patrols covered the
terrain ‘yard by yard, combing thick vegctation and rocky fast-
nesses for snipers. It was war such as nobody had fought before:
a subterrancan campaign in which men climbed, crawled,
clubbed, shot, burned and bayoncticd cach other to death.

Bayonct: fighting sounds out of place on a coral island but
the Marincs at times used bayoncts at Saipan. This little-used
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weapon is part of the hand-to-hand combat training which
makes the Marine such a superb in-fighter in such an cmergency.
Bayonet training was emphasized and advocated in the Corps
by the late Colonel Anthony Drexel Biddle, usmcr, when 1
was Quartermaster at Philadelphia.

Biddle convinced the Marines that they could mect the
encmy and kill himn with the bayonet. e had studied bayonct
fighting in England, France and Switzerland, and wrotc a
pamphlet on the subject, “Do or Die,” which he distributed to
the troops at his own expense. e thought this type of training
would be useful in the futurc, when the Marines met the
Japanese.

“How do you get a bayonct out of a Jap, once you've got it
in?” I asked Tony one day.

“Shoot it out,” he told me. And that’s what the Marines did
at Saipan and Guadalcanal ou the rare occasions that they used
bayonets.

Tapotchau had fascinated me cver since 1 first sct cycs on
the mountain which rose above the smoke of our D-day bom-
bardment. Immediately after we captured it, the pilgrim’s path
was widened for jecp traffic and 1 rode up Tapotchau scveral
times.

Looking down on the island from the former vantage point
of the Japancsc, it was casy to sec why-encmy fire had been so
accurate. From the summit of this 1,554-foot mountain, the
observer had a Pisgali-sight of Saipan. Practically the entire island
stretched visibly before him, like a huge acrial photograph. With
the aid of a map and a powerlul Japancse telescope we found
there, I could study the progress of the battle in dctail, with the
72 square miles of terrain reduced to the proportions of a foot-
ball field.

1 ordered Major Generals Schinidt and Griner to go to the
top of Tapotchau. My reason was two-fold. I wanted the Gen-
erals to have the opportunity of watching their own troops in
action and of observing the rcar areas held by the encmy. T also
wanted to impress upon the two officers the accomplishment of
the Second Marine Division in capturing the mountain. In
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comparison with Tapotchau, the terrain that was proving so
difficult for the Twenty-seventh was as smooth as a table top.

One of my trips up Tapotchau was nearly my last. I was
there with Major General Tommy Watson of the Second Divi-
sion when the Japanese, noting unusual activity, which usually
accompanied brass hats in the front lines, began to drop mortar
shells around us with disconcerting accuracy. One shell fell 20
feet from my jeep, and Watson and I dived into the nearest
foxhole until the firing stopped. When it ceased we were able
to get down the mountain in comparative safety.

Preoccupied as we were with the battle for Saipan, we still
had to face the other phase of Operation FORAGER, namely,
the capture of Guam and Tinian. The latter island, three miles
south of Saipan, had been subjected to considerable neutralizing
fire, not only from the Navy but also from our own artillery.
Driving northwards up Saipan, we had been annoyed by fire
from Tinian, to our rear. Our 155 mm. batteries had to handle
the double job of shooting across Tinian Strait at enemy guns on
that island and of supporting our advance on Saipan. Naval and
air units took over the bulk of the Tinian task, after the fleet
returned from sea, but our excellent Army and Marine artillery
kept up its systematic job of pounding Tinian while still engaged
in its primary role of supporting us on Saipan.

On June 28, Task Force 58 commenced the first of a series
of strikes on Guam and on the nearby island of Rota, in order
to neutralize enemy airfields before the intensive bombardment
would prepare for our assault on Guam three weeks later. On
June 29, Rear Admiral “Close-in” Conolly and Major General
Roy Geiger, commanding the Southern Attack Force and the
Southern Landing Force, respectively, arrived with their staffs at
Saipan to confer with Spruance, Turner and myself. Later,
Major General A. D. Bruce, Aus, commanding the Seventy-
seventh Infantry Division, flew out from Pearl Harbor to Saipan.

The purpose of the conference was to re-draft the plan for
‘Guam so that it would encompass the battle experience we had
gained on Saipan. A number of alterations had to be made in
the light of tactical experience and the latest intelligence. We all
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felt there was room for improvement in our approach to the
Guam problem, especially in respect to intensive and more sus-
tained preparation of the objective before we landed. Task Force
58 started the process three weeks ahead of time, as a result of
my suggestion that three days at Saipan had not been sufficient.

Roy Geiger toured Saipan, and under my guidance he
studied terrain features and enemy tactics, so that the lessons
of Saipan could be applied to Guam. With Geiger was Brigadier
General P. A. del Valle, a Marine artillery veteran from Guadal-
canal, who commanded the III Amphibious Corps Atrtillery.
Our employment of artillery on Saipan was one of the major
factors in our success; never before in the Pacific had Marines
gone into action with so much armament, ranging from 75’s to
155’s. In addition, we had new rocket-launching trucks that
thickened bombardment like a Pacific typhoon. The three of us
saw as much of the island as possible, visiting division areas and
conferring with unit commanders. When Geiger and del Valle
left, I was certain that the study they made at Saipan would
have a profound influence on the course of the Guam campaign,
which it did, with a consequent saving of both effort and lives.

Another visitor to my Saipan headquarters was Spruance,
who was always eager to learn first-hand what was happening.
The Admiral caused me many anxious moments. He refused to
wear a steel helmet or green dungarees. Instead, he came ashore
in a conspicuous khaki uniform which made him a first-class
target for a Japanese sniper. e coolly disregarded measures for
his safety by exposing himself in the forward areas, which he
generally visited unarmed, accompanied only by an aide.

I finally had to call him down for his recklessness. “Admiral,”
I said, “you are in command of this entire operation, but I am in
command ashore. I cannot let you come onto the beach unless
you follow the routes I prescribe and let me send an armed
escort with you.” Being above all a reasonable man, Spruance
agreed, and his keen interest in the landing forces and his inspec-
tion trips provided him with a much more accurate and compre-
hensive picture of the battle than he would have had other-

wise.
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Spruance repaid his visits ashore by a princely largesse of ice
cream, which was a cause for celebration at Corps Headquarters.
The Admiral would send a Filipino mess steward ashore with
a five-gallon drum of ice cream as a present for me. Naturally
I gave it to the enlisted men. A General should eat like his men,
and I always ate as my men ate. When we had “K” rations
ashore, I had “K” rations. When we had “C” rations, I had “C”
rations. When supplies improved to “Ten-in-One” and “B”
rations, I had the same and ate captured Japanese rations if they
were needed as a supplement.

‘When ice cream arrived, I took station at the front window
of my well-perforated house in Charan-Kanoa, with the Filipino
steward and the five-gallon drum, and would sing out to a passing
Marine, “Hey, boy, come over here.” He came at the double,
thinking that I had important business or important trouble
for him. When he reached my window, I would tell him to get
out his canteen cup and have some ice cream.

In the sticky heat of Saipan, ice cream was something men
drcamed about, and within a few minutes the word got around
about the treat down at the Commanding General’s house. Soon
there was a line of Marines two blocks long, holding canteen
cups, Japanese rice bowls, cracked teacups, anything they could
pick up quickly. I managed to stretch out the ice cream to an
amazing length by doling it out carefully, advised by the smiling
little Filipino.

Admiral King and Admiral Nimitz also paid me a visit at
Saipan, in great secrecy, but with plenty of censored publicity
and excitement. They flew into Aslito Airfield—renamed Isely
Field, after the naval airman killed during preliminary strikes
on the island—and I took them on a jeep tour of the entire
perimeter while fighting was still in progress. Our cavalcade
came dangerously near sniper haunts several times, but the two
visitors were too absorbed in the general picture of the battle
to worry about the personal equation and nobody has ever
accused Ernie King or Chester Nimitz of lack of guts or equi-
librium.

I was so impressed by the combat ability of my Marines on
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Saipin that I said to King, “Give me three Marnme divisions, and
I'l take Luzon.”

The Admiral looked down his nose at me and growled,
“What kind of meat have you been eating?”

“The same kind you’ve been eating for the last forty years,”
I replied.

King told Vandegrift later, “The trouble with Holland
Smith is that he’s like Stilwell in China. All he wants to do is
fight.”

The battle of Saipan had not long to run. Contained in the
northern end of the island, the remnants of the Japanese garrison
were trapped. Abandoned by and cut off from Tokyo, they fell
back to a narrow strip of territory, fighting savagely in their
disorderly retreat.

All signs pointed to an early end of the battle. I'rom their
desperate plight emerged the samc psychological reaction we
had observed after the breakthrough at Nafutan Point, where
the rallying cry had been, “Seven Lives To Repay Our Country.”
It was clear, from my observations at Attu and from my study
of the Saipan situation, that the garrison was building up for the
final act, a wild banzai attack in which every man would seck
destruction.

We had noted this feeling of abandonment among the
prisoners. On other islands, following the code of no surrender,
very few prisoners fell into our hands. Through July 277 on Saipan,
we took 1,734 Japanese prisoners, including 17 ofhicers. Among
these were many wounded. We were transferring 5o of the most
serious cases—blind, legless, broken-backed—to Honolulu, be-
cause of the shortage of hospital personnel in the forward area.
A Japanese warrant medical officer asked me why we were send-
ing these encmy wounded to the United States to become a
charge on the American Government. They were useless, he
said bluntly.

I asked him what the Japanese would do in this case. “Very
easy in the Japanese Army,” he said. “We would lcave them a
hand grenade apiece, and if they didn’t use the grenades, it
would be a simple matter to slit their jugular veins.”
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I had more than a hunch that the banzai attack was immi-
nent. There also was an inkling of such an event in some of our
prisoner intelligence, and air reconnaissance showed that the
Japanese were concentrating north of Tanapag, in front of the
sector held by the Twenty-seventh. The terrain in that part of
the island lent itself to such action despite the fact that our
air and naval gunfire were pounding these assembled reserves
on Tanapag Plain.

My conclusion was that the charge would come down the
coastal road, paralleling the narrow-guage railway on the west
coast. In fact, before we left Pearl Harbor I had put my finger
on this corridor for a banzai attack on Saipan if the Japanese
decided upon one. With this thought hard in my mind I had
issued a special Corps order on July 2, warning all units to take
special precautions against nocturnal mass attacks and to button
up their lines each night by physical contact.

Moreover, on the afternoon of July 6, accompanied by
Major General Watson and Asbill, I visited the Twenty-seventh’s
Command Post and warned Griner, now in command of the
Army Division, that a banzai attack probably would come down
Tanapag Plain late that night or early the next moming. I
cautioned him to make sure that his battalions were physically
tied in. The line had been established well before sunset that
evening by the ast, 2nd and 3rd Battalions of the 1o5th Infantry,
the 2nd Battalion holding the left flank running down to the sea.

I told Griner that my study of the terrain indicated that, if
the attack came, it would be in his zone. As a matter of fact,
when Watson was advancing up the west coast with the Second
Division, I also cautioned him to keep his left strong, because
I was sure that was where an attack would come. Griner assured
me that his battalions were buttoned up and that his division
was prepared for just such a Japanese move.

I left the Command Post satisfied that I had done all that
was possible for a general to do. In rear of the Twenty-seventh
was the 3rd Battalion, 10th Marines (Artillery), moved up into
good position areas for supporting the advance of the Fourth
Division on the higher ground.
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It was apparent that the Twenty-seventh had profited little
by the change in command. In addition to my warning, Colonel
Yancey, of the Ammy, my Corps G-z, had cautioned all divisions
that a prisoner had reported his unit alerted for an all-out attack
that night, and that any man alive by the next afternoon must
commit hara-kiri. An hour later the Army division informed
Yancey, very skeptically, that the prisoner’s story was considered
“tricky” and further interrogation was necessary.

At dawn our line across Saipan was practically continuous,
except, we learned later, for a 300-yard gap between the 1st and
3rd Battalions of the 106th Infantry. To make matters worse,
this gap was not even covered by coordinated or planned fire, as
is normal practice in even the most elementary offensive situa-
tion, let alone one as sensitive as this was. Shortly before ogo0
the Japanese attacked down the coastal railroad, just as I had
anticipated. It was a banzai attack insofar as the enemy was
determined to fight to the end, but it was not composed of a
disorderly foray of crazed men, although it was a motley force
and included wounded and crippled, together with some well-
armed troops and others carrying knives bound to poles. The
attack had a semblance of organization; it was led by officers,
and our troops experienced enemy machine gun, mortar and
tank fire.

Thus between 1,500 and 3,000 Japanese took part, and the
fanatical charge cut through our lines. Courageous machine
gunners of the 105th Infantry, paying the price of faulty disposi-
tions the night before, fired until enemy dead piled high in front
of their weapons and blocked their field of fire, but the Japanese
came on, charging over their own dead. The machine gunners
fought until their ammunition was exhausted and their bodies
mingled with the Japanese.

The gap between the battalions widened under the mad
enemy rush, and the 1st and 2nd Battalions became disorganized,
lacking ammunition to continue fighting. Some groups were cut
off and isolated and others were driven to the beach. Four hun-
dred and six American bodies were picked up in the general area
.after the counterattack. The 3rd Battalion also received glanc-
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ing attack but repelled the enemy. While the other two bat-
talions were being laced to pieces, the 3rd hardly moved beyond
its pre-attack position to render any assistance. This failure
later cost this battalion participation in the Army Distinguished
Unit Citation awarded in 1948 by the War Department to the
balance of the 105th Infantry.

Once through the gap, the momentum of the attack carried
the Japanese through the two forward batteries of the 3rd Bat-
talion, 10th Marines, a thousand yards behind the front. These
artillerymen neverthelesss resolutely helped to check the in-
vaders. Cutting their fuses to four-tenths of a second, which
meant practically a muzzle-burst, Battery H., 1oth Marines,
fired point blank into the advancing mob until all their ammuni-
tion was expended. But the surviving Japanese surged on and
overran the batteries. The artillerymen removed the firing locks
of their guns to make them inoperable, picked up their rifles and
turned infantrymen, sustaining 136 casualties in the process.
Thus they helped to stem the desperate enemy tide, falling back
themselves until the Twenty-seventh Division’s reserve regiment
(the 106th Infantry) began to come up.

Four hours after they attacked, the Japanese momentum
was spent, but in the general confusion it took us many hours
to straighten out the picture. After learning the seriousness of
the breakthrough, Griner had ordered the division reserve—the
1st and 2nd Battalions, 106th Infantry, together with all avail-
able tanks—to counterattack. By mid-afternoon they succeeded,
side by side with men of the 1oth Marines, in recapturing the
two battery positions overrun by the Japancse, and a solid line
was established from the beach to the left of the IFourth Marine
Division, just short of the area where remnants of the 1o5th
Regiment were beleaguered.

Here again, however, even while isolated comrades were
being slowly butchered, the 106th Infantry failed to press the
attack. Only 300 yards short of sccnes which have been com-
pared by witnesses to those of Custer’s stand, the Twenty-seventh
Division’s reserve regiment halted and consolidated because, as
the Army commanding officer later explained to Griner, he was
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apprehensive of an attack on his rear from by-passed Japanese.
Many of the 1o0sth’s infantrymen, stranded on the reef, were
rescued by amtracks and pukw’s and evacuated to destroyers.
The next day I removed the Twenty-seventh from the line and
replaced them with the Second Marine Division, which liqui-
dated the surviving Japanese.

It is easy to be wise after the event, but here was a case
where we could have been wise before the event. It is extremely
difficult to halt a banzai charge but, if you are alerted and pre-
pared, such a charge, even so fierce as this one, can be contained
before it does too much damage. The 1st and 2nd Battalions of
the 105th Regiment, and the 3rd Battalion, 10th Marines, fought
courageously but, as Admiral Spruance correctly pointed out in
his report on Saipan to Admiral Nimitz, the gap between the
two battalions could have been closed by swinging the 3rd Bat-
talion forward or could, at the very least, have been covered by
machine guns.

The 3rd Battalion, although not as heavily engaged as the
other two, made no effort to go to their relief. More important
to us, in view of the fact that I had warned Griner of the banzai
attack, was Spruance’s official finding that the front line units
of the Twenty-seventh were alert to the imminence of the attack.
When Richardson visited Saipan, he hield an investigation of the
banzai attack and, I was subsequently informed by Jarman, ap-
proximately 100 officers of the Twenty-seventh Division were
slated to be relieved.

During the regimes of Jarman and Griner, which had fol-
lowed close on the heels of Ralph Smith, two of the three in-
fantry regimental commanders of the Twenty-seventh Division
were relieved, the commander of the 106th Infantry, together with
his executive officer, as already recounted; and the CO of the 105th
Infantry, who had to be placed in the charge of a medical officer
after a hysterical crying spcll on July 5, by Griner. In confinna-
tion of my original judgment on the leadership with which the
Twenty-seventh Division had landed on Saipan, the only Twenty-
seventh Division infantry regimental commander not relieved
on Saipan promptly lost his regiment on Okinawa. This clean
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sweep of their leaders, together with the inevitable subordinate
shakeup which went hand in hand with each, dramatizes as
nothing else could the true state of that unhappy division.

If any advantage was gained from the fantastic Saipan
breakthrough, we gained it, because the banzai attack undoubt-
edly expedited the course of the battle and was the prelude to
the last act of the Saipan drama. When we cleaned up the area
in front of the Twenty-seventh’s sector and wiped out the scat-
tered groups of Japanese resistance, we counted 4,311 enemy
bodies, some of which were obviously long decomposed and
could not have been killed during the banzai attack.

Another drama of Saipan was taking place behind the Japa-
nese lines, where the remnants of the garrison of nearly 30,000
men, from Lieutenant General Saito downward, were commit-
ting suicide. On the morning of July 6, prior to the banzai
charge, Saito issued his last message to the Imperial Army on
Saipan, declaring:

Heaven has not given us an opportunity. We have been unable
to utilize fully the terrain. We have fought in unison up to the
present time, but now we have no materials with which to fight,
and our artillery has been completely destroyed . . . Whether
we attack or whether we stay where we are, there is only death.
However, in death there is life. We must utilize this opportunity
to exalt true Japanese manhood. I will advance with those who
remain to deliver still another blow to the American devils. I
will leave my bones on Saipan as a bulwark of the Pacific.

Saito, however, did not advance with his men in the final
attack, nor did Vice Admiral Nagumo. Saito committed hara-
kiri and he was accompanied in death by other high officers. A
captured Japanese officer gave us a remarkable personal account
of the last hours of Saito.

The General was ill and had been unable to eat or sleep
for several days under the strain of the losing battle he was
fighting without hope of relief from Tokyo. Despite his illness,
aggravated by age, he hoped to reorganize his scattered forces
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and make a last stand on a new line in the northern part of the
island. As we advanced, he continued to move northward and
re-establish new headquarters. His sixth and final Command
Post was in a cave in a valley which, according to our prisoner
informant, became known among the enemy as the “Valley of
Hell” because of the intensive naval gunfire and artillery we
kept pouring into it.
This is what the Japanese officer told us:

Saito called his Chief of Staff and held a secret conference of
his unit commanders. The details of that conference were never
revealed to us but undoubtedly they aimed at taking final action
in realizing the end in true Japanese Army fashion. This final
decisive action had to be one of two courses:

First, to remain as we were and starve to death or, second, to
make a last stand and fight to the finish. The Commanding Gen-
eral and the Chief of Staff chose the latter. . . .. The final
order and instructions were written up and resulted in the order
to carry out the aforementioned ceremonial action.

After issuing the order, the work of Headquarters was finished.
Everybody put his personal belongings in order. By kindness
of the Headquarters cook, a farewell feast for General Saito was
prepared for the evening of July 5. This consisted of only sake
and canned crabmeat.

Why did they hold this last farewell feast? Since Genecral
Saito, because of his age and exhausted condition, would not
participate in the attack of July 7, and had decided to commit
suicide in his cave, he was feted.

10 a.m,, July 6. This time was set by the General himself as
the final hour. I had to be up at the front that morning in a
liasion capacity, so I was unable to witness the final hour.

I think that it happened in the following manner: Cleaning a
spot on a rock, General Saito sat down. Facing the misty East,
saying “Tenno Haikal Banzai!” he drew his own blood first with
his own sword and then his Adjutant shot him in the head with
a pistol. When I returned to Headquarters from my duties at
10 p.m. on July 6, they had already cremated the General’s body.

Two days after the banzai attack, organized Japanese re-
sistance ceased, and Saipan was secured. The Fourth Marine
Division, advancing along the east coast of the island, captured
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Marpi Airstrip and went on to take Marpi Point, the last enemy
stronghold, on July g, twenty-four days after we landed at
Charan-Kanoa.

Saito’s death was the signal for a wave of suicides, which
made hard-boiled Marines shudder at Japanese savagery and
regret their own helplessness to interfere when they saw hundreds
of Japanese civilians, whose emotions had been worked upon
by the military, join the mad rush for death. Men, women and
children flung themselves over the cliffs or were pushed over
by Japanese soldiers, who shot stragglers, and then followed their
victims to death, either by jumping after them or destroying
themselves with hand grenades.

Saipan was the supreme example of the futility of the
Japanese military doctrine regarding a civilian population. Sev-
eral thousand Japanese civilians had already surrendered to us
in the Charan-Kanoa and Garapan areas and were segregated
in camps until we could decide their future. They had stayed
behind when the Japanese moved inland and thus escaped the
full force of last-minute propaganda that death by horrible tor-
ture would be their fate if they were captured by the American
Marines, and therefore death by their own hand was both prefer-
able and honorable. Instead, they trusted us and lived to take
their place again in the world as useful citizens.

The manner in which Admiral Nagumo met his death was
never learned. Some obscure cave on Saipan must hold that
secret. He, too, probably was cremated after committing suicide,
because he was reported alive the night before the banzai attack.
It was an ignominious end to the carcer of the man who sank
our fleet at Pearl Harbor and by so doing brought us into the
war and ended Japan’s dream of empire.
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CHAPTER X
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IN war, as in every other phase of activity, there are
enterprises so skilfully conceived and successfully executed that
they become models of their kind. Our capture of Tinian, south-
ern sister island of Saipan, belongs in this category. If such a
tactical superlative can be used to describe a military maneuver,
where the result brilliantly consummated the planning and
performance, Tinian was the perfect amphibious operation in
the Pacific war.

The assault on this island, planned in intervals snatched
from preoccupation with the battle of Saipan, gave us the great
B-29 basc after only nine days’ fighting, with a minimum of
casualties and the highest ratio of enemy dead in any of our
Central Pacific victories. This ratio worked out at 30 Japanese
for every American killed, and we lost only 2g0 men. When
Guam was regained, providing the Pacific Fleet with advance
facilities second in importance only to Pearl Harbor, we con-
trolled the whole of the Marianas, a series of powerful bases
from which we could carry the war to Japan proper.

Before the end of the great Marianas battle, however, im-
portant changes had been made in the Marine Pacific command.
Once Saipan, the key position, had been captured I was elevated
to take over a newly created headquarters for all Marine Corps
combat units in the Pacific. This was Headquarters, Fleet Marine
Force, Pacific, or ¥Mrpac, as it was short-titled. The Fleet
Marine Force had existed for many years under a number of
command setups, but the new command enabled us to coordi-
nate every one of our fighting units in one Fleet-type command,
responsible directly to Admiral Nimitz.
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My Marines, thus grouped together, were as much a part of
this balanced land-sea-air fleet as were its aircraft carriers, sub-
marines or battleships. The whole combination, which had
spearheaded our relentless march toward Japan, constituted a
striking demonstration of balanced naval power in its most effec-
tive and crushing sense. ,

Incident to my assumption of this new role, Major General
Harry Schmidt was given my hard-hitting V. Amphibious Corps
and Major General Clifton B. Cates, now 19th Commandant of
the Marine Corps, took over the Fourth Division from Schmidt.
I left my entire staff with Harry Schmidt, with one exception.
Bobby Erskine, my dynamic Chief of Staff, I insisted on retain-
ing, which I did until he in turn was promoted to Major Gen-
eral and received a fine command, the Third Marine Division,
which he led with distinction on Iwo Jima.

Nevertheless, I was not happy, for this change meant that
my days of tactical command were nearing an end. Hitherto I
had commanded troops in the field, which was to my liking. I
had led them under a succession of varying designations from
Amphibious Corps, Atlantic Fleet, to V Amphibious Corps,
which was the oldest corps headquarters in point of continuous
service in the U. S. armed forces. I feared that now I would
become a highly paid administrator, coordinator and supervisor
little better than Richardson, the Army’s three star representa-
tive at Pearl Harbor. But balancing my personal preference
for active service against the needs of the Corps, I realized
that the expanding scope of our Pacific operations and the
increasing employment of Marines made the change impera-
tive.

The capture of Tinian was a foregone conclusion both to
the Americans and the Japanese after we landed on Saipan.
Tinian is approximately two-thirds the size of Saipan, from which
it is separated by a three-mile strait. The central portion is a
high plateau, with sheer cliffs running down to the sea. This
green island rose like a billiard table to receive our B-29’s, when
mass air raids on industrial centers in Japan were launched from
the Marianas.
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Tinian had a garrison of 9,000, mostly veterans of the Man-
churian campaign, under Colonel Kiyoshi Ogata, an Army officer
not lacking in fighting spirit. Ogata was killed on D-day, leading
his men into action, and they doggedly carried on without him.
This garrison had better troops than other islands: they were
fairly well armed and had an additional month in which to
strengthen their defenses.

The Japanese on Tinian must have understood while the
Saipan battle was in progress that their turn could come as soon
as the nearby island was reasonably secured. They didn’t have
a chance, although they utilized their month’s grace by develop-
ing their defenses to the utmost. We did not land until July 24,
but as early as June 11 Pete Mitscher’s Task IForce 58 stood off
Tinian and started its task of methodically reducing Japancse
defenses as soon as they were discovered.

Fram Saipan, just across the narrow strait, our Corps artil-
lery joined in this saturation of Tinian. Our 155’s—Long Toms
and howitzers—were able to range over more than half of the
entire island, while smaller guns reached some targets. Starting
with a single battalion, we increased the weight of our armament
until the bombardment reached its crescendo with 13 battalions
of 15¢’s and 105’s pounding Tinian from the south shore of
Saipan.

The Japanese garrison tasted the bitterness of death before
it overtook them. For six weeks not a day passed without a
naval bombardment or an air strike, and for three weeks Corps
artillery on Saipan was never silent. For the first time, we used
a new secret weapon, the napalm-gasoline incendiary bomb,
which destroyed canefields and the cover which hid defenscs.
These attacks were the basis of a painstaking, unhurried plan
to knock out all observable targets and thus prepare Tinian for
our landing as no other island had been prepared. We were re-
solved that there would be no repetition of our T'arawa or Saipan
experiences, where we suffered from lack of preliminary prepara-
tion and lost heavily in consequence.

Our singular success at Tinian lay in the boldness of the
landing. The Japanese outfoxed us at Kiska; we completely out-
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foxed them at Tinian and vindicated the soundness of the most
unorthodox plan of assault ever attempted in the Pacific. We
sneaked in the back door, uninvited and unexpected, while the
Japanese waited for us at the fron} door. Surprise, fatal to Japa-
nese mentality, threw them completely off balance.

The best—in fact, the only—beaches on the island lay along
the southwest coast of Tinian, in- the vicinity of its capital,
Tinian Town. Here stretched several thousand yards of exactly
the type of beach where an amphibious landing of any magni-
tude could be expected. No others along the coast offered such
conditions. Therefore, it was here that the enemy concentrated
his strength.

Hills and ridges around the town formed a natural
amphitheater overlooking the sea and offered ideal terrain for
defense. Colonel Ogata exploited these physical features by forti-
fying the hills and protecting the beaches with mines and under-
water obstructions. Landing on such beaches and trying to force
a way up the hills in the face of enemy fire would have been as
futile as the charge of the Light Brigade.

Studying the problem from Saipan, we concluded it was
feasible to land, not at Tinian Town, but directly across the
strait on the northwest coast. This plan had numerous advan-
tages. We could embark the assault forces, load equipment and
supplies on Saipan, and cross the three mile strait like a river,
without the complicated organization of an amphibious force.
Instead of being a ship-to-shore operation in its initial phases,
Tinian would thus become a shore-to-shore operation, like
Normandy and many of those undertaken in the Mediterranean
and the Southwest Pacific.

Even before I left Pearl Harbor for the Marianas, 1 had
my eye on two small beaches on the northwest coast of Tinian.
When I say “small,” I mean infinitesimal in comparison with
the wide areas we generally utilized. These beaches—named
White Beach One and White Beach Two for the operation—
were respectively 65 and 130 yards wide. To land one Marine
division we normally required 4,000 yards, not 200, and at first
the problem of channelling two divisions, the Fourth and the
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Second, plus thousands of tons of equipment and supplies,
through this narrow door seemed insoluble.

On closer inspection from Saipan the problem diminshea.
With only three miles of water to cross from our staging basc,
instead of the thousands of miles we generally travelled to our
objectives, it seemed a workable plan to disregard the meagerness
of the landing beaches and move swiftly ashore before the enemy
was alerted. Firmly established, we would not be dislodged.

If these beaches could be used, I decided that the north
was where we should land, and I staked my reputation on the
results of reconnaissance. Captain James L. Jones, of our V
Amphibious Corps Reconnaissance Battalion, took his men
ashore in rubber boats on two after-dark missions and examined
enemy positions and beach conditions at Tinian Town and at
the two points I had suggested across the strait from Saipan.
Abandoning their boats 4oo yards from the beach, the men
swam ashore undetected by Japanese working parties or patrols.
Jones returned, with no casualties—as was surprisingly the usual
case in these daring ventures—and reported that Tinian Town
beach was heavily mined and strewn with underwater obstruc-
tions, and that the area was strongly fortified.

On the other hand, he reported, White Beach One and
White Beach Two were suitable for a rapid landing in spite of
their size and that they were only lightly defended. Lieutenant
Commander Draper L. I'. Kauffinan, usng, in command of our
Underwater Demolition Team, confirmed this report after he
and his men also had reconnoitered the beaches.

Before I relinquished command of the V Amphibious
Corps, I submitted the White Beach One and White Beach
Two landing plan to Kelly Turner and he dismissed it with the
observation that it was impracticable. That summation touched
off a chain of bitter argument on the subject, because I con-
sidered it eminently practicable, since it possessed the essential
element of surprise and bypassed one of the most formidable
beaches in the Pacific. Our session on board the Rocky Mount
generated considerable unprintable language. In essence, Tumer
based his objections on the limited size of the beaches.
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“You can't possibly land two divisions on those beaches,”
he insisted. “You need ten times that amount of room to get
the men ashore. Let me tell you what will happen. The Japs
will move in on you before you get all your men ashore and
then you will be in a jaml '

“Suppose the weather goes:against you? And it looks like
it will. What would you do then? The only feasible beaches are
at Tinian Town, and that’s where we are going to land.”

Intelligence reports had described in detail the defense
preparations the Japanese had stacked up in their fortified amphi-
theater at Tinian Town. If we attempted a landing there, as
Kelly Turner insisted, it would be suicide.

“If we go ashore at Tinian Town,” I told him, “we’ll have
another Tarawa. Sure as helll The Japs will murder us. What’s
more, we probably will be repulsed, and that will upset our entire
timetable. What do you say to that?”

He said a great deal, and we went on in this vein for hours,
but I countered all his arguments against my chosen beaches.
I pointed out that, while we would run into the full force of
Japanese resistance at Tinian Town, we could land practically
unopposed in the north, make a right sweep in the rear of the
town, where enemy strength was concentrated, and gain sufh-
cient maneuver ground for a quick—and bloodless—opera-
tion.

Finally I extracted from Kelly Turner a promise that deci-
sion on the beaches would be deferred until we had the results
of our reconnaissance. Armed with this report on beach condi-
tions, I went back to the Rocky Mount and, in the face of this
incontrovertible evidence, Turner reluctantly withdrew his objec-
tions. I have always felt that Admiral Spruance, the final author-
ity, recognized the inherent soundness of my plan, and that his
support finally swung the decision. I handed over the general
plan to Harry Schmidt and he worked out the details.

The bitter recriminations over this shortcut to success on
Tinian left me reflecting on the persistence of naval intransigence.
I had just captured Saipan and was faced with the further re-
sponsibility of capturing Tinian, yet my judgment in a largely
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military matter was subjected to naval expediency. Ilere was a
concrete example of a military man of long and uniformly suc-
cessful experience having his plans challenged by a naval officer
who had never commanded troops ashore and failed to under-
stand the principles of land warfare.

As it developed, through planning and not by happenstance,
because we provided against all contingencies, including the
weather, the landing exceeded expectations. To describe this
uniquc shore-to-shore operation, which saved hundreds of Ameri-
can lives, I might use the simile of an inverted funnecl. Through
the narrow neck we poured the men, who emerged through the
wide mouth and fanned out in the area beyond the beach. In
this way we put ashore tlic entire Fourth Marine Division in
nine hours, with only 15 killed. By nightfall on July 24, we held
a front 4,000 yards long and 2,000 yards decp, strong cnough
to resist the Japancse counterattack and break the back of
enemy power the very first night.

Altogether, we put 42,000 men with complete equipment,
artillery, trucks, tanks and supplies, across these narrow beaches
in the next few days. This was no mean feat, considering that
the weather did turn against us.

The superiority of this shore-to-shore attack was that it
largely dispensed with transports and the laborious, time-wasting
process of loading and unloading. Landing craft carrying troops
went directly from Saipan to Tinian. Amtracks and pukw’s loaded
on Saipan, crossed the strait, and made for inland sites predesig-
nated as dumps, thereby obviating unloading on the beach and
reloading for transportation inland. To facilitate the movement
of tanks, artillery and other heavy equipment up the steep
beaches, the ingenious Seabees constructed pontoon causeways
and special ramps, and when the heavy swell predicted by the
Navy did appear, it made little difference to us.

This landing on such a narrow area might have been
blocked if the Japanese has gucssed our design. But nothing
went wrong as we fed the men through the narrow funnel neck
onto the beach. From an exhaustive study of the situation, I
knew that the Japanese did not have sufficient troops to defend
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the western and northern beaches, and reconnaissance definitely
showed that most of the garrison was immobilized in the rear of
the Tinian Town area.

And besides, we took no chances. Rear Admiral Harry Hill,
commanding the Navy support force, ostentatiously kept most
of his ships off Tinian Town and concentrated fire on that area.
To strengthen the illusion that we intended landing on the
“Jogical” beaches, the Second Division staged a feint, which
apparently was convincing to the enemy. Two runs were made
within 4oo yards of the beach and our landing craft received
heavy fire before returning to the transports for re-embarkation.
By this time the Japanese were certain that Tinian Town was
our objective, and that our initial assault was a failure.

Meanwhile, we got ashore in force on the northern beaches,
in circumstances extremely confusing to the Japanese. In addi-
tion to the powerful demonstration off Tinian Town, which indi-
cated one thing to their puzzled minds, a heavy bombardment
covered the northern area and disguised our real intention,
which was something quite different. More than 200 planes were
available to support the attack, and, added to our 13 battalions
of artillery blasting away from Saipan, were three battleships,
three heavy cruisers, three light cruisers, sixteen destroyers, and
thirty gunboats.

The Japanese discovered our ruse too late. During the night
of July 24, the garrison commander rushed up his troops to meet
us in the north, but by that time we were well dug in and waiting
for him. The battle that night and carly the next morning sealed
the fate of Tinian. The enemy attack was not a banzai charge.
Is was a well coordinated movement, but our line was strong
and integrated. This strong beachhead line was an essential
feature of the plan.

Ogata’s night attack was directed at several points in our
line, and the Fourth Division was ready for everything. Troops
with bazookas were stationed at likely tank crossings; 37 mm.
guns were emplaced all along the line with cannister and anti-
personnel shells; machine guns covered fire lanes and our artil-
lery was alerted. The most serious threat came down a narrow-
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gauge railroad, led by six tanks, five of which we knocked out;
the sixth escaped but was destroyed the next day.

The 24th Marines (Colonel Franklin A. Hart) bore the
brunt of the night attack. Thrown back, the Japanese reorganized
on higher ground at o100 and struck at the juncture of the 25th
and the 24th Regiments. Several hundred broke through and
reformed in a swamp which was not covered by our machine
guns. From the swamp they split into two parties, one of which
aimed at our artillery positions, where artillerymen lowered their
muzzles, fired pointblank and routed the frenzied mob, now
stirred to banzai pitch.

For four hours, the 24th fought another group, wiping them
out with mortar, machine gun and rifle fire in the light of flares,
while artillery cut off their retrcat. It was one of the ficrcest
nights in the Pacific war and also one of the most decisive.
Twelve hundred Japanese bodies were counted along the Division
front at daybreak and another 700 to 800 were estimated to have
been carried away by their comrades. Nearly a quarter of the
Japanese garrison was killed that night, thus deciding the ulti-
mate result of the battle.

With our 4,000-yard beachhead secured, the Second Divi-
sion landed and took over the eastern zone. The two divisions
advanced abreast down the island, making from two to four miles’
progress a day, over terrain admirably suited to the employment
of tanks, artillery and infantry. There were excellent roads, along
which heavy equipment could be moved, and the Second Divi-
sion’s capture of Airfield Number One, near Ushi Point, onc of
the three airfields we took, enabled planes from Isely Field,
Saipan, to operate almost immediately.

Other factors likewise made our advance rapid. The Fourth
and Second Divisions had just completed the capture of Saipan
and were well trained, confident and eager to force a quick deci-
sion. The assault on Tinian took place two weeks after the cap-
ture of Saipan but those weeks were no rest period. Surcease, you
might call it, but not rest.

It was a period devoted to reorganization, replenishment of
equipment and training for the Tinian operation. We had the
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men on tip-toc all the time. They had to be kept up to battle
pitch so that when they were thrown into action again they re-
tained their zest and oflensive spirit. One big problem in re-
habilitating men back in THawaii, after an operation involving
weeks of idleness oun shipboard, was to restore this offensive spirit,
but at 'Tinian we had no such problem.

Another factor was intelligence. We knew practically every-
thing there was to know about T'inian. No troops cver landed on
a hostile shore knowing their objective as well as we did. From
Saipan, we maintained daily air reconnaissance and studied ter-
rain features and enemy defenses through powerful telescopes.
Unit commanders were flown over the objective island to famil-
tarize themselves with the details. Divisional commanders, gen-
eral staff officers and on down to battalion commanders made
frequent flights and supplemented our maps and the inforimation
we had gained from enemy documents captured on Saipan. This
was a new procedure in amphibious war.

Tinmian Town, originally strongly defended from the sca, was
captured with only slight resistance after its garrison had been
decimated and scattered during our advance to the south. A
score of enemy strongpoints also fell into our hands with relative-
case. A tankled counterattack against the 24th Marines, on
July 31, was the last show of strength. After that, enciny resist-
ance dissipated, and the remnants of the garrison fled into the
caves studding the formidable ridge and chiff south of the town.

Our last overwheliming demonstralion of fire superiority in-
volved' that ridge and cliff. Nincteen warships, including two
battleships, 112 planes and cleven battalions of artillery, shelled
and bombed the rocky points before the infantry jumped off in
the final attack against the romaining enemy, whom the Marines
wiped out with flame throwers, demolition charges, rifles and
machine guns. By August 1. the island was declared sceured, and
two davs later the Stars and Stripes was maised officially.

Although we gained a military victory when we drove the
few remaining soldicrs into the southern caves, it was only then
that the battle started for the lives of 13,000 civilians. Terrified
men, women and children hid in the hundreds of caves with the
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soldiers, apparently waiting for death with oriental fatalism. We
sent out a jecp, cquipped with a loud spcaker, and broadcast
appeals urging the civilians to comc down from the 200-foot clif
and we would give them watcr, food and medical attention. A
handful emerged and entered our lines but thousands more did
not budge.

Among the few who came to us were the superintendent of
the sugar refincry at ‘T'inian and his wilc. He offered to speak to
his people and, most uncxpectedly for a shy Japancse woman,
his wife followed his cxample. A few more civilians responded
to this joint assurance that the Amcricans werc keeping their
promises, but cven then our cfforts were not substantially re-
warded.

By one of thosec strange acts of fate, the Japancse soldicrs
themselves sct off the final stampede that saved thousands of
civilians from death. While we were calling to them to come
down from the cliff, puffs of smoke and sounds of explosions in
the caves told us that suicides had started again. Suddenly, onc
soldicr marched to the edge of the cliff and jumped into the sca.
Another followed . . . and another. The pattern was repeated for
an hour while the Marines looked on helplessly, hoping that the
unfortunate civilians would not be led to that horrible death by
the fanaticism of so many samurai-stimulated Tied Pipers.

The tragedy that broke the cvil spell occurred when a party
of Japancse soldicrs roped 4o or 5o civilians together and threw
a hand grenade among them. Explosives buriced in the ground
blew the group to picces. It was a barbaric performance, designed
to terrorize the people into joining the death ceremony, but in-
stead, they concluded that cven the Amcricans, represented in
Army propaganda as torturers of Japancse prisoners, could not
be so crucl as their own people. The civilians ran for their lives,
dragging their children and carrying their fecble old people.

By August 12, we were laking carc of 13,000 civilians, halt
of whom were Japancse, the halance, Chamorro natives of the
Marianas. Major General . 1. Underhill, usaie, was appointed
Island Commander, and under him civil affairs progressed far
better than at Saipan, where our lack of experience and personnel
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trained in handling alien civilian populations had created an
unsatisfactory situation during the early days of the occupa-
tion.

Tinian, the perfect landing operation, continued on a high
scale of cmllan administration. Fortunately a number of houses
were still habitable, for which the Japanese and “unclassified”
men, women and children proved appreciative and cooperative.
General Underhill assembled a competent staff to administer
Camp Churo, where we established a school for 2,500 children.
The internees had their own trade store and their own “live”
theater, where a troupe from Okinawa, caught on Tinian on
J-day, produced plays that belonged, for robust humor, with
those of Elizabethan days. I am convinced that the civilians we
saved and cared for on Tinian met the peace with a deep convic-
tion that American democracy works.

Our assault on Tinian preceded the invasion of Guam by
three days, and until Tinian was captured these two operations
were fought simultaneously.

When 1 assumed the position of Commanding General,
FMF, Pacific, and turned over command of the V Amphibious
Corps and Northern attack troops to Harry Schmidt, I still re-
tained command of the Expeditionary Troops in the Marianas,
and in this capacity I commuted between Saipan and Guam. The
new command gave me more freedom of action, and I no longer
was restricted to one phase of a three-phase operation, as I was
in the Gilberts. I could move as I chose and as circumstances
required.

Historically, Guam was the most important operation we
had undertaken because it was our first reconquest (except Attu)
of American territory. Guam is the biggest island of the Marianas,
30 miles long and from 4 to 8 miles wide, and was the largest
Central Pacific land mass we had invaded.

Guam became an American possession in 1898, after the
Spanish-American War. Spain sold the other Marianas islands
to Germany, and Japan’s participation in World War I resulted
in her seizure of these German holdings, which the League of
Nations later awarded her under mandate. As our original inter-
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est in the Marianas was confined to Guam, we found ourselves
isolated in a chain administered by the nation we in the Marine
Corps felt would be our enemy.

The island’s only prewar importance was as a minor naval
station and coaling base en route to the Philippines. Never was
Guam considered a distant outpost of American power. It was
administered by the Navy, which appointed a Governor, and the
Marine Corps provided a small garrison stationed at Sumay, a
village on the Orote Peninsula overlooking Apra Harbor. More
recently, Guam had become a station for Pan-American Airways’
trans-Pacific planes. Beyond these factors our interest was aca-
demic, since Congress was never convinced that we should fortify
the island. The only positive result of our acquisition of Guam
was a growing sense of responsibility for the Guamanians, who
thrived under our democratic system and, despite other Govern-
ment Departments’ criticism of Naval Administration, bravely
demonstrated their loyalty when the Japanese seized the island
after Pearl Harbor.

Contrasting with our pre-battle information about Tinian,
our knowledge of our former possession was almost less than we
knew of the most secret Japanese islands. Although the Navy
had administered Guam for 4o years, scant information was
available regarding military possibilities or terrain features. Little
effort, except by a Marine reconnaissance officer in 1936, had
been made to explore Guam from a military point of view in case
we had to fight for it. Few attempts had been made to collect
and record the data required for its defense. I believe our forces
had similar difficulties when we re-entered the Philippines late
in 1944.

Duty on Guam was somnolent retirement for Navy officers,
overcome by the heat and far from the beaten track. The one
energetic Navy commander who made his mark on Guam was a
product of the Captain Bligh era, who confounded the carcfree
Guamanians by making it an offense, punishable by fine, to
whistle in the streets of the capital, Agana.

Our only up-to-date first-hand information when we landed
came from beach reconnaissance and air photographs, which was
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not too cxtensive because a large portion of Guam s covered by
thick jungle.

Roy Geiger was entinsted with the recapture of Guam. His
troops were the Third Marine Division, the IFirst Provisional
Marine Brigade and the Seveuty-seventh Army Division. The
Marine Brigade was particularly interesting, since it was a com-
posite force of Navine units assembled before the Fifth Division
was organized. Most of the men were veteran fighters of Jong
scrvice in the South Pacibe. 'The Brigade included four forme
Raider battalions, who had kinded on numerous South Pacific
islands. Originally incorporated into the 1st Raider Regiment,
these battalions werc TL()lg(lHl/C(l into the 4th Marmes--desig-
nation of the famons China NMarines, who had been captured on
Caorregidor g 2. With the addition of the zznd Marincs,
velerims of Paiwelok, they composed the st Provisional Brigade.

T reality, Guam was two independent campaigns. Apra
Tarbor, on the west coast, bounded on the north by the low
Cabras Island and on the south by the rocky promontory, Orote
Point, was the focal point of attack. The "Third Division landed
north of the harbor and the First Brigade and the Seventy-
seventh Army Division south of the harbor, separated by a dis-
tance of about five miles. We planned a pincer movement, with
the northern and southern arms enclosing the harbor arca and
Orotc Peninsula, where the Japanese were positioned in consider-
able force.

The Japanese were no better organized on Guanm than we
lad been. "Their garrison was a polyglot force. Like our own ad-
mimstration, the Navy took control when the Japancse scized
the island. but, with war on, the Tokyo General Staff started
pouring in large numbers of Army troops, although Guam de-
fenses were starved by our submarines and by the same prioritics
that crippled Saipan—the enciny’s belief that after the Marshalls
wc would strike at the Palaus or the Philippines.

Captured documents revealed that the Japancse originally
intended to garrison’ Guam with the Thirteenth Division from
Manchuria. Forward echelons of these scasoned troops actually
arnived. but eventually the Army troops assigned here were drawn
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from the Twenty-ninth Division. We did not discover why the
Thirteenth ncver arrived from Manchuna.

Our G-2 advanced the suggestion that the entire convoy
transporting the division had been sunk by our submarinces, but
a sudden change in conditions in China or Manchuria probably
caused thie Japancsc to alter their plans for the Thirtcenth.

Guam’s garrison was cstimated at 18,000, hcaded by Licu-
tenant General Sho Takashia, a subordinate unit of Liculenant
General Saito, late commander of the 315t Arimy on Saipan.
Most of these troops came from Manchuria and their scattered
designations showed how hurriedly they had been shipped to
Guam. Supporting the 'T'wenty-ninth Division were elements of
the Eleventh Division, under Major General 'T'oyoshi Shigematsu.

Our two assault forces went ashore on July 21, after long
and sustained prepaation. An asttonomical number of shells
were dropped and most of the observed Japancse defenses were
knocked out. “Closc-in” Conolly, the Adiniral who had prepared
Roi-Namur so admirably for the Iourth Marine Division, had
worked over Guam with the same thoroughness which had made
Marines thank him in the Marshalls.

The Third Division, under Major General Allen I1. Turnage,
landed north of Apra Ilarbor, with the 3rd Marines on the left,
the 21st in the center and the gth on the right. Down the center
of Guam runs a ridge with half a dozen peaks over 1,000 fect
high, although the ridge is severed by passes. The 3rd ran into
difficultics as soon as they landed. IFrom the ridge, Chonito Clif
projected into the sca. This cliff was a dangcrous encmy strong-
hold, supported by dcadly firc from the reverse face of the ridge.

While the 21st moved inland with appreciable spced and
the gth, on the right flank, made rapid progress toward the
southern end of the ridge and Piti Navy Yard, our prewar station
on Apra Harbor, the 3rd made no progress whatsoever. Terrific
mortar and machine gun fire from the ridge kept the men pinned
down, and, although they lost no ground, our general position
north of the harbor deteriorated because the 3rd was unable to
advance.

On the southern front, below Apra Harbor, Brigadier Gen-
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eral Lemuel C. Shepherd, Jr.'s Provisional Brigade laded against
licavy opposition and moved dcliberately northward across the
neck of Orote Peninsula, to pen in and destroy the enemy gar-
rison of 4,000 occupying this well fortified rocky finger, with a
ready-madc airficld waiting for us to scize and operate. Following
the Marine Brigade, the Scventy-scventh Infantry Division
(Major General Bruce, aus), held as a floating reserve, moved in
and started to cross Guam from the cast.

The capture of Orote Peninsula was, in some respeets, the
outstanding accomplishinent of the Guam campaign. Relying
on their old theory of static dcfense, the Japanese had converted
the long, tapering rock into a fortress. But it could not withstand
the weight of naval and air bombardment and the pressure we
put on as Shepherd’s veteran fighters advanced over difficult
terrain, through intricate defenses, doggedly routing out the Japa-
nese and killing them.

Offshore stood Conolly’s supporting flect, which never
missed an opportunity to give us gunfire whenever and wherever
it was requested. Air strikes came as frequently as showers in
April.

Had the Japancse clected to surrender Orote and concen-
trale their forces clsewhere, instead of diverting a quarter of their
garrison to a fortified rock where we could concentrate the full
force of our anmament, the story of Guam might have been dif-
ferent. But they made their choice, and five days after we started
the all-out attack on the peninsula Orote was ours.

While Shepherd was fighting for Orote, the Scventy-
seventh, coming in behind the Marine Brigade, remained almost
stationary instead of cxtending across the island on the right of
the brigade, and the Third Division, with its left flank anchored
at the foot of Chonito Cliff, was still lrying to punch its way out
of the Agat cul-de-sac. It was worrying me that the Third and
the Scventy-seventh Divisions were not taking a more aggressive
action.

At this time I was at Guam on board the Rocky Mount with
Kelly Fumer, although Dick Conolly directed the opcration
from his.command ship, the USS Appalachian. 1 conterred with
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Roy Geiger and then went over to the USS Indianapolis to dis-
cuss matters with Spruance, to whom I had revealed my dissatis-
faction. On July 2,4, taking Mac Asbill with me, 1 went ashore
to visit the ‘Lhird Division’s beachhead.

Accompanied by Turnage, [ inspected the Division’s front
line, which was still being held a short distance inland from the
beach. The 3rd Regiment was dug in but I could sec no evidence
of Japanese in front of them. Actually, the cnemy was in very
considerable force on the reverse side of the ridge, running
beyond Agana. ‘T'he situation did not pleasc me.

As a result of postponements of W-day on Guam owing to
the unexpected strength of the Saipan defenses, the troops had
been kept for many wecks on board transports, doing nothing,
just killing time and resenting the delay. The inactivity and close
confinement on board ship probably had taken their toll of the
men. A long period of such idlencess can play hell with combat
efficiency.

‘That night I rcturned to Tinian on the Rocky Mount, cager
to scc how the battle was going on the first day. T'o my declight,
and exactly as I had anticipated, we had slipped in through the
small northern beaches and were spreading all over the island,
almost unopposed.

Reports from Guam continucd to be worrisome. ['he situa-
tion on the lcft flank at Chounito CHff still dragged. A weck
elapsed, and the T'hird Division had been unable to progress at
that particular point, thus retarding any movement by the
Seventy-seventh on the right. 1 sent a dispatch to Geiger dircct-
-ing him to take more offensive action. On July 28, T rcturned
to Guam with Spruance on board the Indianapolis and again
immediately went ashore, where Geiger had established his
IIT Corps headquarters.

With Roy Geiger, I called on the commander of the Scventy-
seventh, Major General Bruce, at his headquarters. Tlis Division
had landed without opposition in the rcar of the First Marine
Brigade and movcd through rough country to a position on the
right of the Third Division. I was very much impressed by Bruce
-and his men and 1 felt that they would give an excellent account
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of themselves when Geiger decided that the time was ripe to
move forward. When the Seventy-seventh did move, it moved
fast.

The Seventy -seventh was a raw division, with no previous
combat experience, but it showed combat efﬁcxency to a degree
one would expect only of veteran troops. Its aggressive patrolling,
its close coordination with other units, and its superior conduct
of assigned missions gave evidence of a high order of training,
fine leadership and high morale.

Back at I1I Corps headquarters, Geiger and I discussed the
situation, and I told him frankly that, although I had no desire
to interfere with his plan of action, I thought that the time had
come for a general movement to capture the remainder of the
island now that Orote Peninsula and Apra Harbor were in our
possession.

Geiger replied that before he moved his troops forward
across Guam in a general attack he wanted to make sure Shep-
herd had cleaned up Orote, which would give us the use of an
airfield we badly needed and also release the First Brigade for
further employment.

I definitely disagreed with this line of reasoning, but I was
restrained from making an overruling objection because that
would have been an undue interference in Geiger’s command.
However, 1 did express the opinion that, having contacted the
enemy, we must keep after him, keep the pressure on hard and
keep him on the run.

It was perfectly apparent to me that Shepherd and his
magnificent Brigade would finish Orote without delay and that
the Third and the Seventy-seventh Divisions should be directed
to advance immediately. The company commanders I had in-
terviewed all said that was exactly what they were waiting to do
when the command was given.

The last contact with the enemy in strength—although we
didn’t know at the time how strong he was—had occurred two
days previously. For some reason, the counterattack generally
launched on the first night of a landing had not come. Minor
attacks were made at various points ini our line but no serious
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effort to push us off the island developed until the predawn hours
of July 26.

The first indication that the Japanese were moving came
from heavy mortar and artillery fire on our extreme left flank.
Then the main body struck at our center, in the Third Division
zone, held by the 215t Marines. We learned later that this was
one of the best organized and strongest counterattacks the Japa-
nese ever made. Several groups participated, covered by mortar
and artillery fire. These groups filed down mountain trails and
through ravines. The flares we threw up, once we were alerted,
mingled with their own flares to create an eerie, floodlit scene,
with smoke, shell-blasts and machine gun flashes stabbing the
shadows. The leading attack party appeared on the cliff over-
looking our artillery positions and rolled down explosives on the
guns below.

It was a night of bitter, exhausting ﬁghtmg because the
enemy came out of the darkness from all sides, in apparently un-
ending streams. A number infiltrated our ]mes and in a major
breakthrough penetrated a gap between the 21st Regiment and
the gth, necessitating a determined counterattack to repair the
damage to our position.

Japanese sneaked in by twos and threes and, gathermg forces,
started to attack a battalion Command Post, but were routed by
cooks, bakers, and clerks, hurriedly transformed into combat
troops. Another party crept up to the division hospital and was
wiped out by MP’s, headquarters clerks and Marine combat corre-
spondents, aided by the wounded, who jumped out of their cots,
snatched up carbines, and joined in the fighting. Those incidents,
however, were mere sideshows to the main battle, in which our
artillery blazed all night.

The invaders were loaded down with explosives, indicating
they intended to break through our lines, force their way to the
sca, and destroy our supply dumps on the beach. Two Japancse
actually did reach Piti Navy Yard and were killed by patrols. This
is as far as they ever did get.

When daylight came the attack had ended, and survivors
were on the retreat along the paths they had come. Only then
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did we realize how strong the enemy had been and what carnage
our artillery had spread. Thousands of Japanese bodies were
scattered along the trails, in the undergrowth and over the hill-
sides. We discovered that, instead of a banzai charge, this had
been a coordinated attack by at least six battalions, the largest
number ever used by the Japanese in a single counterattack
against us. Our losses were light and in the morning the men of
the Third Marine Division stared at each other in amazement
when they saw the slaughter of the night. Without knowing it
at the time, the Third Division, veteran of just such jungle
actions at Bougainville, had broken the back of the Japanese
forces on Guam.

In retrospect, this stands out as the most important of all
enemy counterattacks on Guam. None did a great deal of dam-
age, and they actually shortened the campaign, because they en-
abled us to meet the enemy face to face instead of compelling
us to dig him out of ravines and jungles. Of all the campaigns
fought in the Central Pacific, Guam provided the Japanese with
the thickest cover of impenetrability for, after the capture of
rocky Orote, it was almost impossible to see them in the jungles
unless they emerged in numbers bent on counterattack.

Orote was secured on July 31, and Geiger gave the com-
mand for a general advance. The picture changed rapidly. The
long deadlock that gripped the left flank at Chonito was broken,
and the Third and the Seventy-seventh Divisions abreast started
a rapid march up the narrow neck of the island. Agana, the badly
damaged but still partially habitable capital, was in our hands by
August 2. This gave the Guamanian population a tremendous
lift. They streamed happily into the streets by the thousands, the
women wearing pathetic finery saved during the long, dark years
of Japanese occupation for the day of liberation. The Brigade
moved in on the left flank of the line, and our forces reached the
northern cliffs on August 10.

Before the final advance, there was some doubt about the
whereabouts of the Japanese. Had they gone south or north?
Marine patrols probed the southern part of the island and re-
turned with a negative report; therefore, we drove north. When
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the attack order was given, we lost contact with the enemy ex-
cept for minor groups. Our troops raced so fast up the island
that our divisional artillery was forced to displace position five
times in two weeks, which, while nothing notable in a lJand mass
battle, was something to talk about in the assault on an
island.

It was tough driving through the rocky volcanic ridges and
thick jungles at the speed we developed. The balance of the cam-
paign was as much a bulldozer’s as a fighter's job because we
had to insure supplies and passage of tanks and artillery across
country almost devoid of roads. Often, the bulldozer was well
ahead of the combat troops, and developed a rugged personality
all its own. The roar of the bulldozer as it tore up palmn trees and
dug out rocks was as familiar as the noise of gunfire. Chonito
Cliff, the rock that held up the Third Marines for eight days,
was levelled for road material, and in the development of Guam
as a base the bulldozer became a symbol of American efficiency.

It was a proud day for me when, standing with Spruance,
Turner, Geiger, Shepherd, Turnage, Erskine and other officers,
I saw the Stars and Stripes raised over the site of the former
Marine Barracks at Sumay, on Orote Peninsula. Only a heap of
rubble remained of the old two-story building, but as the flag
broke in the bright Guamanian sunshine our presence was a vindi-
cation by the Corps of its motto, “Semper Fidelis,” that had
brought Marines back to Guam to avenge the 150 men the Japa-
nese had captured after Pear]l Harbor.

The battle of Guam did not end when we drove the remnant
of the enemy garrison over the northern cliffs. At Saipan, we
killed 7,783 Japanese in the first month following the islands’
capture. At Guam, we killed 6,276 Japanese in the first three
months following our official declaration that the island was se-
cured. Guam yielded a large number of prisoners who lived pre-
caiiously in the jungle. Occasionally they ambushed small parties,
raided our supply dumps, or pilfered from the Guamanians,
until they finally were routed out by Marine patrols or responded
to loud speaker appeals to surrender. Pleas by well fed, co-
operative prisoner volunteers from the stockade in Agana brought

221



in hundreds. Colonel IHoward Stent, in charge of psychological
warfare on Guam,; was responsible for this campaign.

As recently as the sumimer of 1947, a Japanese major and a
number of men he had kept intagt as a force since the island fell
three years before, was at liberty on Guam until a message over
the loud speaker convinced him that Japan had surrendered and
the war was over.

The capture of the Marianas had cost us 25,500 casualtics,
of which 4.078 were killed; but we in turn accounted for 56,000
Japanese. We provided the nation with bases which proved their
value during the remainder of the war and will be a guarantee of
our Pacific sccurity in the future.
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CHAPTER XI
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I HAVE ALWAYS been proud of the rclationship
between the Marines and the Submariners. A link cxists between
them, much more intimate than the prefix suggests, and this link
was forged in the heat of the Pacific war. Submarines play an
important part in a highly technical undertaking like amphibious
warfarc and the Marines owe a large measure of the success
achieved in our assault on the Japanese Empire to the help re-
ceived from the Submarine Force, U. S. Pacific Flect, com-
manded by Vice Admiral Charles A. Lockwood, Jr.

But the basis for this relationship was more solid than tech-
nical collaboration. Marines and Submariners shared the same
characteristics and the bond between them was stronger than
between any other {wo branches of the naval scrvice. We were
both voluntcers; to a man, we deliberately chosc the most haz-
ardous type of service.

Danger was the bond. The Marine admired the Submariner,
who cruised for months at a time in enemy waters, hundreds of
miles from his basc, alone and unprotected except for his own
resourcefulness, and hunted relentlessly by enemy ships. In re-
turn, the Subinariner admired the Marine, who landed on hostile
beachics in the mouth of enemy cannon, stormed massive con-
etete and steel fortifications and halted only when he was dead,

From contacts made at Pearl Harbor and more advanced
bases and on joint missions against Japanese strongholds, an
entente cordiale sprang up between the Marines and the Sub-
mariners, founded on this mutual admiration for the other fel-
low's handling of tough assignments. I am surc this comradeship
will become traditional between the two services and future de-
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velopments in amphibious warfare will provide us with many
more joint missions.

During the Pacific war, we were driven into each other’s
company by the similar role of very junior partners which was
forced upon us. We were two smaller services standing out
against the background of the greatest Navy in the world, with
its 4,000,000 men, of which 13 percent were Marines and only
1.6 percent were Submariners. I felt that the top Navy brass
turned equal frigidity on both branches.

It seemed to me, Charlie Lockwood and I sat together at the
daily conference at Pearl Harbor, like two kids from the wrong
side of the tracks, expected to know their place. We developed
‘a sympathetic attitude towards each other’s operations. Lock-
wood told me about the Submariners and I told him about the
Marines and we shared each other’s apprehensions and triumphs.
We knew we were the tough boys and the Navy brass couldn't
get along without us.

Very little was heard during the war about the lads of the
submarine service. They did their fighting in the far reaches of
the Pacific, not in the newspapers. Their operations, their losses
and often their successes were cloaked in silence. There was a
good reason for this reticence. Its imposition was necessary to
prevent the Japanese from obtaining information upon which to
build a pattern of submarine patrol areas and from discovering
the endurance and radius of our submarines and the methods
we used. It was also important at times to keep the enemy igno-
rant of the fate of his ships which failed to reach their destina-
tions. This secrecy paid dividends in saving submarines and lives
of Submariners.

But while this secrecy was not understood and was fre-
quently resented by the public, the Marines understood its
urgency. You will not find a single Marine who does not appreci-
ate what the submarines did during the war. They were our ad-
vance ears and eyes, following enemy naval movements outside
Japanese home ports; they were our first line of naval defense,
obstructing enemy interference with landing operations and they
sank more than five million tons of enemy shipping.
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Starting the war with only 51 boats in the Pacific, the sub-
marine force faced the terrific task of covering 8,000,000 square
miles of ocean and clearing it of enemy shipping. The force ex-
panded as fast as our shipyards could produce new craft, but
never more than 200 submarines were employed in the Pacific.
Although the Japanese claimed 480 were “sunk or probably
sunk,” our losses from all causes, including accidents, were 52.
The force numbered 4,000 officers and 46,000 men, of whom
only 16,000 actually manned the submarines. Yet their record of
sinkings is impressive. Excluding vessels of less than 1,000 tons,
submarines sank 1,750 steel-hulled Japanese ships and threw the
Imperial Japanese Navy for the loss of one battleship, eight car-
riers, 15 cruisers, 42 destroyers, 26 submarines, and other naval
auxiliaries, patrol craft and other vessels, totalling 201 men-of-
war. After the war, the Japanese informed us that 270,000 sol-
diers, sailors and civilians lost their lives in our submnarine
sinkings.

The popular conception of the role of the submarine, and
indeed its main purpose, is the sinking of ships. This role was of
vital importance because the steady rate of ship destruction pre-
vented the reinforcement of enemy bases with men and material
that would make our task of capturing these bases more difficult.
A blockade was thrown around islands marked for invasion and
few enemy ships ever broke through our underwater cordon to
supply doomed garrisons. The Submariners were fighting Marine
battles long before we hit an island, disposing of the enemy be-
fore he had a chance to land, and destroying weapons and equip-
ment we would have had to face.

As our amphibious operations progressed, Lockwood in-
creased the density of his submarine patrols, tightening his
stranglehold on the enemy’s seaborne supplies. The final feat of
the submarines came in 1945, when they ran under the extensive
Japanese minefields in Tsushima Straits, separating Japan proper
from Korea and Manchuria, and cut the enemy’s last supply lines
from the Asiatic mainland.

Submarine activities were closely coordinated with each new
Marine invasion. The blockade was especially successful in the
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Marianas. Saipan would have been a far tougher nut to crack
had the Japanese been able to complete their fortifications. In
addition to Tokyo’s bad guess on our plans after the Marshalls
which crippled Saipan by the diversion of priorities elsewhere,
there was abundant evidence of material starvation because of
the submarine blockade. .

When Tokyo finally realized Saipan’s plight and began
rushing through a defense program, ship after ship carrying vital
materials such as concrete, timber and steel, was sunk. The Saipan
garrison command complained bitterly of idle hands and no sup-
plies. Our losses at Saipan were heavy but they would have been
much heavier if we had run into the fortifications Tokyo con-
templated but was unable to finish before we attacked.

The submarines did us a good service at Iwo Jima. On this
volcanic island, fortified to Gibraltar-like strength with every
type of Japanese weapon we had encountered in the Pacific and
a few more, such as 320-mm. mortars and “buzzbombs,” the
Marines ran into very little barbed wire. This lack of
the most common method of obstruction, in the midst of such
a mass of highly developed defenses, appeared strange until a
prisoner enlightened us. He said supplies sent to the island were
lost by submarine action.

Enemy survivors of torpedoed ships added their testimony
to the effectiveness of the blockade. On almost every island in
the Marianas, I found men from ships our submarines had sunk.
They were remnants of divisions rushed to the Marianas as rein-
forcements, but who arrived there in lifeboats or by swimming
ashore. The Marianas became islands of lost souls as far as the Jap-
anese were concerned, since most of these survivors were more of
a handicap than a help to the garrisons. They lost their weapons
with their ships.

Our submarines tore great holes in convoys and attacked
unremittingly, day after day, until they made their maximum
kill. Elsewhere I have referred to the mystery of the missing
Thirteenth Division from Manchuria, assigned to reinforce the
Guam garrison. Although internal conditions in China and Man-
churia probably caused the Japanese to change their minds about
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moving this division, there was nothing fantastic in the G-z sug-
gestion that the entire convoy might have been sunk. A few days
before the invasion of Saipan, a wolf pack nearly annihilated a
convoy of enemy transports bound for the island with a division
of troops. Five out of seven transports were sunk by our sub-
marines, which kept up the attack for three days. The USS
Pintado and the USS Shark distinguished themselves in this
action, which took place only nine days before we landed on
Saipan on June 15.

Two thousand Japanese troops were drowned in this action,
and the Saipan armory was unable to arm those who got ashore.
How many lives of Americans in our amphibious force were
saved by this action is difficult to estimate, but since the Marines
would have borne the brunt of the reinforced Japanese strength
on the island, we are grateful for our share of the lives saved.

While the submarines maintained this strict blockade and
lightened our landing jobs, far out in the ocean other boats were
keeping ceaseless vigil for retaliatory naval action by the Japa-
nese, now that we were assailing their inner defenses. The chal-
lenge of an American attack on the Marianas was too serious to
be ignored.

If the Japanese Fleet had caught us off Saipan, our first ven-
ture in the Marianas might have resulted in disaster, but we had
perfect confidence that our advance submarine reconnaissance
would warn us of any danger. This is precisely what our sub-
marines did. First the Flying Fish (Commander Risser), then
the Sea Horse (Commander Slade Cutter), then the Cavalla
(Lieutenant Commander Herman J. Kossler) sighted the Japa-
nese Fleet; and their reports gave a beautiful picture which en-
abled Admiral Lockwood to locate his submarines where he
figured the two Jap forces would rendezvous, and Admiral Spru-
ance went out and defeated the Japanese Fleet in the first battle
of the Philippine Sea. This battle, resulting from the alertness
of submarine captains, undoubtedly saved the Marine force
ashore on Saipan from a serious threat. How these submarines
operated is best described by a typical experience, that of the
Cavdlla.
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On June 16, the day after we landed on Saipan, the Cavalla
surfaced 700 miles west of the Marianas. On the horizon Com-
mander Kossler saw a large group of warships. They couldn’t
be ours, because we had no ships in the area. Obviously they
were Japanese. The ships were fifteen miles away when first
sighted and as they came closer their recognition left no doubt.
They were ships of the Japanese Fleet, heading east at about 19
knots. The submarine was making about the same speed and
since the enemy ships were astern Kossler reversed his course
and turned back to investigate.

“There was a carrier as big as the Empire State Building,”
he said, according to the account I heard later, “and I could
make out about seven other ships, looking like battleships and
cruisers, in two columns.

“I hadn’t seen any report of a Jap task force in this area,
but what a target! I could have got that carrier easy. You can
imagine my mental struggle. The biggest bag I'd ever seen but
I couldn’t do a thing about it. I was on reconnaissance.”

The Japanese Fleet was heading for Saipan and it was
Kossler's primary duty to report its presence. If he attacked,
Japanese destroyers would have held him down and he would
have been unable to send his report.

As Kossler explained, “I decided to go down and sub-
merged about 100 feet. Soon the Japanese ships began passing
over my head. I started to count the screws and found there were
far more than the original 15 ships I had guessed. It took over
an hour for the procession to pass over me. Then I realized 1
had contacted the Imperial Japanese Fleet, or a large part of it.

“I couldn’t get off my report immediately because two Jap
destroyers astern of the fleet delayed me from surfacing. They
kept crossing and weaving, as if they were covering the rear
against possible submarines. But I don’t think they spotted
us. Anyway, they kept us down two hours but I eventually
surfaced and got off my report.”

This was the information that alerted Spruance’s Fifth
Fleet and helped score the first great victory of the Philippine
Sea. Incidentally, Kossler was not robbed of his kill. Returning
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from this patrol, he encountered another of Japan’s big carriers,
the Shokaku, hit it with four torpedoes, sank it and escaped after
counting 100 depth charges exploding around him from enemy
destroyers, who were hunting him,

Such was the type of long-range reconnaissance that kept
us informed of Japanese movements. Similar stalking of Japanese
naval units provided advance information for the Battle of
Leyte Gulf. Nearer to Marine objectives, however, another type
of reconnaissance simplified our landing tasks.

It is difficult to put men and equipment ashore without
prior knowledge of conditions on the beach you intend to use.
All our island objectives were minutely photographed before an
operation and all pertinent information regarding beaches and
terrain was studied and classified before we moved. But air
photographs can be deceptive. While they provide a map-like
view of the objective, which can be enlarged many times to
reveal enemy defenses and other details, they are flat pictures
and do not indicate topography.

Until our Photographic Reconnaissance developed the
technique of oblique pictures, submarine photographic recon-
naissance was an essential preliminary to any landing. Sub-
marines went close in to our planned objectives and made pic-
tures of landing beaches through their periscopes. They were
able to get in undetected and the pictures they provided gave
what might be termed a Marine’s eye view of the beach before
he hit it. Periscope level, at which the pictures were taken, was
just what the Marine would see from his amtrack or landing
boat. Supplementing this, the submarines provided valuable tide
and reef data.

We had excellent submarine photographs at Saipan, Guam
and Tinian, taken two months before we landed by the USS
Greenling. These proved unusually valuable because of the
absence of low obliques from other sources, and technically they
represented a great improvement over previous efforts. At Iwo
Jima, we had photographic coverage made by the USS Spearfish
three months earlier, but by this time aerial photography had
been improved and supplanted the submarine photographs.
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The submarines also stayed around to help the men who
were softening up the objective with naval and air strikes pre-
ceding an operation. Many an airman owes his life to the rescue
service operated by our submarines in enemy waters, a service
carried to the very beaches of Japan. These undersea watchdogs
followed the course of raids and a downed aviator, floating in
the water, was not astonished when a submarine popped up
nearby and took him on board. The airman knew he could
count on this service and it was a great morale booster. Al-
together, our submarines rescued 500 American and Allied air-
men, often under heavy fire. During our joint surface and carrier
stnke on Truk on April 1, 1944, one submarine, the USS Tang,
electrified the fleet by picking up 22 downed American aviators.

There were occasions when resource and quick thinking
were necessary. During one of the Guam air strikes, an airman
was shot down in shallow water and appeared to be a goner. He
was close enough in shore to be a target for Japanese machine
guns, and not far enough out for a rescue submarine, the USS
Stingray (Commander S. C. Loomis), to surface and haul him
on board.

This predicament did not daunt either the submarine cap-
tain or the airman. A telepathic liaison united them. The cap-
tain took his boat in as near to the beach as possible, until his
periscope was showing. The airman saw it sticking out of the
water and grabbed hold of it so that the submarine could tow
him slowly out to sea where, in deep water, it surfaced and took
him on board.

A picturesque chapter of the war involved the joint missions
of the Marine Corps and the Submarine Force. When I was in
the Caribbean before the war, we introduced submarines into
one of the landing exercises to test the feasibility of landing
scouts on hostile shores. In the graphically simulated conditions
of the exercise, submarines put men ashore from rubber boats
and the experiment indicated that this method could be em-
ployed in actual war.

In addition to the Marine Scouts, we formed Raider bat-
talions, which did extremely useful work under hazardous condi-
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tions in the South Pacific. Selected men were specially trained
and equipped for landing urobserved on enemy islands and per-
forming all manner of tasks. These ranged from reconnaissance
to surprise raids and attacks on enemy positions, demolition of
installations and destruction of equipment.

The type of man chosen for this job had to be tough. Our
four battalions of Marine Raiders, eventually incorporated into
the 4th Marines, were the elite of toughness. A zo-mile march
with a hundred pounds of equipment on their backs, followed
by hand-to-hand combat with a knife, was sometimes their role.
They were taught all the tricks of undercover combat, they
could out-read a jungle-tracker and out-swim a fish.

'The Raiders were a nightmare to the Japanese and engraved
the name Marine on the memory of many a brown man. By the
very nature of their organization, the Raiders were highly ex-
pendable.

In the South Pacific, they operated from nearby bases, or
were put ashore in rubber boats from small craft that stole along
the coast after dark. During the invasion of Attu, in the Aleu-
tians, a company of Army Scouts was put ashore by the sub-
marines Nautilus and Narwhal. These boats were available to us
later in the Central Pacific.

These submarines have an interesting history. The Nautilus
and the Narwhal were sister ships, and with the Argonaut,
which we also used, were the largest submarines in the world,
with the possible exception of a French boat and a few Japanese
long-range boats used to supply their beleaguered bases in the
South Pacific and take off important personnel after we bypassed
and isolated these islands. The Nautilus and the Narwhal, 370
feet long, were built in 1930, when the navies of the world once
again were getting lost in superlatives but the two submarines
were never duplicated, principally because they were less maneu-
verable and less practical than smaller craft.

The Argonaut was-a giant among submarines. Never has her
like been seen, before or since, in our Navy. Three hundred and
eighty feet long, she was built as a minelayer capable of carrying 6o
mines. She was the last of the Argonauts pioneered by Simon
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Lake, whose interest was attracted to underwater craft by Jules
Veme's Twenty Thousand Leagues Under the Sea. Lake
confessed that the French scientific romancer was “the director-
general of my life,” and the last Argonaut could have substi-
tuted for Verne's craft in size. She was commissioned in 1928
and came to her end in 1943, when she was reported missing in
the Pacific.

Each of these three submarines had a complement of 8o
men and were not only capacious undersea transports but were
formidable ships, their armament including two six-inch guns,
which could provide substantial fire cover for a landing.

The Marines first used submarines at Makin in the summer
of 1942, on a raid which I deplored from the military viewpoint
but which proved the value of underwater craft in an operation
of this nature. This raid was made before I assumed command
of the V Amphibious Corps at Pearl Harbor. Lieutenant Colonel
Evans F. Carlson had organized the Marine Raiders into the
2nd Raider Battalion, with Major James Roosevelt as his second
in command.

Carlson embarked two companies of Raiders at Pearl Harbor
on the Argonaut and the Nautilus for the 2,00c0-mile trip to
Makin. The raiding party was well armed, with 55 caliber anti-
tank guns, radio and other equipment. The Argonaut’s huge
mine chamber provided space for storing this equipment and
also for accommodating most of the troops. With the balance
travelling on the Nautilus, the men reported a comfortable
voyage.

Off Makin, the Raiders debarked in rubber boats and went
ashore before dawn on August 17. The plan was to seize a few
Japanese prisoners, destroy stores and installations and return
to the waiting submarines. Essential surprise was achieved when
these two underwater giants surfaced in the darkness and the
men debarked. But after the Raiders got ashore without discov-
ery a chance rifle shot disclosed their presence and the fighting
started.

The two submarines gave them valuable support. With
their six-inch guns, they shelled the lagoon and sank two Japa-
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nese ships. Ashore, Carlson’s men were attacked by a truck
convoy, which they destroyed with an anti-tank gun, and then
converted it into an anti-aircraft gun when a flight of Japanese
bombers appeared. One bomber landed in the lagoon beside a
big Kawanashi flying boat, which is about the size of our ra4Y.
When the Marines opened fire with their antitank gun, the
bomber tried to take off but was shot down a few feet off the
ground. The Kawanashi was a sitting duck in the lagoon and
went up in flames.

The plan called for the Raiders to evacuate the island that
night, but a high surf prevented all but a few of the rubber
boats making the return trip to the submarines. We lost a lot
of equipment and half the raiding party was left on the beach
until Carlson could improvise means of getting his men back
to their home craft.

Daylight brought more Japanese bombers, compelling the
submarines to submerge, and disaster stared the expedition in
the face. The Raiders had lost most of their weapons and food
when their boats capsized in the high surf and they tried to
swim home. They were virtually powerless but Carlson, with
typical Marine resourcefulness, sent his men foraging and, since
many of the Japanese garrison of 250 had been killed, they had
little difficulty in destroying the enemy radio station and gasoline
stores and also collecting food.

They also found a large outrigger canoe and that night
Carlson lashed his few rubber boats to the native craft and
embarked his men, including wounded. This curious armada
made the entrance of the lagoon, where the waiting submarines
picked them up and returned them to Pear] Harbor. Thus
ended the longest submarine raiding expedition ever undertaken.

Makin echoed loudly at the war trials in the Pacific when
the Japanese rear admiral in command of the island was hanged
at Guam for the torture-murder of eight Marines unfortunately
left behind after the Carlson raid.

We again resorted to underwater craft during the Gilberts
operation and with greater success than in the spectacular but
almost useless Makin raid. After the seizure of Tarawa and
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Makin, the neighboring Apamama Atoll remained to be cap-
tured. In planning for the Gilberts, the idea occurred to me that
we could land Scouts on the main island of the Apamama Atoll
by submarine to reconnoiter enemy, positions before committing
any sizable force. :

Marine Scouts from the V Corps Reconnaissance Company,
under Captain James L. Jones, embarked on the Nautilus at
Pearl Harbor for this operation. They had a tough trip down to
the Gilberts because the Nautilus was attacked at night by our
own task force, which put a shell hole in her main engine air
induction line. The submarine was diving when she was hit and
she went down to 300 feet before her commanding officer got her
under control. Captain Jones told me later he would not be
averse in the future to ride in a surface ship. The Scouts landed
at night in rubber boats. The island was occupied by only a
score or more Japanese, who held a strong machine gun position.
Leaving a containing force to take care of this pocket until the
main body of our men landed, the Scouts went on to seize the
rest of the island and later the entire atoll at a cost of one killed
and two wounded.

Apamama is probably the only atoll in history to be cap-
tured from a submarine. While the Scouts were ashore, the
Nautilus stood off and shelled the main island with her six-inch
guns, acting as a one-ship fire-support force. When Brigadier
General Hennle landed with the 3rd Battalion, 6th Marines,
the conquest had been completed because the Japanese in the
machine gun pocket realized the hopelessness of any resistance
and committed suicide.

Apamama was a brilliant sideshow, on a small scale but
efficiently carried out by Marine and submarine teamwork. I
have often thought that, in the war to come, when all our
warships are nothing more than giant submersibles, forced down
into the ocean depths to escape the power of atomic bombs and
other missiles, all amphibious operations will follow the pattern
of Apamama, with Marine assault forces submerging and land-
ing on hostile shores from beneath the sea.

- These joint missions of thé Marines and the Submariners
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gave the Corps a pretty good close-up of the men of the other
service. The lads who manned the underwater craft were not
supermen and possessed no supematural qualities of heroism;
they were top-notch American youths, well trained, well cared
for and armed with superb weapons.

Charlie Lockwood was a neighbor of mine at Makalapa, the
staff residential quarter at Pearl Harbor. Through my long
friendship with this brusque and forthright submarine Admiral,
who lived only for the gallant deeds of his Submariners, I came
to understand their life of lonely heroism.

A remark of Lockwood’s has become legendary in the Pacific.
One of his best submarine commanders was detached for duty
as an instructor at the Naval Academy. Before the officer left,
Lockwood said to him, “Now don’t teach those midshipmen that
the Submariners won the war. We know there were other forces
fighting there, too. But if they’d kept the surface forces and the
fly-boys out of our patrol areas we would have won the war six
months earlier.”

Like Lockwood, I don’t claim the Marines won the war.
There were other forces there, too, but if we had had another
division in 1941 we could have made certain the Submariners
shortened the war by six months.
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CHAPTER XII
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M Y FINAL operation and the climactic event of my

forty years in the Marine Corps was Iwo Jima, the last fortress
barring our path to Tokyo. Okinawa still had to be captured
before we possessed a staging area large enough to mount forces
for the proposed invasion of Japan, but Iwo Jima was the seal
placed on the complete and utter defeat of Japan, which started
when we broke through the Marianas defense chain and seized
Saipan.

When 1 look back at the Iwo Jima battle, fought on the
barren, volcanic island only eight square miles in area, among
caves, pillboxes, bunkers and blockhouses comprising the most
ingenious, elaborate and indestructible system of underground
fortifications ever devised, I ask myself the question many
people have asked me: Did we have to take Iwo Jima?

Iwo Jima was the most savage and the most costly battle in
the history of the Marine Corps. Indeed, it has few parallels in
military annals. In the first five days we suffered casualties at an
average of more than 1,200 a day. One out of every three Ma-
rines who set foot on the island was killed or wounded. In the
first 5o hours, our casualties were more than 3,000, and in a
campaign lasting 26 days, with many more days of mopping up,
our total casualties were 21,558, of whom 5,521 were killed or
died of wounds. Divisions ended the battle with less than so
percent combat efficiency.

Yet my answer to the question, tremendous as was the
price of victory, is definitely in the affirmative. In fighting a
war to win, you cannot evaluate the attainment of an objective
in terms of lives, or money, or material lost. I said “Yes” to this
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question before we laid plans to take Iwo Jima, and I say “Yes”
today.

Occupation of the island was a military necessity for several
reasons, as I shall indicate. The conditions of its capture were
dictated by the Japanese, not ourselves, and we took it the only
possible way—by frontal atfack, by interposing our own flesh
and blood whenever armament did not suffice.

Japanese defense plans for Iwo Jima, using fortifications con-
structed in its black volcanic ash, among the ridges and cliffs
and ravines, torn from Diirer engravings of the Inferno, were
based upon a simple proposition. It was this: if the Marines
ever landed on the island and attempted to take it, the enemy
would exact every possible American life. He would compel us
to use the utmost effort to gain our objective, and he would
make victory a thing of frightening proportions, even if the
entire Japanese garrison perished, which it did. This would be a
manifestation of the Japanese will to die.

To accomplish our task on Iwo Jima, we had to produce
men who were tougher than the Japanese, who could beat them
at their own game, whose patriotism transcended that of the
enemy, who also could reach the heights of Bushido, but in the
American way, which is based on cool reason and methodical
efficiency instead of blind obedience to the dictates of fanati-
cism.

The boys we took from the farm, the factory, the school,
and the office became the best amphibious troops in the world.
We put them ashore on an island where every yard of terrain
was the front line and supplied them with the best weapons;
we gave them all the naval and air support we could obtain.
They landed to discover that eight months of intermittent bom-
bardment, 72 days of daily land-based air raids, and three days
of stepped-up shelling had hardly scratched the fortifications
the Japanese had prepared against us.

So they took Iwo Jima the hard way, the Marine way, the
way we had trained them to take it when everything else failed.
The combination of Marine training and overwhelming matériel
told. Even the Japanese realized that willingness to die for their
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Empcror was not equal to better troops, supcrior fircpower, and
cquipment. The little brown supcrinen proved a myth against
our boys. Despite all the things we had rcad or learned about
the physical endurance of the Japancse, they fcll short in com-
parison with the Marines.

'T'he Marines were trained amphibious troops, but it wasn't
amphibious war that they fought on Iwo Jima. Nor was the
island a Cannae or a Waterloo. The ficld was too small. Eighty
thousand troops, American and Japancse, battled on cight square
miles of island—10,000 men per square mile. Fighting among
subtcrranean defenscs, it was troglodyte war on a primiitive level,
with modern refinements that burned men to ashes, blasted
through concrcte masscs, split the carth with scismic effect, and
entombed thousands alive.

In my report I wrote: ““I'he entire operation was fouglit on
what was virtually the enemy’s own terms.” Ilc paid the piper
and called the tunc. But we enjoycd a superiority derived from
the cxperience of three years of successful campaigning, plus
complete sca and air superiority. In the end, the roles were
reversed. We called the tune for a macabre dance. A message
left by four Japancse found dcad in a cave on Iwo Jima read:
“To the Americans: We have fortified this island for over a year,
but we cannot win this war alone, with just the Yamato (war-
rior) spirit. We cannot match your superiority. ‘T'here is no other
road for us to follow but to die.”

They voiced the recurrent theme of the operation and I
stress it because without this background it is impossible to
comprchend cvents on the islind. Despite massive planning
and preparation and the greatest display and employment of
armed might the Pacific had seen, it was, reduced to its essence,
the man on the beach with his rifle who won this island for us.

Although Iwo Jima was seldom mentioncd on prewar maps,
preparations for its conquest caused repercussions throughout
the cntire Amcrican global command. The cxpedition was
mounted in the Central Pacific, at 1lawaii and at our ncw Mari-
anas bases, but nearly every theater was alerted and cooperated.
Naval vessels were withdrawn from the Furopean theater to
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support the operation: the Philippines and China commands
provided support: as far away as India, American and Allicd
forces undertook air and anti-submarine missions integrated
with the general plan.

From the United States came the most modern ships. Many
of the vesscls in the flect of 8oo that appeared off Iwo Jima at
dawn on I'cbruary 19, 1945, werc being built or had not been
commissioned six months before D-day. All but one of the
transports that carried the Fourth and Fifth Divisions from
Hawaii were brand new. Some of the smaller units were only
in the blue print stage when we started our planning. I'or the
reduction of this tiny, pear-shaped island, the call went out
“Come the four corners of the world in arms,” American arms,
that is. And they came.

The Navy paid its first visit to Iwo Jima simultancously
with our landing on Saipan on June 15, 1944. In the great
ocean-wide sweep to ncutralize Japanese air and naval bascs,
Vice Admiral Mitscher took Task Force 58 and gave the Japa-
nese a tastc of what was coming to them, although at that time
the Joint Chicfs of Staff had not definitely decided on the cap-
ture of the island. Even in June, 1944, Pete Mitscher com-
manded a great task force: seven battleships, 15 carriers, 21
cruisers, and 78 destroyers. In making a combined surface and
air strike on Iwo Jima, our naval forces ventured closer to the
shores of Japan than ever before that time.

With the Marianas in our possession, our strategy was
oriented towards a direct assault on the home islands of Japan.
We now had bascs which brought the greater part of Japan
within bombing range of our B-2¢’s and the construction of big
airfields, cspecially at Tinian, enabled us to carry the war to
nearly every Japancse city. Up to the Marianas invasion, B-2¢’s
operated only from bases of the 2oth Bomber Command in
China and their range was restricted to the island of Kyushu, in
Western Japan.

The initial study of Iwo Jima was made only in the light of
its strategical importance, which far outranked its size. It is the
main island in the Volcanos, part of the larger Bonin Islands,
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which in turn belong to a chain called Nanpo Shoto by the
Japanese. These islands extend 700 miles in a north-south line
from the entrance to Tokyo Bay almost to the Northern Mari-
anas. The Japanese had fortified a number of them, principally
in the southern part of the chain, and Iwo Jima, 670 miles from
Tokyo, together with neighboring Chichi Jima, was the key to
the entire defense system.

Any attempt to invade Japan would run afoul of this island,
which had two excellent airfields, to which the Japanese ferried
new planes as fast as we destroyed them, and a third field under
construction. Iwo Jima lay there blocking our path. Its seizure
was a necessary preliminary to any direct assault on Japan and it
threatened our occupation of Okinawa, to the northwest, which,
by 1945, was part of our grand strategy for closing in on Japan.

On November 24, 1944, B-29’s from the newly established
21st Bomber Command in the Marianas made their first raid
on Tokyo and, as the tempo of these raids increased, another
conception developed regarding the importance of taking Iwo
Jima. This island lay almost midway in the air path to Tokyo,
and our flyers, on their long return missions to Japan, began to
experience enemy interference from Iwo Jima. Planes from the
island harassed them both coming and going, and radar on Iwo
warned Tokyo in advance that the B-29’s were coming.

It was a 16-hour round trip to Japan and, all things being
equal, B-2q9’s were able to make the flight comfortably. Despite
their size and their gasoline capacity, if the B-29’s carried a use-
ful bomb load they had little margin of flight. Our losses from
anti-aircraft and fighter interception began to mount and Iwo
Jima became the thorn in the side of our flyers.

Crews of the B-2g’s, subjected to flights at very high alti-
tudes, to long hours in the air, and to bad weather, began to
crack under the strain. It was bad enough to escape enemy
fighter attacks and anti-aircraft over the target, but the knowl-
edge that having dropped their bombs and strained their fuel
to the utmost, the enemy was waiting for them halfway back to
their base, started to tell on our flyers. It was recognized that
Army Air Force morale on Tinian and Saipan was sagging badly.
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No organization can stand inordinate losses over a prolonged
period, and these conditions threatened the success of our
bombing program.

Accordingly, the capture of Iwo Jima assumed new impor-
tance. It was imperative for us to remove the threat to our
B-2g’s, acquire an advance base from which we could operate
fighter protection for our planes flying over Japan, and also
emergency landing fields for crippled B-29’s on their homewara
flight. Hitherto, damaged planes or those suffering engine or
fuel trouble had only one resort if they failed to make their base:
ditch in the sea. Many flyers and planes were lost this way.

We met all these conditions when we captured Iwo Jima.
We removed the obstacle to our capture of Okinawa and our
advance on Japan. We destroyed the Iwo Jima garrison, taking
only 217 prisoners, most of whom were badly wounded. We
started building up the island as an air base from the day we
captured the first of its three airfields. Two weeks after D-day,
while we were fighting for our lives through the central belt of
Japanese defenses, the first disabled B-29 landed on Motoyama
Airfield Number One, which the Seabees had repaired and
lengthened.

Before the fighting was over and while we were still killing
Japanese in their caves at the northern end of the island, 40
B-29’s had landed. According to Army figures, in a few months
1,449 B-29’s with crews totalling 15,938 men, had fallen back on
emergency facilities at Iwo. By the end of the war, Air Force
estimates declared, more than 20,000 U. S. lives had been saved
because Iwo was ours. Possession of this base meant another
5,000 pounds of weight per plane, which could be taken on in
bomb load or fuel, but more valuable was the inestimable safety
factor added to B-29 flights.

Simultaneously, Iwo Jima was developed as a fighter base.
Long before the last shot was fired on the island Army P-51
Mustangs were based there and were flying escort missions,
greatly improving the efficiency of our heavy bombers. Later, the
Mustangs were making fighter sweeps over Japan. Iwo Jima was
a base beyond compare in our gigantic raids that wrecked Japan’s
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cities, knocked out her war potential, and helped bring the enemy
to her knees. Twenty-one thousand dead and wounded Marines
made these things possible.

Planning for the operation started on a top echelon plane
early in October, 1944, before the first B-29 raid on Japan.
Admiral Nimitz issued a directive again designating Admiral
Spruance overall commander, with Kelly Turner as commander,
Amphibious Force, and myself as commander of Expeditionary
Troops. Under Major General Harry Schmidt, troops belonging
to the V Amphibious Corps were assigned to the operation.
These were the Fourth Division, under Major General Clifton
B. Cates, and the Fifth Division, under Major General Keller
E. Rockey. The Third Division, under Major General Graves
B. Erskine, was to be held in reserve. The Iwo Jima operation was
to be completely Naval in the assault phase, with the Marines
turning over the island to the Army after its capture.

Immediately following the Nimitz directive, I received the
Joint Staff study and on October 14, as Commanding General,
Fleet Marine Force, I issued a directive to Harry Schmidt desig-
nating him Landing Force Commander and directing him to
prepare plans. It was two months before they were completed,
because alterations had to be made in the original Joint Staff
study in the light of intelligence we were receiving from constant
air reconnaissance of the objective.

One of the changes concerned the Third Division. It had
been proposed to hold the division in reserve, alerted at Guam.
On further study, I considered it much sounder for this division
to arrive with the other troops in the target area on D-day,
available as a floating reserve. This decision proved sound because
we ran into a larger garrison and far stronger defenses than we
had anticipated. Instead of 14,000 Japanese we then believed to
be holding the island, the enemy garrison totalled 22,000.

Meanwhile, a softening-up process of unparalleled intensity
was proceeding. Starting with Pete Mitscher’s strike on June 15,
naval units made frequent surface and air strikes. Our newly
arrived B-2¢’s made Iwo Jima their target long before they started
work on Tokyo. From the Marianas, planes of the Seventh Air
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Force and the Strategic Air Force furnished most of the final
72 days’ bombing. Every type of bomber, escorted by fighters,
made the daily journey to Iwo Jima. All Army air bases were
alerted to the task. Sometimes two or three raids a day, plus
harassing attacks at night, were made, and these were interspersed
with surface and carrier attacks. When Navy guns and Navy
and Army bombers finished their task, a Marine Air Group went
in with rockets. The Japanese, who didn’t have a minute’s peace,
day or night, nevertheless built while we bombed. At the begin-
ning of the aerial “softening” we could count 450 major defensive
installations on Iwo: three days before we landed there were 750.

Chichi Jima and Haha Jima, two neighboring islands con-
verted into air bases by the Japanese, also were attacked, but the
focal point was always Iwo Jima. In our first big raid on Decem-
ber 8, 82 B-29’s, 102 B-24’s (Liberators), and 28 P-38’s (Light-
nings) dropped 8oco tons of bombs. The Seventh Air Force
dropped 5,800 tons in 2,700 sorties. In one square mile of Iwo
Jima, a photograph showed 5,000 bomb craters.

All this added up to a terrific total of destructive effort,
which the uninitiated might expect to blast any island off the
military map, level every defense, no matter how strong, and
wipe out the garrison. But nothing of the kind happened. Like
the worm which becomes stronger the more you cut it up, Iwo
Jima thrived on our bombardment. The airfields were kept in-
active by our attacks and some installations were destroyed but
the main body of defenses not only remained practically intact
but strengthened markedly.

The closer we got to D-day, the greater was the anti-aircraft
coming from the island. It seemed impossible that our bombing
and shelling could be having so little effect. But that is what hap-
pened. Colonel Dudley S. Brown, my Chief of Staff, observed in
his report on the operation: “The prolonged aerial bombardinent
of Iwo Jima, which was a daily occurrence for over 70 days, had
no appreciable effect in the reduction of the enemy’s well pre-
pared and heavily fortified defensive installations.”

My own study of early air photographs indicated that a situa-
tion of an incredible nature existed on the island. It was plain
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that Iwo Jima had fortifications the like and extent of which we
had never encountered. Mindful of Tarawa, where most of the
fortifications were above ground and were still standing when
the Marines landed, my opinion was that far more naval gunfire
was needed on an island five times the size of Tarawa, with many
more times the number of defenses, most of them deep under-
ground.

I could not forget the sight of Marines floating in the lagoon
or lying on the beaches at Tarawa, men who died assaulting
defenses which should have been taken out by naval gunfire. At
Iwo Jima, the problem was far more difficult. If naval guns could
not knock out visible defenses, how could they smash invisible
defenses except by sheer superabundance of fire?

My staff, my division commanders and I agreed unani-
mously that in spite of considerable naval and air preparation, an
additional long period of intense naval gunfire was needed as a
prerequisite to our landing at Iwo Jima. The original provision
was for eight days’ fire by a cruiser division, plus three days by
old battleships. A request from Harry Schmidt, which I trans-
mitted to Kelly Turner on October 24, was for ten days’ bom-
bardment by a cruiser division and three battleships. This, we
had decided, would prepare the beaches adequately for our
landing.

Tumer replied that this was impossible because of “limita-
tions on the availability of ships, difficulties of ammunition re-
placement, and the loss of surprise.” By the last remark I inferred
he meant that we would be giving the Japanese advance notice of
our intentions. Turner also informed us that the original eight
days’ cruiser bombardment had been abandoned and, instead,
the division would bombard Iwo Jima at irregular intervals, start-
ing December 15, and we would receive only three days’ bom-
bardment by heavy ships.

On November 8, I forwarded to Turner another proposal
from Schmidt that the Navy should provide nine days’ bombard-
ment. Two weeks later he replied, not only completely rejecting
our request but definitely confirming that there would be only
three days. However, he promised that the bombardment would
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be the best possible, taking into account factors of ammunition
supply, time and subsequent fire requirements.

We appeared to have run up against an irrevocable decision.
Three days were totally inadcquate but the decision was out of
our hands, although we had presented all conceivable evidence,
backed by photographic evidence of the island’s defenses. The
lack of naval gunfire, so vital to the success of a landing, struck
at the very heart of our enterprise. Thercfore, we madc onc last
effort to alleviate a shocking situation. We had to haggle like
horse traders, balancing irreplaceable lives against replaceable
ammunition. I was never so depressed in my life.

On November 24, Harry Schmidt asked for just one more
day’s bombardment, making four instead of three. I favorably
endorsed his request and forwarded the letter to Turner, who ap-
proved to a limited degree, and forwarded the letter to Spruance.
Turner favored the new suggestion, provided there was no objec-
tion based on the general strategical situation.

Spruance rejected this plea on these very grounds. Part of the
overall plan was a fast carrier strike by Task Force 58 on the
Tokyo area, to coincide with the three days’ bombardment of
Iwo Jima, and Spruance had set his heart on making this strike
the most impressive naval effort of the war. After the strike, T'ask
Force 58 was to return to Iwo Jima to provide support for our
landing and then leave for another strike at Japan, to neutralize
any enemy air interference that might have developed.

The reasons adduced by Spruance for his rejection were:

That the initial surface bombardment must be simultaneous with
the initial carrier attack on the Tokyo area, and that, if continua-
tion of the carrier strikes beyond two days were neither desirable
nor necessary, the enemy could then recover early enough to
initiate threatening air attacks at the objectives on D-day.

That the shore-based air attack to be provided could be consid-
ered at least as effective as the recommended additional day of
surface ship bombardment.

That there would be no opportunity for replacement of naval
aminunition, and that there was therefore a limit to the amount of
ammunition that could be made available for preliminary bom-
bardment, allowing sufficient ammunition for D-day.
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To me, naval insistence upon the priority of the strike
against Japan at the cost of fire support for our assault on Iwo
Jima was incomprehensible. To take the better part of the fleet
away ignored the principal aims of our mission. It simply weak-
ened the power we could use at Iwo Jima. To my way of think-
ing—and I am sure I was right—the operation was planned for
the capture of Iwo Jima, but Spruance permitted the attack on
Japan to overshadow the real objective.

While danger from the air did exist, there was no Japanese
naval threat great enough to require him to send so many heavy
ships with Task Force §8. The naval threat, which was so vivid
when we started planning for Iwo Jima, vanished before we ex-
changed messages dealing with more gunfire. The Japanese Fleet
was practically destroyed in the Battle of Leyte Gulf fought from
October 23 to 26.

Limited, against our better judgment, to only three days’
preliminary bombardment there seemed nothing to do but make
the best of the situation. However, in a final effort to utilize the
proffered gunfire to the best advantage, Harry Schmidt for-
warded to me a final proposal based on a careful study of the
bombardment plan. Dated January 2, 194s, it stated that he be-
lieved the preliminary gunfire to be inadequate for destroying
targets flanking and at the rear of the landing beaches. He sug-
gested that either the time for preliminary bombardment be in-
creased or that fire be concentrated on the main landing beaches,
generally ignoring the other parts of the island.

In other words, if he couldn’t have all the fire power he
wanted, he preferred it in the place where he needed it most.
Fire poured on the landing beaches and on the airfield behind
(Motoyama Number One) would be the most efficient way of
using the limited amount allowed for our landing.

In his reply, Turner reiterated Spruance’s reasons for disap-
proving of Schmidt’s proposal. He said that he did not consider
concentration of fire on the landing beaches a sound plan be-
cause other areas would receive too light fire coverage.

Thus were we defeated—a group of trained and experienced
land fighters, our full realization of the necessity for naval gun-
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fire based on many previous island operations—again overridden
by the naval mind. Finding ourselves in this dilemma, we had
tried our best to enlighten the high command, feeling that our
judgment would be respected, but naval expediency won again.

Our troubles were not at an end. Due to a change of plans
by Spruance, the ships allocated to the pre-D-day bombardment
were unavailable and substitutions were made. We also were
robbed of the services of the USS Washington and the USS
North Carolinag, two of our 16-inch-gun ships originally assigned
to the niggardly allotment of fire but withdrawn at the last
minute to join Task Force 58 and provide anti-aircraft fire. These
two battleships were to have supplied one day’s pre-landing fire
with their powerful guns.

Turner protested to his chief regarding this sudden change.
He pointed out to Spruance that fire support already had been
seriously diminished and would be reduced dangerously without
these two ships. They were much more valuable prior to D-day
than later, because only a small amount of battleship fire would
be needed after the landing.

Spruance was apologetic for this disruption, but he insisted
that the importance of the strike was so great that he must give
Task Force 58 all possible assistance to insure a successful out-
come.

The Admiral stated he had informed Rear Admiral William
H. P. Blandy, commanding the Amphibious Support Force en-
trusted with the bombardment, that our landing might be
deferred if, on the evening prior to D-day, the required reduction
of targets on Iwo Jima had not been accomplished. Spruance
added, “I regret this confusion caused in your carefully laid
plans, but I know you and your people will get away with it.”

We appreciated his confidence in our ability to “get away
with it” but this pat on the back was cold comfort against the
loss of great modern ships, with 16-inch guns we knew could rip
apart Japanese pillboxes and tear the heart out of concrete
bunkers. I reflected rucfully that naval thinking had not changed
in the 25 years since I was at the Naval War College.

Nine days before we landed, the situation produced the
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following observation by my Chief of Staff, Colonel Brown, who
wrote me:

In view of the fact that the ships . . . are not now available
for the pre-D-day support of the landing force, it is the opinion
of the undersigned that the naval gunfire support has been so
weakened as to jeopardize the success of the operation. Certainly,
under the present plan of support, assuming that the initial
landings are successful, the cost in Marines killed will be far
greater than under the plan agreed upon before our departure
from Pearl Harbor.

Brown’s assessment was correct: we did lose more men than
we had anticipated and one of the reasons was that sufficient
neutralizing effect had not been achieved on the island.

My Chief of Staff recommended that D-day be postponed
to allow the maximum expenditure of ammunition from the
bombarding ships. This postponement also had the approval of
Spruance, who passed on the final decision to Blandy. But we
could delay no longer. The operation already had suffered two
postponements. Originally, the target date was set for January
20. Then it was moved to February 3, because General Mac-
Arthur would not release the naval ships we required, which had
been supporting his Luzon operation. The General-Admiral clung
to the ships, delaying the Iwo Jima operation despite the fact
that his campaign was almost completed and the Japanese Com-
bined Fleet no longer existed to harass him.

MacArthur’s withholding of these ships and the two post-
ponements of D- day threatened to retard our offensive against
Japan. The invasion of Okinawa had been set for March or, at
the very latest, April. It was a race against time to reduce Iwo
Jima. In fact, Kelly Tumer, who was to command the Amphib-
ious Force at Okinawa, left Iwo Jima before the island was se-
cured in order to complete final plans for the next objective.
Eventually, one ship did arrive from MacArthur’s theater to join
in the bombardment of Iwo Jima somewhere around D-day but
that is the only one I can recall.

Therefore, it was imperative that we should not deviate
from the final target date of February 19, with or without our
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desired gunfire support. On the eve of D-day, a study of photo-
graphs and reports indicated that the main defenses on and
around the eastern beaches, where we were to land, had been
destroyed or heavily damaged. Blandy, upon whom Spruance
had thrust the responsibility of deciding, informed Kelly Turner
that he believed a successful landing could be made the next
morning, as planned. Ironically, he admitted that the bad
weather had prevented him from cxpending his full allowance of
ammunition and with an additional day of bombardment he
could find and destroy many more enemy defenses. But the die
was cast and the Marines went ashore.

The forces I commanded in the assault on Iwo Jima were
the best equipped hitherto employed in the Pacific. Nothing
was lacking in arms, mechanical equipment and supplics, and
we were supported—somewhat lcss than we desired—by the most
powerful navy force that ever sailed the seas. All of the latest de-
velopments in guns, tanks, amphibious craft and boats were re-
flected in the operation. We used 650,000 tons of supplies at
Iwo Jima and 6oo planes were available.

Excluding Task IForce 58, which swept the seas, raided the
Japanese homeland, and later supported us at Iwo Jima, 485
assault and garrison ships were employed. Altogether 110,000
men, of whom 70,000 were Marine assault troops, were trans-
ported to the island from points as far distant as Hawaii, 3,700
miles away. The Third and Fourth Divisions were veterans of
many actions in the Central and South Pacific, and the newly
organized Fifth Division, from Camp Pendlcton, California,
was built around veterans of the South Pacific. No troops in any
previous operation had been so well rchearsed as these three
Marine Divisions, which trained and rehearsed at their Pacific
bases, and rehearsed again en route to the target, to make sure
that cvery detail was completely understood.

I sailed fromn Pearl IHarbor on the USS Eldorado, Turner’s
new command ship, which replaced the less modern Rocky
Mount, full of confidence in the force I commanded but acutely
aware of the difficulties of the mission. Latest intelligence told
of the strength of the island’s defenses, which remained some-
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what obscure because our flyers reported few visible targets and
few visible Japanesc. When flyers did catch a sight of the enemy,
he disappeared in the ground like a gopher, indicating that a net-
work of subtcrrancan fortifications existed in the volcanic rock.

My eagerness to come to grips again with the enemy, after
the long interval since the Marnanas, buoyed up my spirits. Dur-
ing this interval the Palau operation had been conducted success-
fully against bitter opposition and again it was proved that the
Japanese were no match for the Marines. A short time before 1
sailed for Iwo Jima, I went into the hospital at Base 8, Pearl
Harbor. A slight hiernia was troubling me and the doctors said
that a bricf hospitalization would put me back in good physical
shape for the work ahcad.

My stay in the hospital was brighteued by a romance, in
which [ played a part. Onc of the nurses—an attractive, brown-
eyed girl—told me that she was going to marry a Marine officer
the following Saturday. I congratulated her and she gave me the
officer’s name and his outfit. My heart sank. It was Wednesday
and I knew that the Marine's outfit was under sceret orders to
sail for Guam on Friday. The officer obviously had not known
that when he made arrangements for the wedding.

Strctched in my bed, watching the ships in the hatbor below,
I mulled over the problem and decided that the war would go
along just the same if that Marine and his nurse were marricd on
Saturday. So I called up the Operations Officer and told him to
take the young man’s name off the sailing list. “Ops” was a trifle
surpriscd when I called. TTe probably didn’t understand that the
Commanding General was at the other cod of the line and
pointed out that since the young Marine was under orders to go,
go he must, 1 finally convinced the Operations Officer of my
identity and the name was taken off the sailing list. On Satur-
day morning, I gave the bride away at the wedding ceremony. It
made me fecl so good that the doctors were astonished by my
rapid recovery.

At Saipan, the Fldorado took on board a distingnished pas-
senger. Scerctary of the Navy James Forrestal was in the Pacific
at the time and he decided to accompany the expedition to Iwo

250



Jima to see the Marines in action and get first-hand knowledge
of combined operations. I believe this was the first time in the
history of the Marine Corps that a Secretary of the Navy went
to war with his amphibious troops and, after my experience with
Secrctary FForrestal, I hoped that other civilian members of our
Government would see the services under actual wartime condi-
tions, instead of sitting back in Washington, relying upon ofhcial
dispatches and their service aides to enlighten them. How much
sense of reality is lost between a battleground and a glistening
Washington desk!

‘I'he Scerctary’s presence was an inspiration to the Navy and
the Marines. At first, the news of his arrival among us was not
believed. On board ship he wore khaki like a Navy ofhcer and
the fact that he had no insignia did not make him conspicuous.
Civilian war correspondents on board dressed similarly and the
Secretary might have been taken for one of them. When he went
ashore, we outfitted him in Marine utility greens—which I in-
herited when e left. We were proud to have him wear the uni-
form of the Marine Corps.

Although Mr. Forrestal showed keen interest'in all phases
of our work, he never intruded. Rather, he quictly fitted himsclf
into ship routine and operation organization, studying dctails
and absorbing information. Iis four ycars as Under Sccretary
and a ycar as Sccrelary had given him mastery of the multifarious
ramifications of the Navy he controlled. He astonished me with
his knowledge of combined operations and his grasp of technical
matters.

During the voyage, the Secrctary often came to my cabin
to discuss some new angle that appealed to him and we talked
for hours on end. Sometimes this discussion which, on the basis
of knowledge and understanding, progressed on a level of equality
rather than from the standpoint of a veteran Marine officer and
amphibious expert trying to instruct a civilian Cabinet ofhicer,
took place as we walked the LEldorado’s decks. IFrom his con-
versation, it was cvident the Secrctary had delved deeply into the
theory and practice of combined operations.

In discussions in my cabin concerning landing movements,
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Mr. Forrestal revealed a perfect comprehension of the value of
timing, the spacing of assault waves, and the importance of
naval gunfire in the coordinated scheme. He examined with a
keen eye the Marine staff lay-out and was constantly in and out
of the operations room, reading the action reports after the Iwo
Jima battle started. He was fascinated with the communications
setup on the Eldorado which, with its radio, teletypes and other
equipment, was indeed wondrous to behold. ‘

“Mr. Secretary,” I said to him one day, “you missed your
calling. You should have been a Marine. You would have had a
great career.”

“Holland,” he replied, “I did once consider that but banking
caught me first. Anyhow, thanks for the compliment.”
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CHAPTER XIII
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I [1E EVIE OF D-DAY at Iwo Jima found me unable

to suppress a deep emotional surge. The imminence of action
and the respousibility for the most appalling operation we had
yet undertaken weighed heavily. I was charged with the capture
of an island whose possession was indispensable to our assault
on Japan, and it was my last command.

Marines were to be employed at Okinawa but I knew this
would be an Army operation, owing to the preponderance of
Army troops. ‘I'he invasion of Japan would be spearheaded by
Marines, but there, too, the Arimy would be numerically domi-
nant, under General MacArthur, There would be no more
strictly Marine combat commands in the Pacific. Furthermore,
[ was approaching my 631d birthday and [ was the first to realize
I should move aside for younger men. Hence, victory at Iwo
Jima would be the climax, emotionally and militarily speaking,
to my four decades as a servant of the Government of the United
States.

The gravity of the coming battle filled me with apprehen-
sion. The man in the front line is blessed with a sense of im-
mediacy. Ile knows only the danger directly in front of him. The
general, however, knows far in advance what is to come and the
picture is always there, spread before him. Ile goes into battle
with the price of victory already calculated in human lives. This
krowledge is a terrible burden, never to be shaken off, night or
day. There is no escape.

I felt certain we would lose 15,000 men at Iwo Jima. This
number was the absolute minimun calculated in our plans made
at Pear] TTarbor, although some of my officers wistfully predicted

253



a lower figure. So far as the Marines were concerned, we had
made every preparation humanly possible to capture the island
as expeditiously and as economically as possible. We were to
land 60,000 assault troops, and the estimate that one in every
four would be dead or wounded never left my mind.

I was not afraid of the outcome of the battle. I knew we
would win. We always had. But contemplation of the cost in lives
caused me many sleepless nights. My only source of comfort was
in reading of the tribulations of leaders described in the Bible.
Never before had I realized the spiritual uplift and solace a man
on the eve of a great trial receives from the pages of that book.

I prayed to God that night. I am a Methodist, but I have
always been able to find comfort in the literature of the Roman
Catholic Church. I read a passage from FFather Joseph F. Sted-
man’s Duaily Readings, and it calmed me.

To the Marine, there is a universality of religion transcend-
ing sect and schism. It is based on comradeship in arms. I have
seen Protestants at Catholic mass and Jewish chaplains minister-
ing to Gentiles. For many years, I have worn around my neck
certain Catholic medals, including a Saint Christopher blessed
by Pope Pius X and given to me by a priest in San Francisco. He
took the medal from his own neck to hang it around mine, pray-
ing that it would guard me against all the dangers and perils of
the unknown.

The day before D-day was Sunday. Choked up as they were
on the eve of their Gethsemane, the Marines on board the El-
dorado were deeply moved by a little blue card distributed by
the ship’s Chaplain, Curt Junker. It contained the words of the
following prayer by Sir Thomas Astlie, one of Cromwell’s gen-
erals, written in 1645 before he went into battle:

Lord I shall be verie busy this day:
I may forget Thee, but doe not Thou forget me.

The task force arrival was timed for just before dawn in
order that the transports in our column could take up their
assigned stations in time to launch the waves according to
schedule.
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Iwo’s commander was Licutenant Colonel Tadamichi Kuri-
bayashi, who headed the Ogasawara IForces, as the Japanesc units
were called in the Volcano Islands. Major General Sadasu Senda
commanded the Second Mixed Brigade, 109th Division. The
naval defense force and a naval air force were under Rear Ad-
miral Toshinosuke Ichimaru.

Of all our adversaries in the Pacific, Kuribayashi was the
most redoubtable. Some Japanese island commanders were just
names to us and disappearcd into the anonymity of encmy
corpses left for burial partics. Kuribayashi’s personality was
written deep in the underground defenses he devised for Iwo
Jima. He held us at arm’s length until we cormered him and the
remnants of his force in the caves of Kitano Point. Iwo Jima was
notable in that organized resistance did not collapse after the
first few days, but continued to the end.

As one of my officers fervently remarked, “Let’s hope the
Japs don’t have any more like him.”

Before he came to die on Iwo Jima, Kuribayashi had been
a cavalryman who broadened his training to include a knowledge
of all arms. Although I never saw him, and a minute search of
the caves where he made his last stand failed to produce his body,
we got his biography from Radio Tokyo. A short, paunchy
man in his middle fifties, he had commanded a cavalry
regiment at Lake Nomanhon, on the Manchurian border,
during the indecisive “undeclared” Russo-Japanese War of
1938-39.

Then Kuribayashi commanded the elite Imperial Guard in
Tokyo, which gained him an audience with Emperor ITirohito.
Under the Japanese scheme of command, Iwo Jima came within
the Tokyo defense limits and he started to fortify the island
formidably when we invaded Saipan. Ile took with him to the
island a number of cave specialists and they created the intricate
scheme of underground fortifications which our bombardment
could not reach.

Kuribayashi’s strictly business qualities were reflected in
other matters besides his defenses. ITe must have been a martinet.
When we sailed from Pearl Harbor, we took will us rations for
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the 1,500 civilians we cxpected to find on Iwo Jima. ‘These rations
were unnecessary. Months before we attacked, Kuribayashi evacu-
ated to Japan all civilians from the sulphur ficlds and the garrison.
He wanted no civilian hindrance. T'o Lim, Iwo Jima was solely a
military base.

Ile permitted nonc of the pleasures of Japanese camp life to
undermine the morale of his men. No women were found on the
island. Although he pledged his men to a typical Japancse oath—
to die for their Emperor and take ten Americans with them in
death—he permitted no mad charges inspired by the suké bottle.
We found no large stocks of liquor on Iwo Jima, as on Guam and
Saipan. As a matter of fact, I fail to recall that anyone picked
up a single bottle on the island.

Off Iwo Jima that cold February morning I examined again
the air photographs which showed the island literally pock-
marked by bomb and shell holes. Many big gun emplacements
had been taken out but 1 was not surprised at the Japanese bat-
teries shooting up a heavy cruiser as well as a dozen of our gun-
boats prior to our landing. If anybody had learned anything
from our bombardment it was the enemy, who had gone under-
ground so far that he was secure from 2,000-pound bombs. Some
of my divisional generals thought that T was too pessimistic that
morning, but they realized later that my fears had not been
exaggerated.

Dawn broke for us favorably on D-day. The weather, after
scveral stormy days, was clear; the rough seas subsided; surf con-
ditions were as good as could be expected on an exposed rock.
Iwo Jima had only two beaches, one east and the other west of
the narrow isthmus connecting Mount Suribachi with the broader
part of the island. Both beaches—coarse, black volcanic ash, like
gravel—made for poor landing conditions but we made the best
of two bad choices when we selected the eastern.

As the Marines debarked from transports and prepared to
land at ogoo, the main batteries of the battleships and heavy
ships crashed on the island in a two hours’ bombardment that
blotted out all light “like a hurricane eclipse of the sun.” Task
FForce 58 had returned from the Tokyo strike and joined the
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brazen chorus at least bricfly. On the Eldorado, we were alimost
deafened by the roar, and under the fire of so many guns the
island smoked as though the dormant Suribachi had sprung into
life against us. Gunboats went close in and delivered a rocket
barrage on the landing beach; this was followed by an air strike
on the flanks. Ucavy bombers from the Marianas were scheduled
to bomb the island, but only a third of the assigned plancs
arrived; the rest, they told us, were held up by bad weather at
their base.

1alf an hour before the Marines hit the beach i their am-
phibious tanks and tractors, naval gunfire was resumed and for
the first time in the Pacific we employed a rolling naval barrage.
Starting at the edge of the beach, naval guns placed their fire
200 yards inland, and as the Marines began to land the fire was
lifted i 200-yard jumps ahead of the men. "U'his scheme proved
highly successful.

The Japanese lay stunned wnder the terific explosive shock
of our naval gunfire, and in contrast to Tarawa and Saipan our
first waves got ashore with little opposition until they advanced
350 yards inland. TTowever, it wasn’t long before the encmy re-
covered and when our barrage lifted, his artillery, mortar and
small-arms fire began to fall among the boat waves. 'This fire
came from Suribachi on the left and from higher ground on the
right, well registered and pre-sited. A ouce strong line of pill-
boxes, some of which were still stauding despite the weight of
metal dropped on them, took a heavy toll of Marines on their
way up the incline to the aitfield, and when our tanks made the
top they ran into extensive wminchickds, which caused many
wrecks.

The nature of the Iwo Jima terrain was as obstructive as the
Japancse. A scries of terraces leading to the airfeld made excep-
tionally hard going. Marine ficld shocs sank dcep in the volcanic
ash and men floundered their way to the top. Supply-laden am-
tracks and pukw’s bogged down. Tanks were mired in the ash,
unable to move, thus becoming sitting ducks for the Japanese.
Until we got wire mats down and bulldozers ashore to make a
semblonce of a road system, the only practicable vehicle was the
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light amphibian tractor known as the “Weasel.” All our heavy
equipment was under fire by the Japanese and in two days thirty
percent of our tanks were out of action.

After D-day a rising surf played the devil with our boats. To
hold our LsM’s and Lst’s, we had to anchor them to tractors and
tanks. The Higgins boats, smaller and more vulnerable in the
angry ocean, got caught in the surf up the black beach, and were
swamped by the powerful ebb. And as soon as one ship nosed
into the ash, it came under enemy fire. Our losses of equipment
were frightening; the beach soon looked like a row of frame
houses in a tornado.

Despite the increasing volume of enemy fire which poured
on the beach from every point, in an hour and a half we got
eight battalions of troops ashore, with a large number of tanks.
By mid-afternoon, the tank battalions of two divisions, though
depleted by losses, were ashore; elements of two artillery battal-
ions followed. Japanese fire mounted in intensity as the day wore
on, but a few guns of our artillery were in action by the late
afternoon.

By nightfall we had secured our beachhead, expecting to
land the rest of the equipment the next day. From an unloading
point of view, D-day was fortunate because the relatively light
surf was in our favor. But the next day, and on succeeding days,
the weather changed and unloading conditions on the beach were
dreadful. It became a fight against the sea, the surf, the volcanic
ash and the Japanese, all joined in one colossal alliance against
us. We thanked God for that D-day calm before the ocean’s
storm.

The result of the first day’s operation was satisfactory. On
the right, the IFourth Division had suffered heavily and, although
reserves were thrown in, the Division was unable to improve on
the initial gains of the morning. It was held up on the right flank
Dby resistance from a piece of high ground named Quarry Ridge,
after a quarry gouged out of the cliff rising sharply from the
water’s edge, and strongly defended by the Japanese. One battal-
ion was depleted so percent. One company lost all seven of its
officers before dark fell. But we held the tip of Motoyama Air-
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field One, though the fire on our beachhead troops was mur-
derous.

On the left, the Fifth Division, fighting on better terrain
and against lighter fire, made greater progress. Striking across
the 8oo-yard isthmus, the Fifth reached the western shore of
Iwo Jima by noon and three hours later had crossed the southein
end of the airfield. As a result, Suribachi was isolated and the
Japanese forces were split. The road was clear for the capture of
the volcano which, with its deep patriotic appeal, was to become
the crowning episode of the Pacific war.

The story of Suribachi is too familiar to be repeated. The
world knows how the Marine patrol scaled the mountain face
and planted the Stars and Stripes on the summit, producing the
greatest photograph of this war and, perhaps, of any war. It has
inspired bond drives, tableaux and postage stamps. The men who
raised the flag on Suribachi will be remembered in our history
as long as patriotic American hearts beat warm and proud, al-
though only a few are alive today.

But the capture of Mount Suribachi did not just happen. It
was planned as early as December, when we started to study the
problemss of Iwo Jima. Suribachi was our first big target. The
brown, knobby 556-foot rock at the southem end of this island
of eight square miles commanded our landing beach. Long
plumes of steam rose from its southern and seaward sides, heat
and fumes permeated its recesses, but they did not prevent the
Japanese tunnelling in and converting the “Iot Rock” into a
powerful fortress. While the enemy held that position, his guns
not only covered our landing beach but he had an observation
post of great value to batteries in other parts of the island. The
success of our entire assault depended upon the carly capture of
that grim, smoking rock.

For the job we sclected the 28th Regiment, FFifth Division,
commanded by Colonel Harry Liversedge—called “Ilarry the
Horse” by his men. Perhaps other officers and other regiments
could have done the Suribachi job, but both Iarry Schmidt and
Major General Keller IE. Rockey felt that Harry Liversedge was
the man and the 28th was the regiment. He had a good record in
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the South Pacific for tackling tough assignments and, although
Iwo Jima was no tropical, jungle-covered island, this qualifica-
tion was vital.

The attack on Suribachi started on the morning of Febru-
ary 20, the day after we landed, but it was four days before we
gained the summit. The main defenses were a series of mutually
supporting concrete pillboxes ringing the base. They were close
enough together to make an almost complete wall and this was
supported by guns in caves, machine gun pits, trenches, and
other obstacles among the scrub growth and the rocks surround-
ing the base.

The main problem was to break through that ring of pill-
boxes and it was a Herculean task. Tanks, flame throwers, artil-
lery, and demolition charges were used. From out at sea, war-
ships dropped their shells, sometimes only a hundred yards ahead -
of the Marines. Gunboats came in as close as 200 yards and
smashed at machine gun positions; air strikes and rocket attacks
were all thrown into the task. ‘I'l.e attacking troops met with
heavy resistance from pillboxes, caves in the rock, and enemy
artillery and mortars in the northern part of the island, which
laid down terrific fire from a varicty of weapons we had not ex-
perienced before. These latter included giant mortars, the largest
of which fired a 320-mm. shell that “made a noise like a P-61
night fighter,” as one Marine said. The big mortar shells flew
right over the island and dropped into the sea, but smaller calibers
caused us many casualties.

Still Liversedge’s men continued their slow but definite ad-
vance, methodically reducing the fortifications at the base of
Suribachi with flame throwers and demolitions, gradually work-
ing their way around until the volcano was completely sur-
rounded and it was possible to make an attack up the north face,
which Liversedge considered the feasible route. Other paths had
been wom by the Japanese but shelling and bombing had com-
pletely obliterated them.

Once the base defenses had been destroyed, there was little
opposition left in the garrison on the rock. On the morning of
the fourth day, four men climbed to the summit and were fol-
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lowed by Lieutenant II. G. Schrier, leading a 4o-man patrol
from Company “E”, 2nd Battalion, 28th Regiment, who reached
the northeast rim. The only resistance came from across the rim,
where they killed several Japanese. The flag was raised at 1037
on February 23 and this vision of triumph had an electritying
effect on all our forces ashore and afloat. We were in a mood for
victory and this glorious spectacle was the spark.

The raising of the flag high atop Suribachi was one of the
proud moments of my life. No American could view this symbol
of heroism and suffering without a lump in his throat. By a happy
circumstance, I was standing beside Secretary of the Navy IFor-
restal when the tiny speck of red, white and blue broke and
fluttered on the gaunt crest of the volcano. Turning to me, the
Secretary said gravely, “Holland, the raising of that flag on Suri-
bachi means a Marine Corps for the next soo years.”

The night before Suribachi was taken, we were told by
Liversedge of the final plans for its conquest. Secretary Forrestal
said he would like to go ashore next morning and witness the last
stage of the Suribachi battle. I was not pleased at the suggestion,
in view of the dangers of the beach, but T acquiesced. Wearing
a steel helmet and a life jacket, the Sceretary boarded a boat with
Vice Admiral Louis . Denfeld and Rear Admiral Mills. 1 was
accompanied by Mac Asbill. Before leaving the Eldorado, 1 ex-
tracted a promise from Mr. Forrestal that he would take orders
from me. I1e vowed he wouldn’t expose himself too prominently.

Our boat touched shore just after the flag was raised. The
cry went up from all quarters, “I'here goes the flagl” I could see
the tiny figures of the patrol on top of the volcano and more
tiny, agile figures climbing up the side. 'T'he backs of the climbers
glistened white in the morning sun. An officer explained to me
that the men had painted fluorescent panels on their uniforms
to distinguish them from the Japanese. 1 knew that the battle
area at the base of Suribachi was so confined that we had to tape
out lines as a guide to our planes but those glistening panels on
the uniforms of the men climbing the volcano seemed cven
more resourceful.

The beach wreckage made it difficult to find a place to land.
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Small boats, tanks, tractors, pukw’s, and other massed items of
equipment which had been knocked out by Japanese fire or the
satanic surf were strewn down to the water’s edge, and under
the battering of the waves were sinking deep into the ash. Great
waves raced up the beach and boats strained at their hawsers. At
first glance, it seemed that the beachhead was in a state of com-
plete confusion with 60,000 men choked up in an area that could
be measured in city blocks. But this was not so. Despite the
litter, wreckage, and apparent chaos, a regular movement of sup-
plies was going ashore, often sorely disrupted by enemy shell-
ing.

; Out of the boat, Mr. Forrestal began to walk around the
beach, inspecting the unloading, watching our tanks and tractors
coming and going, despite the yielding sand which offered so
little traction. He asked questions of several men. Ilis admiration
of their magnificent work was unstinted.

At first, some of the Marines were skeptical of his identity.
They didn’t believe any Secretary of the Navy in his right mnind
would be there on the beach at Iwo Jima, where Japanese shells
and mortars still fell. But soon the news spread around and men
came from all over, flocking around the visitor, shaking him
warmly by the hand.

This growing concentration of men caused me considerable
concern. If the Japanese spotted us, they would assume it was
an important troop movement and we would have the full force
of their guns on our heads in a very short time. I cautioned the
Secretary that he must not leave the immediate vicinity of the
beach. It was too dangerous. Artillery was falling very close to
us. In fact, 20 men were killed or wounded within a hundred
yards of where we were standing, but the Secretary seemed
utterly indifferent to danger. Ilis sang froid impressed us all and,
though I could not hide my qualms, I knew I could not deny
the men an opportunity to see, hear and shake hands with the
Secretary of the Navy.

After the anxious (for me) hour ashore, I persuaded him to
return to the Eldorado. As we came over the side, I hcaved a
sigh of relief that he was back again unharmed. Pillars of smoke
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and loud crashes on the beach showed the Japanese were shelling
again. Mr, Forrestal departed from Iwo Jima the next day, leav-
ing Kelly Turner and me with an inspiring message: ““I'he opera-
tion is in good hands.”

Later, I went back to inspect Suribachi. IHarry Liversedge
had done a magnificent piece of work in the face of great difh-
culties. It cost us a thousand casualties, but now our beachhead
no longer was threatened from the south and no longer could
the enemy on the volcano tell the enemy on the other side of the
island what we were up to.

Several hundred Japanese remained alive in the recesses of
this smoking rock, necessitating mopping up throughout the
campaign. As the details of the volcano’s strength became known,
the greater appeared the accomplishment of the 28th Regiment.
Among the caves and tunnels that riddled the rock, we counted
more than a thousand enemy strongpoints. Six hundred Japanese
were dead and we estimated that another thousand were holed
up in their caves. Suribachi was a gigantic warren and our engi-
neers sealed nearly 200 caves and entrances as tombs for its
garrison.

I found a young Marine on guard among the blasted pill-
boxes at the base of the volcano. He had a Japanese samurai
sword at his belt.

“We flushed a Jap officer out of a cave over there,” he told
me, indicating a fire-blackened lole in the face of the cliff where
a flame thrower had been usgd. “He came out waving his sword
and we shot him. There were three of us and when we took his
sword we couldn’t decide which one had killed him and whose
sword it was. So we decided to share.” Drawing the blade from
the scabbard, he added proudly, “It's my turn to wear it
today, sir.”

I wanted to climb Suribachi and look over Iwo Jima as I
had looked over Saipan from Mount Tapotchau, but there was
no motor road until later. Asbill went up. When he came back
he shook his head and announced, “No, General, I can’t let you
climb that cliff. You’re too old to make it.” I accepted his deci-
sion. I have commanded hundreds of thousands of men in
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my life but for the first time I got ordered around by my
aide.

I have jumped ahead to describe the heroic capture of Suri-
bachi, because as an individual expleit of the Marines it occupies
a special place in history, and now I return to the main battle of
Iwo Jima. ‘

In any operation, the first night ashore always is a nervous
and often critical period. We believed the Japanese would make
their strongest counterattacks against us on that first night, when
our position was not too strong. We had 40,000 men ashore,
holding an irregular line with a gap between the divisions, but
no counterattack in force came. This surprised us, because it was
so contrary to enemy tactics. As we advanced up the island, we
learned it was part of Kuribayashi’s well planned scheme of
defense. His basic idea was to occupy a position and refuse to
budge until we dug him out. I1e would waste no men on counter-
attacks, which would bring the Japanese under fire in force, and
tactical withdrawal did not figure in his battle plan. Ile later
altered his scheme to include minor counterattacks but no
banzai charges.

The weather that favored us on D-day turned against us the
following day and greatly complicated the beach situation. The
wind whipped up a high surf, making it impossible to use small
boats. All our supplies were brought in by r.sat’s and 1st’s, haw-
sered ashore to anchor them and keep their ramps down. This
mass of shipping was an easy target for Japanese guns, but we
allowed neither beach conditions nor enemy fire to halt the in-
creasing flow of supplies and equipment. We got all our artillery
ashore in the next two days and the supply situation, which for
a time was serious, improved as beach parties wrestled success-
fully with sea and ships. Over the yielding, ashy terrain, only am-
phibious and tracked vehicles could make their way up the
terraces, and inland routes had to be cleared of mines before
vehicles could move with safety. ‘

On the moming of the second day, during the assault on
Suribachi, the Fourth and Fifth Divisions continued their ad-
vance and by nightfall we had secured Motoyama Airficld One
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and thus held a continuous line across the island. Motoyama Air-
field Two, adjoining Airfield One on a slightly higher elevation,
was our next objective.

The fight for the second airfield, and the third which was
under construction beyond, brought us up against the enemy’s
main line of resistance. ‘I'his was a broad, deep belt of fortifica-
tions running from coast to coast, a mass of mutually supporting
pillboxes and concrete bunkers, many of them almost buried
underground. Behind were thousands of caves and subterrancan
positions, in the rocky fastness of the north. This was the “mas-
terpiece of impregnability” produced by the specialists from
Japan, who utilized natural caves and dug hundreds more, all
interconnected with tunnels, and linked them to underground
fortresses 30 to 4o feet below ground, hiding guns and mortars.
Beyond the first line of pillboxes, protected by mine fields and
accurately placed overlapping fire from hidden guns, the island
was a huge warren of holes, caves and passages in rocky ridges
and chiff faces. Ilvery day of our advance on Iwo Jima showed us
another marvel of defensive construction.

Motoyama Airfield Two again left us with no choice but
frontal attack. Only direct hits by large caliber guns had any
effect on the blockhouses. In the runways we found pillboxes al-
most buried in the sand, with machine gun slots protruding a
foot or so above ground. On the flat, sandy stretches of the air-
field we were exposed not only to fire from the first line of de-
fenses but also from guns in the rear. Bitter fighting, which cost
us heavily, measured our gains only in yards. The first two days
of the assault on this airfield were the most costly in the entire
Iwo Jima operation.

The third day after our landing on the island I released the
21st Regiment, Third Division, which was in floating reserve.
This regiment Schinidt attached initially to the Fourth Division,
which was in difficulties at the shore end of the ridge. This ridge
disappeared into a hollow, oval rise in the ground and the attack-
ing Marines promptly named it the Amphitheater. The enemy had
burrowed inside the hollow bowl and fortified it. Qur attacks
seemed to leave no impression on the Amphitheater, because the
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Japanese could get reinforcements through tunnels connecting
with their main positions in the formerly wooded area
beyond.

Before we reached the southern end of the second airfield,
we ran into a solid wall of fire from pillboxes, heavy artillery,
mortars of all sizes, and flat trajectory weapons, and, although
our attacks were supported by our own artillery, heavy naval gun-
fire and air strikes, we made little progress. We were in the very
heart of the defense belt Kuribayashi had prepared against us for
more than a year.

From our heavy casualties and the fact that we were scarcely
moving, it was evident to me that another regiment of the Third
Division was necessary to relieve the battle-weary troops in the
line and provide the additional push that would dislodge the
Japanese. Although we appeared to have reached a stalemate, the
enemy was ready for a swift punch in the belly. Then we could
break through into the northern part of the island, where we
thought we would have things all our own way.

I put in the entire Third Division, less the 3rd Regiment,
which I kept in reserve. The 215t Regiment reverted to its original
divisional control. I doubt if Major General Erskine, command-
ing the Third Division, his officers or his men ever expected such
a dramatic change in their role on Iwo Jima. They had been
held in floating reserve and instead of playing the spectator part
in the battle they were ordered to spearhead the attack down the
center of the island.

I was convinced that Bobby Erskine and his able division
would be able to handle the zone assigned to them, and I knew
that in the field he would practice the essentials of drive and
action he preached to divisional commanders when he was my
Chief of Staff. The sector was perhaps the most difficult on the
island but I predicted that if we ever got through this defense
belt we could go on to complete the capture of Iwo Jima.

Erskine—or the “Big E,” as he was known to his men—
did punch his way to the sea, driving clear through the enemy’s
defenses, crossing two fire-swept airfields, and cutting the garri-
son in two. But this required another 20 days of bitter fighting
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during which, at one stage, we were forced to call a halt and dig
in for a short period to rest the men, who had been fighting
under unbelievable pressure.

I went ashore every second day, calling on Harry Schmidt
at V Corps Ileadquarters, or on Rockey, Cates, and Erskine at
their Command Posts, and going forward to watch the progress
of the fighting. None of these Command Posts was the Iotel
Splendide the invading general seizes for himself and his staft
in fictional war. Cates’ post, overlooking the sea near the forti-
fied quarry, was a knocked-out Japanese pillbox, where the smell
of decomposing enemy dead, buried in the ruins, grew more
loathesome every day. Lrskine, just south of Motoyama Airfield
Two, occupied an abandoned Japanese gun emplacement, with
a tarpaulin slung over a 4.7-inch dual purpose gun. Over on the
left, Rockey had a ramshackle place up against a cliff, where the
Japanese had been flushed out recently.

After we captured Suribachi, we began using the western
beach for unloading. This was necessary because the castern beach,
where we landed on D-day, was almost choked with wreckage
and debris, and conditions were getting worse with every tide.
But even on the new western beach prodigious feats of scaman-
ship, stevedoring, and engineering had to be performed to get
supplies ashore because the surf was higher and more treacherous
than on the east coast. Nevertheless, a direct transport route was
opened and through it the front line was fed and supplied.

Corps Headquarters was a group of sandbagged tents near
the beach, overlooked by Suribachi, by no means a nice, sheltered
rear position. As long as Japanese artillery and mortars remained
unsilenced, the front line was everywhere on Iwo Jima—among
the pillboxes, in the hills, on the beacl, in the rear. Corps ITead-
quarters took a score of shells one night, fortunately without
much damage. Since our artillery positions were near Ileadquar-
ters, it was almost impossible to distinguish the sending from the
receiving when Americans and Japanese exchanged fire.

On one trip ashore, 1 was talking with Harry Schmidt out-
side his tent. An Aka, a transport loaded with ammunition, an-
chored off the beach not far from Corps Headquarters. The Japa-
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nese spotted the ship’s arrival and opened fire with all the artil-
lery they could bring to bear.

The first two salvos fell in rear of the ship but close enough
to wound a man on the stern. The captain put on full speed to
get away. Dut the second salvo fell ahead of the ship. Harry and
I watched with our hearts in our mouths. (At least mine was.)
The enemy had bracketed the ship; would the next shells hit the
target? If so, it would be curtains for us, Corps Headquarters
.and the beach working parties. The explosion of several thousand
tons of ammunition would have devastated the lower part of the
island.

But the next salvo fell astern of the ship, which had picked
up speed and was out of the danger zone. I shall never forget
the look on Harry’s face when those last shells dropped harm-
lessly in the sea, but I suppose it was the same look I gave him..
It said: The age of miracles hasn’t passed, thank God.

After two weeks of terrific fighting, during which each day
seemed worse than the last, two-thirds of Iwo Jima was in our
possession. We had broken through the main belt of defenses
and captured the two operable airfields and the third embryo
field. Army P-51 Mustangs and P-61 Black Widows were operat-
ing from Motoyama Airfield One, B-2¢9’s were using the island’s
emergency facilities. We were evacuating hundreds of wounded
Marines by plane, which greatly eased our hospitalization prob-
lem. But there was still bitter fighting ahead. On Iwo the bitter
fighting seemed never to end.

Before we reached the wide area of crags and rocky ridges
leading to the sheer cliffs at the northern end of the island, we
had to pass through the Japanese sulphur wells—a valley of foul
emanations that looked like something left over when they fin-
ished building Ilell. Iwo Jima was a queer contrast. At the lower
end of the island and around the airficlds, Marines who had
fought their way across the Pacific in the tropical heat of coral
atolls and jungle islands shivered under blankets in foxholes at
night. In the sulphur valley, the ground heat was hot house tem-
perature. Scratching below the surface of this gnarled, misshapen
earth, stained deathly white and pestilential yellow by chemical
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mists, you couldn’t dig a foxhole without starting a sulphur
steam bath. And you could cook a can of “C” rations by burying
it in the ground for 15 minutes.

Beyond this hellish valley lay the road to the sea, but it was
a hard road. Kuribayashi had wedded modem fortification
science to stubborn rock and earth and built his last line of de-
fense, which ended at Kitano Point and the sea. We had to
capture three high hills before we got to grips with him. e had
cvery advantage of shelter and concealment. Crevices and ridges
were honeycombed with caves and tunnels. Some of his concrete
bunkers had four-foot walls and his artillery, his mortars and
rocket launchers were cleverly hidden. We learned about them
the hard way—through our sickeningly heavy casualties.

Iis ground organization was far superior to any I had scen in
France during World War I and observers said it excelled Ger-
man ground organization in World War II. The only way we
could move was beliind rolling artillery barrages and concentra-
tions of fire that pulverized the area. Then we went in and re-
duced each position, using flame throwers, grenades, and demoli-
tions. Every cave, every pillbox, every bunker was an individual
battle, where Japancse and Marine fought hand to land to the
death.

We had prepared for tank battles, but they did not mate-
rialize. The Japanese never moved a tank on Iwo Jima. They
used their tanks as additional pillboxes, emplacing them in
crevices and behind revetments, using tank guns to cover ap-
proachies to strategic points. We employed our tanks in a manner
never contemplated in training, over terrain we never belicved
tanks could cross. Our tanks suffered heavily from mines and the
enemy’s very effective 47-mm. anti-tank guns but they performed
well under totally unexpected circumstances.

What the Japanese most feared was the tank bulldozer
(tankdozer), a heavily armored vehicle that pushed a blade in
front and could withstand much fire. In this war among
caves and human burrows, our tank flame throwers, shooting
out a long stream of fire, were invincible against the Japanese—
if they got close enough. But they were helpless without the
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dozers, which had to cut roads through otherwise impassable
terrain for the flame tank to advance and burn up the area.
This pattern of attack was repeated hundreds of times on Iwo
Jima. :

‘Then the Japanese got wise and started to concentrate on
the devastating dozer. We had to take special measures to pro-
tect them from suicide attacks by the enemy, who always singled
them out. We organized armored tank patrols as convoys, but
unsuspected electric ‘mines laid on the roads wrecked all our
blades before the campaign ended. In the dozers, the Japanese
saw death by fire, or entombment, staring them in the face, and
our few dozers suffered.

I paid particular attention to the Third Division because I
felt that Erskine’s drive through the center would be a short cut
to victory. Therefore, I made frequent visits to his Command
Post and during one visit an orderly brought in Bobby’s mail.

One of the great achievements of the Pacific war was the
regular delivery of mail in the forward areas. Men up front got
letters from home with amazing promptness. Undazzled by brass,
the American public regarded a general at the front almost as a
member of the family, to be praised, criticized, and appealed to
for help in time of trouble. A general’s job is not all fighting. The
men and women who wrote those letters expected a reply—
promptly. And they usually got it.

Bobby’s mail that day included a letter from a father asking
that his son be sent home to North Dakota on emergency leave,
because his mother was seriously ill and wanted to see her boy.
A man in New York congratulated the Third Division on its
excellent work in Iwo Jima and a mother, writing from a little
town in Jowa, wanted the General to tell her son that his favorite
sister had died and that his buddy had been killed in France.

It was a saddening letter and I wondered how that boy,
fighting the toughest battle of the Pacific war, would react when
he learned of the double tragedy. I wondered if T could help
soften the blow—even a little—by telling him myself, but I dis-
carded the idea. That was the Chaplain’s job and I knew that
the man of God would do a better job than the soldier. Erskine
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agreed and promised me, “We'll find that boy—if he’s alive—and
the Chaplain will tell him.”

Directly in front of Erskine’s Third Division, Kuribayashi’s
interlocking subterranean defense system reached its zenith in the
center of our line. In an arca of one square mile, a thousand
caves and fortihied points were counted and going was slow. The
Fourth Division, on the right, also was having a hard time. After
finally taking the Amphitheater and the cominanding hill, the
Division surmounted the ridge and faced what seemed a con-
tinuation of the ground just covered. On the left, the Fifth Divi-
sion was having trouble in equally rugged terrain, with heavy
resistance coming from a gorge which was reputed to be the
headquarters of Kuribayashi himself.

On March 6 we decided a coordinated attack by the whole
Corps might break through. The previous day was devoted to
resting our tired men and reorganizing. To prepare for the attack
we employed artillery on a scale exceeding any previous effort.
We laid down a devastating barrage, using all Corps and divi-
sional artillery and heavy guns from supporting warships. After
the barrage was lifted, the assault forces ran into unusually heavy
resistance. Although most of the enemy’s large caliber guns in
the immediate front had been destroyed, enough were left in the
northeastern part of the island to resist our advances. Moreover,
the rocky country made close tank support difficult and reduced
the effectiveness of our shelling. As a result, the initial assault
bogged down. We made slight gains and could count only a2 num-
ber of destroyed installations and sealed-off caves in our favor.
Later in the day we attacked again, supported by a heavy barrage,
and did a little better. But by nightfall we had consolidated our
line and were in a far stronger position for continued assault.

'The next day we tried something we had never attempted in
the entire Pacific war. As the preliminary artillery attack of the
previous day had little effect, we tricd a night attack. The Third
Division, in the center, moved off before dawn and took the
enemy by surprise. The main objective was 11ill 362 C, an anchor
of Kuribayashi’s defense line. Another purpose was to circum-
vent enemy artillery fire. Our artillery drove the Japanese into
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their pillboxes, but when we advanced, their artillery, registered
on their own pillboxes, came down upon our attacking troops
and inflicted many casualties. By making a night attack we hoped
to catch the enemy off guard and feach our objective before he
brought his artillery into use.

Although the Third Division did take the Japanesc by sur-
prise, the plan was only partially successful. Before the enemy
was aware of the Marines, the 3rd Battalion, gth Marines, had
made a fair advance, but when daylight came we discovered that,
in the darkness, part of the attacking force had overrun a smaller
and less important hill, not the objective hill. The Japanese im-
mediately guessed our objective and fierce fighting ensued. The
Marines were called upon to fight as they had never fought be-
fore. Two companies were cut off and could not be rescued for
30 hours. Another company was virtually cut to pieces. Doggedly
the attack continued, with tanks doing the impossible on impos-
sible terrain, and at the end of the day we had taken that vitally
important hill.

Possession of this objective made a great change in the situa-
tion, a change reflected immediately in easier progress. On the
night of March 8, Kuribayashi made a determined counterattack
in the Fourth Marine sector. This was the one attack in force
he made on Iwo Jima. It was preceded by heavy mortar, rocket
and machine gun fire. The advance started just before midnight.

As soon as the Fourth Division received the fitst impact of
the attack, we started to pour intense artillery fire into this area,
which scattered the main body of the enemy. A number of Japa-
nese did get through our lines and reached the Command Post
arcas, where they were killed. They carricd demolition charges.
We learned later the object of the attack was a break-through
to Motoyama Airfield One to wreck our planes and installations.
The advance troops, having found a weak spot in our line, were
to be followed by a much larger force. Thus the only counter-
attack on Iwo Jima that promised the Japanese any results was
checked, with heavy losses for them.

On the morning of March ¢, we re-opened the attack in the
other sectors and, while the Fifth Division recorded a slight gain,
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the Third Division continued to punch through the center and
a six-man patrol from the 215t Regiment clambered over the last
ridge dividing us from the northeast coast. To celebrate the
event, they splashed in the sea in plain sight of the dum-
founded Japanese manning caves on the east side of the ridge
but outside the range of their guns—by now they only had small
calibers left.

“We wanted to wash off the Jap dirt,” one Marine ex-
plained. They also scooped up a canteen of sea water and sent
it back to Erskine with the famous admonition: “For inspection,
not consumption.”

Now the Japanese were split in two. The Third Division ad-
vanced in the footsteps of the patrol and seized the ridge over-
looking the beach. Severance of the two Japanese forces was
complete. One was contained in the Fourth Division sector, but
the main body of survivors held the rocky area around Kitano
Point in the northwest, hemmed in by the Third and Fifth Divi-
sions. The capture of Iwo Jima was in sight.

With the reduction of enemy-held territory to two small
areas occupied by only a fraction of the original garrison, resist-
ance decreased, but we did not relax pressure. Artillery barrages,
poundings by naval guns, and air strikes were maintained as a
matter of routine, although shrinking enemy terrain made these
assaults somewhat unmanageable. Kuribayashi was reported still
alive, commanding the group in the caves at Kitano Point. e
gave no indication that he would surrender, which did not sur-
prise us overmuch.

The last enemy artillery fire fell in our lines on the morning
of March 11, a few hours before we launched our final attack.
The Fourth Division, with elements of the Third, jumped off in
the eastern sector without any artillery preparation and by mid-
afternoon reported all organized resistance had been eliminated.
The Japanese in this pocket were well dug in among deep
crevices connected with caves and tunnels, and fought des-
perately as their lines shrank around them. It took us five days
to wipe out that pocket.

For the Kitano Point assault, the fire power of all three
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regiments of artillery, plus the Corps arttillery, was brought to
bear on that stubborn comer in a rolling barrage of exceptional
intensity. This was augmented by warship fire and air attack.
For nearly an hour, the rocky area was blasted, with apparently
little result. The only direct route to the main enemy fortifica-
tions was a rocky gorge, 200 yards wide and 700 yards long. En-
trance to the gorge was denicd us by covering machine gun and
rifle fire.

This was Kuribayashi’s last stand. Undoubtedly he was in
command and his personality was apparent in the tenacity of
the defense. Although his forces had been reduced to a shadow,
he suffered no lack of small arms and supplies. There was noth-
ing to do but proceed methodically against cave after cave, pill-
box after pillbox, advancing by the yard, until the enemy was
wiped out.

The Third Division, on the right at Kitano Point, quickly
cleared its sector, but two weeks elapsed before we finally cleaned
out the area. This task fully occupied the attention of the Fifth
Division after the island was declared secured and the fifth suf-
fered heavily. There were no suicide leaps on Iwo Jima. The Japa-
nese fought to the end and made mopping up expensive. Kuri-
bayashi was determined to take every last American with
him.

On March 26, the Japanese made a carefully prepared sortie
from their caves. This was their last counterattack, and it caused
much confusion and many casualties before they were anni-
hilated. A prisoner said that Kuribayashi was among the officers
who came out, swords at their sitles, to make this final demon-
stration, but an examination of the bodies, swords, and personal
papers revealed no trace of him. Perhaps he was killed at that
time; perhaps he died in one of the thousands of caves sealed
by the Marines. I do not know.

The ofhcial flag raising on Iwo Jima was held at V Corps
Headquarters on the morning of March 14, two days before the
island was declared secured. The ceremony was attended by flag
and general officers of the fleet and landing force, and Military
Government Proclamation Number I, proclaiming United States
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sovereignty over the Volcano Islands, was published. The original
flag, which had flown on Suribachi, was removed.

Tears filled my eyes when I stood at attention and saluted
the flag. The ceremony marked the capture of Iwo Jima and the
end of the most terrific battle in the history of the Marine Corps.
The mission to take the island had been carried out successfully
and I was proud, although this pride was saddencd by the realiza-
tion that so many brave men had given their lives to perform
that mission. On a personal note, too, the ceremony was sad-
dening, because Iwo Jima was my last combat command.

This momentous event gave pause for reflection. The
amount of effort that had gone into the capture of the barren
island was staggering. The Navy had put more ammunition on
Iwo Jima than anywhere else in the Pacific. Marine artillery ex-
pended 450,000 shells and we used huge quantities of mortar
shells, grenades, and rockets. Our air force made it the principal
target this side of Japan proper. Yet, in the final analysis, it was
the man on the beach with his rifle who completed the job.

Our casualties were extremely heavy among both officers
and men. The average battalion, landing with 36 officers and
885 enlisted men, was reduced to approximately 16 officers and
300 men at the end of the campaign. Many company com-
manders, platoon leaders, and squad leaders were casualties.
Pfc’s found themselves platoon leaders and junior officers be-
came company commanders. One Fourth Division captain com-
manded a battalion throughout all but the first few days of the
battle. Iwo Jima proved the falsity of the theory that regiments
or battalions which are decimated can never win battles. Our
regiments and battalions were down to a record low in combat
efficiency, owing to losses, but morale remained at an inspiring
high, and morale is the decisive factor in a battle of such in-
tensity.

No single chapter, no single book could describe that battle.
To tell the story of Iwo Jima, I would have to tell the individual
story of every man in the assault force. As Admiral Nimitz said:
“Among the Americans who served on Iwo Island, uncommon
valor was a common virtue.”
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I have been criticized for my conduct of the Iwo Jima opera-
tion. “Why didn’t you use gas?” has been the most frequent
question. During the first week in March, 1945, a Washington
newspaper came out boldly with the challenge: “Give Our Boys
a Break—Gas the Japs.”

I am not prepared to argue this question. Certainly, gas
shells smothering the island, or gas introduced into caves and
tunnels would have simplified our task, but naturally the use of
this prohibited weapon was not within the power of a field com-
mander. The decision was on a higher level. It was in the hands
of the Allied Powers, who alone could authorize its use in a war
which would have assumed even more frightful proportions had
gas been allowed.

Another suggestion, made later, was that we should have
used the atom bomb. It is true that atomic bombing would have
destroyed Iwo Jima but, as far as I know, we did not possess the
bomb at that time. The final successful test was made four
months later, in New Mexico. Therefore we took the island the
only way possible, the way I have described.

I left Iwo Jima on March 17 for Guam and after a few
days there returned to Headquarters of the Fleet Marine Corps,
Pacific, at Pearl Harbor. On July 3, I handed over that command
to Licutenant General Geiger and returned to the United States.

I found it hard to tear myself away from the force I had
commanded throughout the Central Pacific campaign, but the
time had come for me to go. I said my farewell at a ceremony
lield at Camp Catlin. Captain John A. De Chant, usmcr, de-
scribed it as I like to remember it:

fle stood there, proudly, tears rolling unchecked and un-
ashamed down his cheeks.

“Au revoir, God bless you . . . and I believe in you.” With
that Iowlin’ Mad Smith took leave of his Pacific Marines. e
stepped down from the little bandstand and his fingers pushed
underneath his horn-rimmed glasses to brush away the tears.

Ile wasn’t the only one. Next to me stood a young Raider
colonel. He had been crying, just as unashamed, from the moment
the Old Man had stopped up to make his last impromptu speech
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to the command. And there were dozens like him all over the
room. The leather-faced old men who'd come up through the
ranks with him and the kid majors and the young licutenants who
loved him. They had gathered in the low-ceilinged officers’ club
at Camp Catlin—the flyers and the line alike—in their last little
tribute to the man from Alabama who had inspired them across
the Pacific.

General Roy Geiger had said the Old Man wasn’t going home
because he was tired. And when you louked at him there, with
the field musics grouped behind him, you were sure of that.

“When I was a fiust lieutenant, which was before most of you
were born (and the grin wrinkled his face) I made a promise to
the Great God that, if I was ever in a position to do so, T would
see to it that Marines were treated with the decency and respect
that are due to them. T started back in 1938. T advise you not to
try it—unless you are lucky, damned lucky—because you may not
be as lucky as I was.”

Then he told of the Marines who had “marched across the
Pacific” and of Geiger, now his successor, who took the southemn
prong . . . Guadalcanal . . . Bougainville . . . Peleliu . . . and
turned north to Okinawa . . . while “we in the the Central
Pacific,” and he tolled off the bloody stepping stones from Tarawa
to Iwo Jima which the men under his personal command had
taken.

“They went to the front door of Japan,” he said, “and noth-
ing stopped them. Nothing willl”

He had talked brilliantly and easily until then. Bushy browed,
clean and smart-looking, the Old Man was telling the story that
hie had lived and was now his whole heart.

“Out there are the bodies of 15,000 Marines (and he chioked
a hurt sob) that lic buricd under the buming tropical sun. Re-
member them.”

He tried to gruff himself back into line with “I shouldn't say
any more. I'm getting too damned sentimental.”

And the young colonel cried silently, not even bothering with
the crumpled handkerchief in his hand. Like the other hundreds
in the room, this was hurting him as decply as the Old Man
himself.

At the end, he joked a little about fishing. “I'm going to try
that,” he said, “they tell me it’s good for old men.” And we
laughed with him at that.

Roy Geiger had paid hiin the adequate compliment. “Ile
foughit enemies—and friends—for what he believed in. And that
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was you.” And no one knew it better than the living who stood
there or the 15,000 Marines who died violently with their faces
to the enemy. e had lived on their courage and devotion . . .
and they on his. .

His staff of the Fleet Marine Force went out there to the air-
field in the gathering dusk to see him off from his last mission.
He said a few words to each one of them. Nothing trite or
hasty nor in bravado because he couldn’t. That wasn't his way.
What little he said hit the men around him below the belt. And
the cold-blooded beachhead veterans cried again because this was
finality. The lovable and brilliant Old Man was going home from
his last war.

Somewhere in history—or tomorrow—other generals may have
more stars, or better profiles, or more headlines, or more on the
political ball. But Howlin’ Mad Smith was like a military
I'ranklin Roosevelt; when he left, something of you went with
him. He had bulldog courage . . . to beat and beller down all who
stood in the way of his Marines. He is the unchallenged master
of amphibious warfare . . . a brilliant tactician . . . and unbested
field general. But it was his heart that made him truly great. A
big kindly heart . . . even bigger it sceined, at times, than his
own body. For this great and grand Old Man had inside himn
the hearts of all his Pacific Marines . . . living and dead . . . as
they had his. Tonight, he cried and they cried . . . in simple, un-
affected proof.

My last assignment was as Commanding General of the
Marine Training and Replacement Command at San Diego. I
retired from the Marine Corps on May 15, 1946, at the age of 64.

Today I live in a little white house by the side of the road,
strive to be a friend to my fellow man, and raise flowers, vege-
tables, and grandchildren.
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